PRECISION PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE PRESCRIPTIONS FOR DISEASE PREVENTION: THE EFFECT OF INTERINDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY UNDER DIFFERENT TRAINING APPROACHES, VOLUME II

EDITED BY: Mikel Izquierdo and Robinson Ramírez-Vélez PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-456-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-456-5

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## PRECISION PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE PRESCRIPTIONS FOR DISEASE PREVENTION: THE EFFECT OF INTERINDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY UNDER DIFFERENT TRAINING APPROACHES, VOLUME II

Topic Editors: **Mikel Izquierdo**, Public University of Navarre, Spain **Robinson Ramírez-Vélez**, Public University of Navarre, Spain

**Citation:** Izquierdo, M., Ramírez-Vélez, R., eds. (2022). Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches, Volume II. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-456-5

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches, Volume II

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez and Mikel Izquierdo

08 Practical Recommendations Relevant to the Use of Resistance Training for COVID-19 Survivors

Paulo Gentil, Claudio Andre Barbosa de Lira, Victor Coswig, Weimar Kunz Sebba Barroso, Priscila Valverde de Oliveira Vitorino, Rodrigo Ramirez-Campillo, Wagner Martins and Daniel Souza

19 Physiological Effects and Inter-Individual Variability to 12 Weeks of High Intensity-Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women

Omar Andrade-Mayorga, Nicolás Martínez-Maturana, Luis A. Salazar and Erik Díaz

31 Effects of Four Lipid Metabolism-Related Polymorphisms on Body Composition Improvements After 12 Weeks of High-Intensity Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women: A Pilot Study

Omar Andrade-Mayorga, Erik Díaz and Luis A. Salazar

42 A Hypothesis: The Interplay of Exercise and Physiological Heterogeneity as Drivers of Human Ageing

Norman R. Lazarus and Stephen D. R. Harridge

- 49 Interindividual Variability in Fat Mass Response to a 1-Year Randomized Controlled Trial With Different Exercise Intensities in Type 2 Diabetes: Implications on Glycemic Control and Vascular Function João P. Magalhães, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, Pedro B. Júdice, Inês R. Correia, Gil B. Rosa, Duarte Henriques-Neto, Xavier Melo, Analiza M. Silva and Luís B. Sardinha
- 59 The Effects of Two Different Concurrent Training Configurations on Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Fitness in Women With Severe/Morbid Obesity: A Randomised Controlled Trial Pedro Delgado-Floody, Alberto Soriano-Maldonado, Manuel A. Rodríguez-Pérez, Pedro Ángel Latorre-Román, Cristian Martínez-Salazar, Claudia Andrea Vargas, Felipe Caamaño-Navarrete, Daniel Jerez-Mayorga and Cristian Álvarez
- 72 Strength Training Volume to Increase Muscle Mass Responsiveness in Older Individuals: Weekly Sets Based Approach Davi Alves de Santana, Alex Castro and Cláudia Regina Cavaglieri

 78 Association Between Changes in Serum and Skeletal Muscle Metabolomics Profile With Maximum Power Output Gains in Response to Different Aerobic Training Programs: The Times Study Alex Castro, Renata G. Duft, Silas Gabriel de Oliveira-Nunes, André L. L. de Andrade, Claudia R. Cavaglieri and Mara Patricia Traina Chacon-Mikahil

Frontiers in Physiology

95 A Systematic Review Examining the Approaches Used to Estimate Interindividual Differences in Trainability and Classify Individual Responses to Exercise Training

Jacob T. Bonafiglia, Nicholas Preobrazenski and Brendon J. Gurd

**113** Levels of Adherence of an Exercise Referral Scheme in Primary Health Care: Effects on Clinical and Anthropometric Variables and Depressive Symptoms of Hypertensive Patients

Katia Gallegos-Carrillo, Carmen Garcia-Peña, Nelly Salgado-de-Snyder, Jorge Salmerón and Felipe Lobelo





## Editorial: Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches, Volume II

#### Robinson Ramírez-Vélez<sup>1,2</sup> and Mikel Izquierdo<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Navarrabiomed, Hospital Universitario de Navarra (HUN), Navarra Institute for Health Research (IdiSNA), Universidad Pública de Navarra (UPNA), Pamplona, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Fragilidad y Envejecimiento Saludable (CIBERFES), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

Keywords: interindividual variability, precision physical activity, dose-response, disease prevention, health-related quality of life

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited and reviewed by: Giuseppe D'Antona,

University of Pavia, Italy

\*Correspondence: Mikel Izquierdo mikel.izquierdo@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 08 December 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 14 January 2022

#### Citation:

Ramírez-Vélez R and Izquierdo M (2022) Editorial: Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches, Volume II. Front. Physiol. 12:831403. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.831403

#### Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches, Volume II

The second volume of the Research Topic entitled "Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention: The Effect of Interindividual Variability Under Different Training Approaches" has been successfully completed, as expected. As stated in the preface to the first volume, this Research Topic was initially intended to address a challenge in this field, but this topic is becoming, over time, an important cornerstone for scientists who are exploring the fascinating subject of "Precision Physical Activity and Exercise Prescriptions for Disease Prevention" (Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2017). This Research Topic consists of 10 articles, of which seven contain original data, one is a systematic review with meta-analysis and two are opinion/hypothesis articles.

We open the second volume of this with an interesting hypothesis and theory article described by Gentil et al., from the Federal University of Goiás, Brazil. The manuscript presents a useful overview of practical recommendations relevant to the use of resistance training for people who have been diagnosed with COVID-19 during different phases of disease, with a special focus on immune, respiratory, and cardiovascular systems.

Lazarus and Harridge's opinion article proposes a novel hypothesis called "The Interplay of Exercise and Physiological Heterogeneity as Drivers of Human Aging." Both authors discuss this hypothesis and related concepts in the context of the trajectory of healthy and non-healthy human aging. Here, the human aging process, interacting with lifestyle factors and heterogeneous physiologies, governs and modifies all processes in all humans all the time, yet its presence does not seem to merit a place in most physiology or medical texts.

de Santana et al., call for action of alternative assessments to understand the variability of the response and assist in planning new studies. The authors suggested that such a range could be

based on the number of sets per muscle group, comprising at least 10 sets per week. Additionally, Omic sciences (e.g., transcriptomics, epigenomics, proteomics, and/or metabolomics) emerge as the next frontier to be explored in this field of knowledge that help to explain the complexity to phenomenon of exercise response heterogeneity.

Bonafiglia et al., systematic review lays the groundwork of the Research Topic, to determine the extent to which studies in the exercise training literature have adopted sound statistical approaches for examining individual responses to exercise training. Bonafiglia underlines the compelling need for prospective trials to identify studies that statistically estimated the presence of interindividual differences in trainability substantially in participant characteristics, training modes, and outcomes assessed. The authors addressed novel data better convince researchers to statistically estimate interindividual differences in trainability and consider error and an smallest worthwhile change or minimum clinically important difference in future clinical trials.

Castro et al., report that metabolic profile and pathways in blood serum and the skeletal muscle responses after 8week of continuous endurance training (ET) or high-intensity interval training (HIIT), in a group of 70 men, young and sedentary. The main finding changed and impacted pathways by these metabolites were: arginine and proline metabolism, glycine, serine and threonine metabolism, and glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism for both ET and HIIT programs; and additional alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, arginine biosynthesis, glycolysis/gluconeogenesis, and pyruvate metabolism for ET. These results suggest that regulating the metabolism of amino acids and carbohydrates may be a potential mechanism for understanding the inter-individual variability of cardiorespiratory fitness in responses to ET and HIIT programs.

Gallegos-Carrillo et al., showed for the first time a pragmatic cluster randomized trial, in 4 Primary Health Care Units. Differences were observed in triglycerides, BMI, metabolic risk scores variables and depressive symptoms among exercise referral and brief physical activity counseling programs. In addition, differences in the brief physical activity group were observed according to level of adherence in blood pressure levels, central obesity and waist-to-hip ratio, depressive symptoms and the mental health component of health-related quality of life. These results reinforce the idea that usefulness of this physical activity programs in primary health care facilities.

Obesity is a major contributor to the development of type 2 diabetes (T2DM), with 80% of individuals being classified as obese. In this line, Andrade-Mayorga et al., illustrate the beauty and complexity the association of perilipin 1 (PLIN1; rs1052700 and rs2304795), lipoprotein lipase (rs283), and adrenoceptor beta 3 (rs4994) polymorphisms with high and low responders (LoRes) to fat mass reduction after 12-weeks of HIIT and dietary energy restriction in 30 adult women with overweight/obese. Their data suggest that rs1052700 (14995A>T) polymorphism of the PLIN1 gene is associated with a differential response to fat mass reduction after a 12-week HIIT intervention. In addition, women with the TT genotype of this genetic variant showed greater changes in fat mass than AA and AT

genotypes. However, further studies are needed to confirm these findings. Subsequently, Andrade-Mayorga et al., illustrate the physiological effects and inter-individual variability on fat mass and other health-related and physical performance outcomes after 12 weeks of HIIT in overweight/obese adult women. This intervention caused an improvement in multiple healthrelated and physical performance outcomes, i.e., reductions in absolute fat mass, body fat percentage, total body mass, blood pressure, and increases in absolute/relative cardiorespiratory fitness. However, beyond the good average group responses found in the present study, a wide range of responses was appreciated in each study variable individually.

Magalhães et al., present the interindividual variability in fat mass loss in response to HIIT with resistance training, moderate continuous training with resistance training (MCT), and control group in adults with T2DM over a 1-year intervention. Their results suggest that the number of fat mass responders did not differ between the MCT or HIIT, compared to the control, following a 1-year exercise intervention in individuals with T2DM. However, low responders to fat mass may still derive reductions in arterial stiffness and structure.

Lastly, Delgado-Floody et al., reported improvements in obesity markers, metabolic risk factors, and endurance/muscle performance, and the interindividual variability after 20-weeks of two CT configurations (i.e., HIIT plus resistance training (RT), compared with RT plus HIIT) in 26 women with severe/morbid obesity. Considering the expensive and long treatments before bariatric surgery, the topic of interindividual variability to exercise training is of high interest and value.

Papers in this Research Topic highlight the notion that personalized exercise is a feasible and effective lifestyle modification strategy, for all individuals with, or at risk of, non-communicable chronic diseases. It should be recognized that what is suitable for prevention may be entirely inadequate for treatment, as is also the case with pharmacological management of chronic diseases (Izquierdo et al., 2021). Indeed, in the era of "precision medicine," it is reasonable to assume that the prescription of exercise as a treatment modality should be individually tailored to the specific characteristics of the patient with respect to program variables (Ramírez-Vélez and Izquierdo, 2019). Concerns have been raised about the true magnitude of response variability as well as maximal trainability. Hypothesized reasons for non-response include insufficient training stimulus (i.e., intensity or specificity of intervention), sex-related differences in response to exercise, and baseline fitness levels. Additionally, the individual interaction of physiological, molecular (i.e., genetics, epigenetics, transcriptomics, and metabolic factors), and environmental factors are being investigated as potential mediators of the lack of a response to exercise in some participants (Izquierdo et al., 2021). Further investigation is warranted to evaluate whether response heterogeneity differs across population subtypes and with similar lifestyle modifications to move closer to a personalized lifestyle medicine that optimizes changes in clinical outcomes based on individual characteristics (Izquierdo et al., 2021). Given the importance of personalized exercise for a healthy aging for today's society, we consider that this eBook will be of great scientific and social impact with the consequent transfer applications. We hope to continue the success of this Research Topic with a third edition in the near future.

## REFERENCES

- Izquierdo, M., Merchant, R. A., Morley, J. E., Anker, S. D., Aprahamian, I., Arai, H., et al. (2021). International exercise recommendations in older adults (ICFSR): expert consensus guidelines. *Nutr. Health Aging* 25, 824–853. doi: 10.1007/s12603-021-1665-8
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Editorial: Precision Physical activity and exercise prescriptions for disease prevention: the effect of interindividual variability under different training approaches. *Front. Physiol.* 10:646. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00646
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Lobelo, F., and Izquierdo, M. (2017). Exercise for disease prevention and management: a precision medicine approach. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 18, 633–634. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017. 04.012

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RR-V and MI: drafted the manuscript. All authors approved the final version.

absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ramírez-Vélez and Izquierdo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Practical Recommendations Relevant to the Use of Resistance Training for COVID-19 Survivors

Paulo Gentil<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Claudio Andre Barbosa de Lira<sup>1</sup>, Victor Coswig<sup>3</sup>, Weimar Kunz Sebba Barroso<sup>2</sup>, Priscila Valverde de Oliveira Vitorino<sup>2,4</sup>, Rodrigo Ramirez-Campillo<sup>5,6</sup>, Wagner Martins<sup>7</sup> and Daniel Souza<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> College of Physical Education and Dance, Federal University of Goiás, Goiânia, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Hypertension League, Federal University of Goiás, Goiânia, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> College of Physical Education, Federal University of Pará, Castanhal, Brazil, <sup>4</sup> Social Sciences and Health School, Pontifical Catholic University of Goiás, Goiânia, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Laboratory of Human Performance, Quality of Life and Wellness Research Group, Department of Physical Activity Sciences, Universidad de Los Lagos, Osorno, Chile, <sup>6</sup> Centro de Investigación en Fisiología del Ejercicio, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Mayor, Santiago, Chile, <sup>7</sup> Physiotherapy College, University of Brasília, Brazil

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by: Hamid Arazi.

University of Guilan, Iran Patrik Drid, University of Novi Sad, Serbia José Francisco López-Gil, University of Murcia, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Paulo Gentil paulogentil@hotmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 03 December 2020 Accepted: 26 January 2021 Published: 03 March 2021

#### Citation:

Gentil P, de Lira CAB, Coswig V, Barroso WKS, Vitorino PVdO, Ramirez-Campillo R, Martins W and Souza D (2021) Practical Recommendations Relevant to the Use of Resistance Training for COVID-19 Survivors. Front. Physiol. 12:637590. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.637590 The novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) has emerged at the end of 2019 and caused a global pandemic. The disease predominantly affects the respiratory system; however, there is evidence that it is a multisystem disease that also impacts the cardiovascular system. Although the long-term consequences of COVID-19 are not well-known, evidence from similar diseases alerts for the possibility of long-term impaired physical function and reduced quality of life, especially in those requiring critical care. Therefore, rehabilitation strategies are needed to improve outcomes in COVID-19 survivors. Among the possible strategies, resistance training (RT) might be particularly interesting, since it has been shown to increase functional capacity both in acute and chronic respiratory conditions and in cardiac patients. The present article aims to propose evidence-based and practical suggestions for RT prescription for people who have been diagnosed with COVID-19 with a special focus on immune, respiratory, and cardiovascular systems. Based on the current literature, we present RT as a possible safe and feasible activity that can be time-efficient and easy to be implemented in different settings.

Keywords: resistance exercise, rehabilitation, strength training, pulmonary rehabilitation, cardiac rehabilitation, coronavirus

## THE PROBLEM

The novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has posed a great threat to public health concern and safety (Wu et al., 2020; Zu et al., 2020). Caused by acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (or SARS-CoV-2), COVID-19 is characterized by respiratory distress and multisystem disease, which is frequently severe and might result in death (Kreutz et al., 2020). Many COVID-19 survivors who required critical care may develop psychological, physical, and cognitive impairments (Barker-Davies et al., 2020). There is evidence that coronaviruses may induce neurological impairments by invading the central nervous system and some patients may have symptoms like severe muscle pain (Li Y. C. et al., 2020). COVID results in relevant morbidity for 3–6 months (intermediate phase), and rehabilitation services and medical care might be needed for more than 12 months (chronic phase) (Barker-Davies et al., 2020).

Previous studies showed that survivors of acute respiratory diseases might have persistent functional disability and psychological symptoms for as much as 1 year after discharge

(Herridge et al., 2003; Tansey et al., 2007), with most of them showing extrapulmonary conditions, with muscle wasting and weakness being most frequent (Herridge et al., 2003). Moreover, many COVID-19 patients will need to be on intensive care units, which is associated with symptoms like dyspnea, anxiety, depression, impaired physical function, and poor quality of life for up to 12 months after discharge (Oeyen et al., 2010; Denehy and Elliott, 2012; Jackson et al., 2012). Among them, physical function is one of the factors least likely to recover to normal values as it is heavily affected by critical illness (Gerth et al., 2019). The cardinal manifestations include limb muscle weakness, muscle atrophy, and impairments in deep tendon reflexes (Li Z. et al., 2020). Neuromuscular weakness in the intensive care units can prolong the patient's mechanical ventilation time and hospitalization. Therefore, rehabilitation should commence in the critical care setting, since early exercise prevents neuromuscular complications and improves functional status in critical illness, being considered effective, safe, and feasible (Sosnowski et al., 2015; Barker-Davies et al., 2020). Moreover, rehabilitation programs starting within the post-acute phase (<30 days) seem to bring the most benefits (Barker-Davies et al., 2020).

Besides all the knowledge about intensive care management and recovery, there is a paucity of evidence-based recommendations regarding rehabilitation following COVID-19. Among the possible strategies for rehabilitating COVID-19 patients survivors, resistance training (RT) that conventionally consists of the voluntary muscle contractions against some kind of external resistance might be particularly interesting, since it has been shown to be a safe and feasible strategy to increase functional capacity in both acute and chronic respiratory conditions (Troosters et al., 2010; Liao et al., 2015; Li et al., 2019; Rice et al., 2020). Based on the current scientific evidence, RT can be safe, time-efficient, and easy to be implemented in almost anywhere and with minimal resources (Gentil et al., 2020b; Souza et al., 2020). Therefore, the present article aims to propose evidence-based and practical suggestions for the use of RT for people who have been diagnosed with COVID-19 during different phases of disease, with a special focus on immune, respiratory, and cardiovascular systems.

## **IMMUNE SYSTEM**

The immune system works through the coordinated functions of many cells to protect the organism against opportunistic infections (Pedersen and Hoffman-Goetz, 2000). Therefore, preserving or improving its function is important for people who were affected by COVID-19. There are evidences of either immune surveillance or immunodepression in response to exercise (Pedersen et al., 1998; Peake et al., 2017; Nieman and Wentz, 2019); however, the specific effects of RT on immune function have not being extensively studied (Freidenreich and Volek, 2012). Interestingly, people involved in endurance training are more commonly affected by immunodepression and illness (Nieman, 2007) when compared to strength and power sports (Alonso et al., 2010, 2012; Horn et al., 2010; Timpka et al., 2017), which might be a favorable point to RT (Natale et al., 2003; Gentil et al., 2020b). In general, the association between exercise and body immune defenses follows a J-shaped curve (Pedersen et al., 1998; Peake et al., 2017; Nieman and Wentz, 2019), improving with moderate amounts of physical exercise and decreasing with excessive or low amounts of exercise (Pedersen et al., 1998; Peake et al., 2017; Nieman and Wentz, 2019). This complex relation is negatively influenced by many factors, such as higher energy expenditure (Spence et al., 2007; Rama et al., 2013), increased exercise volume (Peters and Bateman, 1983; Gleeson et al., 2013; Siedlik et al., 2016), and metabolic stress (Pedersen and Hoffman-Goetz, 2000). In this sense, an acute bout of exercise might induce a suppressive effect on lymphocyte proliferative responses, with long-duration (longer than 1 h) and high-intensity exercise exhibiting a moderate suppressive effect (Siedlik et al., 2016).

A study by Davis et al. (1997) analyzed the effects of physical exercise on susceptibility to respiratory infection by using a murine model. The exercise design was composed of three groups: no exercise, moderate short-term exercise (30 min), and prolonged exercise to voluntary fatigue (2.5-3.5 h). According to the results, exercising to fatigue resulted in greater mortality rate (41%) than either no exercise or shortterm moderate exercise. Although mortality rate tended to be lower after short-term moderate exercise (9%) than no exercise (16%), there was no significant difference between conditions. The results also showed a decrease in antiviral resistance after strenuous exercise within the lungs, in conjunction with increased susceptibility to respiratory infection in vivo. Although there is paucity of data linking the transitory immune suppression after strenuous exercise with chronic immune system impairment and subsequently infection risk (Nieman and Wentz, 2019), it is reasonable to suggest that exercise-induced immune suppression may impair the clearance of pathogen in acute illness COVID-19 patients. Therefore, even after the acute phase of the disease, physical exercise should ensure the adequate restoration of immune defense.

For these reasons, it might be advisable to avoid strenuous activities and adopt a reduced total training RT volume/duration (<45 min) to preserve immune function and decrease the risk of complications, particularly when the immune response is still compromised (Gleeson et al., 2013; Peake et al., 2017). With that in mind, low-volume RT should be recommended. Here, it is important to note that training sessions lasting a few minutes have been suggested to promote muscle strength and size gains in different populations (Fisher J. et al., 2017; Souza et al., 2020). From a practical standpoint, previous studies showed that untrained young and older adults can obtain many health benefits (e.g., increased functionality and cardiovascular improvements) from minimal dose RT protocols involving two sets of three to four basic exercises with a training frequency of one or two sessions per week (Fisher et al., 2014; de Barbalho et al., 2017; Seguro et al., 2019; Souza et al., 2019; Dias et al., 2020).

It is important to consider that rises in epinephrine, cortisol, and sympathetic modulation seem to be related to immunosuppression induced by exercise (Pedersen and Hoffman-Goetz, 2000; Nieman and Wentz, 2019). In this

regard, previous studies have shown an association between elevated metabolic stress, cortisol levels, and immunosuppression in response to RT (Miles et al., 2003; Ramel et al., 2003; Krüger et al., 2011). Therefore, it might be interesting to avoid such responses in COVID-19 survivors under rehabilitation. According to previous studies, RT protocols with a few number of repetitions ( $\leq 6$  repetitions) and long between-sets rest intervals ( $\geq 3$  min) result in less pronounced increases in sympathetic activity, cortisol, and lactate levels (Kraemer et al., 1990; Smilios et al., 2003, 2007; Vale et al., 2018). Moreover, low-volume RT with few repetitions is less glycolytic (Knuiman et al., 2015). Therefore, it could prevent the concurrency for energy substrate and subsequent immunosuppression, since glucose is the main fuel of immune cells (Palmer et al., 2015).

Regarding time of the day, studies involving endurance activities showed that the acute increases in leukocytes were higher when exercise was performed during the night (6 PM) when compared to morning (9 AM), and it remained high for 1 h after exercise in a hot and humid weather (Boukelia et al., 2018). When comparing exercise during the morning and afternoon (9 AM vs. 4 PM) in a cold environment, Boukelia et al. (2017) found higher immune function and less pulmonary inflammation during afternoon exercise. We could not find specific studies with RT; however, it has been previously shown that plasma cortisol levels are increased during the morning (Hayes et al., 2010), which could suggest an impaired immune function. Therefore, the suggestion is to train in the afternoon or early night.

The basis of COVID-19 pathogenesis is associated with a delayed antiviral response followed by an immunological overreaction that results in an excessive proinflammatory state (Castelli et al., 2020). The levels of systemic inflammation might explain the severity of the disease, with the most affected patients presenting higher serum levels of proinflammatory cytokine, as well as reduced T lymphocytes count (Chen et al., 2020). Regulatory T lymphocyte (Treg) is also reduced in severely ill patients and seems to play an important role in COVID-19 pathogenesis, since it is associated with controlling autoimmune and proinflammatory response (Gladstone et al., 2020; Stephen-Victor et al., 2020). In this context, RT may contribute to control proinflammatory state (Chupel et al., 2017; Santiago et al., 2018; Lammers et al., 2020). Despite the fact that studies investigating the effect of RT on Treg cells are scarce (Dorneles et al., 2020), a previous study in murine model showed that RT can upregulate this immune marker (Souza et al., 2017). Moreover, regular practice of RT increases the levels of interleukin-10, an antiinflammatory cytokine that is mainly produced by Treg cells (Chupel et al., 2017; Lammers et al., 2020).

#### **RESPIRATORY SYSTEM**

The high levels of proinflammation mediators and histopathological changes in the lungs in response to SARS-CoV-2 might induce apoptosis in pulmonary endothelial and epithelial cells, leading to impaired respiratory function such as acute respiratory distress (Castelli et al., 2020). Additionally, persistent proinflammatory state in severe COVID-19 patients is associated with fibroblast proliferation in the alveolar septum, resulting in pulmonary interstitial fibrosis (Zhang et al., 2020). Pulmonary diseases are commonly associated with loss of muscle mass and function (Steiner, 2007; Bone et al., 2017). The analysis of previous outbreaks of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) revealed that 6-20% of the patients showed mild or moderate restrictive lung function consistent with muscle weakness 6-8 weeks after hospital discharge (Chan et al., 2003). This seems to persist for an even longer period as persistent pulmonary function impairment was present in 37% of the patients after recovery from SARS and their health status was also significantly worse compared with healthy subjects (Ong et al., 2005). Results from a cohort study showed significant impairment in lung capacity in 23.7% of SARS survivors 1 year after illness onset (Hui et al., 2005). Moreover, health status and exercise capacity were remarkably lower than those found in the normal population (Hui et al., 2005).

Previous studies showed that, in people with pulmonary diseases, low muscle strength is associated with physical inactivity (Osthoff et al., 2013) and is an independent predictor of morbidity and mortality independent of the degree of respiratory limitation (Swallow et al., 2007). Consequently, the key target in rehabilitation for pulmonary diseases should be improving locomotor muscle structure and function, as exercise results in reduced benefits on exertional ventilation, operating lung volumes, and respiratory muscle performance (Marillier et al., 2020). Moreover, the performance of physical exercise is advised as adjuvant non-pharmacological treatment during pulmonary fibrosis rehabilitation (Spruit et al., 2009).

RT has been suggested as an successful strategy for pulmonary rehabilitation, either performed alone or in conjunction with aerobic training, since it brings important increases in functional capacity (Liao et al., 2015; José and Dal Corso, 2016; Li et al., 2019). It is also important to highlight that exercise training during hospitalization due to acute respiratory conditions seems to bring important health and functional benefits, is well tolerated, and the adverse events are infrequent (Troosters et al., 2010; Rice et al., 2020). RT can be successfully performed as a stand-alone exercise strategy, without increasing adverse events in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients under pulmonary rehabilitation (Liao et al., 2015).

Considering that most people infected with SARS-CoV-2 could experience breathing difficulties, it is recommended to control the respiratory responses to exercise. One advantage of RT is that it might promote less cardiorespiratory stress (i.e., oxygen consumption and pulmonary ventilation) than aerobic exercise, even during maximal exercise testing (Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2014; Garnacho-Castaño et al., 2015; Albesa-Albiol et al., 2019). The manipulation of RT variables might further reduce the respiratory stress. Pulmonary ventilation and oxygen consumption increase with increased volume/duration (Haddock and Wilkin, 2006; Mookerjee et al., 2016; Garnacho-Castaño et al., 2018), lower rest intervals (Ratamess et al., 2007; Farinatti and Castinheiras Net, 2011), higher movement velocities (Mazzetti et al., 2011; Mukaimoto and Ohno, 2012; Buitrago et al., 2014), and higher number of repetitions (Scott et al., 2011; Ratamess et al., 2014). Therefore, training with

lower number of repetitions, higher interval between sets, and controlled movement velocity might be recommended (Buitrago et al., 2013).

## CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

Similar to other coronavirus infections, COVID-19 is associated with cardiac complications, especially arrhythmias, heart failure, and myocardial injury (Kochi et al., 2020; Madjid et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Acute cardiac injury is higher in those with increased mortality, with severe disease, and requiring ventilatory support (Kochi et al., 2020; Madjid et al., 2020). Cardiac complications have been suggested to be multifactorial. It may be caused by hypoxia, viral myocardial injury, hypotension, ACE2-receptor downregulation, drug toxicity, or elevated systemic inflammation (Kochi et al., 2020). The proinflammatory mediators associated with COVID-19 can result in vascular inflammation, myocarditis, and arrhythmic complications (Kochi et al., 2020; Madjid et al., 2020). Another complication regarding cardiovascular system is the increased risk of thromboembolism as a consequence of coagulopathy and endothelial vascular dysfunction in critical illness COVID-19 patients (Goshua et al., 2020).

Patients diagnosed with COVID-19 should be fully assessed and, if necessary, additional investigations may include resting electrocardiogram (ECG), blood exams, 24 h ECG, cardiopulmonary, echocardiogram, cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging, and exercise testing with the involvement of a cardiologist (Barker-Davies et al., 2020). In case of myocarditis, a period of 3–6 months of complete rest from strenuous exercise might be necessary, depending on the clinical severity illness duration (Pelliccia et al., 2019; Schellhorn et al., 2020). After returning, it is advisable to conduct periodic reassessment in the first 2 years due to an increased risk of silent clinical progression (Pelliccia et al., 2019).

RT has been shown to be safe and effective for several cardiac patients from different cardiac diseases and has been recommended as a core component of cardiac rehabilitation for many decades (McKelvie and McCartney, 1990; Verrill et al., 1992; Yamamoto et al., 2016). Some studies suggested that RT might be even safer than aerobic exercise, since it results in less myocardial stress and reduced hemodynamic responses in patients with heart diseases like controlled heart failure (Karlsdottir et al., 2002; Levinger et al., 2005), coronary arterial disease (Karlsdottir et al., 2002), and ischemic cardiomyopathy (McKelvie et al., 1995) and in patients in cardiac rehabilitation after myocardial infarction and percutaneous coronary intervention (Adams et al., 2010). Moreover, RT leads to improvements in cardiac autonomic control of diseased individuals (Bhati et al., 2019).

Cardiovascular stress might be more related to the duration of the exercise than with the load used, granting the use of higher loads and a lower number of repetitions. In this regard, Lamotte et al. (2005) reported higher levels of blood pressure and heart rate in response to RT using lower external loads and higher repetitions [four sets of 17 repetitions at 40% of the one-repetition maximum strength (1RM)] when compared with higher external loads and lower repetitions (four sets of 10 repetitions at 70% of 1RM) in 14 patients who participated in a rehabilitation program (e.g., bypass surgery, percutaneous coronary angioplasty, or valvular surgery). Similarly, Gjøvaag et al. (2016) reported higher levels of blood pressure and heart rate in patients with coronary arterial disease after performing 15RM with lower external loads than performing 4RM with higher external loads. Regarding autonomic modulation, Vale et al. (2018) showed that hypertensive women training with lower repetitions and higher external loads (6RM) showed less sympathetic activation and higher parasympathetic activation when compared to training with lower external loads and more repetitions (15RM). Therefore, in order to reduce cardiovascular stress during exercise, the recommended RT program should involve lower number of repetitions regardless of the load used.

One important feature in previous studies is that blood pressure and heart rate progressively increase over the sets, especially when the rest between sets is shorter (Gotshall et al., 1999; Lamotte et al., 2005; Gjøvaag et al., 2016). This suggests that one should consider performing a lower number of sets (one or two) and using higher rest between sets ( $\geq 3$  min). Other additional strategies to reduce cardiovascular stress is to give short pauses (i.e., 5 s) in the middle of the sets (da Silva et al., 2007; Rúa-Alonso et al., 2020), avoid performing repetitions until muscle failure (MacDougall et al., 1992), and exercise during the afternoon, since cardiac reactivity is lower (Jones et al., 2006; Boukelia et al., 2018) and there is a better blood pressure control (Jones et al., 2008) at this period of the day.

## PRACTICAL RECOMMENDATIONS

RT might be performed in many settings, including acute hospitalization and rehabilitation scenarios. Previous studies have shown that RT performed during intensive care units might bring important benefits either alone (Morris et al., 2016; Barbalho et al., 2019; Veldema et al., 2019) or combined with other activities (Eggmann et al., 2018). Interestingly, the benefits of RT in intensive care unit patients have been reported even in the presence of mechanical ventilation (Eggmann et al., 2018).

Another important concern with COVID-19 is the neuropsychiatric sequalae. In addition to pandemic-associated psychological distress, the direct and indirect effects of the coronavirus on the human central nervous system might be related to neuropsychiatric disorders such mood changes, sleep disorders, depression, and anxiety (Khatoon et al., 2020; Steardo et al., 2020; Troyer et al., 2020). Studies investigating COVID-19 patients found a high level of post-traumatic stress and depressive symptoms in comparison with noninfected people (Vindegaard and Eriksen Benros, 2020). In this regard, there are consistent evidence that RT is associated with improvements in depression (Gordon et al., 2018), anxiety (Gordon et al., 2017), and sleep disorders (Kovacevic et al., 2018), including patients with chronic diseases (Ferreira et al., 2020) and during rehabilitation (McCartney, 1998; Vincent and Vincent, 2012; Chan and Cheema, 2016; Andrade et al., 2018; Seguro et al., 2019). The potential benefits of RT for COVID-19 patients are illustrated in **Figure 1**.

RT programs commonly involve many exercises with the addition of isolated exercises for specific muscles, which might be too time-consuming. However, multi-joint exercises seem to be sufficient to improve muscle strength and hypertrophy in the muscles involved in the exercises (Gentil et al., 2015, 2017b; Paoli et al., 2017; Barbalho et al., 2020a,b) and there is no additional benefits in using single-joint exercises (Gentil et al., 2013; de França et al., 2015; Barbalho et al., 2020b). This allows the use of multi-joint exercises combined with low-volume programs, increasing feasibility and safety for most of the patients affected by COVID-19, hospitalized or not, including individuals with cardiometabolic diseases and frail elderly. Patients with COVID-19 that present severe body aches, sore throat, shortness of breath, chest pain, general fatigue, cough, or fever should avoid exercises between 2 and 3 weeks after the cessation of these symptoms. It is also recommended to avoid prolonged exhaustive or highintensity exercise. These current restrictions to RT practice could be reviewed after cessation of the symptoms. COVID-19 patients that are asymptomatic should continue to exercise, as they would do normally. A pulmonary rehabilitation approach should be combined in the case on return from mild/moderate COVID-19 illness (Barker-Davies et al., 2020).

RT using non-traditional equipment such as elastic devices, which are low cost and portable, and can be performed in almost anywhere, might contribute to increase the possibilities for RT performance in many different settings, including intensive care units. Previous studies reported that RT using elastic bands or tubes resulted in similar muscle activation and mechanical stress (Aboodarda et al., 2011, 2016), strength gains (Martins et al., 2013), and improvements in functional capacity (Colado et al., 2010; Souza et al., 2019) when compared to traditional RT. Furthermore, RT might also be performed using body weight exercises as it promotes gains in



muscle strength, hypertrophy, and body composition similar to traditional RT for many different populations, like middleaged people with non-alcoholic fat liver disease (Takahashi et al., 2015, 2017), elderly people (Tsuzuku et al., 2017), and even young trained practitioners (Calatayud et al., 2015; Kikuchi and Nakazato, 2017).

Another possible limitation in rehabilitation settings is the belief that RT has to be performed with moderate to high loads (ACSM, 2009; Kraemer et al., 2002), as it is commonly suggested that it would be necessary to use loads  $\geq$  60% of 1RM for optimal gains in strength and muscle mass (McDonagh and Davies, 1984; ACSM, 2009). However, previous studies have shown that low external load RT might bring increases in muscle fitness and hypertrophy that are similar to conventional approaches, when effort is high (Fisher J. P. et al., 2017; Steele et al., 2019). Previous studies in both trained (Morton et al., 2016) and untrained people (Mitchell et al., 2012; Assunção et al., 2016) reported that RT with low external load resulted in similar increase in muscle strength and hypertrophy when compared to high external load. This is particularly evident when the strength tests not similar to the situations trained (Fisher J. P. et al., 2017). The caveats for using low external load are that it would require a higher number of repetitions and longer exercise times, which can result in more negative impact on the immune system and a higher stress on respiratory and cardiovascular systems, as suggested above. Therefore, the cost-benefit of such adaptations might be analyzed individually.

Significant physiological stimulus can also be obtained with maximal or near-maximal voluntary muscle contractions performed without external load. In this regard, previous studies reported high levels of muscle activation when performing RT with the intention to maximally contract the muscles and no external load (Gentil et al., 2017a; Alves et al., 2020). A previous study reported equivalent gains in arm muscle hypertrophy after traditional and no external load RT in young men and women, using a contralateral training design (Counts et al., 2016). Positive outcomes in terms of hypertrophy and functionality have also been reported in intensive care units patients (Barbalho et al., 2019).

Particularly in aging people, the performance of high-velocity RT might be considered as an alternative strategy when the performance of high or low external load RT with high effort is not possible or recommended (Fragala et al., 2019). Highvelocity RT may provide superior increases on functional capacity in comparison with conventional RT (Bottaro et al., 2007; Nogueira et al., 2009; Ramírez-Campillo et al., 2014). A previous study suggested that high-velocity RT might be a feasible and safe strategy to revert or prevent functional decline during acute hospitalization (Martínez-Velilla et al., 2019). Thus, the performance of few repetitions using high-velocity concentric muscle action combined with long rest intervals and/or intraset short pauses could provide significant gains on functionality while preventing higher cardiovascular stress (Lamotte et al., 2010; Dias et al., 2020). Considering that the use of light to moderate loads (e.g., 30-60% of 1RM) are recommended to optimize muscle power (Fragala et al., 2019), this might be easily achieved with small implements such light dumbbells or



elastic devices. Therefore, equipment and implements should not be a barrier to implement RT programs during COVID-19 rehabilitation.

RT progression should be based on individual analysis, considering performance parameters and clinical symptoms. Initially, it is recommended that progression should be performed through increases in load, since higher number of sets and repetitions and lower rest intervals might impose unwanted risks. Therefore, the recommendation is to establish a repetition margin (i.e., 4–6RM) and increase load when the participant reaches the upper limit. When the patient reaches pre-COVID physical capacity, it would be interesting to re-examine for the possibility of restoring normal routine (Phelan et al., 2020).

## FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

It is important to observe some general precautions for returning to exercise post-COVID-19, like monitoring temperature before training, starting with a muscle strengthening program prior to cardiovascular work, keeping social distancing, observing hygiene, adequate ventilation, and the use of masks when necessary (So et al., 2004; Gentil et al., 2020a). Another relevant point is the need to carefully evaluate clinical status and supervise patients that have been diagnosed with COVID-19, especially people with cardiac injuries (Barker-Davies et al., 2020), highlighting the need of a multidisciplinary approach. A subclinical myocardial injury may be present after clinical recovery from mild infections, even without cardiac symptoms or hospital admission. While the present article addresses RT for rehabilitation purposes, medical clearance is required. Therefore, a medical evaluation is recommended to exclude subclinical diseases before resuming high-intensity training or competition, eventually with exams such as transthoracic echocardiogram, maximal exercise testing, and 24 h Holter monitoring (Dores and Cardim, 2020; Wilson et al., 2020).

Considering the negligible chance of cardiac sequelae after asymptomatic infection or local symptoms of COVID-19, it is not necessary to perform pre-participation screening if a critical evaluation of signs and symptoms is negative and shows a complete recovery (Verwoert et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2020). However, a pre-participation screening and cardiologist consultation may be considered for specific groups, including, but not limited to, people with pre-existent cardiovascular disease, elite athletes, and those with impaired recovery of exercise capacity.

For those with regional or symptoms not requiring hospitalization, it is strongly recommended to perform a pre-participation screening that includes physical examination, critical evaluation of symptoms, and a 12-lead ECG (Verwoert et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2020). A cardiologist experienced in reading athletes' ECG should be consulted to differentiate between ECG changes due to exercise adaptation and ECG abnormalities suggestive of cardiac disease. This is necessary because 12-lead ECG is not the gold standard for the detection of myocarditis. It is also recommended to use cardiac biomarkers to detect myocarditis (Verwoert et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2020). However, caution should be taken when using this strategy because most people do not have previously documented baseline measurements to compare with, and exercise might elevate the levels of these biomarkers, without clear-cut clinical implications (Verwoert et al., 2020). RT may be done after myocarditis if serum biomarkers of myocardial injury and left ventricular systolic function are normal and if 24 h ECG monitoring or exercise testing rules out relevant arrhythmias (Barker-Davies et al., 2020).

It is worthy to note that most of these screening recommendations refer to competitive athletes and high intense activities (Dores and Cardim, 2020; Verwoert et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2020). Therefore, the specific limitations for performing RT should be individually analyzed and consider the specificities of each protocol. In this context, RT might be designed to be especially safe for people who have been diagnosed with COVID-19, in different stages of disease and recovery, by decreasing the risk of immunosuppression and reducing respiratory stress and cardiovascular risk. Interestingly, when combining the evidence in immune, pulmonary, and cardiovascular systems, the use of low volume/duration approaches and the manipulation of training variables (moderate to high loads, short set duration, low number of sets, exercise choice, high rest intervals, and/or intra-set rest) might be particularly safe (Figure 2). RT might be also convenient as it can be performed with different implements (traditional machines, elastic devices, body weight exercises, or with no external load) and settings (in-hospital, exercise facilities, or home based), increasing its feasibility.

Finally, RT as an approach of the rehabilitation treatment should be individualized according to the patient's need, taking into consideration their comorbidities, symptoms of dyspnea, and psychological distress.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## REFERENCES

- Aboodarda, S. J., George, J., Mokhtar, A. H., and Thompson, M. (2011). Muscle strength and damage following two modes of variable resistance training. *J. Sport. Sci. Med.* 10, 635–642.
- Aboodarda, S. J., Page, P. A., and Behm, D. G. (2016). Muscle activation comparisons between elastic and isoinertial resistance: a meta-analysis. *Clin. Biomech.* 39, 52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2016.09.008
- ACSM. (2009). American college of sports medicine position stand. progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc.* 41, 687–708. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3181915670
- Adams, J., Hubbard, M., McCullough-Shock, T., Simms, K., Cheng, D., Hartman, J., et al. (2010). Myocardial work during endurance training and resistance training: a daily comparison, from workout session 1 through completion of cardiac rehabilitation. *Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent)* 23, 126–129. doi: 10.1080/ 08998280.2010.11928599
- Albesa-Albiol, L., Serra-Payá, N., Garnacho-Castaño, M. A., Cano, L. G., Cobo, E. P., Maté-Muñoz, J. L., et al. (2019). Ventilatory efficiency during constant-load test at lactate threshold intensity: endurance versus resistance exercises. *PLoS One* 14:e0216824. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.021 6824
- Alonso, J. M., Edouard, P., Fischetto, G., Adams, B., Depiesse, F., and Mountjoy, M. (2012). Determination of future prevention strategies in elite track and field: analysis of Daegu 2011 IAAF Championships injuries and illnesses surveillance. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 46, 505–514. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-09 1008
- Alonso, J. M., Tscholl, P. M., Engebretsen, L., Mountjoy, M., Dvorak, J., and Junge, A. (2010). Occurrence of injuries and illnesses during the 2009 IAAF world athletics championships. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 44, 1100–1105. doi: 10.1136/bjsm. 2010.078030
- Alves, R. R., Vieira, C. A., Bottaro, M., de Araújo, M. A. S., Souza, D. C., Gomes, B. C., et al. (2020). NO LOAD" resistance training promotes high levels of knee extensor muscles activation—a pilot study. *Diagnostics* 10:526. doi: 10.3390/ diagnostics10080526
- Andrade, A., de Azevedo Klumb Steffens, R., Sieczkowska, S. M., Peyré Tartaruga, L. A., and Torres Vilarino, G. (2018). A systematic review of the effects of strength training in patients with fibromyalgia: clinical outcomes and design considerations. *Adv. Rheumatol.* 58:36.
- Assunção, A. R., Bottaro, M., Ferreira-Junior, J. B., Izquierdo, M., Cadore, E. L., and Gentil, P. (2016). The chronic effects of low- and high-intensity resistance training on muscular fitness in adolescents. *PLoS One* 11:e0160650. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0160650
- Barbalho, M., Coswig, V. S., Bottaro, M., De Lira, C. A. B., Campos, M. H., Vieira, C. A., et al. (2019). "nO LOAD" resistance training increases functional capacity

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

PG and DS: conceptualization and writing the first draft. PG, CL, VC, WB, PV, RR-C, WM, and DS: writing, review, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

PG received a research grant from CNPq (304435/2018-0).

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.637590/full#supplementary-material

and muscle size in hospitalized female patients: a pilot study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 29, 302–306.

- Barbalho, M., Coswig, V., Souza, D., Serrão, J. C., Campos, M. H., and Gentil, P. (2020a). Back squat vs. hip thrust resistance-training programs in well-trained women. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 41, 306–310. doi: 10.1055/a-1082-1126
- Barbalho, M., Souza, D., Coswig, V., Steele, J., Fisher, J., Abrahin, O., et al. (2020b). The effects of resistance exercise selection on muscle size and strength in trained women. *Int. J. Sports Med.* doi: 10.1055/a-1121-7736 Online ahead of print.
- Barker-Davies, R. M., O'Sullivan, O., Senaratne, K. P. P., Baker, P., Cranley, M., Dharm-Datta, S., et al. (2020). The stanford hall consensus statement for post-COVID-19 rehabilitation. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 54, 949–959. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102596
- Bhati, P., Moiz, J. A., Menon, G. R., and Hussain, M. E. (2019). Does resistance training modulate cardiac autonomic control? a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 29, 75–103. doi: 10.1007/s10286-018-0558-3
- Bone, A. E., Hepgul, N., Kon, S., and Maddocks, M. (2017). Sarcopenia and frailty in chronic respiratory disease: lessons from gerontology. *Chron. Respir. Dis.* 14, 85–99. doi: 10.1177/1479972316679664
- Bottaro, M., Machado, S. N., Nogueira, W., Scales, R., and Veloso, J. (2007). Effect of high versus low-velocity resistance training on muscular fitness and functional performance in older men. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 99, 257–264. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0343-1
- Boukelia, B., Fogarty, M. C., Davison, R. C. R., and Florida-James, G. D. (2017). Diurnal physiological and immunological responses to a 10-km run in highly trained athletes in an environmentally controlled condition of 6 °C. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 1–6. doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3489-5
- Boukelia, B., Gomes, E. C., and Florida-James, G. D. (2018). Diurnal variation in physiological and immune responses to endurance sport in highly trained runners in a hot and humid environment. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2018;3402143.
- Buitrago, S., Wirtz, N., Flenker, U., and Kleinöder, H. (2014). Physiological and metabolic responses as function of the mechanical load in resistance exercise. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 345–350. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0214
- Buitrago, S., Wirtz, N., Yue, Z., Kleinöder, H., and Mester, J. (2013). Mechanical load and physiological responses of four different resistance training methods in bench press exercise. J. Strength Cond. Res. 27, 1091–1100. doi: 10.1519/jsc. 0b013e318260ec77
- Calatayud, J., Borreani, S., Colado, J. C., Martin, F., Tella, V., and Andersen, L. L. (2015). Bench press and push-up at comparable levels of muscle activity results in similar strength gains. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 29, 246–253. doi: 10.1519/jsc. 000000000000589
- Castelli, V., Cimini, A., and Ferri, C. (2020). Cytokine storm in COVID-19: "when you come out of the storm, you won't be the same person who walked in.". *Front. Immunol.* 11:2132.

- Chan, D., and Cheema, B. S. (2016). Progressive resistance training in end-stage renal disease: systematic review. Am. J. Nephrol. 44, 32–45. doi: 10.1159/ 000446847
- Chan, K. S., Zheng, J. P., Mok, Y. W., Li, Y. M., Liu, Y. N., Chu, C. M., et al. (2003). SARS: prognosis, outcome and sequelae. *Respirology* 8, S36–S40.
- Chen, G., Wu, D., Guo, W., Cao, Y., Huang, D., Wang, H., et al. (2020). Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. *J. Clin. Invest.* 130, 2620–2629. doi: 10.1172/jci137244
- Chupel, M. U., Direito, F., Furtado, G. E., Minuzzi, L. G., Pedrosa, F. M., Colado, J. C., et al. (2017). Strength training decreases inflammation and increases cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. *Front. Physiol.* 8:377.
- Colado, J. C., Garcia-Masso, X., Pellicer, M., Alakhdar, Y., Benavent, J., and Cabeza-Ruiz, R. (2010). A comparison of elastic tubing and isotonic resistance exercises. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 31, 810–817. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1262808
- Counts, B. R., Buckner, S. L., Dankel, S. J., Jessee, M. B., Mattocks, K. T., Mouser, J. G., et al. (2016). The acute and chronic effects of "NO LOAD" resistance training. *Physiol. Behav.* 164, 345–352. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.06.024
- da Silva, R. P., Novaes, J., Oliveira, R. J., Gentil, P., Wagner, D., and Bottaro, M. (2007). High-velocity resistance exercise protocols in older women?: effects on cardio-vascular response. J. Sport. Sci. Med. 6, 560–567.
- Davis, J. M., Kohut, M. L., Colbert, L. H., Jackson, D. A., Ghaffar, A., and Mayer, E. P. (1997). Exercise, alveolar macrophage function, and susceptibility to respiratory infection. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 83, 1461–1466. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1997. 83.5.1461
- de Barbalho, M. D. S., Gentil, P., Izquierdo, M., Fisher, J., Steele, J., Raiol, R., et al. (2017). There are no no-responders to low or high resistance training volumes among older women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017. 09.003
- de França, H. S., Branco, P. A. N., Guedes Junior, D. P., Gentil, P., Steele, J., and Teixeira, C. V. L. S. (2015). The effects of adding single-joint exercises to a multi-joint exercise resistance training program on upper body muscle strength and size in trained men. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 826:150409143403004.
- Denehy, L., and Elliott, D. (2012). Strategies for post ICU rehabilitation. *Curr. Opin. Crit. Care* 18, 503–508. doi: 10.1097/mcc.0b013e328357f064
- Dias, R. K. N., Penna, E. M., Noronha, A. S. N., de Azevedo, A. B. C., Barbalho, M., Gentil, P. V., et al. (2020). Cluster-sets resistance training induce similar functional and strength improvements than the traditional method in postmenopausal and elderly women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 138:111011. doi: 10.1016/ j.exger.2020.111011
- Dores, H., and Cardim, N. (2020). Return to play after COVID-19: a sport cardiologist's view. Br. J. Sports Med. 54, 1132–1133. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102482
- Dorneles, G. P., dos Passos, A. A. Z., Romão, P. R. T., and Peres, A. (2020). New insights about regulatory t cells distribution and function with exercise: the role of immunometabolism. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 26, 979–990. doi: 10.2174/ 1381612826666200305125210
- Eggmann, S., Verra, M. L., Luder, G., Takala, J., and Jakob, S. M. (2018). Effects of early, combined endurance and resistance training in mechanically ventilated, critically ill patients: a randomised controlled trial. *PLoS One* 13:e0207428. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207428
- Farinatti, P. T. V., and Castinheiras Net, A. G. (2011). The effect of betweenset rest intervals on the oxygen uptake during and after resistance exercise sessions performed with large-and small-muscle mass. J. Strength Cond. Res. 25, 3181–3190. doi: 10.1519/jsc.0b013e318212e415
- Ferreira, T. L., Ribeiro, H. S., Ribeiro, A. L. A., Bonini-Rocha, A. C., Lucena, J. M. S., de Oliveira, P. A., et al. (2020). Exercise interventions improve depression and anxiety in chronic kidney disease patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* doi: 10.1007/s11255-020-02612-w Online ahead of print.
- Fisher, J. P., Steele, J., Gentil, P., Giessing, J., and Westcott, W. L. (2017). A minimal dose approach to resistance training for the older adult; the prophylactic for aging. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.012
- Fisher, J., Steele, J., and Smith, D. (2017). High- and low-load resistance training: interpretation and practical application of current research findings. *Sport. Med.* 47, 393–400. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0602-1

- Fisher, J., Steele, J., McKinnon, P., and McKinnon, S. (2014). Strength gains as a result of brief, infrequent resistance exercise in older adults. *J. Sport. Med.* 2014:731890.
- Fragala, M. S., Cadore, E. L., Dorgo, S., Izquierdo, M., Kraemer, W. J., Peterson, M. D., et al. (2019). Resistance training for older adults: position statement from the national strength and conditioning association. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 33, 2019–2052. doi: 10.1519/jsc.00000000003230
- Freidenreich, D. J., and Volek, J. S. (2012). Immune responses to resistance exercise. *Exerc. Immunol. Rev.* 18, 8–41.
- Garnacho-Castaño, M. V., Albesa-Albiol, L., Serra-Payá, N., Gomis Bataller, M., Pleguezuelos Cobo, E., Guirao Cano, L., et al. (2018). Oxygen uptake slow component and the efficiency of resistance exercises. J. Strength Cond. Res. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002905 Online ahead of print.
- Garnacho-Castaño, M. V., Dominguez, R., and Maté-Muñoz, J. L. (2015). Understanding the meaning of lactate threshold in resistance exercises. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 36, 371–377. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1398495
- Gentil, P., Bottaro, M., Noll, M., Werner, S., Vasconcelos, J. C., Seffrin, A., et al. (2017a). Muscle activation during resistance training with no external load effects of training status, movement velocity, dominance, and visual feedback. *Physiol. Behav.* 179, 148–152. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.06.004
- Gentil, P., de Lira, C. A. B., Souza, D., Jimenez, A., Mayo, X., de Fátima Pinho, et al. (2020a). Resistance training safety during and after the SARS-Cov-2 outbreak: practical recommendations. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2020;3292916.
- Gentil, P., Fisher, J., and Steele, J. (2017b). A review of the acute effects and longterm adaptations of single- and multi-joint exercises during resistance training. *Sport Med.* 47, 843–855. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0627-5
- Gentil, P., Ramirez-Campillo, R., and Souza, D. C. (2020b). Resistance training in face of the coronavirus outbreak: time to think outside the box. *Front. Physiol.* 11:859.
- Gentil, P., Soares, S. R., Pereira, M. C., Cunha, R. R., Martorelli, S. S., Martorelli, A. S., et al. (2013). Effect of adding single-joint exercises to a multi-joint exercise resistance-training program on strength and hypertrophy in untrained subjects. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 38, 341–344. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2012-0176
- Gentil, P., Soares, S., and Bottaro, M. (2015). Single vs. multi-joint resistance exercises: effects on muscle strength and hypertrophy. *Asian J. Sport. Med.* 6:e24057.
- Gerth, A. M. J., Hatch, R. A., Young, J. D., and Watkinson, P. J. (2019). Changes in health-related quality of life after discharge from an intensive care unit: a systematic review. Anaesthesia 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1111/anae.14444
- Gjøvaag, T. F., Mirtaheri, P., Simon, K., Berdal, G., Tuchel, I., Westlie, T., et al. (2016). Hemodynamic responses to resistance exercise in patients with coronary artery disease. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 581–588. doi: 10.1249/mss. 000000000000811
- Gladstone, D. E., Kim, B. S., Mooney, K., Karaba, A. H., and D'Alessio, F. R. (2020). Regulatory T cells for treating patients with COVID-19 and acute respiratory distress syndrome: two case reports. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 173, 852–853. doi: 10.7326/l20-0681
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N., Oliveira, M., and Tauler, P. (2013). Influence of training load on upper respiratory tract infection incidence and antigen-stimulated cytokine production. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 23, 451–457. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0838.2011.01422.x
- Gordon, B. R., McDowell, C. P., Hallgren, M., Meyer, J. D., Lyons, M., and Herring, M. P. (2018). Association of efficacy of resistance exercise training with depressive symptoms meta-analysis and meta-regression: analysis of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Psychiatry* 75, 566–576. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2018.0572
- Gordon, B. R., McDowell, C. P., Lyons, M., and Herring, M. P. (2017). The effects of resistance exercise training on anxiety: a meta-analysis and metaregression analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Sports Med.* 47, 2521–2532. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0769-0
- Goshua, G., Pine, A. B., Meizlish, M. L., Chang, C.-H., Zhang, H., Bahel, P., et al. (2020). Endotheliopathy in COVID-19-associated coagulopathy: evidence from a single-centre, cross-sectional study. *Lancet Haematol.* 7, e575–e582.
- Gotshall, R., Gootman, J., Byrnes, W., Fleck, S., and Valovich, T. (1999). Noninvasive characterization of the blood pressure response to double–leg press exercise. *JEPonline* 2, 1–6.

- Haddock, B. L., and Wilkin, L. D. (2006). Resistance training volume and post exercise energy expenditure. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 27, 143–148. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-865601
- Hayes, L. D., Bickerstaff, G. F., and Baker, J. S. (2010). Interactions of cortisol, testosterone, and resistance training: influence of circadian rhythms. *Chronobiol. Int.* 27, 675–705. doi: 10.3109/07420521003778773
- Herridge, M. S., Cheung, A. M., Tansey, C. M., Matte-Martyn, A., Diaz-Granados, N., Al-Saidi, F., et al. (2003). One-year outcomes in survivors of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 683–693.
- Horn, P. L., Pyne, D. B., Hopkins, W. G., and Barnes, C. J. (2010). Lower white blood cell counts in elite athletes training for highly aerobic sports. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 925–932. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1573-9
- Houchen-Wolloff, L., Sandland, C. J., Harrison, S. L., Menon, M. K., Morgan, M. D., Steiner, M. C., et al. (2014). Ventilatory requirements of quadriceps resistance training in people with COPD and healthy controls. *Int. J. Copd* 9, 589–595. doi: 10.2147/copd.s59164
- Hui, D. S., Wong, K. T., Ko, F. W., Tam, L. S., Chan, D. P., Woo, J., et al. (2005). The 1-year impact of severe acute respiratory syndrome on pulmonary function, exercise capacity, and quality of life in a cohort of survivors. *Chest* 128, 2247–2261. doi: 10.1378/chest.128.4.2247
- Jackson, J. C., Ely, E. W., Morey, M. C., Anderson, V. M., Denne, L. B., Clune, J., et al. (2012). Cognitive and physical rehabilitation of intensive care unit survivors: results of the return randomized controlled pilot investigation. *Crit. Care Med.* 40, 1088–1097. doi: 10.1097/ccm.0b013e3182373115
- Jones, H., Atkinson, G., Leary, A., George, K., Murphy, M., and Waterhouse, J. (2006). Reactivity of ambulatory blood pressure to physical activity varies with time of day. *Hypertension* 47, 778–784. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.0000206421.09642. b5
- Jones, H., Pritchard, C., George, K., Edwards, B., and Atkinson, G. (2008). The acute post-exercise response of blood pressure varies with time of day. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 104, 481–489. doi: 10.1007/s00421-008-0797-4
- José, A., and Dal Corso, S. (2016). Inpatient rehabilitation improves functional capacity, peripheral muscle strength and quality of life in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: a randomised trial. *J. Physiother.* 62, 96–102. doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2016.02.014
- Karlsdottir, A. E., Foster, C., Porcari, J. P., Palmer-McLean, K., White-Kube, R., and Backes, R. C. (2002). Hemodynamic responses during aerobic and resistance exercise. J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil. 22, 170–177. doi: 10.1097/ 00008483-200205000-00008
- Khatoon, F., Prasad, K., and Kumar, V. (2020). Neurological manifestations of COVID-19: available evidences and a new paradigm. *J. Neurovirol.* doi: 10.1007/ s13365-020-00895-4 Online ahead of print.
- Kikuchi, N., and Nakazato, K. (2017). Low-load bench press and push-up induce similar muscle hypertrophy and strength gain. J. Exerc. Sci. Fit. 15, 37–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jesf.2017.06.003
- Knuiman, P., Hopman, M. T. E., and Mensink, M. (2015). Glycogen availability and skeletal muscle adaptations with endurance and resistance exercise. *Nutr. Metab.* 12:59.
- Kochi, A. N., Tagliari, A. P., Forleo, G. B., Fassini, G. M., and Tondo, C. (2020). Cardiac and arrhythmic complications in patients with COVID-19. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 31, 1003–1008. doi: 10.1111/jce.14479
- Kovacevic, A., Mavros, Y., Heisz, J. J., and Fiatarone Singh, M. A. (2018). The effect of resistance exercise on sleep: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 39, 52–68. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.07.002
- Kraemer, W. J., Adams, K., Cafarelli, E., Dudley, G. A., Dooly, C., Feigenbaum, M. S., et al. (2002). American college of sports medicine position stand. progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc.* 34, 364–380. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200202000-00027
- Kraemer, W. J., Marchitelli, L., Gordon, S. E., Harman, E., Dziados, J. E., Mello, R., et al. (1990). Hormonal and growth factor responses to heavy resistance exercise protocols. J. Appl. Physiol. 69, 1442–1450. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1990.69.4.1442
- Kreutz, R., Algharably, E. A. E. H., Azizi, M., Dobrowolski, P., Guzik, T., Januszewicz, A., et al. (2020). Hypertension, the renin-angiotensin system, and the risk of lower respiratory tract infections and lung injury: implications for covid-19. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 116, 1688–1699. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa097
- Krüger, K., Agnischock, S., Lechtermann, A., Tiwari, S., Mishra, M., Pilat, C., et al. (2011). Intensive resistance exercise induces lymphocyte apoptosis via

cortisol and glucocorticoid receptor-dependent pathways. J. Appl. Physiol. 110, 1226–1232. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01295.2010

- Lammers, M. D., Anéli, N. M., de Oliveira, G. G., de Oliveira Maciel, S. F. V., Zanini, D., Mânica, A., et al. (2020). The anti-inflammatory effect of resistance training in hypertensive women. J. Hypertens. 38, 2490–2500. doi: 10.1097/hjh. 000000000002578
- Lamotte, M., Fleury, F., Pirard, M., Jamon, A., and van de Borne, P. (2010). Acute cardiovascular response to resistance training during cardiac rehabilitation: effect of repetition speed and rest periods. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 17, 329–336. doi: 10.1097/hjr.0b013e328332efdd
- Lamotte, M., Niset, G., and van de Borne, P. (2005). The effect of different intensity modalities of resistance training on beat-to-beat blood pressure in cardiac patients. *Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Prev. Rehabil.* 12, 12–17. doi: 10.1097/00149831-200502000-00003
- Levinger, I., Bronks, R., Cody, D. V., Linton, I., and Davie, A. (2005). Resistance training for chronic heart failure patients on beta blocker medications. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 102, 493–499. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2004.05.061
- Li, N., Li, P., Lu, Y., Wang, Z., Li, J., Liu, X., et al. (2019). Effects of resistance training on exercise capacity in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 32, 1911–1922. doi: 10.1007/s40520-019-01339-8
- Li, Y. C., Bai, W. Z., and Hashikawa, T. (2020). The neuroinvasive potential of SARS-CoV2 may play a role in the respiratory failure of COVID-19 patients. *J. Med. Virol.* 92, 552–555. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25728
- Li, Z., Cai, Y., Zhang, Q., Zhang, P., Sun, R., Jiang, H., et al. (2020). Intensive care unit acquired weakness. *Medicine* 99:e21926.
- Liao, W. H., Chen, J. W., Chen, X., Lin, L., Yan, H. Y., Zhou, Y. Q., et al. (2015). Impact of resistance training in subjects with COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Respir. Care* 60, 1130–1145. doi: 10.4187/respcare.03598
- MacDougall, J. D., McKelvie, R. S., Moroz, D. E., Sale, D. G., McCartney, N., and Buick, F. (1992). Factors affecting blood pressure during heavy weight lifting and static contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 73, 1590–1597. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1992. 73.4.1590
- Madjid, M., Safavi-Naeini, P., Solomon, S. D., and Vardeny, O. (2020). Potential effects of coronaviruses on the cardiovascular system: a review. *JAMA Cardiol.* 5, 831–840. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1286
- Marillier, M., Bernard, A. C., Vergès, S., and Neder, J. A. (2020). Locomotor muscles in COPD: the rationale for rehabilitative exercise training. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1590.
- Martínez-Velilla, N., Casas-Herrero, A., Zambom-Ferraresi, F., Sáez, de Asteasu, M. L., Lucia, A., et al. (2019). Effect of exercise intervention on functional decline in very elderly patients during acute hospitalization. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 179, 28–36. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.4869
- Martins, W. R., de Oliveira, R. J., Carvalho, R. S., de Oliveira Damasceno, V., da Silva, V. Z. M., and Silva, M. S. (2013). Elastic resistance training to increase muscle strength in elderly: a systematic review with metaanalysis. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 57, 8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2013. 03.002
- Mazzetti, S., Wolff, C., Yocum, A., Reidy, P., Douglass, M., and Cochran, M. (2011). Effect of maximal and slow versus recreational muscle contractions on energy expenditure in trained and untrained men. J. Sport Med. Phys. Fit. 51, 381–392.
- McCartney, N. (1998). Role of resistance training in heart disease. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 30, S396–S402.
- McDonagh, M. J., and Davies, C. T. (1984). Adaptive response of mammalian skeletal muscle to exercise with high loads. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 52, 139–155. doi: 10.1007/bf00433384
- McKelvie, R. S., and McCartney, N. (1990). Weightlifting training in cardiac patients: considerations. Sport Med. 10, 355–364. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199010060-00003
- McKelvie, R. S., McCartney, N., Tomlinson, C., Bauer, R., and MacDougall, J. D. (1995). Comparison of hemodynamic responses to cycling and resistance exercise in congestive heart failure secondary to ischemic cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 76, 977–979. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9149(99)80277-x
- Miles, M. P., Kraemer, W. J., Nindl, B. C., Grove, D. S., Leach, S. K., Dohi, K., et al. (2003). Strength, workload, anaerobic intensity and the immune response to resistance exercise in women. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 178, 155–163. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-201x.2003.01124.x

- Mitchell, C. J., Churchward-Venne, T. A., West, D. W. D., Burd, N. A., Breen, L., Baker, S. K., et al. (2012). Resistance exercise load does not determine trainingmediated hypertrophic gains in young men. J. Appl. Physiol. 113, 71–77. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00307.2012
- Mookerjee, S., Welikonich, M. J., and Ratamess, N. A. (2016). Comparison of energy expenditure during single-set vs. multiple-set resistance exercise. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 30, 1447–1452.
- Morris, P. E., Berry, M. J., Files, D. C., Thompson, J. C., Hauser, J., Flores, L., et al. (2016). Standardized rehabilitation and hospital length of stay among patients with acute respiratory failure a randomized clinical trial. *J. Am. Med. Assoc.* 315, 2694–2702.
- Morton, R. W., Oikawa, S. Y., Wavell, C. G., Mazara, N., McGlory, C., Quadrilatero, J., et al. (2016). Neither load nor systemic hormones determine resistance training-mediated hypertrophy or strength gains in resistance-trained young men. J. Appl. Physiol. 121, 129–138.
- Mukaimoto, T., and Ohno, M. (2012). Effects of circuit low-intensity resistance exercise with slow movement on oxygen consumption during and after exercise. *J. Sports Sci.* 30, 79–90.
- Natale, V. M., Brenner, I. K., Moldoveanu, A. I., Vasiliou, P., Shek, P., and Shepard, R. J. (2003). Effects of three different types of exercise on blood leukocyte count during and following exercise. *Sao Paulo Med. J.* 121, 9–14.
- Nieman, D. C. (2007). Marathon training and immune function. Sports Med. 37, 412–415.
- Nieman, D. C., and Wentz, L. M. (2019). The compelling link between physical activity and the body's defense system. J. Sport Heal. Sci. 8, 201–217.
- Nogueira, W., Gentil, P., Mello, S. N. M., Oliveira, R. J., Bezerra, A. J. C., and Bottaro, M. (2009). Effects of power training on muscle thickness of older men. *Int. J. Sport Med.* 30, 200–204.
- Oeyen, S. G., Vandijck, D. M., Benoit, D. D., Annemans, L., and Decruyenaere, J. M. (2010). Quality of life after intensive care: a systematic review of the literature. *Crit. Care Med.* 38, 2386–2400.
- Ong, K. C., Ng, A. W. K., Lee, L. S. U., Kaw, G., Kwek, S. K., Leow, M. K. S., et al. (2005). 1-Year pulmonary function and health status in survivors of severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Chest* 128, 1393–1400.
- Osthoff, A. K. R., Taeymans, J., Kool, J., Marcar, V., and Van Gestel, A. J. R. (2013). Association between peripheral muscle strength and daily physical activity in patients with COPD: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil. Prev.* 33, 351–359.
- Palmer, C. S., Ostrowski, M., Balderson, B., Christian, N., and Crowe, S. M. (2015). Glucose metabolism regulates T cell activation, differentiation, and functions. *Front. Immunol.* 6:1.
- Paoli, A., Gentil, P., Moro, T., Marcolin, G., and Bianco, A. (2017). Resistance training with single vs. multi-joint exercises at equal total load volume: effects on body composition, cardiorespiratory fitness, and muscle strength. *Front. Physiol.* 8:1105.
- Peake, J. M., Neubauer, O., Walsh, N. P., and Simpson, R. J. (2017). Recovery of the immune system after exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 122, 1077–1087.
- Pedersen, B. K., and Hoffman-Goetz, L. (2000). Exercise and the immune system: regulation, integration, and adaptation. *Physiol. Rev.* 80, 1055–1081.
- Pedersen, B. K., Rohde, T., and Ostrowski, K. (1998). Recovery of the immune system after exercise. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 162, 325–332.
- Pelliccia, A., Solberg, E. E., Papadakis, M., Adami, P. E., Biffi, A., Caselli, S., et al. (2019). Recommendations for participation in competitive and leisure time sport in athletes with cardiomyopathies, myocarditis, and pericarditis: position statement of the sport cardiology section of the european association of preventive cardiology (EAPC). *Eur. Heart J.* 40, 19–33.
- Peters, E. M., and Bateman, E. D. (1983). Ultramarathon running and upper respiratory tract infections. an epidemiological survey. S. Afr. Med. J. 64, 582–584.
- Phelan, D., Kim, J. H., and Chung, E. H. (2020). A game plan for the resumption of sport and exercise after coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection. JAMA Cardiol. 5, 1085–1086.
- Rama, L., Teixeira, A. M., Matos, A., Borges, G., Henriques, A., Gleeson, M., et al. (2013). Changes in natural killer cell subpopulations over a winter training season in elite swimmers. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 859–868.
- Ramel, A., Wagner, K. H., and Elmadfa, I. (2003). Acute impact of submaximal resistance exercise on immunological and hormonal parameters in young men. J. Sports Sci. 21, 1001–1008.

- Ramírez-Campillo, R., Castillo, A., de la Fuente, C. I., Campos-Jara, C., Andrade, D. C., Álvarez, C., et al. (2014). High-speed resistance training is more effective than low-speed resistance training to increase functional capacity and muscle performance in older women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 58, 51–57.
- Ratamess, N. A., Falvo, M. J., Mangine, G. T., Hoffman, J. R., Faigenbaum, A. D., and Kang, J. (2007). The effect of rest interval length on metabolic responses to the bench press exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 100, 1–17.
- Ratamess, N. A., Rosenberg, J. G., Kang, J., Sundberg, S., Izer, K. A., Levowsky, J., et al. (2014). Acute oxygen uptake and resistance exercise performance using different rest interval lengths: the influence of maximal aerobic capacity and exercise sequence. J. Strength Cond. Res. 28, 1875–1888.
- Rice, H., Harrold, M., Fowler, R., Watson, C., Waterer, G., and Hill, K. (2020). Exercise training for adults hospitalized with an acute respiratory condition: a systematic scoping review. *Clin. Rehabil.* 34, 45–55.
- Rúa-Alonso, M., Mayo, X., Mota, J., Kingsley, J. D., and Iglesias-Soler, E. (2020). A short set configuration attenuates the cardiac parasympathetic withdrawal after a whole-body resistance training session. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 120, 1905–1919.
- Santiago, L., Ångelo, M., Neto, L. G. L., Pereira, G. B., Leite, R. D., Mostarda, C. T., et al. (2018). Effects of resistance training on immunoinflammatory response, TNF-alpha gene expression, and body composition in elderly women. J. Aging Res. 2018:1467025.
- Schellhorn, P., Klingel, K., and Burgstahler, C. (2020). Return to sports after COVID-19 infection. *Eur. Heart J.* 41, 4382–4384.
- Scott, C. B., Leighton, B. H., Ahearn, K. J., and McManus, J. J. (2011). Aerobic, anaerobic, and excess postexercise oxygen consumption energy expenditure of muscular endurance and strength: 1-set of bench press to muscular fatigue. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 25, 903–908.
- Seguro, C., Viana, R., Lima, G., Galvão, L., Silva, L., Jardim, T., et al. (2019). Improvements in health parameters of a diabetic and hypertensive patient with only 40 minutes of exercise per week: a case study. *Disabil. Rehabil.* 42, 3119–3125.
- Siedlik, J. A., Benedict, S. H., Landes, E. J., Weir, J. P., Vardiman, J. P., and Gallagher, P. M. (2016). Acute bouts of exercise induce a suppressive effect on lymphocyte proliferation in human subjects: a meta-analysis. *Brain. Behav. Immun.* 56, 343–351.
- Smilios, I., Pilianidis, T., Karamouzis, M., and Tokmakidis, S. P. (2003). Hormonal responses after various resistance exercise protocols. *Med. Sci. Sport Exerc.* 35, 644–654.
- Smilios, I., Pilianidis, T., Karamouzis, M., Parlavantzas, A., and Tokmakidis, S. P. (2007). Hormonal responses after a strength endurance resistance exercise protocol in young and elderly males. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 28, 401–406.
- So, R. C. H., Ko, J., Yuan, Y. W. Y., Lam, J. J., and Louie, L. (2004). Severe acute respiratory syndrome and sport: facts and fallacies. Sport Med. 34, 1023–1033.
- Sosnowski, K., Lin, F., Mitchell, M. L., and White, H. (2015). Early rehabilitation in the intensive care unit: an integrative literature review. *Aust. Crit. Care* 28, 216–225.
- Souza, D., Barbalho, M., and Gentil, P. (2020). The role of resistance training volume on muscle size and lean body mass: to infinity and beyond? *Hum. Mov.* 21, 18–29.
- Souza, D., Barbalho, M., Vieira, C. A., Martins, W. R., Cadore, E. L., and Gentil, P. (2019). Minimal dose resistance training with elastic tubes promotes functional and cardiovascular benefits to older women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 115, 132–138.
- Souza, P. S., Gonçalves, E. D., Pedroso, G. S., Farias, H. R., Junqueira, S. C., Marcon, R., et al. (2017). Physical exercise attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhibiting peripheral immune response and blood-brain barrier disruption. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 4723–4737.
- Spence, L., Brown, W. J., Pyne, D. B., Nissen, M. D., Sloots, T. P., Mccormack, J. G., et al. (2007). Incidence, etiology, and symptomatology of upper respiratory illness in elite athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 577–586.
- Spruit, M. A., Janssen, D. J. A., Franssen, F. M. E., and Wouters, E. F. M. (2009). Rehabilitation and palliative care in lung fibrosis. *Respirology* 14, 781–787.
- Steardo, L., Steardo, L., and Verkhratsky, A. (2020). Psychiatric face of COVID-19. Transl. Psychiatry 10:261.
- Steele, J., Androulakis-Korakakis, P., Perrin, C., Fisher, J. P., Gentil, P., Scott, C., et al. (2019). Comparisons of resistance training and 'cardio' exercise modalities as countermeasures to microgravity induced physical deconditioning: new perspectives and lessons learned from terrestrial studies. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1150.

- Steiner, M. C. (2007). Sarcopaenia in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 62, 101–103.
- Stephen-Victor, E., Das, M., Karnam, A., Pitard, B., Gautier, J. F., and Bayry, J. (2020). Potential of regulatory T-cell-based therapies in the management of severe COVID-19. *Eur. Respir. J.* 56:2002182.
- Swallow, E. B., Reyes, D., Hopkinson, N. S., Man, W. D. C., Porcher, R., Cetti, E. J., et al. (2007). Quadriceps strength predicts mortality in patients with moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 62, 115–120.
- Takahashi, A., Abe, K., Usami, K., Imaizumi, H., Hayashi, M., Okai, K., et al. (2015). Simple resistance exercise helps patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 36, 848–852.
- Takahashi, A., Imaizumi, H., Hayashi, M., Okai, K., Abe, K., Usami, K., et al. (2017). Simple resistance exercise for 24 weeks decreases alanine aminotransferase levels in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Sport Med. Int. Open* 01, E2–E7.
- Tansey, C. M., Louie, M., Loeb, M., Gold, W. L., Muller, M. P., De Jager, J. A., et al. (2007). One-year outcomes and health care utilization in survivors of severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 167, 1312–1320.
- Timpka, T., Jacobsson, J., Bargoria, V., Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., Ronsen, O., et al. (2017). Preparticipation predictors for championship injury and illness: cohort study at the Beijing 2015 international association of athletics federations world championships. Br. J. Sports Med. 51, 272–277.
- Troosters, T., Probst, V. S., Crul, T., Pitta, F., Gayan-Ramirez, G., Decramer, M., et al. (2010). Resistance training prevents deterioration in quadriceps muscle function during acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 181, 1072–1077.
- Troyer, E. A., Kohn, J. N., and Hong, S. (2020). Are we facing a crashing wave of neuropsychiatric sequelae of COVID-19? neuropsychiatric symptoms and potential immunologic mechanisms. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 87, 34–39.
- Tsuzuku, S., Kajioka, T., Sakakibara, H., and Shimaoka, K. (2017). Slow movement resistance training using body weight improves muscle mass in the elderly: a randomized controlled trial. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 28, 1339–1344.
- Vale, A. F., Carneiro, J. A., Jardim, P. C. V., Jardim, T. V., Steele, J., Fisher, J. P., et al. (2018). Acute effects of different resistance training loads on cardiac autonomic modulation in hypertensive postmenopausal women. J. Transl. Med. 16:240.
- Veldema, J., Bösl, K., Kugler, P., Ponfick, M., Gdynia, H. J., and Nowak, D. A. (2019). Cycle ergometer training vs resistance training in ICU-acquired weakness. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 140, 62–71.
- Verrill, D., Shoup, E., McElveen, G., Witt, K., and Bergey, D. (1992). Resistive exercise training in cardiac patients: recommendations. *Sport Med.* 13, 171–193.

- Verwoert, G. C., de Vries, S. T., Bijsterveld, N., Willems, A. R., vd Borgh, R., Jongman, J. K., et al. (2020). Return to sports after COVID-19: a position paper from the dutch sports cardiology section of the netherlands society of cardiology. *Neth. Heart. J.* 28, 391–395.
- Vincent, K. R., and Vincent, H. K. (2012). Resistance exercise for knee osteoarthritis. PM R 4, S45–S52.
- Vindegaard, N., and Eriksen Benros, M. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: systematic review of the current evidence. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 89, 531–542.
- Wang, D., Hu, B., Hu, C., Zhu, F., Liu, X., Zhang, J., et al. (2020). Clinical Characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirusinfected pneumonia in wuhan, China. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 323, 1061–1069.
- Wilson, M. G., Hull, J. H., Rogers, J., Pollock, N., Dodd, M., Haines, J., et al. (2020). Cardiorespiratory considerations for return-to-play in elite athletes after COVID-19 infection: a practical guide for sport and exercise medicine physicians. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 54, 1157–1161.
- Wu, Y. C., Chen, C. S., and Chan, Y. J. (2020). The outbreak of COVID-19: an overview. J. Chin. Med. Assoc. 83, 217–220.
- Yamamoto, S., Hotta, K., Ota, E., Mori, R., and Matsunaga, A. (2016). Effects of resistance training on muscle strength, exercise capacity, and mobility in middle-aged and elderly patients with coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. *J. Cardiol.* 68, 125–134.
- Zhang, C., Wu, Z., Li, J. W., Tan, K., Yang, W., Zhao, H., et al. (2020). Discharge may not be the end of treatment: pay attention to pulmonary fibrosis caused by severe COVID-19. J. Med. Virol. 93, 1378–1386.
- Zu, Z. Y., Jiang, M., Di, Xu, P. P., Chen, W., Ni, Q. Q., et al. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a perspective from China. *Radiology* 296, E15–E25.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with one of the authors PG.

Copyright © 2021 Gentil, de Lira, Coswig, Barroso, Vitorino, Ramirez-Campillo, Martins and Souza. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Physiological Effects and Inter-Individual Variability to 12 Weeks of High Intensity-Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women

Omar Andrade-Mayorga<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nicolás Martínez-Maturana<sup>2</sup>, Luis A. Salazar<sup>1\*</sup> and Erik Díaz<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Center of Molecular Biology and Pharmacogenetics, Scientific and Technological Bioresource Nucleus (BIOREN), Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>2</sup>Department of Preclinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>3</sup>Exercise, Movement, and Health Research Group, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Javier Benítez-Porres, University of Malaga, Spain Jorge Luis Petro, University of Córdoba, Colombia

#### \*Correspondence:

Erik Diaz erick.diaz@ufrontera.cl Luis A. Salazar luis.salazar@ufrontera.cl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 21 May 2021 Accepted: 07 July 2021 Published: 29 July 2021

#### Citation:

Andrade-Mayorga O, Martínez-Maturana N, Salazar LA and Díaz E (2021) Physiological Effects and Inter-Individual Variability to 12 Weeks of High Intensity-Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women. Front. Physiol. 12:713016. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.713016 **Background**: Human adaptive response to exercise interventions is often described as group average and SD to represent the typical response for most individuals, but studies reporting individual responses to exercise show a wide range of responses.

**Objective**: To characterize the physiological effects and inter-individual variability on fat mass and other health-related and physical performance outcomes after 12 weeks of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and dietary energy restriction in overweight/obese adult women.

**Methods**: Thirty untrained adult overweight and obese women (age =  $27.4 \pm 7.9$  years; BMI =  $29.9 \pm 3.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) successfully completed a 12-week supervised HIIT program and an individually prescribed home hypocaloric diet (75% of daily energy requirements) throughout the whole intervention. High and low responders to the intervention were those individuals who were able to lose  $\geq 10$  and < 10% of initial absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms), respectively.

**Results**: The prevalence for high and low responders was 33% (n = 11) and 66% (n = 19), respectively. At the whole group level, the intervention was effective to reduce the absolute fat mass ( $30.9 \pm 7.2 \text{ vs}$ .  $28.5 \pm 7.2 \text{ kg}$ ; p < 0.0001), body fat percentage ( $39.8 \pm 4.3 \text{ vs}$ .  $37.8 \pm 4.9\%$ ; p < 0.0001), and total body mass ( $76.7 \pm 10.1 \text{ vs}$ .  $74.4 \pm 9.9 \text{ kg}$ ; p < 0.0001). In addition, there were improvements in systolic blood pressure (SBP;  $\Delta\% = -5.1\%$ ), diastolic blood pressure (DBP;  $\Delta\% = -6.4\%$ ), absolute VO<sub>2</sub>peak ( $\Delta\% = +14.0\%$ ), relative VO<sub>2</sub>peak ( $\Delta\% = +13.8\%$ ), peak power output (PPO;  $\Delta\% = +19.8\%$ ), anaerobic threshold (AT;  $\Delta\% = +16.7\%$ ), maximal ventilation (VE;  $\Delta\% = +14.1\%$ ), and peak oxygen pulse (O<sub>2</sub> pulse;  $\Delta\% = +10.4\%$ ). However, at the individual level, a wide range of effects were appreciated on all variables, and the magnitude of the fat mass changes did not correlate with baseline body mass or fat mass.

**Conclusion**: A 12-week supervised HIIT program added to a slight dietary energy restriction effectively improved fat mass, body mass, blood pressure, and cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF). However, a wide range of inter-individual variability was observed in the adaptative response to the intervention. Furthermore, subjects classified as low responders for fat mass reduction could be high responders (HiRes) in many other health-related and physical performance outcomes. Thus, the beneficial effects of exercise in obese and overweight women go further beyond the adaptive response to a single outcome variable such as fat mass or total body mass reduction.

Keywords: exercise, high-intensity interval training, overweight, interindividual variability, individual response, women

## INTRODUCTION

Human adaptive response to exercise interventions is often described in general terms, assuming that the group average and SD are sufficient to represent the typical response for most individuals (Mann et al., 2014). However, studies reporting individual responses to exercise are usually heterogeneous, showing a wide range of responses to the interventions rather than a similar response (Bouchard and Rankinen, 2001; King et al., 2008; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2012; Bonafiglia et al., 2016; Gurd et al., 2016; Parr et al., 2016; Álvarez et al., 2017a; de Lannoy et al., 2017; Sparks, 2017; Williamson et al., 2017; Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2019). Thus, research attempting to quantify, predict, and explain interindividual variability to exercise training has grown gradually (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2019). This heterogeneity has been linked to physiological, genetic, and epigenetic factors (Sparks, 2017; Hagstrom and Denham, 2018). Following this, recent literature has dichotomously classified individuals as either "responders/non-responders" or "high responders (HiRes)/low responders (LoRes)" using a pre-determined threshold. The most commonly used criteria are: clinical cut-off points (Mann et al., 2014; Parr et al., 2016; Álvarez et al., 2019), withinsubjects coefficient of variation (CV) (Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2012; Astorino and Schubert, 2014), typical error of measurement (TE) (Ross et al., 2015; Montero and Lundby, 2017), or two times the typical error (2x TE) (Bouchard et al., 2012; Bonafiglia et al., 2016, 2018; Gurd et al., 2016; Raleigh et al., 2016; Álvarez et al., 2017a; de Lannoy et al., 2017; Astorino et al., 2018). Concerning exercise, most studies have focused on heterogeneity of the cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) adaptations to training (Bouchard and Rankinen, 2001; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2012; Ross et al., 2015, 2019; Williamson et al., 2017). Few studies explore the inter-individual variability in body composition and exercise-induced fat mass changes (King et al., 2008; Álvarez et al., 2017a; Andreato et al., 2019). This research topic is essential because overweight and obesity have emerged as the leading health concerns during the last decades (Heymsfield and Wadden, 2017), and it is expected that by 2025 global obesity prevalence will reach 18% in men and surpass 21% in women (NCD-RisC, 2016). The global combined prevalence of overweight and obesity [i.e., body mass index (BMI)  $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  is currently estimated to

be over 38% (Ng et al., 2014). Furthermore, obesity is associated with expanding white adipose tissue (adipocyte hypertrophy) and visceral adiposity, producing metabolic dysregulation resulting from the associated pro-inflammatory and insulinresistant phenotype (Vazquez-Carrera, 2016; Hepler and Gupta, 2017). Thus, adiposity is a strong predictor of morbidity and mortality (Verheggen et al., 2016). Obesity is usually treated through behavioral changes involving exercise and nutrition (Petridou et al., 2019). Exercise represents an effective strategy to reduce body mass and improve health, being the lack of exercise one of the main factors associated with obesity (Booth et al., 2012). Moreover, high-intensity interval training (HIIT) has proven to be superior to traditional exercise programs in reducing fat mass and improving CRF in adults with obesity (Turk et al., 2017). This finding is important because some results support the idea that women have particular metabolic characteristics such as greater reliance on fat oxidation than men during submaximal exercise. However, they also indicate that this greater fat oxidation is reached at higher exercise intensities in women than men (Cheneviere et al., 2011). Therefore, the present study aimed to characterize the physiological effects and inter-individual variability on fat mass and other health-related and physical performance outcomes after 12 weeks of HIIT in overweight/obese adult women.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design and Participants**

A group of untrained adult overweight and obese women were studied, all referred by a physician to the supervised exercise program in our research center. Ethical approval for the study was provided by Scientific Ethics Committee at Universidad de La Frontera (Protocol N°112/16). The study was conducted according to the Helsinki Declaration. All volunteers received information about the protocol and provided written consent before the beginning of the study.

The inclusion criteria were: (a) women aged 18-45 years; (b) diagnosed with overweight or type 1 or 2 obesity (BMI between 25 and 39.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>); (c) untrained (not involved in regular physical activity or exercise program during the previous 6 months); (d) pre-menopausal women; and (e) previously screened by a physician professional. The exclusion criteria were: (a) previously diagnosed diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, myocardial infarction, and class III obesity; (b) receiving pharmacologic corticoids, metformin, or other drugs that may affect metabolism; (c) smoking habit; (d) history of bariatric surgery; (e) untreated hypothyroidism; and (f) skeletal muscle disabilities or a specific indication to avoid exercise by medical reasons. Attendance to a minimum of 70% (26/36 sessions) of the exercise program duration was fixed as the cut-off point for individual compliance for subjects included in the final statistical analyses. A structured medical history record and physical examination were performed on 105 adult women for enrolment purposes. Forty-three subjects met all the inclusion criteria, and 30 of them were finally studied. This study used a non-probabilistic sample aiming to separate high and low responders to a 12-week exercise program. In this study, HiRes to exercise intervention were those individuals who were able to lose  $\geq$  10% of initial absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms), and LoRes were individuals who lost < 10%, similar to previous studies that have also used clinical cut-off points for this classification (Milagro et al., 2013; Parr et al., 2016). The study design is shown in Figure 1. Anthropometry/body composition, endurance

performance, resting blood pressure, fasting glucose and insulin, and lipids levels, were assessed before and after the 12-week follow-up. Participants performed a supervised progressive exercise program three times a week on non-consecutive days, and it consisted of high-intensity cycling intervals interspersed with recovery inactive periods. Dietary intake was considered a control variable. To this purpose, all subjects were assessed and had nutrition counseling by the study nutritionist and instructed to follow an individually prescribed home hypocaloric diet (75% of daily energy requirements) throughout the whole intervention.

# Anthropometric/Body Composition and Cardiovascular Measurements

The initial assessment was carried out to record sociodemographic, physical, and physiological characteristics. Body mass, fat mass, body fat percentage, and fat-free mass (FFM) were assessed with the subject barefoot, wearing underclothes, and no metal objects using a Tanita<sup>TM</sup> foot-foot bioelectrical impedance analyzer (BIA; Tanita Corporation, model BC-541, Japan). Its prediction formula has been previously validated, showing high reproducibility (Jebb et al., 2000). Height was



measured without shoes to the nearest millimeter with a stadiometer (Seca model 213, Hamburg, Germany). BMI was calculated using the formula weight divided by height squared (kilograms per square meter). The systolic and diastolic blood pressures (DBPs) were determined using an automatic monitor (Omron HEM-7114; Omron Healthcare) in duplicate and after 15 min of complete rest with the subjects in a supine position. The heart rate (HR) was measured at rest in similar conditions using a telemetric heart rate sensor (Polar model V800, Finland).

#### Endurance Performance Assessment/ Incremental Exercise Test

Endurance performance was assessed 1 week before and after the 12-week intervention during an incremental exercise test designed to obtain peak oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>peak). In brief, the VO<sub>2</sub>peak test consisted of free-wheel pedaling for 2 min at 70-80 RPM on a cycle ergometer (Lode Corival, Groningen, The Netherlands), followed by an initial 50 W load for 2 min and 25 W increments every 2 min until the participant reached volitional fatigue. Gas exchange was collected throughout the test using an indirect calorimeter/ ergospirometer system (Ultima CPX<sup>TM</sup> metabolic system, Medgraphics, Minnesota, United States), which was calibrated before the exercise test. Additionally, it was measured the peak power output (PPO), anaerobic threshold (AT), respiratory exchange ratio (RER), peak oxygen pulse (O2 pulse; VO<sub>2</sub>peak/HRmax during the exercise test), ventilation (VE), and respiratory rate (RR). HR was monitored with a continuous telemetric HR sensor (Polar model V800, Finland) throughout the whole test.

#### **Exercise Training Intervention**

Participants performed a 12-week supervised HIIT program, with training sessions three times a week on non-consecutive days. The exercise session consisted of 1-min cycling at a high intensity (workload during each interval was set to achieve muscle failure at the end of 1-min exercise period and reaching ~85-100% maximal heart rate obtained during the incremental exercise test), followed by a 2-min inactive resting period (sitting on the cycle ergometer), and repeated 10 times (1x2x10 protocol; 1:2:10 to work: rest: repetitions, respectively). In summary, the total duration of one session of the 1x2x10 protocol was 30 min, with 10 min of effective exercise training, and without a warm-up or cool-down period. All exercise sessions were individually supervised to achieve muscle fatigue at each exercise interval as the primary indicator of intensity together with a continuous heart rate monitoring (Polar V800, Polar<sup>TM</sup>, Finland) in order to supervise that the chronotropic response was expected according to previously found with the same HIIT exercise protocol (Andrade-Mayorga et al., 2020). Load progression was defined as the gradual increase in workload developed when the subject failed to reach muscle failure at the end of the 60-s exercise interval, monitored individually on a series-by-series and session-by-session basis. Thus, the load progression increased in parallel to the increment in the work capacity of each individual.

### **Dietary Assessment and Hypocaloric Diet**

Participants were instructed to follow an individually designed hypocaloric diet [75% of estimated energy requirements (EERs)], equivalent to  $1,354 \pm 114.5$  kcal/day, throughout the 12-week study period to control the dietary intake. A 24-h diet recall and a modified food choice questionnaire (7 days) were applied at baseline (Salvador Castell et al., 2015). Total energy expenditure (TEE) was estimated using the factorial method based on their reported daily physical activity (FAO/WHO/UNU, 2004; Levine, 2005). In brief, basal metabolic rate (BMR) was estimated using the Mifflin-St. Jeor equation (Cancello et al., 2018), additional caloric requirements were determined based on each subject's physical activity level (PAL), which were used to calculate the PAL index, TEE, and the 75% EER. Subjects had individual monthly meetings with the nutritionist during the 3-month intervention to encourage compliance. Dietary compliance was assessed using an instrument adapted from the Perceived Self-Regulatory Success in Dieting Scale (Meule et al., 2012), where each subject's perceived adherence was quantified using a fivepoint Likert scale. The nutritional intervention excluded the use of nutritional supplements.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

GraphPad Prisma statistical software 7.0 (San Diego, CA, United States) was used. The normal distribution of all the variables was tested using the D'Agostino-Pearson test. All the continuous variables were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD. The differences between quantitative variables were analyzed by paired *t*-test (intra-group differences pre- and post-intervention) or unpaired *t*-test for independent groups (between-groups difference within time points). Gardner-Altman estimation plots, which show individual values, means, and effect size with a 95% CI, were developed using Estimation Statistics for Data Visualization (Ho et al., 2019). The correlation between the magnitude of the fat mass responses and baseline anthropometric measures was calculated using Pearson correlation coefficient with 95% CIs. The level of significance used in all comparisons was p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

From the initial cohort, 30 adult women (age =  $27.4 \pm 7.9$  years; BMI =  $29.9 \pm 3.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) successfully completed the 12-week intervention. All participants tolerated the exercise program well, and there were no injuries during the intervention. The baseline demographic, physical, and physiological characteristics of the participants are presented in **Table 1**.

At the group level, the intervention induced a reduction of absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms) by 7.8% (30.9  $\pm$  7.2 vs. 28.5  $\pm$  7.2 kg; p < 0.0001; **Figure 2A**). The effect size of this group reduction in absolute fat mass was a mean difference of -2.4 kg (95%CI -3.23 to -1.76; **Figure 2B**). In addition, this group reduction in fat mass was also evidenced as a decrease in body fat percentage (fat mass divided by total body mass, multiplied by 100; 39.8  $\pm$  4.3 vs. 37.8  $\pm$  4.9%; p < 0.0001). On an individual level, wide

TABLE 1 | Baseline demographic, physical, and physiological characteristics of the participants.

Variable	All (N = 30)	Low responders (N = 19)	High responders (N = 11)	<i>p</i> value (LoRes vs. HiRes)
Age (years)	27.4 ± 7.9	27.6 ± 8.6	$27.2 \pm 7.2$	0.898
Physical Activity				
Physical activity level index	1.39 ± 0.08	$1.38 \pm 0.08$	1.41 ± 0.09	0.437
Metabolic and Nutritional				
BMR (kcal/day)	1,295 ± 54.3	1,283 ± 55.7	1,314 ± 48.1	0.143
TEE (kcal/day)	1805 ± 152.7	1,778 ± 159.9	1852 ± 133.4	0.140
75% EER (kcal/day)	1,354 ± 114.5	1,333 ± 119.9	$1,389 \pm 100.1$	0.140
Anthropometry/Body				
composition				
Body mass (kg)	76.7 ± 10.1	77.2 ± 9.8	76.1 ± 11.1	0.788
BMI (kg/m²)	$29.9 \pm 3.3$	$30.6 \pm 3.3$	$28.8 \pm 3.0$	0.159
Fat mass (kg)	$30.9 \pm 7.2$	$31.6 \pm 6.9$	29.8 ± 8.0	0.533
Body fat percent (%)	$39.8 \pm 4.3$	$40.5 \pm 4.0$	$38.6 \pm 4.9$	0.246
FFM (kg)	$45.9 \pm 3.5$	45.6 ± 3.5	$46.3 \pm 3.5$	0.610
Cardiorespiratory fitness				
VO₂peak (ml·min <sup>-1</sup> )	1,800±249	$1,750 \pm 230$	$1,888 \pm 266$	0.146
VO <sub>2</sub> peak/FFM (ml·kg <sup>-1</sup> ·min <sup>-1</sup> )	$39.2 \pm 3.9$	38.3 ± 3.6	$40.7 \pm 3.9$	0.106
Cardiovascular				
O <sub>2</sub> pulse (ml/beat)	10.3 ± 1.5	10.2 ± 1.6	10.4 ± 1.2	0.683
Systolic BP (mmHg)	$110.2 \pm 8.7$	$110.9 \pm 8.4$	$108.9 \pm 9.4$	0.575
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	$73.6 \pm 7.5$	73.2 ± 8.7	$74.2 \pm 5.2$	0.739
Mean BP (mmHg)	85.8 ± 7.2	85.7 ± 7.9	85.8 ± 6.2	0.996

Data are shown as mean and ± SD. LoRes, low responders; HiRes, high responders; BMR, basal metabolic rate; TEE, total energy expenditure; EER, estimated energy requirement; BMI, body mass index; FFM, fat-free mass; VO<sub>2</sub>peak, peak oxygen consumption; and BP, blood pressure.

inter-individual variability was found for absolute fat mass reduction (Figure 2C), allowing to separate individuals who lost  $\geq$  10% of initial absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms) and individuals who lost < 10% of initial absolute fat mass, and classify them as HiRes or LoRes, respectively. The prevalence for HiRes was 33% (n = 11; Figure 2C, gray bars) and LoRes was 66% (n = 19; Figure 2C, black bars). The reduction in absolute fat mass in HiRes was 18.3% ( $\Delta$ :-4.7 kg; 29.8 ± 8 vs.  $25.2 \pm 6.9$  kg; p < 0.0001) and in LoRes was 3.6% $(\Delta:-1.1 \text{ kg}; 31.6 \pm 6.9 \text{ vs.} 30.5 \pm 6.7 \text{ kg}; p < 0.0001)$ , and the between-groups comparisons in the post-intervention values were statistically significant (p < 0.05). It is noteworthy that HiRes and LoRes groups were statistically similar in the demographic, physical, and physiological variables assessed at baseline (Table 1). Moreover, there was no difference in hypocaloric diet compliance between HiRes and LoRes  $(3.6 \pm 0.5 \text{ vs. } 3.3 \pm 3.5 \text{ points}; p = 0.3211)$ . Numbers on top of each column in Figure 2C represent the identification number of each subject according to their order of magnitude in the individual response to reduce fat mass after the intervention. These numbers and the classification as HiRes or LoRes to reduce fat mass were maintained in the subsequent figures to identify the individual response of these same subjects in the other study variables. Furthermore, it is important to mention that the magnitude of the fat mass changes did not correlate with baseline body mass (r = -0.221, p = 0.242) or fat mass (r = -0.069, p = 0.716).

At the group level, there was a reduction in total body mass (76.7  $\pm$  10.1 vs. 74.4  $\pm$  9.9 kg; p < 0.0001; Figure 3A). The effect size of this group reduction in body mass was a mean difference of -2.36 kg (95%CI -3.43 to -1.61). Individual changes in body mass from highest to lowest response are presented in Figure 3B, with HiRes represented with gray bars and LoRes with black bars (the subject number is the same as Figure 2C). The reduction in body mass in HiRes was 6.3% (76.1  $\pm$  11.1 vs. 71.3  $\pm$  9.9 kg; p < 0.0001) and in LoRes was 1.3% (77.2  $\pm$  9.8 vs. 76.2  $\pm$  9.7 kg; p = 0.0004) but without statistically significant difference between groups observed in the post-intervention values. Moreover, there were no significant pre-post changes in FFM (45.9  $\pm$  3.5 vs. 45.9  $\pm$  3.5 kg; p = 0.8813).

Related to CRF, for the whole group, there was an increased absolute VO<sub>2</sub>peak by 14.0%. Paired *t*-tests revealed differences between baseline and after intervention measures for absolute VO<sub>2</sub>peak (1,800  $\pm$  249 vs. 2,094  $\pm$  328 ml/min; *p* < 0.0001; **Figure 4A**) and for VO<sub>2</sub>peak relative to FFM (VO<sub>2</sub>peak/FFM; 39.2  $\pm$  3.9 vs. 45.5  $\pm$  5.6 ml/kg/min; *p* < 0.0001; **Figure 4C**). The effect size of this group increment in absolute VO<sub>2</sub>peak was a mean difference of +294 ml/min (95%CI 213–374), and for VO<sub>2</sub>peak/FFM was +6.35 ml/kg/min (95%CI 4.57–8.14). Individual changes in absolute and relative VO<sub>2</sub>peak are presented in **Figures 4B,D**, respectively. VO<sub>2</sub>peak relative to total body mass was not used considering pre-post differences in total body mass. The increment in absolute VO<sub>2</sub>peak in HiRes was 14.9%



**FIGURE 2** | Average changes (A) and individual response (B,C) to decrease absolute fat mass after 12-week intervention (A: absolute fat mass; B: Gardner Altman Plot with individual responses on the left axes as a line graph and the mean difference between groups on floating axes on the right; and C: individual changes in delta fat mass as % of baseline absolute fat mass). Numbers on the bars in panel (C) represent the order of magnitude in the individual response to reduce fat mass. High and low responders are identified in relation to the ability to reduce fat mass. \*\*\*p < 0.0001.

(1,888 ± 266 vs. 2,169 ± 322 ml/min; p = 0.0004) and in LoRes was 17.2% (1,750 ± 230 vs. 2,051 ± 332 ml/min; p < 0.0001) but without statistically significant difference between groups observed in the post-intervention values. Furthermore, there were significant improvement in exercise performance, measured as increases in PPO by 19.8% (128.3 ± 17.0 vs. 160.0 ± 24.2 W; p < 0.0001), AT by 16.7% (58.0 ± 11.9 vs. 69.6 ± 14.2 W; p = 0.0025), and maximal ventilation (VEmax) by 14.1% (66.3 ± 15.2 vs. 77.2 ± 13.7 L/min; p = 0.0021). There was no pre-post change in maximal respiratory rate (RRmax; 36.9 ± 8.2 vs. 39.2 ± 5.5 breath/min; p = 0.05).

Within the cardiovascular adaptations to 12-week exercise intervention, a 10.4% increase was observed in the group average for  $O_2$  pulse (10.3 ± 1.5 vs. 11.5 ± 1.6 ml/beat;

p < 0.0001; **Figure 5A**), which is a measure of maximum oxygen consumed per heartbeat. The effect size of this group increment in peak O<sub>2</sub> pulse was a mean difference of +1.2 ml/beat (95%CI 0.91–1.65]. Individual changes in peak O<sub>2</sub> pulse are presented in **Figure 5B**. In addition, decreases of 5.1 and 6.4% were observed for systolic blood pressure (SBP; 110.2 ± 8.7 vs. 104.9 ± 8.4 mmHg; p = 0.02; **Figure 5C**), and DBP (73.6 ± 7.5 vs. 69.2 ± 6.8 mmHg; p = 0.0003; **Figure 5E**), respectively. The effect size of this group reduction in SBP was a mean difference of -5.3 mmHg (95%CI -3.83 to -6.87), and for DBP was -4.4 mmHg (95%CI -2.57 to -6.63). Individual changes in SBP and DBP are presented in **Figures 5D,F**, respectively. The reduction in SBP in HiRes was 2.7% (108.9 ± 9.4 vs. 106.0 ± 9.8 mmHg;



p = 0.357) and in LoRes was 5.6% (110.9 ± 8.4 vs. 104.7 ± 9.1 mmHg; p = 0.03) with a significant difference only in the LoRes group. When comparing reductions in DBP levels in the HiRes and LoRes groups, no differences were found.

### DISCUSSION

We characterized the physiological effects and inter-individual variability on fat mass and other health-related and physical performance outcomes after 12 weeks of HIIT in overweight/ obese adult women. The uniqueness of the present study was that it shows the inter-individual variability to HIIT in overweight/obese young adult women, classified as LoRes or HiRes for a particular variable, i.e., absolute fat mass reduction, in response to a specific supervised 12-week exercise program added to a slight dietary energy restriction. This intervention caused an improvement in multiple health-related and physical performance outcomes, i.e., reductions in absolute fat mass  $(\Delta\% = -7.8\%, \text{ equivalent to } -2.4 \text{ kg})$ , body fat percentage  $(\Delta\% = -5.0\%)$ , total body mass  $(\Delta\% = -3.1\%)$ , SBP  $(\Delta\% = -5.1\%)$ , DBP ( $\Delta\% = -6.4\%$ ), and increases in absolute  $VO_2$  peak ( $\Delta\% = +14.0\%$ ), relative  $VO_2$  peak ( $\Delta\% = +13.8\%$ ), PPO ( $\Delta\%$  = +19.8%), anaerobic threshold ( $\Delta\%$  = +16.7%), maximal ventilation ( $\Delta\%$  = +14.1%), and O<sub>2</sub>pulse  $(\Delta\% = +10.4\%)$ . These results agree with several reviews and meta-analyses demonstrating that HIIT interventions allow multiple beneficial effects for health in a time-efficient manner, both in adults with obesity (Turk et al., 2017; Rugbeer et al., 2021) and lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic diseases (Gibala et al., 2012; Weston et al., 2014; Batacan et al., 2017; Maillard et al., 2018; Viana et al., 2019). Moreover, the meta-analysis by Dupuit et al. (2020) shows that cycling HIIT programs over 8 weeks are most effective in reducing fat and body mass in women before menopause (Dupuit et al., 2020). Correspondingly, the systematic review and meta-analysis by

Johns et al. (2014) reported that programs combining exercise and diet are more effective in the short and long term for behavioral weight management (Johns et al., 2014). Also, the systematic review and meta-analysis by Clark (2015) reported that the combination of exercise and diet is more effective in producing changes in body composition, recommending interventions that generate large metabolic stress (induced by high levels of endurance exercise or resistance training) and not focused on energy imbalance in overweight adults (Clark, 2015). The reduction of fat mass after behavioral interventions is essential, as shown in the recent systematic review by Abe et al. (2021), where changes in total body fat have been associated with changes in visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue following caloric restriction, caloric restriction plus exercise, and exercise alone interventions (Abe et al., 2021). However, beyond the good average group responses found in the present study, a wide range of responses was appreciated in each study variable individually.

Regarding the cut-off point used to classify subjects with a high or low response to the reduction of their absolute fat mass (kg), mention that there are different methods to make this differentiation (clinical cut-off points, within-subjects coefficient of variation, typical error of measurement, or two times the typical error) but without a consensus on which is the most appropriate method to differentiate these groups. The criterion used in this study was similar to previous studies, given an expected biological expression (Milagro et al., 2013; Parr et al., 2016). Parr et al. (2016) used similar cut-off points to evaluate circulating microRNA in the bloodstream (c-miR) before and after a 16-week intervention with exercise and diet in obese/overweight subjects. They observed that HiRes subjects (>10% reduction) have lower c-miR-935 expression pre- and post-intervention, knowing that c-miR-935 could be involved in modulating the expression of different metabolism-related genes (Parr et al., 2016). Similarly, Milagro et al. (2013) used a 5% cut-off point to assess differential expression of different miRNA in blood cells between HiRes and LoRes groups, but in a short-term (8 weeks) diet intervention without





exercise training in excess body weight women (Milagro et al., 2013). Furthermore, the relevance of the cut-off point used in this study is supported by a systematic review comparing the effects of hypocaloric diet versus exercise (Verheggen et al., 2016), where the authors demonstrated that in the absence of weight loss, body fat reduction was much higher with exercise (6.1%) than diet (1.1%). Therefore, a 10% absolute fat mass reduction is a reasonably strict cut-off point to judge the failure/success of a 12-week intervention with exercise and diet.

Most of the previous studies reporting inter-individual variability have shown the prevalence of non-responders for a single outcome variable but without identifying the individual response of each subject for the primary variable and comparing it with the other study variables. For this study, the modification of fat mass was considered the primary outcome variable since it is a strong predictor of morbidity and mortality (Verheggen et al., 2016). Therefore, it was interesting for us to observe the individual response of each subject on other physical performance and health-related study variables, maintaining their classification as high-responder or low-responder for fat mass reduction and their corresponding identification number in the other study variables. Thus, subjects with more remarkable changes in fat mass (HiRes; **Figure 2C**, gray bars) were also those who had a more considerable reduction in total body mass (**Figure 3B**, gray bars); however, this was not the case for the rest of variables studied. Similar inter-individual variability to reduce fat mass has been observed in previous studies reporting the prevalence of non-responders after a HIIT intervention in subjects with cardiometabolic disorders (Álvarez et al., 2017b) and after moderate-intensity continuous training in overweight and obese subjects (Álvarez et al., 2012).



On the other hand, HIIT produces significant increases in CRF (Weston et al., 2014), which is highly relevant since improving VO<sub>2</sub>peak reduces the risk of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events (Kodama et al., 2009). Nevertheless, we observe that improvement in CRF (i.e., VO<sub>2</sub>peak) after our 12-week intervention

occurs with wide inter-individual variability, and this seems to occur independently of the high or low fat-mass response (**Figure 4B**, black bars). This pattern did not change when the VO<sub>2</sub>peak was normalized by FFM (**Figure 4D**, black bars). Since Bouchard et al. (1999) published their article, inter-individual

variability of VO<sub>2</sub>peak in response to different exercise interventions has been one of the most widely reported topics (Bouchard et al., 1999). However, according to Ross et al. (2015), the frequency of non-responders decreases until it disappears; with increasing intensity and duration of a 24-week exercise program (Ross et al., 2015). Correspondingly, Montero and Lundby (2017) reported that CRF non-responders prevalence is abolished by increasing the dose of exercise in a 6-week endurance training program (Montero and Lundby, 2017).

Similarly, the individual responses for cardiovascular outcomes after the 12-week intervention showed a wide variability to increase the peak  $O_2$  pulse (**Figure 5B**). This improvement can be interpreted as a reflection of a greater stroke volume during maximum exercise (Mezzani, 2017), suggesting cardiac adaptations. Wide individual variability in reducing systolic and DBP (**Figures 5D,F**) were appreciated. It is worth mention that regardless that all participants in the present study were normotensive, they still showed improvements in their blood pressure levels, in agreement with a meta-analysis by Cornelissen and Smart (2013). They found that different exercise modalities effectively reduce blood pressure in normotensive and hypertensive subjects (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013). Thus, we could speculate that improvements were produced on endothelial function after the 12-week HIIT and diet intervention.

Among the numerous factors explaining the wide interindividual variability on exercise-induced fat and body mass loss, it can be cited: sex, ethnicity, muscle fiber type, body fat depot, diet, physical activity, sedentary behaviors, stress, sleep deprivation, adenovirus-36, and others (Boutcher and Dunn, 2009). Additionally, genetic and epigenetic factors could be playing a vital role in this exercise response heterogeneity (Sparks, 2017; Williamson et al., 2017; Hagstrom and Denham, 2018).

Our results corroborate the understanding that although there are high and low responders to exercise interventions, this classification is appropriate only for a single parameter and a specific exercise protocol. In this regard, Barbalho et al. (2017) study demonstrated that all participants in a 12-week resistance training showed improvements in at least one study outcome; therefore, there were no non-responders (Barbalho et al., 2017). This topic is genuinely relevant because it can motivate overweight and obese people to exercise, particularly when a time-efficient exercise strategy is used (Lidegaard et al., 2016). Thus, exercise modalities such as HIIT cause greater enjoyment than traditional programs of moderate-intensity continuous training (Thum et al., 2017) and in a time-efficient manner (Gillen and Gibala, 2014). Consequently, participants in these programs must be informed about the improvements in the different physical and healthrelated outcome variables during and after the interventions beyond reducing fat mass or body mass. This critical information will increase their adherence and motivation to behavioral changes to improve their health status.

The strengths of our study include the rigorous design of the exercise protocol monitored individually on a series-byseries and session-by-session basis during the 12-week program. Another strength was the individually prescribed home hypocaloric diet, as most similar studies acknowledge a lack of dietary control and only report that subjects were encouraged to maintain their usual diet during the exercise intervention period. On the other hand, one of its limitations was the lack of a no-intervention control group. Another limitation was using a BIA to measure body composition variables, as this is not considered the "gold standard" method.

In conclusion, a 12-week supervised HIIT program added to a slight dietary energy restriction effectively improved fat mass, body mass, blood pressure, and CRF. However, a wide range of inter-individual variability was observed in the adaptative response to the intervention. Furthermore, subjects classified as LoRes for fat mass reduction could be HiRes in many other health-related and physical performance outcomes. Thus, the beneficial effects of exercise in obese and overweight women go beyond the adaptive response to a single outcome variable such as fat mass or total body mass reduction.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Scientific Ethics Committee at Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have read the manuscript and agreed with the content. OA-M, ED, and LS conceived and designed the study. OA-M and NM-M performed the experiments. OA-M and ED analyzed the data. ED and LS contributed reagents, materials, and analysis tools and reviewed and edited the manuscript. OA-M wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study is part of the OA-M's Ph.D. research and was partially funded by a Research Grant from the Universidad de La Frontera (DIUFRO DI16-0107) and the National Commission for Scientific and Technological Research Ph.D. Scholarship ( $N^{\circ}$ 21151549).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Angelica Olea, Christopher San Martín, Viviana Rosales, Susana Pacheco, Javiera Pardo, Natalia Celedón, Josefa Santander, Erna Kurten, Carlos Quintulen, and Katherine Hunter for their contribution.

#### REFERENCES

- Abe, T., Song, J. S., Bell, Z. W., Wong, V., Spitz, R. W., Yamada, Y., et al. (2021). Comparisons of calorie restriction and structured exercise on reductions in visceral and abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue: a systematic review. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* doi: 10.1038/s41430-021-00942-1 [Epub ahead of print]
- Álvarez, C., Ramirez, R., Flores, M., Zuniga, C., and Celis-Morales, C. A. (2012). Efectos del ejercicio fisico de Alta intensidad y sobrecarga en parametros de salud metabolica en mujeres sedentarias, pre-diabeticas con sobrepeso u obesidad. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 140, 1289–1296. doi: 10.4067/ S0034-98872012001000008
- Álvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Lucia, A., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Concurrent exercise training on hyperglycemia and comorbidities associated: non-responders using clinical cutoff points. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 952–967. doi: 10.1111/sms.13413
- Álvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017a). Prevalence of non-responders for glucose control markers after 10 weeks of high-intensity interval training in adult women with higher and lower insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 8:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00479
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017b). Effects and prevalence of nonresponders after 12 weeks of high-intensity interval or resistance training in women with insulin resistance: a randomized trial. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 122, 985–996. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01037. 2016
- Andrade-Mayorga, O., Mancilla, R., Díaz, E., and Álvarez, C. (2020). Heart rate during an exercise test and acute high-intensity interval training in type 2 diabetes. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 41, 365–372. doi: 10.1055/a-1015-0591
- Andreato, L. V., Esteves, J. V., Coimbra, D. R., Moraes, A. J. P., and de Carvalho, T. (2019). The influence of high-intensity interval training on anthropometric variables of adults with overweight or obesity: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Obes. Rev.* 20, 142–155. doi: 10.1111/obr.12766
- Astorino, T. A., deRevere, J., Anderson, T., Kellogg, E., Holstrom, P., Ring, S., et al. (2018). Change in VO<sub>2</sub>max and time trial performance in response to high-intensity interval training prescribed using ventilatory threshold. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1811–1820. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-3910-3
- Astorino, T. A., and Schubert, M. M. (2014). Individual responses to completion of short-term and chronic interval training: a retrospective study. *PLoS One* 9:e97638. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097638
- Barbalho, M. S. M., Gentil, P., Izquierdo, M., Fisher, J., Steele, J., and Raiol, R. A. (2017). There are no no-responders to low or high resistance training volumes among older women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.003
- Batacan, R. B., Duncan, M. J., Dalbo, V. J., Tucker, P. S., and Fenning, A. S. (2017). Effects of high-intensity interval training on cardiometabolic health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention studies. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 51, 494–503. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095841
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Nelms, M. W., Preobrazenski, N., LeBlanc, C., Robins, L., Lu, S., et al. (2018). Moving beyond threshold-based dichotomous classification to improve the accuracy in classifying non-responders. *Phys. Rep.* 6:e13928. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13928
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Rotundo, M. P., Whittall, J. P., Scribbans, T. D., Graham, R. B., and Gurd, B. J. (2016). Inter-individual variability in the adaptive responses to endurance and sprint interval training: a randomized crossover study. *PLoS One* 11:e0167790. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167790
- Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., and Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Compr. Physiol.* 2, 1143–1211. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c110025
- Bouchard, C., An, P., Rice, T., Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, J. H., Gagnon, J., et al. (1999). Familial aggregation of VO(2max) response to exercise training: results from the HERITAGE family study. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 87, 1003–1008. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.87.3.1003
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Hakkinen, K., et al. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: is it a rare or common occurrence? *PLoS One* 7:e37887. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0037887
- Bouchard, C., and Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, S446–S451. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200106001-00013

- Boutcher, S. H., and Dunn, S. L. (2009). Factors that may impede the weight loss response to exercise-based interventions. *Obes. Rev.* 10, 671–680. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00621.x
- Cancello, R., Soranna, D., Brunani, A., Scacchi, M., Tagliaferri, A., Mai, S., et al. (2018). Analysis of predictive equations for estimating resting energy expenditure in a large cohort of morbidly obese patients. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:367. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00367
- Cheneviere, X., Borrani, F., Sangsue, D., Gojanovic, B., and Malatesta, D. (2011). Gender differences in whole-body fat oxidation kinetics during exercise. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 36, 88–95. doi: 10.1139/H10-086
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Piatrikova, E., Betts, J. A., Williams, S., and Gonzalez, J. T. (2019). Variability in exercise physiology: can capturing intra-individual variation help better understand true inter-individual responses? *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 20, 1–9. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2019.1655100
- Clark, J. E. (2015). Diet, exercise or diet with exercise: comparing the effectiveness of treatment options for weight-loss and changes in fitness for adults (18-65 years old) who are overfat, or obese; systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Diabetes Metab. Disord. 14:31. doi: 10.1186/s40200-015-0154-1
- Cornelissen, V. A., and Smart, N. A. (2013). Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2:e004473. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.004473
- de Lannoy, L., Clarke, J., Stotz, P. J., and Ross, R. (2017). Effects of intensity and amount of exercise on measures of insulin and glucose: analysis of inter-individual variability. *PLoS One* 12:e0177095. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0177095
- Dupuit, M., Maillard, F., Pereira, B., Marquezi, M. L., Lancha, A. H. Jr., and Boisseau, N. (2020). Effect of high intensity interval training on body composition in women before and after menopause: a meta-analysis. *Exp. Physiol.* 105, 1470–1490. doi: 10.1113/EP088654
- FAO/WHO/UNU (2004). Human energy requirements: report of a joint FAO/ WHO/UNU Expert Consultation, Rome 17–24 October 2001. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Gibala, M. J., Little, J. P., Macdonald, M. J., and Hawley, J. A. (2012). Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. J. Physiol. 590, 1077–1084. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224725
- Gillen, J. B., and Gibala, M. J. (2014). Is high-intensity interval training a time-efficient exercise strategy to improve health and fitness? *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 409–412. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0187
- Gurd, B. J., Giles, M. D., Bonafiglia, J. T., Raleigh, J. P., Boyd, J. C., Ma, J. K., et al. (2016). Incidence of nonresponse and individual patterns of response following sprint interval training. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 229–234. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0449
- Hagstrom, A. D., and Denham, J. (2018). microRNAs in high and low responders to resistance training in breast cancer survivors. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 39, 482–489. doi: 10.1055/a-0592-7691
- Hepler, C., and Gupta, R. K. (2017). The expanding problem of adipose depot remodeling and postnatal adipocyte progenitor recruitment. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 445, 95–108. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2016.10.011
- Heymsfield, S. B., and Wadden, T. A. (2017). Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and management of obesity. N. Engl. J. Med. 376:1492. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc1701944
- Ho, J., Tumkaya, T., Aryal, S., Choi, H., and Claridge-Chang, A. (2019). Moving beyond P values: data analysis with estimation graphics. *Nat. Methods* 16, 565–566. doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0470-3
- Jebb, S. A., Cole, T. J., Doman, D., Murgatroyd, P. R., and Prentice, A. M. (2000). Evaluation of the novel Tanita body-fat analyser to measure body composition by comparison with a four-compartment model. *Br. J. Nutr.* 83, 115–122. doi: 10.1017/S0007114500000155
- Johns, D. J., Hartmann-Boyce, J., Jebb, S. A., and Aveyard, P. (2014). Diet or exercise interventions vs combined behavioral weight management programs: a systematic review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. J. Acad. Nutr. Diet. 114, 1557–1568. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.07.005
- King, N. A., Hopkins, M., Caudwell, P., Stubbs, R. J., and Blundell, J. E. (2008). Individual variability following 12 weeks of supervised exercise: identification and characterization of compensation for exercise-induced weight loss. *Int. J. Obes.* 32, 177–184. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803712
- Kodama, S., Saito, K., Tanaka, S., Maki, M., Yachi, Y., Asumi, M., et al. (2009). Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality

and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. JAMA 301, 2024–2035. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.681

- Levine, J. A. (2005). Measurement of energy expenditure. *Public Health Nutr.* 8, 1123–1132. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005800
- Lidegaard, L. P., Schwennesen, N., Willaing, I., and Faerch, K. (2016). Barriers to and motivators for physical activity among people with type 2 diabetes: patients' perspectives. *Diabet. Med.* 33, 1677–1685. doi: 10.1111/dme.13167
- Maillard, F., Pereira, B., and Boisseau, N. (2018). Effect of high-intensity interval training on total, abdominal and visceral fat mass: a meta-analysis. Sports Med. 48, 269–288. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0807-y
- Mann, T. N., Lamberts, R. P., and Lambert, M. I. (2014). High responders and low responders: factors associated with individual variation in response to standardized training. *Sports Med.* 44, 1113–1124. doi: 10.1007/ s40279-014-0197-3
- Meule, A., Papies, E. K., and Kübler, A. (2012). Differentiating between successful and unsuccessful dieters validity and reliability of the perceived self-regulatory success in dieting scale. *Appetite* 58, 822–826. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2012.01.028
- Mezzani, A. (2017). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing: basics of methodology and measurements. Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc. 14, S3–S11. doi: 10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201612-997FR
- Milagro, F. I., Miranda, J., Portillo, M. P., Fernandez-Quintela, A., Campion, J., and Martinez, J. A. (2013). High-throughput sequencing of microRNAs in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: identification of potential weight loss biomarkers. *PLoS One* 8:e54319. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054319
- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2017). Refuting the myth of non-response to exercise training: 'non-responders' do respond to higher dose of training. *J. Physiol.* 595, 3377–3387. doi: 10.1113/JP273480
- NCD-RisC (2016). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. *Lancet* 387, 1377–1396. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(16)30054-X
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N., Margono, C., et al. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *Lancet* 384, 766–781. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)60460-8
- Parr, E. B., Camera, D. M., Burke, L. M., Phillips, S. M., Coffey, V. G., and Hawley, J. A. (2016). Circulating microrna responses between 'high' and 'low' responders to a 16-wk diet and exercise weight loss intervention. *PLoS One* 11:e0152545. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152545
- Petridou, A., Siopi, A., and Mougios, V. (2019). Exercise in the management of obesity. *Metabolism* 92, 163–169. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.10.009
- Raleigh, J. P., Giles, M. D., Scribbans, T. D., Edgett, B. A., Sawula, L. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., et al. (2016). The impact of work-matched interval training on VO<sub>2</sub>peak and VO<sub>2</sub> kinetics: diminishing returns with increasing intensity. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 706–713. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0614
- Ross, R., de Lannoy, L., and Stotz, P. J. (2015). Separate effects of intensity and amount of exercise on interindividual cardiorespiratory fitness response. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 90, 1506–1514. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.024
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2018-100328
- Rugbeer, N., Constantinou, D., and Torres, G. (2021). Comparison of highintensity training versus moderate-intensity continuous training on cardiorespiratory fitness and body fat percentage in persons with overweight

or obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Phys. Act. Health 18, 610–623. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2020-0335

- Salvador Castell, G., Serra-Majem, L., and Ribas-Barba, L. (2015). What and how much do we eat? 24-hour dietary recall method. *Nutr. Hosp.* 31, 46–48. doi: 10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8750
- Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Walitzek, S., Kindermann, W., and Meyer, T. (2012). Differences in adaptations to 1 year of aerobic endurance training: individual patterns of nonresponse. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 113–118. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0838.2010.01139.x
- Sparks, L. M. (2017). Exercise training response heterogeneity: physiological and molecular insights. *Diabetologia* 60, 2329–2336. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-017-4461-6
- Thum, J. S., Parsons, G., Whittle, T., and Astorino, T. A. (2017). High-intensity interval training elicits higher enjoyment than moderate intensity continuous exercise. *PLoS One* 12:e0166299. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166299
- Turk, Y., Theel, W., Kasteleyn, M. J., Franssen, F. M. E., Hiemstra, P. S., Rudolphus, A., et al. (2017). High intensity training in obesity: a metaanalysis. Obes. Sci. Pract. 3, 258–271. doi: 10.1002/osp4.109
- Vazquez-Carrera, M. (2016). Unraveling the effects of PPARbeta/delta on insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 27, 319–334. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.02.008
- Verheggen, R. J., Maessen, M. F., Green, D. J., Hermus, A. R., Hopman, M. T., and Thijssen, D. H. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of exercise training versus hypocaloric diet: distinct effects on body weight and visceral adipose tissue. *Obes. Rev.* 17, 664–690. doi: 10.1111/ obr.12406
- Viana, R. B., Naves, J. P. A., Coswig, V. S., de Lira, C. A. B., Steele, J., Fisher, J. P., et al. (2019). Is interval training the magic bullet for fat loss? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing moderate-intensity continuous training with high-intensity interval training (HIIT). *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 655–664. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099928
- Weston, K. S., Wisloff, U., and Coombes, J. S. (2014). High-intensity interval training in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 48, 1227–1234. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2013-092576
- Williamson, P. J., Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2017). Inter-individual responses of maximal oxygen uptake to exercise training: a critical review. *Sports Med.* 47, 1501–1513. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0680-8

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Andrade-Mayorga, Martínez-Maturana, Salazar and Díaz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Effects of Four Lipid Metabolism-Related Polymorphisms on Body Composition Improvements After 12 Weeks of High-Intensity Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women: A Pilot Study

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

**frontiers** 

in Physiology

#### Reviewed by:

Diego A. Bonilla, District University of Bogotá, Colombia Claudia Yaneth Rodriguez Triviño, South Colombian University, Colombia

#### \*Correspondence:

Luis A. Salazar luis.salazar@ufrontera.cl Erik Díaz erick.diaz@ufrontera.cl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 21 May 2021 Accepted: 04 August 2021 Published: 01 September 2021

#### Citation:

Andrade-Mayorga O, Díaz E and Salazar LA (2021) Effects of Four Lipid Metabolism-Related Polymorphisms on Body Composition Improvements After 12 Weeks of High-Intensity Interval Training and Dietary Energy Restriction in Overweight/Obese Adult Women: A Pilot Study. Front. Physiol. 12:712787. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.712787 Omar Andrade-Mayorga<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Erik Díaz<sup>3\*</sup> and Luis A. Salazar<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Center of Molecular Biology and Pharmacogenetics, Scientific and Technological Bioresource Nucleus (BIOREN), Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>2</sup>Department of Preclinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>3</sup>Exercise, Movement and Health Research Group, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile

**Background:** Polymorphisms in lipid metabolism-related genes have been associated with obesity and body composition, but these have been scarcely described concerning the magnitude of the response to exercise interventions in the overweight/obese population.

**Objective:** To evaluate the association of perilipin 1 (*PLIN1*; rs1052700 and rs2304795), lipoprotein lipase (rs283), and adrenoceptor beta 3 (rs4994) polymorphisms with high and low responders (LoRes) to fat mass reduction after 12 weeks of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and dietary energy restriction in overweight/obese adult women. In addition, we examined the effect of these genetic variants on body composition changes.

**Methods:** Forty-three unrelated overweight/obese adult women were incorporated and genotyped, of which 30 women (age =  $27.4 \pm 7.9$  years; BMI =  $29.9 \pm 3.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) successfully completed the 12-week supervised HIIT program plus an individually prescribed home hypocaloric diet.

**Results:** An association was observed between the *PLIN1* rs1052700 polymorphism with high and LoRes ( $\chi^2 = 8.138$ ; 2 *df*; p = 0.01). Moreover, after the intervention, the carriers of TT genotype of *PLIN1* rs1052700 as compared to AA and AT showed a greater reduction in absolute fat mass ( $\Delta$ :  $-5.1 \pm 1.8$  vs.  $-1.8 \pm 1.4$  vs.  $-2.1 \pm 2.3$  kg; p = 0.04). The effect size of this fat mass reduction between TT and AT genotypes was a mean difference of -3.01 kg [95%IC -4.88--1.1], and between TT and AA genotypes was -3.29 kg [95%IC -4.86--1.65]. No differences were observed for other polymorphisms investigated.

**Conclusion:** These results suggest that the rs1052700 (14995A>T) polymorphism of the *PLIN1* gene is associated with a differential response to fat mass reduction after a

12-week intervention in overweight/obese adult women. In addition, women with the TT genotype of this genetic variant showed greater changes in fat mass than AA and AT genotypes. However, further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

Keywords: genetic polymorphisms, exercise, high-intensity interval training, obesity, inter-individual variability, women

## INTRODUCTION

Obesity and overweight have become major global health problems over the past few decades (Heymsfield and Wadden, 2017) because the expansion of white adipose tissue (adipocyte hypertrophy) and visceral adiposity leads to metabolic dysregulation as a result of their associated pro-inflammatory phenotype (Vazquez-Carrera, 2016; Hepler and Gupta, 2017). Importantly, there is a global gender disparity in obesity, with a higher prevalence in women than men in all world regions (Ahmad et al., 2016). Specifically, obese women have a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes (T2D), and these women have a 44% greater risk of cardiovascular disease than men (Hu, 2003; Peters et al., 2014), as well as a higher risk of morbidity and mortality from T2D, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and other obesity-related conditions (Ahmad et al., 2016). Behavioral interventions, such as exercise and nutrition, have been essential in managing obesity and overweight because of their contribution to reducing fat and body mass (Petridou et al., 2019). However, studies reporting individual responses to exercise have shown a wide range of responses to the interventions rather than a similar response (Bouchard and Rankinen, 2001; King et al., 2008; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2012; Bonafiglia et al., 2016; Gurd et al., 2016; Parr et al., 2016; Alvarez et al., 2017; de Lannoy et al., 2017; Sparks, 2017; Williamson et al., 2017; Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2019). Recent evidence shows that genetic and epigenetic factors could contribute significantly to the interindividual variability in response to exercise interventions (Sparks, 2017; Williamson et al., 2017; Hagstrom and Denham, 2018). Regarding genetic factors, although some single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in lipid metabolism-related genes have previously been associated with obesity and body composition, they have been scarcely described concerning the magnitude of the response to exercise interventions in the overweight/ obese population. In the present study, four candidate gene polymorphisms related to lipid metabolism and fat mass response after exercise training were studied as: rs2304795 and rs1052700 variants of the perilipin 1 (PLIN1) gene, rs283 variant of the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene, and rs4994 variant of the Adrenoceptor beta 3 (ADRB3) gene. In this sense, PLIN1 gene has recently emerged as a candidate gene to explain part of the inter-individual differences in cardiovascular and metabolic risk factors (Jenkins et al., 2010). The different isoforms of the perilipin protein encoded by the PLIN gene are proteins that coat lipid droplets and regulate intracellular lipolysis (Bickel et al., 2009). The LPL gene encodes the LPL enzyme, which plays a fundamental role in lipid metabolism since it is the rate-limiting enzyme for the hydrolysis of triglycerides (TG).

For this reason, it has been related to plasma lipid levels and the development of obesity (Xie et al., 2010; Gao et al., 2015). In addition, an association has been found between the rs283 polymorphism of the LPL gene and blood lipids levels, with higher levels of high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol in the carriers of GG genotype (Sarzynski et al., 2011). This same GG genotype was more sensitive to reducing fat mass, insulin resistance, and plasma triglyceride level induced by 4 weeks of supervised physical exercise in Asian adolescents with obesity (Gao et al., 2015). ADRB3 gene encoded the human  $\beta$ 3-adrenergic receptor (B3AR), expressed mainly in adipose tissue, plays a role in determining the basal metabolic rate (BMR) through its ability to stimulate lipolysis and thermogenesis (Kahara et al., 2002). Therefore, a dysfunction in the  $\beta$ 3AR may increase the risk of developing obesity and insulin resistance (Zhan and Ho, 2005). The rs4994 (Trp64Arg) polymorphism of the ADRB3 gene has shown a tendency to have a low resting metabolic rate, abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, and the development of T2D. Therefore, it has been widely studied as a potential genetic factor associated with the development of obesity but with inconclusive results (Nakashima et al., 2013). A study in healthy young Japanese men found that subjects carrying the Arg64 allele of the ADRB3 gene have a reduction in fatty acid oxidation at rest and during acute physical exercise (Morita et al., 2009). Thus, the present study aimed to evaluate the association of lipid metabolism-related polymorphisms (LPL rs283, PLIN1 rs2304795, PLIN1 rs1052700, and ADRB3 rs4994) with a high or low response to fat mass reduction after 12 weeks of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) in overweight/obese adult women. Additionally, we examine whether body composition changes are influenced by these polymorphisms.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design and Participants**

A group of unrelated adult overweight and obese women was studied. Participants were recruited from the community and referred by a physician to the supervised exercise program in our research center. The study was conducted following the Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research involving human subjects. Ethical approval for the study was provided by the Scientific Ethics Committee based at Universidad de La Frontera (Study Protocol N°112/16). All volunteers received information about the protocol and provided written consent before the beginning of the study.

The inclusion criteria were as: a) unrelated women aged 18-45 years; b) diagnosed with overweight or type 1 or 2 obesity [Body mass index (BMI) between 25 and 39.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>];

c) untrained (not involved in regular physical activity or exercise program during the previous 6 months); d) pre-menopausal women; and e) previously screened by a physician. The exclusion criteria were as: a) previously diagnosed diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, myocardial infarction, and class III obesity; b) receiving pharmacologic corticoids, metformin, or other drugs that may affect metabolism; c) smoking habit; d) history of bariatric surgery; e) untreated hypothyroidism; and f) skeletal muscle disabilities or a specific indication to avoid exercise by medical reasons. A minimum of 70% (26/36 sessions) attendance at the exercise program was required for study participants to be included in the final statistical analyses. A structured medical history record and physical examination were performed on 105 adult women for enrolment purposes. Forty-three subjects met all the inclusion criteria and were finally studied. This study used a non-probabilistic sample aiming to separate high and low responders (LoRes) to a 12-week exercise program. Subjects who successfully completed the 12 weeks of intervention (N = 30) were classified as high or LoRes according to their greater or lesser reduction in fat mass, similar to previous studies that have also used clinical cutoff points for this classification (Milagro et al., 2013; Parr et al., 2016). Thus, high responders (HiRes) to fat mass reduction after the 12-week intervention were those individuals who were able to lose >10% of initial absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms), and LoRes were individuals who lost <10%. Body composition,

endurance performance, resting blood pressure, fasting glucose, and insulin were assessed before and after the 12-week follow-up. All the molecular analyses were performed after the 12-week intervention. The study design is shown in **Figure 1**, and the study protocol is shown in **Figure 2**.

# Body Composition Assessment and Cardiovascular Measurements

The initial assessment was carried out to record sociodemographic, physical, and physiological characteristics. Body mass, absolute fat mass, and fat-free mass (FFM) were assessed with the subject barefoot, wearing underclothes, and no metal objects, using a Tanita<sup>™</sup> foot-foot bioelectrical impedance analyzer (BIA) (Tanita Corporation, model BC-541, Japan). Its prediction formula has been previously validated against a four-compartment model, showing high reproducibility and a residual standard deviation of 3.3% for body fat in women (Jebb et al., 2000). Stature was measured without shoes to the nearest mm with a stadiometer (Seca model 213, Hamburg, Germany). BMI was calculated using the formula body mass divided by stature squared (kilograms per square meter). The systolic and diastolic blood pressures were determined using an automatic monitor (Omron HEM-7114; Omron Healthcare) in duplicate and after 15 min of complete rest with the subjects in a supine position.





## **Endurance Performance Assessment**

Endurance performance was assessed 1 week before and after the 12-week intervention during an incremental exercise test designed to obtain peak oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>peak). In brief, the VO<sub>2</sub>peak test consisted of free-wheel pedaling for 2 min at 70-80 RPM on a cycle ergometer (Lode Corival, Groningen, The Netherlands), followed by an initial 50 watts load for 2 min and 25 watts increments every 2 min until the participant reached volitional fatigue. Gas exchange was collected throughout the test using an indirect calorimeter/ ergospirometer system (Ultima CPX<sup>TM</sup> metabolic system, Medgraphics, Minnesota, United States), calibrated (gas and volume) before the exercise test. Measurements performed were the peak power output (PPO), anaerobic threshold (AT), respiratory exchange ratio (RER), peak oxygen pulse (O<sub>2</sub> pulse; VO<sub>2</sub>peak/HRmax during the exercise test), ventilation (VE), and respiratory rate (RR). Heart rate (HR) was monitored with a continuous telemetric HR sensor (Polar model V800, Finland) throughout the whole test.

#### **Exercise Training Intervention**

Participants performed a 12-week supervised HIIT program, with training sessions three times a week on non-consecutive days. The exercise session consisted of 1-min cycling at a high intensity (workload during each interval was set to achieve muscle failure at the end of 1-min exercise period and reaching ~85–100% maximal heart rate obtained during the incremental exercise test), followed by a 2-min inactive resting period (sitting on the cycle ergometer), and repeated 10 times (1x2x10 protocol; 1:2:10 to work: rest: repetitions, respectively). In summary, the total duration of one session of the 1x2x10 protocol was 30 min, with 10 min of effective exercise training, and without a warm-up or cool-down period. All exercise sessions were individually supervised to achieve muscle fatigue at each exercise interval as the primary indicator of intensity together with a continuous heart rate monitoring (Polar V800,

PolarTM, Finland) in order to supervise that the chronotropic response was the expected according to previously found with the same HIIT exercise protocol (Andrade-Mayorga et al., 2020). Load progression was defined as the gradual increase in workload developed when the subject failed to reach muscle failure at the end of the 60-s exercise interval, monitored individually on a series-by-series and session-by-session basis. Thus, the load progression increased in parallel to the increment in the work capacity of each individual.

## **Dietary Assessment and Hypocaloric Diet**

Participants were instructed to follow an individually designed hypocaloric diet [75% of estimated energy requirements (EERs)], equivalent to  $1354 \pm 114.5$  kcal/day, throughout the 12-week study period to control the dietary intake. A 24-h diet recall and a modified food choice questionnaire (7 days) were applied at baseline (Salvador Castell et al., 2015). Total energy expenditure (TEE) was estimated using the factorial method based on their reported daily physical activity (FAO/WHO/ UNU, 2004; Levine, 2005). In brief, BMR was estimated using the Mifflin-St. Jeor equation (Cancello et al., 2018), additional caloric requirements were determined based on each subject's physical activity level (PAL), which were used to calculate the PAL index, TEE, and the 75% EER. Subjects had individual monthly meetings with the nutritionist during the 3-month intervention to encourage compliance. Dietary compliance was assessed using an instrument adapted from the Perceived Self-Regulatory Success in Dieting Scale (Meule et al., 2012), where each subject's perceived adherence was quantified using a five-point Likert scale. The nutritional intervention excluded the use of nutritional supplements.

#### **Blood Analyses**

Blood samples (5 ml) were collected to analyze plasma glucose and insulin in the early morning after 12 h overnight fasting, and they were immediately placed on ice and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 15 min at  $-4^{\circ}$ C. Plasma samples were directly transferred to pre-chilled microtubes and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for later analysis. Fasting plasma glucose was analyzed by enzymatic colorimetric methods using an auto-analyzer (Wiener Metrolab 2300, Wiener Lab, Argentina). The fasting insulin was analyzed by ELISA using the Human Insulin ELISA Kit (Catalog # KAQ1251, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, United States).

#### **DNA Genotyping**

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood leukocytes by optimized salting out procedure (Salazar et al., 1998). Genotyping of LPL rs283, PLIN1 rs2304795, PLIN1 rs1052700 (14995A>T), and ADRB3 rs4994 polymorphisms were performed by real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), using TaqMan<sup>®</sup> SNP Genotyping Assays (Life Technologies, CA, United States). PCR assays contained 12.5 µl of TaqMan® Genotyping Master Mix (2X; Life Technologies CA, United States), 1.25 µl of TaqMan® SNP Genotyping Assay (20X; catalog numbers: 4351379, 4351379, 4351379, and 4351379), and 2 µl of DNA (25 ng) diluted in nuclease-free water. The thermal cycling protocol was initiated with a cycle for 10 min at 95°C and followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 1 min using standard conditions for a real-time system (Life Technologies). Genotyping was performed using the allelic discrimination plot issued after PCR amplification in the StepOne software v. 2.2 (Life Technologies). No template controls were included per triplicate in each genotyping experiment plate. Genotyping was randomly repeated on 20% of the samples for quality control purposes without finding differences.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

GraphPad Prism statistical software 7.0 (San Diego, CA, United States) was used. Chi-square test  $(\chi^2)$  was used to analyze differences in genotype distribution and allelic frequencies and verify Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. The normal distribution of all the variables was tested using the D'Agostino-Pearson test. All the continuous variables were expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD). The differences between quantitative variables were analyzed by paired *t*-test for paired data (intra-group differences before and after intervention) or unpaired *t*-test for independent groups (between-groups difference within time points). Cumming estimation plots, which show individual values, means, and effect size with a 95% CI, were developed using Estimation Statistics for Data Visualization (Ho et al., 2019). Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare the body composition changes among the different genotypes. Differences between two specific genotypes were evaluated with the Mann-Whitney U test. The level of significance used in all the comparisons was p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

Forty-three unrelated overweight/obese adult women volunteered for the study, of which 30 women (age =  $27.4 \pm 7.9$  yrs;

BMI =  $29.9 \pm 3.3 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) successfully completed the 12-week intervention and were finally analyzed. All participants well tolerated the exercise program, and there were no injuries during the intervention. Demographic, physical, and physiological variables measured before and after the intervention of the HiRes and LoRes groups are presented in Table 1. At baseline, the LoRes and HiRes groups are similar in age (27.6  $\pm$  8.6 vs. 27.2  $\pm$  7.2 years; p = 0.897), PAL index (1.38  $\pm$  0.08 vs.  $1.41 \pm 0.09$ ; p = 0.143), BMR (1,283  $\pm 55.7$  vs. 1,314  $\pm 48.1$ kcal/day; p = 0.437), TEE (1778 ± 159.9 vs. 1852 ± 133.4 kcal/ day; p = 0.140), and 75% EER (1,333 ± 119.9 vs.  $1,389 \pm 100.1$  kcal/day; p = 0.140; Table 1). Diet compliance measured after the intervention was similar between groups  $(3.3 \pm 0.5 \text{ vs. } 3.6 \pm 0.5 \text{ points}; p = 0.3211;$  Table 1). The prevalence for high (HiRes) and low (LoRes) responders to absolute fat mass reduction was 33% (n = 11) and 66% (n = 19), respectively. The intervention applied in this study effectively improved several variables, showing significant changes in both groups (LoRes and HiRes) in reducing body mass, absolute fat mass (kg), % body fat, and BMI. In addition, the 12-week intervention was effective in increasing VO<sub>2</sub>peak and VO<sub>2</sub>peak relative to lean mass (VO<sub>2</sub>peak/FFM) similarly in both groups (LoRes and HiRes; Table 1). FFM did not change postintervention in either group (Table 1).

However, it is noteworthy that the reduction in absolute fat mass (kg) in HiRes was 18.3% (29.8 ± 8 vs. 25.2 ± 6.9 kg; p < 0.0001) and LoRes was 3.6% (31.6 ± 6.9 vs. 30.5 ± 6.7 kg; *p*<0.0001; **Table 1**). The effect size of this reduction in absolute fat mass was -4.65 kg [95.0%CI - 5.66- - 3.88] for the HiRes group and was -1.09 kg [95.0%CI - 1.49- - 0.705] for the LoRes group (Figure 3). When comparing the magnitude of change ( $\Delta$ ) in absolute fat mass between the LoRes and HiRes groups, this difference was statistically significant  $(-1.1 \pm 0.9 \text{ vs.} -4.7 \pm 1.6 \text{ kg}; p < 0.0001;$  Table 1). Similarly, differences were found between LoRes and HiRes in the magnitude of changes ( $\Delta$ ) in body mass (-1.0 ± 0.9 vs.  $-4.8 \pm 2.7$  kg; p < 0.0001), % body fat (-0.9  $\pm 0.9$  vs.  $-3.8 \pm 1.1\%$ ; p < 0.0001), and BMI (-0.4 ± 0.4 vs.  $-1.8 \pm 1.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ; p = 0.01) following the 12-week intervention (Table 1).

Physical performance, physiological, and cardiovascular variables measured pre- and post-12-week intervention of the LoRes and HiRes are listed in Table 2. Concerning performance indicator variables during the incremental exercise test, there were improvements in most variables measured post-intervention, but no differences between LoRes and HiRes groups. There were increases in both groups in peak oxygen pulse (Peak O<sub>2</sub>pulse; LoRes:  $10.2 \pm 1.6$  vs.  $11.4 \pm 1.6$  ml/min; p = 0.0002/ HiRes: 10.4 ± 1.2 vs. 11.8 ± 1. 7 ml/min; p = 0.0002), (PPO; LoRes: 126.3 ± 17.6 vs. 156.6 ± 24.8 W; p = 0.0001/HiRes: 131.8 ± 16.2 vs. 165.9 ± 23. 1 W; p = 0.0002), and anaerobic threshold (AT; LoRes: 57.4 ± 11.7 vs.  $69.1 \pm 16.6 \text{ W}$ ; p = 0.0068 / HiRes:  $59.1 \pm 12.6 \text{ vs}$ .  $70.5 \pm 10.1 \text{ W}$ ; p = 0.03). In addition, in the LoRes group, maximum ventilation (VEmax;  $63.5 \pm 9.7$  vs.  $77.4 \pm 14.1$  ml/min; p = 0.001) and maximum respiratory rate (RRmax; 36.7 ± 6.9 vs.  $40.0 \pm 5.4$  cycles/min; p = 0.01) increased (**Table 2**). In relation
	Low	Low Responders ( <i>n</i> =	n = 19)	High	High Responders ( <i>n</i> = 11)	= 11)	Intra-group <i>p</i> -val (pre vs. post)*	Intra-group <i>p</i> -value (pre vs. post)*	Between gi (within sam	Between groups <i>p</i> -value (within same time point) <sup>#</sup>	P-value ∆*
	Pre	Post	4	Pre	Post	•	LoRes	HiRes	Pre	Post	
Age (years)	27.6±8.6	I	1	27.2 ± 7.2	I	I	I	I	SN	I	I
PAL index	$1.38 \pm 0.08$	I	I	$1.41 \pm 0.09$	I	I	I	I	NS	I	I
BMR (kcal/day)	$1,283 \pm 55.7$	I	I	$1,314 \pm 48.1$	I	I	I	I	NS	I	I
TEE (kcal/day)	$1778 \pm 159.9$	I	I	1852 ± 133.4	I	I	I	I	NS	I	I
75% EER (kcal/day)	$1,333 \pm 119.9$	I	I	1,389 ± 100.1	I	I	I	I	SN	I	I
Diet compliance (pts)	I	$3.3 \pm 0.5$	I	I	$3.6 \pm 0.5$	I	I	I	I	NS	I
Body weight (kg)	$77.2 \pm 9.8$	$76.2 \pm 9.7^{*}$	$-1.0 \pm 0.9$	76.1 ± 11.1	$71.3 \pm 9.9^{*}$	$-4.8 \pm 2.7^{4}$	0.0004	0.0001	SN	NS	<0.0001
Fat mass (kg)	$31.6 \pm 6.9$	$30.5 \pm 6.7^*$	$-1.1 \pm 0.9$	$29.8 \pm 8$	$25.2 \pm 6.9^{*,\#}$	$-4.7 \pm 1.6^{4}$	<0.0001	<0.0001	SN	0.04	<0.0001
% Body fat (%)	$40.5 \pm 4$	$39.6 \pm 3.9^{*}$	$-0.9 \pm 0.9$	$38.6 \pm 4.9$	$34.7 \pm 5.1^{*,\#}$	$-3.8 \pm 1.1^{\vee}$	0.0003	<0.0001	NS	0.0068	<0.0001
BMI (kg/m²)	$30.6 \pm 3.3$	$30.2 \pm 3.3^{*}$	$-0.4 \pm 0.4$	$28.8 \pm 3$	$27 \pm 2.8^{*,\#}$	$-1.8 \pm 1.0^{4}$	0.0003	0.0001	NS	0.01	<0.0001
FFM (kg)	$45.6 \pm 3.5$	$45.8 \pm 3.5$	$0.1 \pm 0.7$	$46.3 \pm 3.5$	$46.2 \pm 3.7$	$-0.1 \pm 1.8$	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN
VO2peak (ml/min)	$1750 \pm 230$	$2051 \pm 332^{*}$	$301.2 \pm 240.2$	1888 ± 266	$2,169 \pm 322^{*}$	$281.1 \pm 177.3$	<0.0001	0.0004	NS	NS	SN
VO2peak/FFM (ml kg <sup>-1</sup> min <sup>-1</sup> )	$38.3 \pm 3.6$	$44.7 \pm 5.6^{*}$	$6.4 \pm 5.0$	$40.7 \pm 3.9$	$46.9 \pm 5.4$	$6.2 \pm 4.6$	<0.0001	0.001	SN	NS	SN



LoRes-1 LoRes-2 HiRes-1 HiRes-2 N = 19N = 11N = 11N = 19



50

40

FIGURE 3 | Cumming plot with individual responses to decrease absolute fat mass after the 12-week intervention by low (left) and high (right) responders. The raw data (kg) are plotted on the upper axes; each paired set of observations is connected by a line. On the lower axes, each paired mean difference is plotted as a bootstrap sampling distribution. Mean differences are depicted as dots; 95% confidence intervals are indicated by the ends of the vertical error bars. LoRes-1, initial assessment of low responders; LoRes-2, final assessment of low responders; HiRes-1, initial assessment of high responders; and HiRes-2, final assessment of high responders.

to cardiovascular variables at rest, there was a decrease of diastolic blood pressure (LoRes: 73.2 ± 8.7 vs. 74.2  $\pm$  5.2 mmHg; p = 0.001/HiRes: 74.2  $\pm$  5.2 vs. 70.6  $\pm$  5.8 mmHg; p = 0.005) and mean blood pressure (LoRes:  $85.7 \pm 7.9$  vs.  $80.7 \pm 7.3$  mmHg; p = 0.001/HiRes:  $85.8 \pm 6.2$  vs.  $82.4 \pm 6.6$  mmHg; p = 0.002) in LoRes and HiRes groups, and a reduction of systolic blood pressure only in the LoRes group (110.9  $\pm$  8.4 vs. 104.7  $\pm$  9.1 mmHg; p = 0.03; Table 2). Importantly, all these changes occurred, although none of the study participants had arterial hypertension. About metabolic parameters, no differences were found in fasting glycemia, but there was an inter-group difference in blood fasting insulin after the intervention, where the LoRes group showed higher values than the HiRes group  $(11.9 \pm 2.3 \text{ vs. } 9.4 \pm 2.2.2 \ \mu\text{U/dl}; \ p = 0.04; \text{ Table 2}).$ 

Genotypes distribution and relative frequency of alleles for PLIN1 rs1052700, PLIN1 rs2304795, LPL rs283, and ADRB3 rs4994 gene polymorphisms are shown in Table 3. All polymorphisms evaluated were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (Table 3).

TABLE 1 | Demographic, physical, and physiologic variables measured before and after intervention by low (LoRes) and high (HiRes) responders to fat mass reduction after the 12-week intervention.

		Low Kesponders (n = 19)		•			VS.	Intra-groups <i>p</i> -value (pre vs. post)	between-gr (within tii	between-groups r-value (within time point)	P-value ∆*
	Pre	Post	4	Pre	Post	4	LoRes	HiRes	Pre	Post	
Peak O2 Pulse (ml/min)	10.2 ± 1.6	11.4 ± 1.6 <sup>*</sup>	1.2 ± 1.1	10.4 ± 1.2	11.8 ± 1.7 <sup>*</sup>	1.4 ± 0.8	0.0002	0.0002	NSN	SN	NS
PPO (W)	$126.3 \pm 17.6$	$156.6 \pm 24.8^{*}$	$30.3 \pm 13.4$	$131.8 \pm 16.2$	$165.9 \pm 23.1^{*}$	$34.1 \pm 20.2$	0.0001	0.0002	NS	NS	NS
AT (W)	$57.4 \pm 11.7$	$69.1 \pm 16.6^{*}$	$10.5 \pm 15.2$	$59.1 \pm 12.6$	$70.5 \pm 10.1^{*}$	$11.4 \pm 13.1$	0.0068	0.03	NS	NS	NS
VEmax (ml/min)	$63.5 \pm 9.7$	$77.4 \pm 14.1^{*}$	$13.9 \pm 13.0$	$71.3 \pm 21.3$	$76.9 \pm 13.5$	$5.6 \pm 16.6$	0.001	NS	SN	NS	NS
RRmax (breath/min)	$36.7 \pm 6.9$	$40.0 \pm 5.4^{*}$	$3.3 \pm 5.6$	$37.4 \pm 10.6$	$37.8 \pm 5.6$	$0.5 \pm 6.6$	0.01	NS	SN	NS	SN
RERmax	$1.27 \pm 0.1$	$1.28 \pm 0.1$	$0.01 \pm 0.15$	$1.28 \pm 0.1$	$1.27 \pm 0.1$	$0.02 \pm 0.17$	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN
Systolic BP (mmHg)	$110.9 \pm 8.4$	$104.7 \pm 9.1^*$	$-6.7 \pm 4.5$	$108.9 \pm 9.4$	$106 \pm 9.8$	$-3.4 \pm 2.1^{*}$	0.03	NS	NS	NS	0.03
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	$73.2 \pm 8.7$	$68.7 \pm 7.6^{*}$	$-5.1 \pm 6.8$	$74.2 \pm 5.2$	$70.6 \pm 5.8^{*}$	$-4.1 \pm 3.7$	0.001	0.005	NS	NS	NS
Mean BP (mmHg)	85.7 ± 7.9	$80.7 \pm 7.3^{*}$	$-5.6 \pm 5.4$	$85.8 \pm 6.2$	$82.4 \pm 6.6^{*}$	$-3.9 \pm 2.8$	0.001	0.002	NS	NS	NS
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	$37.7 \pm 7.2$	$36.1 \pm 7.8$	$-1.6 \pm 6.1$	$34.7 \pm 6.4$	$35.4 \pm 7$	$0.7 \pm 3.2$	SN	NS	SN	NS	SN
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	$91.2 \pm 10.1$	$89.4 \pm 9.3$	$-1.8 \pm 7.7$	$89.5 \pm 7.2$	$89.1 \pm 7.5$	$-0.4 \pm 6.7$	SN	NS	SN	NS	SN
Fasting insulin (µU/dl)	$11.9 \pm 2.3$	$11.9 \pm 1.6$	$-5.0 \pm 6.8$	$10.7 \pm 2.6$	$9.4 \pm 2.3^{*}$	$-6.4 \pm 6.2$	SN	NS	SN	0.04	NS

An association between the distribution of *PLIN1* rs1052700 genotypes polymorphism with LoRes and HiRes groups was found ( $\chi^2 = 8.138$ ; 2 *df*; p = 0.01; **Table 4**). The OR was 2.8 [95%CI 0.93–8.45] for being LoRes among A allele carriers. However, when performing an analysis with a genetic dominance model, comparing AA+AT vs. TT genotypes, we found significant differences between groups evaluated with a Fisher's exact test (p = 0.012) and an RR of 1.571 [95%CI 1.57–1.63], which could be interpreted as an increased relative risk of subjects carrying AA or AT genotypes to be classified as "low responders" for their post-intervention fat mass reduction. On the other hand, no associations in the distribution of genotypes or allele frequency for *PLIN1* rs2304795, *LPL* rs283, or *ADRB3* rs4994 polymorphisms were found (**Table 4**).

Following the 12-week intervention, carriers of the TT genotype of the rs1052700 variant of the PLIN1 gene, compared to AA and AT genotypes, showed a greater reduction in absolute fat mass ( $\Delta$ : - 5.1 ± 1.8 vs. - 1.8 ± 1.4 vs. - 2.1 ± 2.3 kg; p = 0.04; Table 5). The effect size of this fat mass reduction between TT vs. AT genotypes was a mean difference of -3.01 kg [95%IC - 4.88- - 1.1], and when comparing the TT vs. AA genotypes, the effect size was -3.29 kg [95%IC - 4.86 - 1.65]. No differences were found in modifications of body mass, BMI, FFM, maximal oxygen consumption (VO2peak), or VO2peak relative to FFM (VO<sub>2</sub>peak/FFM) when comparing the different genotypes of the rs1052700 variant of the PLIN1 gene (Table 5). Finally, no differences were found in the modifications of the variables studied after the intervention when comparing the genotypes of the PLIN1 rs2304795, LPL rs283, and ADRB3 rs4994 polymorphisms.

## DISCUSSION

peak respiratory rate; RERmax, peak respiratory exchange ratio; and BP, blood pressure.

peak ventilation; RRmax,

are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.  $O_2$  pulse, oxygen pulse; PPO, peak power output; AT, anaerobic threshold; VEmax,

differences

denote significant

values

Data Bold

difference between average delta values.

We evaluated the association of *PLIN1* (rs1052700 and rs2304795), *LPL* (rs283), and *ADRB3* (rs4994) polymorphisms with high and LoRes to fat mass reduction after 12 weeks of HIIT and dietary energy restriction in overweight/obese adult women. Additionally, we examined whether body composition changes are influenced by these polymorphisms.

In our study, the LoRes and HiRes groups had multiple improvements in body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness after 12 weeks of intervention, where both groups decreased their fat mass, % body fat, body mass, and BMI (Table 1). In addition, they increased their absolute VO2peak and VO2peak relative to lean mass (Table 1). About changes in body composition, the reductions in absolute fat mass, body mass, % body fat, and BMI, were of greater magnitude in the HiRes group (Table 1), which is consistent with the research design where the primary criterion for classification of low and HiRes was the reduction in absolute fat mass (i.e., kilograms) less than or greater than 10%, respectively. Thus, our results showed a differential absolute fat mass modification, reducing 18.3 and 3.6% for HiRes and LoRes, respectively. All these improvements are consistent with that reported in the meta-analysis by Turk et al. (2017), showing multiple benefits of HIIT compared to traditional exercise on health-related physiological parameters

TABLE 2 | Physical performance, cardiovascular, and metabolic variables measured before and after intervention by low (LoRes) and high (HIRes) responders to fat mass reduction after the 12-week intervention.

TABLE 3   Genotype distribution and relative	e allelic frequencies for studied lipid metabol	ism-related polymorphisms in all subjects ( $N = 43$ ).
--	---	---

Gene/Polymorphism		Genotypes		All	eles	H-W
PLIN1/rs1052700	AA: 47% (20)	AT: 42% (18)	TT: 12% (5)	A: 0.674 (58)	T: 0.326 (28)	$\chi^2 = 0.094, 1 df, p = 0.759$
PLIN1/rs2304795	AA: 44% (19)	AT: 44% (19)	TT: 12% (5)	A: 0.663 (57)	T: 0.337 (29)	$\chi^2 = 0.005, 1  df, p = 0.939$
LPL/rs283 ADRB3/rs4994	CC: 63% (27) AA: 72% (31)	CT: 37% (16) AG: 21% (9)	TT: 0% (0) GG: 7% (3)	C: 0.814 (70) A: 0.826 (71)	T: 0.186 (16) G: 0.174 (15)	$\chi^2 = 2.247, 1 df, p = 0.134$ $\chi^2 = 3.210 1 df, p = 0.073$

H-W, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Number in parenthesis indicates number of individuals from the total sample studied (N = 43).

**TABLE 4** | Genotype distribution and relative allelic frequencies for studied lipid metabolism-related polymorphisms by low and HiRes to fat mass reduction after the 12-week intervention (N = 30).

Gene/Polymorphism	Genotype and Allele	Low Responders (N = 19)	High Responders (N = 11)	P-value
	A/A A/T T/T	47% (9) 53% (10) 0% (0)	36% (4) 28% (3) 36% (4)	$\chi^2 = 8.138; 2 df; \mathbf{p} = 0.01^*$
PLIN1/rs1052700 *	ΑT	0.737 (28) 0.263 (10)	0.500 (11) 0.500 (11)	$\chi^2 = 3.436; 1 df; p = 0.063$
	A/A A/G G/G	42% (8) 37% (7) 21% (4)	36% (4) 64% (7) 0% (0)	$\chi^2 = 3.445; 2 df; p = 0.179$
PLIN1/rs2304795	AG	0.605 (23) 0.395 (15)	0.682 (15) 0.318 (7)	$\chi^2 = 0.352; 1 df; p = 0.553$
	C/C C/T T/T	63% (12) 37% (7) 0% (0)	73% (8) 27% (3) 0% (0)	$\chi^2 = 0.287$ ; 1 <i>df</i> ; $p = 0.592$
LPL/rs283	СТ	0.816 (31) 0.184 (7)	0.864 (19) 0.136 (3)	$\chi^2 = 0.229; 1 df; p = 0.632$
	A/A A/G G/G	79% (15) 16% (3) 5% (1)	82% (9) 18% (2) 0% (0)	$\chi^2 = 0.61; 2 df; p = 0.737$
ADRB3/rs4994	AG	0.868 (33) 0.132 (5)	0.909 (20) 0.091 (2)	$\chi^2 = 0.224$ ; 1 <i>df</i> ; <i>p</i> = 0.636

\*genotype distribution differences. PLIN1, perilipin 1 protein coding gene; ADRB3, adrenoceptor beta 3 protein coding gene; LPL, lipoprotein lipase protein coding gene; and df, degree of freedom. Number in parenthesis indicates number of individuals from by low- and high-responders' groups. Bold values denote significant differences.

**TABLE 5** | Body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness deltas after 12-week exercise intervention according to genotypes for rs1052700 PLIN1 gene polymorphism.

	Genotype AA (N = 13)	Genotype AT (N = 13)	Genotype TT ( <i>N</i> = 4)	P-value
Δ Body mass (kg)	-1.9 ± 2.1	-1.9 ± 2.4	-5.4 ± 3.1*,#	0.07
$\Delta$ Fat mass (kg)	$-1.8 \pm 1.4$	$-2.1 \pm 2.3$	-5.1 ± 1.8 <sup>*,#</sup>	0.04
$\Delta$ Body fat (%)	$-1.6 \pm 1.4$	-1.7 ± 1.7	-4.1 ± 1.6*,#	0.05
$\Delta$ BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$-0.8 \pm 0.7$	$-0.7 \pm 0.9$	-2.1 ± 1.2 <sup>*,#</sup>	0.06
$\Delta$ FFM (kg)	$-0.1 \pm 1.3$	+0.2 ± 1.1	-0.3 ± 1.7	0.76
$\Delta$ VO2peak (ml/min)	231.3 ± 197.5	$335.9 \pm 240$	360.3 ± 187.2	0.39
Δ VO2peak/FFM (ml/kg/min)	5.3 ± 4.8	6.9 ± 5.1	8.2 ± 3.2	0.46

\*Difference between TT and AA genotypes evaluated with Mann-Whitney U test. \*Difference between TT and AT genotypes evaluated with Mann-Whitney U test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.  $\Delta$ , magnitude of change after the intervention; BMI, body mass index; and FFM, fat-free mass. Bold values denote significant differences evaluated with the Kruskal-Wallis test.

in adults with obesity (Turk et al., 2017), and with the systematic review and meta-analysis by Viana et al. (2019) that showed a 28.5% greater reduction in absolute fat mass (kg) with HIIT interventions compared to MICT (Viana et al., 2019). In addition, recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown more significant benefits in reducing fat mass and controlling body mass with interventions that combine exercise and nutrition (Johns et al., 2014; Clark, 2015), which is consistent with our results.

Regarding the improvements in  $VO_2max$  and exercise performance variables during the incremental exercise test in both LoRes and HiRes groups (**Table 2**), this is consistent with previously published studies, where endurance performance has improved in women after a similar 16-week HIIT program (Alvarez et al., 2018). There is strong evidence demonstrating increases in VO<sub>2</sub>max following HIIT interventions (Gibala et al., 2012; Milanović et al., 2015), which is corroborated by the findings in our cohort of obese women. Clark et al. (2019) reported increases in VO<sub>2</sub>max following a 6-week HIIT intervention in obese women but showed no changes in peak  $O_2$  pulse, PPO, AT, RER, or VE (Clark et al., 2019). However, it should be considered that being a short duration program may not be sufficient to achieve these exercise-associated adaptations.

About cardiovascular changes, the reductions in blood pressure in both groups (**Table 2**), independent of being non-hypertensive subjects, are consistent with what has been previously reported in older women following 10-week resistance training (Nascimento et al., 2018) but inconsistent with other studies showing changes only in the group of hypertensive subjects following similar HIIT interventions (Olea et al., 2017; Álvarez et al., 2018). Therefore, we could hypothesize that this decrease in blood pressure values in normotensive women occurs due to the reduction of their fat mass, as there are studies that show the association between higher adiposity and increased blood pressure levels in different populations (Malden et al., 2019).

The genotypes distribution and relative frequency of alleles found for the *PLIN1* rs1052700, *PLIN1* rs2304795, *LPL* rs283, and *ADRB3* rs4994 polymorphisms (**Table 3**), to the best of our knowledge, are the first reports in the Chilean population. It is noteworthy that an association was found in the distribution of genotypes of the rs1052700 polymorphism of the *PLIN1* gene with the LoRes and HiRes groups, wherein the LoRes group there was no presence of the TT genotype (**Table 4**). Previously, the *PLIN1* rs1052700 polymorphism has been associated with body fat and waist circumference in Caucasian women but not men (Qi et al., 2004). Additionally, this same polymorphism was associated with T2D but not obesity in the Iranian population (Saravani et al., 2017) and increased risk of diabetes in Chinese adults with elevated waist circumference (Yu et al., 2013).

Among the most remarkable findings of the present study, we have the greater reduction in absolute fat mass shown by the carriers of the TT genotype of the rs1052700 variant of the PLIN1 gene compared to the AA and AT genotypes (Table 5). These results are concordant with that found by Aller et al. (2017), where they reported an association between the TT genotype of the PLIN1 rs1052700 polymorphism and the reduction of body mass  $\geq 5\%$  following 3 months of a multidisciplinary intervention with dietary advice, psychological counseling, and increased physical activity in a Caucasian obese population (Aller et al., 2017). In addition, a haplotype of two SNPs of the PLIN1 gene, 13041A>G (rs2304795) and 14995A>T (rs1052700), has previously been associated with obesity risk (Qi et al., 2004) and with response to a 6-month endurance exercise intervention (Jenkins et al., 2010). The PLIN1 13041A/14995A haplotype which is present in ~ 50-55% of the white Caucasian population and has been associated with a better cardiorespiratory phenotype, body composition, and metabolism before and after an aerobic exercise intervention in Caucasian subjects compared to non-AA haplotype subjects (Jenkins et al., 2010). The Jenkins et al. (2010) study shows that a 6-month endurance exercise intervention improved body composition in AA and non-AA haplotype groups, but the elevated fat mass was maintained in non-AA carriers after training (Jenkins et al., 2010). Conversely, in our study, the highest magnitude of response to reduce absolute fat mass had by subjects of the TT genotype. It was also observed that, although no significant differences, there is a tendency to find greater reductions in body mass, % body fat, and BMI in the TT genotype (Table 5), which should be explored in larger sample sizes.

Finally, we know that the different isoforms of the perilipin are proteins that coat lipid droplets and regulate intracellular lipolysis (Bickel et al., 2009). Their phosphorylation state regulates access to triglycerides (TG) in the lipid droplet core by lipases, such as hormone-sensitive lipase and adipose triglyceride lipase, where TG hydrolysis increases with perilipin phosphorylation (Brasaemle et al., 2000). Therefore, we could hypothesize that this higher response of subjects with TT genotype could be due to a differential effect of this genotype on the phosphorylation/ dephosphorylation state of perilipin. To confirm this hypothesis, future mechanistic studies that take into account these genotypes are required.

The strengths of our study include the rigorous design of the exercise protocol monitored individually on a series-byseries and session-by-session basis during the 12-week program and the individually prescribed home hypocaloric diet. Another strength was using real-time quantitative PCR for SNP genotyping. On the other hand, one of its main limitations was the small sample size, which prevents us from presenting more solid conclusions. However, this did not restrict the identification of differential response to fat mass reduction after the 12-week intervention according to *PLIN1* rs1052700 genotypes. Therefore, our preliminary data should be interpreted in light of the limited cohort evaluated. Other limitations were the lack of a non-intervention control group and the use of a BIA to measure body composition variables, as this is not considered the "gold standard" method. However, BIA has a demonstrated reliability which is crucial for the pre-post comparisons.

In conclusion, these results suggest that the rs1052700 (14995A>T) polymorphism of *PLIN1* is associated with a differential response to fat mass reduction after a 12-week intervention in overweight/obese adult women. In addition, women with the TT genotype of this genetic variant showed greater changes in fat mass than AA and AT genotypes. However, further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Scientific Ethics Committee, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have read the manuscript and agreed with the content. OA-M, ED, and LS conceived and designed the study. OA-M performed the intervention and experiments and wrote the paper. OA-M and ED analyzed the data. ED and LS contributed the reagents/materials and analysis tools and reviewed and edited the manuscript.

## **FUNDING**

This study is part of the OA-M's Ph.D. research and was funded by the FONDECYT-Chile (grant number: 1171765) and the National Commission for Scientific and Technological Research Ph.D. Scholarship (N°21151549).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank to Nicolás Martínez, Angelica Olea, Christopher San Martín, Viviana Rosales, Susana Pacheco, Javiera Pardo, Natalia Celedón, Josefa Santander, Erna Kurten, Katherine Hunter, and Carlos Quintulen for their contribution.

# REFERENCES

- Ahmad, N. N., Butsch, W. S., and Aidarous, S. (2016). Clinical Management of Obesity in Women: Addressing a Lifecycle of Risk. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. N. Am. 43, 201–230. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2016.01.007
- Aller, E., Mariman, E. C. M., Bouwman, F. G., and van Baak, M. A. (2017). Genetic Predictors of ≥5% Weight Loss by Multidisciplinary Advice to Severely Obese Subjects. J. Nutrigenet. Nutrigenomics 10, 32–42. doi: 10.1159/000469662
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Cristi-Montero, C., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2018). Prevalence of Non-responders for Blood Pressure and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors Among Prehypertensive Women After Long-Term High-Intensity Interval Training. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1443. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01443
- Alvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Martinez-Salazar, C., Castillo, A., Gallardo, F., and Ciolac, E. G. (2018). High-intensity interval training as a tool for counteracting Dyslipidemia in women. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 39, 397–406. doi: 10.1055/s-0044-100387
- Alvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017). Prevalence of non-responders for glucose control markers after 10 weeks of high-intensity interval training in adult women with higher and lower insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 8:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00479
- Andrade-Mayorga, O., Mancilla, R., Díaz, E., and Alvarez, C. (2020). Heart rate During an exercise test and acute high-intensity interval training in type 2 diabetes. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 41, 365–372. doi: 10.1055/a-1015-0591
- Bickel, P. E., Tansey, J. T., and Welte, M. A. (2009). PAT proteins, an ancient family of lipid droplet proteins that regulate cellular lipid stores. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1791, 419–440. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.04.002
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Rotundo, M. P., Whittall, J. P., Scribbans, T. D., Graham, R. B., and Gurd, B. J. (2016). Inter-individual variability in the adaptive responses to endurance and Sprint interval training: A randomized crossover study. *PLoS One* 11:e0167790. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167790
- Bouchard, C., and Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33(Suppl. 6), S446–S451. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200106001-00013
- Brasaemle, D. L., Rubin, B., Harten, I. A., Gruia-Gray, J., Kimmel, A. R., and Londos, C. (2000). Perilipin A increases triacylglycerol storage by decreasing the rate of triacylglycerol hydrolysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 38486–38493. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M007322200
- Cancello, R., Soranna, D., Brunani, A., Scacchi, M., Tagliaferri, A., Mai, S., et al. (2018). Analysis of predictive equations for estimating resting energy expenditure in a large cohort of morbidly obese patients. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:367. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00367
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Piatrikova, E., Betts, J. A., Williams, S., and Gonzalez, J. T. (2019). Variability in exercise physiology: can capturing intra-individual variation help better understand true inter-individual responses? *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 20, 452–460. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2019.1655100
- Clark, J. E. (2015). Diet, exercise or diet with exercise: comparing the effectiveness of treatment options for weight-loss and changes in fitness for adults (18-65 years old) who are overfat, or obese; systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Diabetes Metab. Disord. 14:31. doi: 10.1186/s40200-015-0154-1
- Clark, A., De La Rosa, A. B., DeRevere, J. L., and Astorino, T. A. (2019). Effects of various interval training regimes on changes in maximal oxygen uptake, body composition, and muscular strength in sedentary women with obesity. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 879–888. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04077-x
- de Lannoy, L., Clarke, J., Stotz, P. J., and Ross, R. (2017). Effects of intensity and amount of exercise on measures of insulin and glucose: analysis of inter-individual variability. *PLoS One* 12:e0177095. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0177095
- FAO/WHO/UNU (2004). Human Energy Requirements: Report of a Joint FAO/ WHO/UNU Expert Consultation, Rome 17-24 October 2001. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Gao, R. R., Wang, M., Hu, Y., Xu, C. Y., Li, Y. C., Zhang, Z. Y., et al. (2015). Impact of LPL gene rs283 polymorphism on exercise-induced changes in metabolism of obese adolescents and the regulatory mechanisms behind it. *Exp. Physiol.* 100, 698–707. doi: 10.1113/EP085127
- Gibala, M. J., Little, J. P., Macdonald, M. J., and Hawley, J. A. (2012). Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. J. Physiol. 590, 1077–1084. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224725

- Gurd, B. J., Giles, M. D., Bonafiglia, J. T., Raleigh, J. P., Boyd, J. C., Ma, J. K., et al. (2016). Incidence of nonresponse and individual patterns of response following sprint interval training. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 229–234. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0449
- Hagstrom, A. D., and Denham, J. (2018). microRNAs in high and low responders to resistance training in breast Cancer survivors. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 39, 482–489. doi: 10.1055/a-0592-7691
- Hepler, C., and Gupta, R. K. (2017). The expanding problem of adipose depot remodeling and postnatal adipocyte progenitor recruitment. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 445, 95–108. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2016.10.011
- Heymsfield, S. B., and Wadden, T. A. (2017). Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and Management of Obesity. N. Engl. J. Med. 376:1492. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc1701944
- Ho, J., Tumkaya, T., Aryal, S., Choi, H., and Claridge-Chang, A. (2019). Moving beyond P values: data analysis with estimation graphics. *Nat. Methods* 16, 565–566. doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0470-3
- Hu, F. B. (2003). Overweight and obesity in women: health risks and consequences. J. Women's Health 12, 163–172. doi: 10.1089/154099903321576565
- Jebb, S. A., Cole, T. J., Doman, D., Murgatroyd, P. R., and Prentice, A. M. (2000). Evaluation of the novel Tanita body-fat analyser to measure body composition by comparison with a four-compartment model. *Br. J. Nutr.* 83, 115–122. doi: 10.1017/S0007114500000155
- Jenkins, N. T., McKenzie, J. A., Damcott, C. M., Witkowski, S., and Hagberg, J. M. (2010). Endurance exercise training effects on body fatness, VO2max, HDL-C subfractions, and glucose tolerance are influenced by a PLIN haplotype in older Caucasians. J. Appl. Physiol. 108, 498–506. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 01018.2009
- Johns, D. J., Hartmann-Boyce, J., Jebb, S. A., and Aveyard, P. (2014). Diet or exercise interventions vs combined behavioral weight management programs: a systematic review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. J. Acad. Nutr. Diet. 114, 1557–1568. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.07.005
- Kahara, T., Takamura, T., Hayakawa, T., Nagai, Y., Yamaguchi, H., Katsuki, T., et al. (2002). Prediction of exercise-mediated changes in metabolic markers by gene polymorphism. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 57, 105–110. doi: 10.1016/ S0168-8227(02)00023-2
- King, N. A., Hopkins, M., Caudwell, P., Stubbs, R. J., and Blundell, J. E. (2008). Individual variability following 12 weeks of supervised exercise: identification and characterization of compensation for exercise-induced weight loss. *Int.* J. Obes. 32, 177–184. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803712
- Levine, J. A. (2005). Measurement of energy expenditure. *Public Health Nutr.* 8, 1123–1132. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005800
- Malden, D., Lacey, B., Emberson, J., Karpe, F., Allen, N., Bennett, D., et al. (2019). Body Fat Distribution and Systolic Blood Pressure in 10,000 Adults with Whole-Body imaging: UK Biobank and Oxford BioBank. *Obesity* 27, 1200–1206. doi: 10.1002/oby.22509
- Meule, A., Papies, E. K., and Kübler, A. (2012). Differentiating between successful and unsuccessful dieters. Validity and reliability of the Perceived Self-Regulatory success in Dieting Scale. *Appetite* 58, 822–826. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2012.01.028
- Milagro, F. I., Miranda, J., Portillo, M. P., Fernandez-Quintela, A., Campion, J., and Martinez, J. A. (2013). High-throughput sequencing of microRNAs in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: identification of potential weight loss biomarkers. *PLoS One* 8:e54319. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054319
- Milanović, Z., Sporiš, G., and Weston, M. (2015). Effectiveness of High-Intensity Interval Training (HIT) and Continuous Endurance Training for VO2max Improvements: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials. *Sports Med.* 45, 1469–1481. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0365-0
- Morita, E., Taniguchi, H., and Sakaue, M. (2009). Trp64Arg polymorphism in beta3-adrenergic receptor gene is associated with decreased fat oxidation both in resting and aerobic exercise in the Japanese male. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2009:605139. doi: 10.1155/2009/605139
- Nakashima, H., Omae, K., Nomiyama, T., Yamano, Y., Takebayashi, T., and Sakurai, Y. (2013). Beta-3-adrenergic receptor Trp64Arg polymorphism: does it modulate the relationship between exercise and percentage of body fat in young adult Japanese males? *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* 18, 323–329. doi: 10.1007/s12199-012-0325-3
- Nascimento, D. D. C., da Silva, C. R., Valduga, R., Saraiva, B., de Sousa Neto, I. V., Vieira, A., et al. (2018). Blood pressure response to resistance training in hypertensive and normotensive older women. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 13, 541–553. doi: 10.2147/cia.S157479

- Olea, M. A., Mancilla, R., Martínez, S., and Díaz, E. (2017). Effects of high intensity interval training on blood pressure in hypertensive subjects. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 145, 1154–1159. doi: 10.4067/s0034-98872017000901154
- Parr, E. B., Camera, D. M., Burke, L. M., Phillips, S. M., Coffey, V. G., and Hawley, J. A. (2016). Circulating MicroRNA Responses between 'High' and 'Low' Responders to a 16-Wk Diet and Exercise Weight Loss Intervention. *PLoS One* 11:e0152545. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152545
- Peters, S. A., Huxley, R. R., and Woodward, M. (2014). Diabetes as risk factor for incident coronary heart disease in women compared with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 64 cohorts including 858,507 individuals and 28,203 coronary events. *Diabetologia* 57, 1542–1551. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3260-6
- Petridou, A., Siopi, A., and Mougios, V. (2019). Exercise in the management of obesity. *Metabolism* 92, 163–169. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.10.009
- Qi, L., Shen, H., Larson, I., Schaefer, E. J., Greenberg, A. S., Tregouet, D. A., et al. (2004). Gender-specific association of a perilipin gene haplotype with obesity risk in a white population. *Obes. Res.* 12, 1758–1765. doi: 10.1038/oby.2004.218
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/ bisports-2018-100328
- Salazar, L. A., Hirata, M. H., Cavalli, S. A., Machado, M. O., and Hirata, R. D. (1998). Optimized procedure for DNA isolation from fresh and cryopreserved clotted human blood useful in clinical molecular testing. *Clin. Chem.* 44, 1748–1750.
- Salvador Castell, G., Serra-Majem, L., and Ribas-Barba, L. (2015). What and how much do we eat? 24-hour dietary recall method. *Nutr. Hosp.* 31(Suppl. 3), 46–48. doi: 10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8750
- Saravani, R., Galavi, H. R., Noorzehi, N., Ranjbar, N., and Mollashahee-Kohkan, F. (2017). Common Variations in Perilipin rs1052700 and FTO rs3751812 Gene Variants, and Risk for Obesity and Type-2 Diabetes. *Rep. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 6, 80–87.
- Sarzynski, M. A., Jacobson, P., Rankinen, T., Carlsson, B., Sjöström, L., Carlsson, L. M., et al. (2011). Association of GWAS-based candidate genes with HDL-cholesterol levels before and after bariatric surgery in the Swedish obese subjects study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, E953–E957. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2227
- Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Walitzek, S., Kindermann, W., and Meyer, T. (2012). Differences in adaptations to 1 year of aerobic endurance training: individual patterns of nonresponse. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 113–118. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0838.2010.01139.x
- Sparks, L. M. (2017). Exercise training response heterogeneity: physiological and molecular insights. *Diabetologia* 60, 2329–2336. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4461-6

- Turk, Y., Theel, W., Kasteleyn, M. J., Franssen, F. M. E., Hiemstra, P. S., Rudolphus, A., et al. (2017). High intensity training in obesity: a Metaanalysis. Obes. Sci. Pract. 3, 258–271. doi: 10.1002/osp4.109
- Vazquez-Carrera, M. (2016). Unraveling the Effects of PPARbeta/delta on Insulin Resistance and Cardiovascular disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 27, 319–334. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.02.008
- Viana, R. B., Naves, J. P. A., Coswig, V. S., de Lira, C. A. B., Steele, J., Fisher, J. P., et al. (2019). Is interval training the magic bullet for fat loss? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing moderate-intensity continuous training with high-intensity interval training (HIIT). Br. J. Sports Med. 53, 655–664. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099928
- Williamson, P. J., Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2017). Inter-Individual Responses of Maximal Oxygen Uptake to Exercise Training: A Critical Review. Sports Med. 47, 1501–1513. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0680-8
- Xie, C., Wang, Z. C., Liu, X. F., and Yang, M. S. (2010). The common biological basis for common complex diseases: evidence from lipoprotein lipase gene. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 18, 3–7. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2009.134
- Yu, D., Li, C., Xie, J., Xu, G., Li, Y., Liu, J., et al. (2013). Association between three genetic variants of the Perilipin Gene (PLIN) and glucose metabolism: results from a replication study among Chinese adults and a meta-analysis. *Endocr. Res.* 38, 263–279. doi: 10.3109/07435800.2013.778864
- Zhan, S., and Ho, S. C. (2005). Meta-analysis of the association of the Trp64Arg polymorphism in the beta3 adrenergic receptor with insulin resistance. *Obes. Res.* 13, 1709–1719. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.209

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Andrade-Mayorga, Díaz and Salazar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Hypothesis: The Interplay of Exercise and Physiological Heterogeneity as Drivers of Human Ageing

Norman R. Lazarus and Stephen D. R. Harridge\*

Centre for Human & Applied Physiological Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences & Medicine, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

As the inherent ageing process affects every facet of biology, physiology could be considered as the study of the healthy human ageing process. Where biological health is affected by lifestyle, the continual and continuing interaction of this process with physical activity and other lifestyle choices determine whether the ageing trajectory is toward health or disease. The presentation of both these states is further modified in individuals by the interaction of inherent physiological heterogeneity and the heterogeneity associated with responses and adaptions to exercise. The range of heterogeneity in healthy physiology is circumscribed by the necessity to conform to that of the human species. Our hypothesis is that, when sufficient exercise is present, these multiple interactions appear to produce an ageing profile that, while functional ability is in decline, remains synchronous, coherent, and integrated throughout most of life. In the absence of sufficient physical activity, physiology over time is gradually deteriorating toward the production of a lifestyle disease. Here, the ageing process, interacting with individual physiological heterogeneity, probably determines the age of presentation of a disease as well as the order of presentation of subsequent diseases. In this article, we discuss this hypothesis and related concepts in the context of the trajectory of healthy and non-healthy human ageing.

Keywords: ageing, exercise, health, physiology, lifestyle

## INTRODUCTION

A common belief has been that "to grow old is to be sick" (Rowe and Kahn, 1999), but for a large segment of the older population, when the link between age and health decline is evaluated, chronological age is not a relevant marker for understanding, measuring, or experiencing healthy ageing (Yang and Lee, 2010; Lowsky et al., 2014).

The WHO defines healthy ageing as "the process of developing and maintaining the functional ability that enables wellbeing in older age" (WHO, 2015). While there are multiple definitions of healthy ageing, for the purposes of this article, we define it as being free of the diseases that are largely due to lifestyle influences. These lifestyle factors include physical inactivity/ lack of exercise/sedentary behavior, poor nutrition, smoking and alcohol consumption, and which can result in cardiovascular disease, type II diabetes, and some cancers. However, healthy ageing can also be influenced by multiple factors including gender, race, income, educational level, and socioeconomic environment (Braveman, et al., 2011). In the arena circumscribed

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Mikel Izquierdo, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Marco Vincenzo Narici, University of Padua, Italy Sarianna Sipila, University of Jyväskylä, Finland

#### \*Correspondence:

Stephen D. R. Harridge s.harridge@kcl.ac.uk orcid.org/0000-0002-8203-0769

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 14 April 2021 Accepted: 20 July 2021 Published: 09 September 2021

#### Citation:

Lazarus NR and Harridge SDR (2021) A Hypothesis: The Interplay of Exercise and Physiological Heterogeneity as Drivers of Human Ageing. Front. Physiol. 12:695392. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.695392

42

by diseases affiliated to lifestyle, this definition of healthy ageing encompasses the parameters as defined by the WHO definition of health (WHO, 2015). Healthy ageing is thus par excellence, reflected in the maintenance of whole-body integrated function (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017) despite an overall decline in physical capability and intrinsic capacity. In addition, while acknowledging that differences between definitions for "physical activity"/"inactivity"/"sedentary behavior" and "exercise" exist, for the purposes of this article, we have simply defined those that expend sufficient energy to be healthy as exercisers and those that do not as non-exercisers.

Many authors have drawn attention to the influence of lifestyle, particularly sufficient physical activity or exercise on the diseases that occur as people age (Fiaterone et al., 1990; Pedersen and Saltin, 2006, 2015; Booth et al., 2012; Lazarus and Harridge, 2017). The integrative mechanisms of healthy ageing will not be best understood by using a patho-physiological approach that is systems based. This approach is slanted toward understanding and treating disease processes. Because exercise affects most physiological functions and processes (Morris and Heady, 1953; Nixon et al., 1976; Wilson and Tanaka, 2000; Heinonen et al., 2014; Sjøgaard et al., 2016; Duggal et al., 2018; Lazarus et al., 2018; Mailing et al., 2019; Joanisse et al., 2020; Kern et al., 2020), it is unlikely for healthy ageing to occur against the backdrop of an absence of physical activity. The effects of exercise on these processes are not monolithic (Sparks, 2017). Recently, four categories of regulation encompassing physiology, age and exercise have been proposed (Lazarus and Harridge, 2018; Lazarus et al., 2019). Category A consists of those processes that decreases by age alone, category B are those processes that are affected by age but can be modified by exercise, category C has processes that are unaffected by ageing but they too can be modified by exercise, and category D reside processes that are independent of both age and exercise. As people age the interactions of categories A, B, C, and D will be in constant flux (Lazarus et al., 2018). Thus, flow diagrams that depict any age-related changes in signaling or metabolic interactions are reflective of the state of physiology at a given age/moment in time.

The removal of exercise is an intervention that will impact negatively on all systems. As two categories of regulation (B and C), will be negatively affected directly by the absence of exercise, the overarching affect is that interactions between all four categories will be different between exercisers and non-exercisers. The same ageing process now interacting with a less optimal physiology produces the lifestyle diseases, whose incidence increases with age. These diseases can thus probably best be categorized as exercise deficiency diseases (Booth et al., 2012; Lazarus et al., 2018). While the development of disease may take time to manifest, it is possible to detect the markers of incipient disease relatively early in the sedentary.<sup>1</sup> Non-exercisers may not be ill, but they are not healthy. It has been suggested that physical inactivity is the biggest health problem of the 21st century (Blair, 2009).

Heterogeneity is a ubiquitous characteristic of the presentation of both pathological and healthy human physiology (Chareonthaitawee et al., 2001; Aird, 2011; Lynch and Watt, 2018). Indeed, in health most systems will operate within reasonably well-defined constraints and have normative values (e.g., blood glucose, insulin, markers of liver function, etc.). While physiological functional and integrative indices can very markedly between individuals even when they show the similar physiognomy (e.g., in indices such as VO<sub>2max</sub> and muscle function). The heterogeneity of phenotype is partly genetic but more generally reflects the underlying differences in the response and adaptation of physiological systems to external factors and in particular exercise (Walter et al., 2012; Lazarus and Harridge, 2018; Said et al., 2019). In non-exercisers, a lack of exercise imposes a different yet related heterogeneity; in that, all the same processes are now operating in an exercise deficient environment (Sparks, 2017). Although there is a very large literature of the role of heterogeneity in human disease and particularly in the generation of cancers (Klocke and Wittenberg, 1969; McClellan and King, 2010; Sominsky et al., 2020), there is sparse literature on the specific impact of heterogeneity on the presentation of human ageing. In a physiological spectrum ranging from healthy ageing, through sedentariness with its associated non-optimal physiology and continued into disease, indices may mirror the effects of this spectrum. For example, the range of VO<sub>2max</sub> values produced by varying (e.g., through type, intensity, and duration) the exercise stimulus and the correlation of these values with individual health and disease markers is well documented (Blair et al., 1989; American College of Sports Medicine, 2014; Gries et al., 2018). The ageing process interacting with lifestyle factors and physiological heterogeneity, continuously and continually moderates and influences all physiological processes and systems. It is therefore legitimate to regard physiology as the science concerned with investigating the inherent ageing process. These points form the basis of an overarching hypothesis, which can be summarized as being that: when sufficient exercise is present, the multiple interactions of categories A, B, C, and D produce an ageing profile that remains essentially synchronous, coherent, and integrated throughout most of life. But, in the absence of sufficient exercise, physiology over time will deteriorate toward the production of a lifestyle disease. Thus, the ageing process interacts with the physiological heterogeneity present in categories A, B, C, and D, which will determine the age of presentation of a disease as well as the order of presentation of subsequent diseases. Below, we take three different groups of older individuals who differ in their exercise levels to expand on these points.

## HYPOTHESIS: INTEGRATING THE INTERPLAY OF AGEING, EXERCISE, AND HETEROGENEITY IN MASTER ATHLETES

Master athletes represent a group of people who exercise regularly and intensely in later life (Ransdell et al., 2009; Rittweger et al., 2009) and at a point well over that required

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>www.nhlbi.nih.gov

for healthy ageing (above their individual Set Point, Lazarus and Harridge, 2017). When performance times of running, cycling (Baker and Tang, 2010), and swimming (Donato et al., 2003) are followed over five decades, a clear pattern emerges. This pattern (essentially a curve with acceleration in the rate of decline during the eighth decade) is independent of sporting discipline and phenotype and applies to both men and women. The curves of decreasing performance time with age show no evidence of disruption by disease and were sufficiently similar for Baker and Tang (2010) to derive an equation that had a good fit for master running performance times across the complete spectrum of official distances available in flat races. The self-selection criteria for each discipline are rigorous. Athletes must have the body phenotype that is best suited to a given discipline are undertaking similar types of exercise training and at maximum training loads (commensurate with their age) as they seek to maximize their performance. In addition, their nutritional intake must be able to sustain their requirements both for energy expenditure and for the maintenance of healthy physiological function across all organs. While they also most probably have the necessary social and economic systems in place to allow them to keep them mentally focused on their tasks. When all these criteria are fulfilled, it has been hypothesized that these decreasing performance times are driven by the inherent human ageing process (Rittweger et al., 2009; Lazarus and Harridge, 2017). From the above, four important conclusions emerge. Firstly, these criteria remove the heterogeneity of decreases in performance times that might have been expected in a cross-sectional study (Donato et al., 2003). Secondly, the diversity of discipline and distance make no difference to the projection of the curves. Thirdly, the curve is independent of body shape and gender. Fourthly, this suggests that the human ageing process is probably the same in all humans (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017). This hypothesis is re-enforced by the fact that most people arrive at the same end point, i.e., death at around the end of the ninth decade (Office for National Statistics, UK, 2017).

If the ageing process is generating the shape of the performance curve, then any person who decides to participate in a discipline, in which training loads are at maximal for their physiological make up, should generate the same drop off in their performance curve if placed in competition (Lazarus and Harridge, 2018). Granted their times would be poor because they could be unsuited to the discipline chosen, but it is the ageing process that is driving the profile of the curves and not physical prowess.

It is important to realize that similar declining performance time curves need not necessarily be the resultant of the homogenization of the physiology of those taking part as many factors determine performance. It is the combination of these constituents, albeit at differing magnitudes, that determine final competitive outcomes. However, the ranges of magnitudes are confined within limits that are species dependent. Thus, the strict self-selection criteria result in a cohort of competitors who are not homogeneous physiologically, but who have a range of heterogeneities that are circumscribed to give similar performance times when subjected to exercise at maximum intensity.

## HYPOTHESIS: INTEGRATING THE INTERPLAY OF AGEING, EXERCISE, AND HETEROGENEITY IN HABITUAL EXERCISERS

Having considered competitive athletes, the next step is to consider individuals who are very physically active and could be termed as "dedicated exercisers" (Bhella et al., 2014), but who are not competitive athletes. We recently undertook a well-controlled cross-sectional study on older cyclists (Pollock et al., 2015). Cyclists from 55 to 79 years were studied. In this study, volume of exercise, but not intensity, was measured. However, it was highly likely they were exercising at an exercise load that was sufficient, as indicated by their measured VO<sub>2max</sub> values (American College of Sports Medicine, 2014), to offset the diseases associated with inactivity and above their set point for healthy ageing, but likely below that of a competitive athlete (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017). Under these conditions, an analysis of VO<sub>2max</sub> data has shown that people of the same age could have markedly different VO<sub>2max</sub> levels (Lazarus and Harridge, 2010; Pollock et al., 2015). The different VO<sub>2max</sub> levels can be indicative of different exercise loads (Wilson and Tanaka, 2000), but other factors including genetics and specificity of training, are also at work causing differences between the same aged individuals and final VO<sub>2max</sub> values (Magel et al., 1975; Bouchard et al., 1986; Noakes, 2003; Lundby et al., 2016). Thus, even at the same exercise training loads, heterogeneity in values can be demonstrated. Because of all these factors, it is not surprising that it was also shown that exercising people of different ages can exhibit the same VO<sub>2max</sub> values (Pollock et al., 2015). These are important findings because they emphasize that health, as defined by being free of diseases due to lifestyle, can be maintained by a range of exercise loads that start at individual thresholds sufficient to counter sedentary diseases, their set points (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017) continue all the way up to maximum exercise loads. The physiological indices of all cyclists were exhibiting the sum of the spectrum of values produced by the dose dependent effect of exercise (Wilson and Tanaka, 2000; Bhella et al., 2014). All crosssectional studies on relevant physiological indices will display this dose effect of exercise, and this will contribute to any inherent heterogeneity between individuals. Longitudinal studies on any individual, who is exercising above their set point, will over the period of study, show the heterogeneity of functions even if the absolute exercise load changes relative to age (Lambert et al., 2002). Thus, even when training at the same exercise loads relative to age, the ageing process will ensure that values of indices in the individual will fall.

Viewed from the perspectives stated above, the relation between biological age and chronological age carries a different connotation. A 70-year-old exercising at his or her set point (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017) is likely to be healthy, as defined by being free of the diseases of lifestyle and likely have a  $VO_{2max}$  value that will confirm that prediction (American College of Sports Medicine, 2014). The chronological age and biological ages of the 70-year-old are exactly where they should be for health. Now take another 70-year-old exercising at higher intensity. All other factors being equal,  $VO_{2max}$  will be higher. This 70-year-old is not more healthy or ageing more optimally but has a training-related enhancement of his/her cardio-respiratory fitness. In terms of biological health both individuals are matched because the dose threshold of exercise, necessary to ward off the diseases of inactivity, has been passed and the ageing trajectories (all other things being similar) no different.

A further point to consider on the subject of heterogeneity is that of differences in the tissue response to exercise within any given individual. While some organs will benefit directly from exercise (e.g., increased use of contracting muscle) others, such as the brain, also benefit, probably from the consequent increases in blood flow. One of the growing areas of interest is how exercise is beneficial to cognitive function during ageing (Northey et al., 2018). However, the rates at which adaptations to exercise occur or the rate at which different organs "age" under optimal circumstances remains to be determined.

## HYPOTHESIS: INTEGRATING THE INTERPLAY OF AGEING AND HETEROGENEITY IN NON-EXERCISERS

As discussed, there are two regulatory mechanisms that are directly affected by exercise (Lazarus and Harridge, 2017; Lazarus et al., 2018). These are, firstly, category B, in which processes are age-affected but in which exercise can ameliorate the trajectory of change. Secondly, category C in which those mechanisms not affected by age but can be positively modified by exercise would also be adversely affected.

In non-exercisers interactions of categories A, B, C, and D will now be radically different from exercisers. For example,  $VO_{2max}$  levels will be lower across all ages when compared to exercising counterparts (Gries et al., 2018). If the development of disease is caused by falling outside normative threshold values, then the initial threshold to be broken will depend on the physiological make-up of the individual. Because of individual heterogeneity, it is not possible to predict which of the lifestyle-associated diseases will be the first to present. In addition, the presentation of a particular disease will not strictly follow ageing. It is not the ageing process that is the prime etiological factor underlying disease presentation, but the interaction of a universal ageing process on an exercise deficient physiology (Fried et al., 2001; Chiu and Wray, 2010; Lazarus et al., 2018).

## HYPOTHESIS: THE INTERACTION OF REGULATORY CATEGORIES A, B, C, AND D WITH EXERCISE, AGE, AND INTRINSIC HETEROGENEITY

Healthy ageing is the product of the interaction of many factors. Firstly, there are the interactions of categories A,

B, C, and D. These in turn can be modified. Categories A and B are age dependent and will therefore change over time. However, because category B is positively influenced by exercise the relationship between A and B will undergo further change. Category C that is independent of age is also modified by exercise. Category D is independent of age and exercise. However, overlying all these different properties of the categories is inherent human physiological heterogeneity. We have depicted this schematically in Figure 1. Thus, the interaction of age, exercise, and human heterogeneity will ensure that the relationships between processes residing in any of the four categories will be undergoing continuous change both in them and in relation to their interactions with other categories. All these processes are operating on a global scale and affect all physiological systems. To seek a single index, which will define the mechanism of these effects across the whole of physiology, borders on the futile. There is no magic index, as has been postulated for some diseases (Jackson and Schoenwaelder, 2003; Benfeito et al., 2013; Venkata and Ram, 2019), that will suffice as the definitive marker of healthy ageing.

# HEALTHY AND NON-HEALTHY PHENOTYPES

The removal of exercise will affect two of the four regulatory categories. The outcomes of the regulatory interaction will begin to diverge between exercisers and non-exercisers from the time that exercise is removed. In exercisers the outcome, over time, is a physiology that is coherent and integrated while shrinking under the influence of age. In non-exercisers the outcome is eventually disease (Figure 1). Physiological regulation is now geared to preserving function in the face of a disease process. The regulatory mechanisms underpinning the two phenotypes will be following different trajectories. The physiology of non-exercisers should not be used as exemplars of health. All physiological parameters measured in this group of people will probably represent either incipient ill health at the best or disease at the worst. By the same token, the addition of exercise to a previously inactive scenario will have positive effects on the two categories and thus the regulation and interaction of all four. The known improvements in physiological and clinical indices as a result of exercise training interventions are well-known. However, what remains to be determined is at what age category A indices have diminished such that the interventions have come too late to be able to put an individual on a track that would match their optimal ageing trajectory.

## SUMMARY

This hypothesis article has attempted to provide a logical foundation for unraveling the multifaceted and evolving conundrum that is the human ageing process. We have



FIGURE 1 | Depicting interaction of exercise and heterogeneity in exercisers and non – exercisers of the same age and gender. (A) Removal of exercise. Here a disease model is shown. Both individuals are non-exercisers, but different phenotypes are produced because of the effects of intrinsic heterogeneity in all categories and because Categories B and C are negatively affected by a lack of exercise. (B) Comparing the presence of exercise (Left hand side) with no exercise. Here the differences between the two individuals (Continued) FIGURE 1 | are not only due to exercise (Categories B and C) but also because of the intrinsic heterogeneity in the interactions of all four categories.
(C) Here two exercisers undertaking the same levels of exercise are shown. Different phenotypes are produced because of the differing effects of exercise on categories B and C and because of the intrinsic heterogeneity and subsequent differences in the interactions of all four categories of regulation. The coloured boxes represent the four categories of regulation (A, B, C, and D), with the size of each box representing the heterogeneity within each category.

proposed that the decline in physiological function is determined by four interacting categories of regulation which overtime manifests itself as a continually changing physiological landscape. These categories have the role of exercise and an acknowledgement of the heterogeneity as core components. Healthy ageing, defined here as being free from diseases of lifestyle, only occurs when exercising at set point and above. The investigation of master athletes who are at the maximum end of that exercising spectrum will give no greater insight into the mechanisms underlying the healthy human ageing process than investigating those exercising at set point. It is not possible to be healthier than healthy.

There is no evidence that an increased proficiency of exercise discipline alters the health trajectory of any individual. However, master athletes will give insight into the effects of age on performance and by default on integrative physiological function. The removal of exercise causes a disintegration of ageing physiology such that disease is an almost inevitable outcome. In all cross-sectional studies only a snapshot of the effect of age, exercise, and heterogeneity on physiological indices and systems is obtained. Over time, exercise and heterogeneity interact, causing constant flux in complex biochemical, molecular, and physiological processes. A healthy, exercising 70-year-old not only differs from a healthy exercising 50-year-old in chronological age but also in having a physiology that has had to adapt to ageing and lifestyle interactions, so that integrity, co-ordination, and synchronization are maintained by a shrinking physiology. How this integrity is maintained awaits discovery. The human ageing process, interacting with lifestyle factors and heterogeneous physiologies, governs and modifies all processes in all humans all the time, yet its presence does not seem to merit a place in most physiology or medical texts.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## FUNDING

Funding from Nadace The JetBrains Foundation is acknowledged.

### REFERENCES

- Aird, W. (2011). Endothelial cell heterogeneity. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a006429. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006429
- American College of Sports Medicine (2014). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 10th Edn. New York: Lippencott Williams & Wilkins.
- Baker, A. A., and Tang, Y. Q. (2010). Aging performance for master's records in athletics, rowing, cycling, triathlon and weightlifting. *Exp. Aging Res.* 36, 453–477. doi: 10.1080/0361073X.2010.507433
- Benfeito, S., Oliveira, C., Soares, P., Fernandes, C., Silva, T., Teixeira, J., et al. (2013). Antioxidant therapy: still in search of the 'magic bullet'. *Mitochondrion* 12, 427–435. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2012.12.002
- Bhella, P. S., Hastings, J. L., Fujimoto, N., Shibata, S., Carrick-Ranson, G., Palmer, M. D., et al. (2014). Impact of lifelong exercise "dose" on left ventricular compliance and distensibility. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 64, 1257–1266. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.03.062
- Blair, S. N. (2009). Physical inactivity: the biggest public health problem of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Br. J. Sports Med. 43, 1–2.
- Blair, S. N., Kohl, H. W. 3rd., Paffenbarger, R. S. Jr., Clark, D. G., Cooper, K. H., and Gibbons, L. W. (1989). Physical fitness and all-cause mortality: a prospective study of healthy men and women. *JAMA* 262, 2395–2401. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03430170057028
- Booth, P. W., Roberts, K. C., and Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic disease. *Compr. Physiol.* 2, 1143–1211. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c110025
- Bouchard, C., Lesage, R., Lortie, G., Simoneau, J. A., Hamel, P., Perusse, J., et al. (1986). Aerobic performance in brothers, dizygotic and monozygotic twins. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 18, 639–646.
- Braveman, P., Egerter, S., and Williams, D. R. (2011). The social determinants of health: coming of age. Annu. Rev. Public Health 32, 381–398. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-publhealth-031210-101218
- Chareonthaitawee, P., Kaufmann, K. A., Rimoldi, O., and Camici, P. G. (2001). Heterogeneity of resting and hyperemic myocardial blood flow in healthy humans. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 50, 151–161. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(01)00202-4
- Chiu, C.-J., and Wray, L. A. (2010). Factors predicting glycemic control in middle-aged and older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Prev. Chronic Dis.* 7:A08.
- Donato, J. A., Tench, K., Gluek, D. H., and Seals, D. R. (2003). Declines in physiological functional capacity with age: a longitudinal study in peak swimming performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 94, 764–769. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00438.2002
- Duggal, N. A., Pollock, R., Lazarus, N. R., Harridge, S., and Lord, J. M. (2018). Major features of immuno-senescence, including reduced thymic output, are ameliorated by high levels of physical activity in adulthood. *Aging Cell* 17:e12750. doi: 10.1111/acel.12750
- Fiaterone, M. A., Marks, E. C., Ryan, N. D., Meredith, C. N., Lipsitz, L. A., and Evans, W. J. (1990). High intensity strength training in nonagenarians: effects on skeletal muscle. *JAMA* 263, 3029–3034. doi: 10.1001/jama.1990. 03440220053029
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., et al. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56, M146–M156. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146
- Gries, K. J., Raue, U., Perkins, R. K., Lavin, M. K., Overstreet, B. S., D'Acquisto, L. J., et al. (2018). Cardiovascular and skeletal muscle health with lifelong exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 125, 1636–1645. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00174.2018
- Heinonen, I., Kalliokoski, K. K., Hannukainen, J. C., Duncker, D. J., Nuutila, P., and Knuuti, J. (2014). Organ-specific physiological responses to acute physical exercise and long-term training in humans. *Physiology* 29, 421–436. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00067.2013
- Jackson, S. P., and Schoenwaelder, S. M. (2003). Antiplatelet therapy: in search of the 'magic bullet'. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2, 775–789. doi: 10.1038/ nrd1198
- Joanisse, S., Ashcroft, S., Wilkinson, D. J., Pollock, R. D., O'Brien, K. A., Phillips, B. E., et al. (2020). High levels of physical activity in later life are associated with enhanced markers of mitochondrial metabolism. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 75, 1481–1487. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa005
- Kern, T., Blond, M. B., Hansen, T. H., Rosenkilde, M., Quist, J. S., Gram, A. S., et al. (2020). Structured exercise alters the gut microbiota with overweight and obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* 44, 125–135. doi: 10.1038/s41366-019-0440-y

- Klocke, F. J., and Wittenberg, S. M. (1969). Heterogeneity of coronary blood flow in human coronary artery disease and experimental myocardial infarction. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 24, 782–790. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(69)90467-6
- Lambert, M. I., Bryer, L., Hampson, D. B., Nobbs, L., Rapolthy, A. M., Scharhidd Taliep, M., et al. (2002). Accelerated decline in running performance in a master runner with a history of a large volume of training and racing. *J. Aging Phys. Act.* 10, 314–321. doi: 10.1123/ japa.10.3.314
- Lazarus, N. R., and Harridge, S. D. R. (2010). Exercise, physiological function and the selection of participants for ageing research. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 65A, 854–857. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glq016
- Lazarus, N. R., and Harridge, S. D. R. (2017). Declining performance of master athletes silhouettes the trajectory of healthy human ageing? J. Physiol. 595, 2941–2948. doi: 10.1113/JP272443
- Lazarus, N. R., and Harridge, S. D. R. (2018). The inherent ageing process and the facilitating role of exercise. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1135. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01135
- Lazarus, N. R., Izquierdo, M., Higginson, I. J., and Harridge, S. D. R. (2018). Exercise deficiency diseases of ageing: the primacy of exercise and muscle strengthening as first-line therapeutic agents to combat frailty. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 19, 741–743. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.04.014
- Lazarus, N. L., Lord, J. M., and Harridge, S. D. R. (2019). The relationship and interactions between age, exercise and physiological function. *J. Physiol.* 597, 1299–1309. doi: 10.1113/JP277071
- Lowsky, D. J., Olshansky, S. J., Bhattacharya, J., and Goldman, D. P. (2014). Heterogeneity in healthy aging. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med Sci. 69, 640–649. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glt162
- Lundby, C., Montero, D., and Joyner, M. (2016). Biology of VO<sub>2</sub>max: looking under the physiology lamp. Acta Physiol. 220, 218–228. doi: 10.1111/ apha.12827
- Lynch, M. D., and Watt, F. M. (2018). Fibroblast heterogeneity: implication for human disease. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 26–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI93555
- Magel, J. R., Foglia, G. F., McArdle, W. D., Gutin, B., Pechar, G. S., and Katch, F. I. (1975). Specificity of swim training on maximal oxygen uptake. J. Appl. Physiol. 38, 151–155. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1975.38.1.151
- Mailing, L. J., Allen, J. M., Buford, T. W., Fields, C. J., and Woods, J. A. (2019). Exercise and the gut microbiome: a review of the evidence, potential mechanisms, and implications for human health. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 47, 75–85. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000183
- McClellan, J., and King, M. C. (2010). Genetic heterogeneity in human disease. *Cell* 141, 210–217. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.032
- Morris, J. N., and Heady, J. A. (1953). Mortality in relation to physical activity: a preliminary note on experience in middle age. *Br. J. Ind. Med.* 10, 245–254. doi: 10.1136/oem.10.4.245
- Nixon, P., Me, C., Taylor, D. J. H., Bethell, H. J. N., and Grabau, W. (1976). British pilot study of exercise therapy. Br. J. Sports Med. 10, 54–61. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.10.2.54
- Noakes, T. (2003). "Why VO<sub>2max</sub> doesn't necessarily predict performance," *The Lore of Running*. USA: Human Kinetics. 45–61.
- Northey, J. M., Cherbuin, N., Pumpa, K. L., Smee, D. J., and Rattray, B. (2018). Exercise interventions for cognitive function in adults older than 50: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 52, 154–160. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096587
- Office for National Statistics, UK (2017). Available at: www.ons.gov.uk/ peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/ (Accessed April 1, 2021).
- Pedersen, B. K., and Saltin, B. (2006). Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in chronic disease. Scan. J. Medicine Sci. Sports. 16, 3–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2006.00520.x
- Pedersen, B. K., and Saltin, B. (2015). Exercise as medicine evidence for prescribing exercise as medicine in 26 different chronic diseases. Scan. J. Medicine Sci. Sports 25, 1–73. doi: 10.1111/sms.12581
- Pollock, R. D., Carter, S., Velloso, C. P., Duggal, N. A., Lord, J. M., Lazarus, N. R., et al. (2015). An investigation between the relationship between age and physiological function in highly active older adults. *J. Physiol.* 595, 657–680. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.282863
- Ransdell, L. B., Vener, J., and Huberty, J. (2009). Masters athletes: analysis of running, swimming, and cycling performance by age and gender. J. Exerc. Sci. Fit. 7, S61–S73. doi: 10.1016/S1728-869X(09)60024-1

- Rittweger, J., di Prampero, P. E., Maffulli, N., and Narici, M. V. (2009). Sprint and endurance power and aging: an analysis of master athletic world records. *Proc. Biol. Sci. B* 276, 683–689. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.1319
- Rowe, J. W., and Kahn, R. L. (1999). Successful Aging. NY: Dell.
- Said, M. A., Yordi, J., van de Vegte, M. M. Z., Yldau van der Ende, M., Raja, G. K., Verweij, N., et al. (2019). Contributions of interactions between lifestyle and genetics on coronary artery disease risk. *Curr. Cardiol. Rep.* 21, 89–97. doi: 10.1007/s11886-019-1177-x
- Sjøgaard, G., Reffstrup, J., Christiansen, J. R., Justesen, J. B., Murray, M., Dalager, T., et al. (2016). Exercise is more than medicine: The working age population's well-being and productivity. *J. Sport Health Sci.* 5, 159–165. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.04.004
- Sominsky, L., Walker, D. W., and Spencer, S. J. (2020). One size does not fit all – patterns of vulnerability and resistance in the COVID19 pandemic and why heterogeneity in disease matters. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 87, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.016
- Sparks, L. M. (2017). Exercise training response heterogeneity: physiological and molecular insights. *Diabetologia* 60, 2329–2336. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-017-4461-6
- Venkata, C., and Ram, S. (2019). Status of renal denervation therapy for hypertension: still in search for the magic bullet. *Circulation* 139, 601–603. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.037937
- Walter, S., Mackenbach, J., Voko, Z., Lahchimi, S., Arfan Ikram, M., Uiterlinden, A. G., et al. (2012). Genetic, Physiological and lifestyle predictors of mortality in the general population. *Am. J. Public Health* 102, e3–e10. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300596

- World Health Organization (2015). World report on ageing and health. World Health Organization. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/186463
- Wilson, T. M., and Tanaka, H. (2000). Meta-analysis of the age-associated decline in maximal aerobic capacity in men: relation to training status. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 278, H829–H834. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.2000.278.3.H829
- Yang, Y., and Lee, L. C. (2010). Dynamics and heterogeneity in the process of human frailty and aging: evidence from the U.S. older adult population. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 65B, 246–255. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbp102

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lazarus and Harridge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Interindividual Variability in Fat Mass Response to a 1-Year Randomized Controlled Trial With Different Exercise Intensities in Type 2 Diabetes: Implications on Glycemic Control and Vascular Function

João P. Magalhães<sup>1</sup>\*, Megan Hetherington-Rauth<sup>1</sup>, Pedro B. Júdice<sup>2</sup>, Inês R. Correia<sup>1</sup>, Gil B. Rosa<sup>1</sup>, Duarte Henriques-Neto<sup>1</sup>, Xavier Melo<sup>1,3</sup>, Analiza M. Silva<sup>1</sup> and Luís B. Sardinha<sup>1</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Jacob T. Bonafiglia, Queen's University, Canada Alex Castro, State University of Campinas, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: João P. Magalhães

joao.magalhaes@campus.ul.pt

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 April 2021 Accepted: 06 August 2021 Published: 16 September 2021

### Citation:

Magalhães JP, Hetherington-Rauth M, Júdice PB, Correia IR, Rosa GB, Henriques-Neto D, Melo X, Silva AM and Sardinha LB (2021) Interindividual Variability in Fat Mass Response to a 1-Year Randomized Controlled Trial With Different Exercise Intensities in Type 2 Diabetes: Implications on Glycemic Control and Vascular Function. Front. Physiol. 12:698971. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.698971 <sup>1</sup> Exercise and Health Laboratory, CIPER, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal, <sup>2</sup> CIDEFES - Centro de Investigação em Desporto, Educação Fisica e Exercício e Saúde, Universidade Lusófona, Lisbon, Portugal, <sup>3</sup> Ginásio Clube Português, GCP Lab, Lisbon, Portugal

**Purpose**: Little is known about the interindividual variability in fat mass (FM) loss in response to high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and moderate continuous training (MCT) in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Moreover, the impact on health-related outcomes in those who fail to reduce FM is still unclear. The aims of this investigation were (1) to assess if the individuals with T2DM who FM differed across MCT, HIIT, and control groups over a 1-year intervention and (2) to assess the changes on glycemic control and vascular function in the exercising patients who failed to lose FM.

**Methods**: Adults with T2DM were randomized into a 1-year intervention involving a control group (n = 22), MCT with resistance training (RT; n = 21), and HIIT with RT (n = 19). FM was assessed using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and a change in total body FM above the typical error was used to categorize FM responders. Glycemic control and vascular stiffness and structure were assessed. A chi-square test and generalized estimating equations were used to model the outcomes.

**Results**: Both MCT (n = 10) and HIIT (n = 10) had a similar proportion of individuals who were categorized as high responders for FM, with the percent change in FM on average  $-5.0 \pm 9.6\%$  for the MCT and  $-6.0 \pm 12.1\%$  for the HIIT, which differed from the control group ( $0.2 \pm 7.6\%$ ) after a 1-year intervention (p < 0.05). A time-by-group interaction for carotid artery intima-media thickness (cIMT) (p for interaction = 0.042) and lower-limb pulse wave velocity (LL PWV; p for interaction = 0.010) between those categorized as low FM responders for FM loss and controls for both brachial and carotid hemodynamic indices, as well as in cIMT, carotid distensibility coefficient, carotid beta index, and LL

PWV (p for interactions <0.05). No interactions were found for glycaemic indices (p for interaction >0.05).

**Conclusion**: Our results suggest that the number of FM responders did not differ between the MCT or HIIT, compared to the control, following a 1-year exercise intervention in individuals with T2DM. However, low responders to FM may still derive reductions in arterial stiffness and structure.

**Clinical Trial Registration**: Comparing Moderate and High-intensity Interval Training Protocols on Biomarkers in Type 2 Diabetes Patients (D2FIT study) – number: NCT03144505 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03144505).

Keywords: arterial stiffness, Carotid artery intima-media thickness, exercise intervention, peak wave velocity, high-intensity interval training, moderate continuous training

## INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a major contributor to the development of type 2 diabetes (T2DM), with 80% of individuals being classified as obese (Goedecke and Micklesfield, 2014). Several investigations have shown that obesity is associated with insulin resistance and the development of cardiovascular disease in individuals with T2DM (Dube et al., 2011), whereas weight loss, particularly induced by a reduction in fat mass (FM), is a paramount strategy for optimizing glycemic control (Lean et al., 2018) and reducing manifestations of cardiovascular pathology, such as arterial stiffness and structure (Cardoso and Salles, 2016).

Exercise has been shown to be an effective strategy for decreasing body fat although the type, frequency, duration, and intensity most effective for reducing adiposity remain debated in individuals with T2DM (Dube et al., 2011; De Nardi et al., 2018). In short to medium-term interventions, high-intensity interval training (HIIT) has been proposed as a time efficient training method that may induce greater reductions in FM when compared to moderate-intensity continuous training (MCT) in individuals with T2DM (Liu et al., 2019). However, all of these exercised-based interventions rely on group mean effects for FM loss, which provides no information about the interindividual variability of FM changes in response to HIIT and MCT in individuals with T2DM (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2020). A previous investigation comparing continuous aerobic training at different intensities during a 24-week intervention period showed that in obese adults, there was a higher number of individuals in the higher intensity exercise group achieving a clinically important reduction in visceral adipose tissue (<0.28 kg), when compared to those in the moderate-intensity group (Brennan et al., 2020a). Whether HIIT affects the proportion of individuals with T2DM who are likely to achieve a clinically meaningful FM reduction following a long-term intervention is unknown.

Regardless of the alteration in the exercise characteristics, there still remains a portion of individuals who do not achieve clinical meaningful FM loss (Stephens and Sparks, 2015). Nevertheless, irrespective of reductions in FM, heterogeneity in the effects of exercise on cardiometabolic outcomes exist, such that improvements in glycemic control and vascular function have been found independent of FM (Tanaka et al., 2000; Gaesser et al., 2011; Hawkins et al., 2014). Although FM plays a major role in the pathophysiology of T2DM, exercise can work through other pathways to induce beneficial changes in two of the most impacted systems of this disease, being glycemic control and vascular function. In fact, we recently have shown that regardless of the cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) response to 1-year of exercise, favorable changes in vascular structure and function were found (Hetherington-Rauth et al., 2020a). On this matter, no longitudinal randomized controlled trial (RCT) with different exercise intensities using an ecological approach has yet analyzed the glycemic and vascular benefits in patients who do not achieve meaningful fat loss.

Therefore, the aims of this investigation were 2-fold: (1) to compare the response to FM loss following 1 year of MCT or HIIT in individuals with T2DM and (2) to assess whether individuals who failed to attain exercise-derived clinically meaningful reductions in FM still improved their cardiovascular risk profile by improving glycemic control and reducing local and regional manifestations of cardiovascular pathology, such as arterial stiffness and structure.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Subjects**

The current investigation assessed individuals with T2DM who took part in a 1-year exercise RCT (D2FIT study) with three distinct arms: a non-exercise control group, a MCT with resistance training (RT) group, and a HIIT with RT group (ClinicalTrials. gov registration no. NCT03144505). The randomization proceeded with a 1:1:1 allocation ratio between the three intervention groups by a researcher external to the D2FIT study and blinded

Abbreviations: Body mass index, BMI; Brachial systolic blood pressure, SBP; Cardiorespiratory fitness, CRF; Carotid mean arterial pressure, cmap; Carotid systolic blood pressure, csbp; Diastolic blood pressure blood pressure, DBP; Dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry, DXA; Fat mass, FM; Glycated hemoglobin, hba1c; Heart rate reserve, HRR; High-intensity interval training, HIIT; Homeostasis model assessment, HOMA; Individual response standard deviation, SD<sub>R</sub>; Intimamedia thickness, IMT; Mean arterial pressure, MAP; Moderate-intensity continuous training, MCT; Physical activity, PA; Pulse wave velocity, PWV.

to the enrolment process, using computer-generated list of random numbers. The study design and methodology of D2FIT study have been previously published (Magalhaes et al., 2019a).

The primary outcome of D2FIT study concerned changes in glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), which was assessed at baseline and at the end of the intervention period (i.e., 1 year). Participants were recruited in Lisbon, Portugal between February 2014 and July 2016. Eligible criteria included as: adults previously diagnosed with T2DM (American Diabetes, A, 2020); aged 30–75 years; no major micro-and macrovascular complication from T2DM; body mass index <48 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; and no physical limitation preventing individuals from exercising. Power and sample size calculations (G-Power, Version 3.1.3, Düsseldorf, Germany) were based on a predicted HbA1c change of 0.66 units with an SD of 1.2 units,  $\alpha$  = 0.05, 1- $\beta$ =0.80, and an expected dropout rate of 10% (Boule et al., 2001). A total of 80 individuals were selected and randomized, however, for the current analysis only participants who completed the 1-year investigation (*n*=62) were considered.

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to screening. The D2FIT study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Portuguese Diabetes Association (approval number: 07/17/2013).

### **Exercise Intervention**

Exercise prescription and session time were standardized based on physical activity (PA) guidelines (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008) to achieve a weekly target of 41.84kJ/kg (10kcal/kg) for both the MCT and HIIT group.

Throughout the intervention, individuals from both groups received a structured periodization of the exercise program with an individualized and supervised intensity of training based upon heart rate reserve (HRR). A full detailed description of the periodization protocol can be found elsewhere (Magalhaes et al., 2019a).

Participants in the HIIT with RT (n=19) and MCT with RT groups (n=21) exercised 3 days per week. The MCT group performed continuous cycling on a cycle ergometer (Monark Ergometric 828e, Vansbro, Sweden) at 40–60% of HRR throughout the intervention. The HIIT group performed 1 min of cycling at 90% of HRR, followed by a 1 min rest period at 40–60% of HRR (1:1 exercise:rest ratio). Following the aerobic training component, participants from both groups underwent a specific RT including one set of 10–12 repetitions of upper- and lower-limb exercises. The intensity of all trainings was monitored using a heart rate monitor (Polar T-31, Bethpage, NY, United States) worn on the participant's chest.

The control group had an initial orientation session with standard counseling regarding general PA guidelines, with an additional session every month where thematic sessions were held in order to discuss topics, such as nutrition or PA as a retention strategy.

### Anthropometry and Body Composition

Participants weight and height were measured according to standardized procedures (Lohman et al., 1988).

Total FM was estimated using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA; Hologic Explorer-W, Waltham,

United States). Following the protocol for DXA described by the manufacturer, a laboratory technician positioned the participants, performed the scans, and executed the analyses according to the operator's manual. The %CV in our laboratory is 1.7 for FM and 0.8 for lean mass (Santos et al., 2013).

## **Hemodynamic Indices**

Brachial systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure (bDBP) were measured using an automated oscillometric cuff (HEM-907-E; Omron, Tokyo, Japan) following the participant lying 15 min in the supine position. Carotid systolic blood pressure (cSBP) and carotid diastolic blood pressure were measured using ultrasound scanner equipped with a linear 13 MHz probe (MyLab One, Esaote, Italy). The mean arterial pressure (MAP) was calculated using the formula: MAP=DBP + [1/3(SBP-DBP)].

## Local Carotid Artery Intima-Media Thickness

Carotid artery intima-media thickness (cIMT) was measured on the far wall of the right carotid artery using an ultrasound scanner equipped with a linear 13 MHz probe (MyLab One, Esaote, Italy; Hoeks et al., 1997). Distension curves were acquired within a segment of the carotid artery ~1 cm before the flow divider.

## **Carotid Arterial Stiffness Indices**

After 15 min in a supine position, an ultrasound scanner equipped with a linear 13 MHz probe (MyLab One) was placed ~1 cm before the carotid artery bifurcation on the right side of the body and used to calculate pulse wave velocity (PWV; m/s), carotid distensibility coefficient (DC; 1/Kpa), and stiffness index  $\beta$ . A detailed description can be found elsewhere (Hetherington-Rauth et al., 2020b).

## **Regional PWV**

The distance between the carotid and femoral and radial and distal posterior tibial arteries were measured using applanation tonometry and values were directly inserted into the Complior Analyse software (ALAM Medical, Paris, France). PWV values obtained from measurements of the carotid to femoral artery, carotid to radial artery, and carotid to distal posterior tibial artery were taken as indices of aortic and peripheral arterial stiffness for upper (UL) and lower limbs (LL), respectively. A detailed description can be found elsewhere (Hetherington-Rauth et al., 2020b).

## Laboratory Measurements

Fasting blood samples were collected for the assessment of glucose, insulin, and HbA1c before a mixed meal tolerance test and 30 and 120 min after beginning of meal consumption (two bottles of boost complete nutritional drink) for glucose and insulin. Samples were drawn into chilled, heparinized tubes and centrifuged rapidly to avoid glycolysis. Plasma glucose was measured by photometry (auto analyzer Olympus AU640, Beckman Coulter). Plasma insulin was analyzed using electrochemiluminescence immunoassays (Liaison, Diasorin).

HbA1c was analyzed by immunoassay (auto analyzer Hb9210 Premier A. Menarini Diagnostics). The homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) variables were estimated using the HOMA2 calculator.<sup>1</sup>

### **Physical Activity**

Both the control and the exercise groups wore an accelerometer every 3 months to access their physical activity and sedentary behavior (ActiGraph, GT3X+ model; Fort Walton Beach, FL, United States). Participants were asked to wear the accelerometer on the right hip, close to the iliac crest, for 7 consecutive days. The device activation, download, and processing were performed using the software, Actilife (v.6.9.1; ActiGraph). Data were recorded using the raw mode with a 100 Hz frequency and posteriorly downloaded into 15 s epochs. Troiano et al. cut-points and validation criteria were used for data analysis (Troiano et al., 2008).

# Identifying Individual Exercise Fat Mass Responders

Currently, there are no accepted guidelines for the percent of FM loss considered to be clinically meaningful (Brennan et al., 2019). Therefore, we considered someone who had a FM loss greater than the typical error (TE) as clinically meaningful. The TE was calculated from the SD of the differences in FM over 1 year in the control group (TE=SD<sub>diff</sub>/ $\sqrt{2}$ ), as described by Hopkins (2000) and used by others (Walsh et al., 2020; Brennan et al., 2020a). The TE represents the technical error of measurement as well as the within-subject variability caused by changes in behavioral/environmental factors across an intervention (Bonafiglia et al., 2018). The TE for FM in our study was 1.73kg (i.e., ~-6% FM from baseline). Hence, any individual with a FM loss >1.73kg was considered to be a high responder and individuals with FM  $\leq$ 1.73kg were considered low responders.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics, including measures of central tendency (mean) and variability (SD) for normally distributed variables and median (interquartile range) for skewed variables, were used to describe baseline descriptive characteristics. Depending on normality and variable type, a one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons, Kruskal–Wallis test,  $\chi^2$  test, or Fisher's exact test were used to compare baseline measures between groups.

Differences in the proportion of individuals in the control, MCT, and HIIT groups who reduced FM after 3, 6, and 12 months of intervention were assessed using a chi-square test.

Generalized estimating equations were used to assess outcomes indicative of glycaemic control and vascular structure and function, while adjusting for sex, baseline moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA), number of training sessions completed, and percent changes in MAP (only in models assessing differences in arterial stiffness and structure indices). A linear distribution with an identity link function for the response was assumed and an autoregressive model with a robust estimator was used for the working correlation matrix and covariance matrix, respectively. Finally, the maximum likelihood estimate was set to the data to calculate the parameter estimation and the lowest value for the goodness of fit was used for comparisons between models.

A Bonferroni post-hoc test was used to estimate the betweenand within-group effects. A linear distribution for the response was assumed and an autoregressive correlation matrix was set to the data.

A value of p of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 22.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, United States) and STATA version 13.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States).

## RESULTS

**Table 1** describes baseline values between high responders  $(n=20; \Delta FM > TE)$ , low responders  $(n=20; \Delta FM \le TE)$ , and the control group (n=22). Out of the 62 participants (45% female), 53% were categorized as obese, and 31% were overweight. At baseline, we found no differences  $(p \ge 0.05)$  between the low and high responders, except for MVPA, in which high responders had higher values when compared to the controls (p<0.05). On the other hand, and considering the Canadian physical activity guidelines (Ross et al., 2020), all groups spent a considerable amount of time in sedentary pursuits as shown by accelerometer data and time spent watching TV.

At the end of the 1-year intervention, 20 individuals in the exercise groups (10 from MCT and 10 from HIIT) decreased their FM above the TE threshold, compared with only two individuals in the control group (p > 0.05; **Table 2**).

Figure 1 shows the individual changes in FM loss for each participant in the control (Figure 1A), MCT (Figure 1B), and HIIT groups (Figure 1C) after 1-year relative to the TE cutoffs.

Table 3 depicts the within- and between-group changes in glycemic control, hemodynamic indices, and indices of vascular stiffness and structure in control and FM responder groups. The high FM responders had favorable changes in vascular structure and stiffness indices as indicated by the time-by-group interaction observed between the cIMT (p for interaction <0.001), carotid DC (p for interaction=0.016), beta stiffness index (p for interaction=0.035), carotid PWV (p for interaction = 0.038), and LL PWV (p for interaction = 0.021) with the control group. Favorable changes were also observed on hemodynamic indices between the high FM responder group and controls (p for interactions <0.05), except for cSBP and carotid mean arterial pressure (cMAP; p for interactions >0.05). Moreover, for the hemodynamic indices, similar interactions were observed between the high FM responder and low FM responder groups (p for interactions <0.05). Although no interactions in hemodynamic indices were observed between the low FM responders and the controls (p > 0.05), there still was a time-by-group interaction between the low FM responders and the controls in vascular structure (cIMT: p for interaction=0.042) and vascular stiffness (LL PWV: p for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.dtu.ox.ac.uk/homacalculator/

TABLE 1         Baseline descriptive characteristics of control group and exercise
groups who either reduced or did not reduce their total body FM.

	Control ( <i>n</i> = 22)	Low responders (n=20)	High responders (n = 20)	Value of p
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Age (years)	60.8 ± 7.5	57.5 ± 8.9	59.6 ± 7.0	0.39
Gender (F:M)	11:11	8:12	9:11	0.81
Weight (kg)	84.6 ± 15.4	82.1 ± 18.1	80.5 ± 11.3	0.67
Height (cm)	164.5 ± 9.5	165.0 ± 8.8	163.9 ± 8.1	0.93
Body mass	31.7 ± 4.7	$30.5 \pm 6.0$	30.6 ± 5.2	0.73
index (kg/m²)				
Time from DM dx	$5.9 \pm 5.4$	$7.8\pm4.9$	7.5 ± 5.2	0.44
Hypertensive medication (%)	54.5	45.0	50.0	0.82
Oral	95.5	95.0	90.0	0.83
hypoglycemic				
medication				
% Trainings	NA	74.2 ± 20.7	77.5 ± 22.4	0.63
completed (%)				
MCT (n): HIIT (n)	NA	11:9	10:10	0.75
Baseline MVPA (min/d) <sup>a</sup>	22.1 ± 16.0	31.0 ± 18.6	46.9 ± 30.8*	0.003
Sedentary time	570.1 ± 147.4	603.5 ± 67.2	570.3 ± 86.6	0.527
(min/d) <sup>a</sup>				
TV viewing time	199.3 ± 141.2	195.3 ± 108.7	186.8 ± 143.1	0.952
(min/d)				
HbAIC (%) <sup>a</sup>	6.9 ± 1.1	7.3 ± 1.4	$6.9 \pm 1.1$	0.54
HbAIC	51.7 ± 11.8	55.9 ± 15.7	52.1 ± 12.3	0.54
(mmol/L)ª				
Fasting glucose (mg/dL) <sup>a</sup>	8.0 ± 1.8	9.8 ± 3.7	8.5 ± 3.6	0.18
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/min/	$25.2 \pm 5.6$	25.5 ± 5.1	25.7 ± 6.1	0.95
kg)	2012 2 010	2010 2 011	2011 2 011	0100
bMAP (mmHq)	91.6 ± 9.0	96.2 ± 13.0	99.3 ± 10.5	0.08
Total body	$29.9 \pm 6.8$	$28.1 \pm 9.4$	$28.2 \pm 8.5$	0.73
FM (kg)	20.0 ± 0.0	20.1 ± 0.1	20.2 ± 0.0	0.10
Total body %	$35.5 \pm 6.3$	$33.9 \pm 6.7$	34.7 ± 7.7	0.73
FM (%)	0010 2 010	0010 1 011	0	0110
Total body lean soft tissue (kg)	52.3 ± 11.4	51.6 ± 11.0	$49.9\pm7.4$	0.73
bSBP (mmHq)	127.4 ± 17.3	133.3 ± 18.5	136.1 + 16.7	0.28
bDBP (mmHg)	$73.8 \pm 6.7$	78.0 ± 11.7	81.0 ± 9.3	0.20
	, 0.0 ± 0.7	10.0 ± 11.7	01.0 ± 0.0	0.00

DM, diabetes mellitus; bSBP, brachial systolic blood pressure; bDBP, brachial diastolic blood pressure; FM, fat mass; HbAIC, glycated hemoglobin; HIIT, high-intensity interval training; MAP, mean arterial pressure; MCT, moderate continuous training. <sup>a</sup>Median (intercuartile range).

\*significantly different from control, p<0.05.

**TABLE 2** | Proportion of individuals in experimental groups who reduced body fat mass at different time points.

	Control	мст	нііт	Value of p
High responders, n (%)				
3 months	3 (14.3)	8 (38.0)	5 (26.3)	0.22
6 months	4 (19.1)	8 (38.1)	6 (35.3)	0.41
12 months	2 (9.1)	10 (47.6)	10 (52.6)	0.004

MCT, moderate continuous training; HIIT, high-intensity interval training; FM, fat mass; and TE, technical error. Values presented as absolute and percentage. interaction = 0.010). No interactions were observed between the high and low FM responders and the controls for glycemic outcomes (p for interactions >0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first investigation to address the response rate to changes in FM following a long-term intervention with both MCT and HIIT in individuals with T2DM. Following a 1 year of exercise, we found that the proportion of individuals who attained meaningful changes in FM (high responders) differed between the exercise and the control groups, but no differences were found between the MCT and HIIT. Moreover, those considered low responders still had favorable changes on vascular structural and stiffness indices, such as cIMT and LL PWV. Despite the benefits observed in low responders, individuals with higher FM losses had superior benefits, not only on cIMT and LL PWV, but also on other stiffness indices and hemodynamic outcomes, which may have favorable implications on the progression of diabetes related macrovascular complications.

With a similar approach, in an obese population, Brennan et al. (2020a) aimed to determine the effect of different exercise intensities on the proportion of individuals who had meaningful reductions in total and abdominal adipose tissue (i.e., responders) following 24 weeks of intervention. Their results suggested that increasing exercise amount and/or intensity may increase the proportion of individuals who achieve clinically meaningful visceral adipose tissue reductions. In our study, we observed a difference in the proportion of high responders in both the MCT and the HIIT group when compared to the control; however, no differences were found between exercise intensities. The lack of differences between our exercise intensities (i.e., MCT vs. HIIT), as opposed to those observed in Brennan et al. (2020a), may be due to the longer length of our intervention period (1 year vs. 24 weeks) and the intensity of our exercise protocol (HIIT at 90% HRR vs. continuous vigorous exercise at >75% VO<sub>2max</sub>), both of which may have led to higher experienced physiological and psychological fatigue by the HIIT group toward the end of our intervention, impairing their overall 1-year exercise outcomes compared to MCT. In fact, the population differences between studies (T2DM vs. obese adults) may also explain why HIIT did not have a higher proportion of responders compared to the MCT, given that individuals with T2DM are known to have a reduced peak workload capacity, peak oxygen assumption, oxygen pulse, and ventilatory efficiency, thus potentially inhibiting the additional effects of a more demanding exercise protocol (e.g., HIIT; Nesti et al., 2020).

When assessing the number of high responders in each group over the length of the intervention, we did not find differences in either of the exercise groups and the controls at the 3- and 6-month mark. This is likely due to the fact that, for ethical reasons, our control group had monthly sessions, where topics of nutrition and PA were discussed, hence increasing their odds of being categorized as high responders. Nevertheless, at the 12-month mark, there were differences between the proportion



Outcome	Contro	Control ( <i>n</i> = 22)	Low FM Responders ( <i>n</i> =20)	onders ( <i>n</i> = 20)	High FM Responders ( <i>n</i> =20)	onders ( $n = 20$ )	Low FM Responders * Control	High FM Responders * Control	High FM Responders * Low FM Responders
	Baseline	12 months	Baseline	12 months	Baseline	12 months	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	ß (95% CI)
Glycomic indices									
Fasting glucose (mmol/mol)	7.3 ± 1.8	7.8 ± 1.8	9.8 ± 3.7	9.9 ± 4.6	8.5 ± 3.6	8.2 ± 3.6	0.03 (-0.08, 0.13)	-0.01 (-0.11, 0.10)	0.03 (-0.09, 0.15)
IAUC Glucose IAUC Insulin	$7.3 \pm 3.7$ 751.9 $\pm 546.5$	$7.7 \pm 3.6$ 703.6 ± 647.7	$7.9 \pm 3.8$ 493.6 ± 301.9	$9.0 \pm 3.9$ 575.1 ± 493.0	$7.6 \pm 4.2$ $443.1 \pm 388.3$	$7.8 \pm 3.7$ 502.5 ± 502.8	0.05 (-0.13, 0.24) 15.91 (-4.78, 36.59)	-0.01 (-0.18, 0.15) 17.83 (-3.65, 39.30)	0.07 (-0.13, 0.27) -1.20 (-17.55,13.71)
HgAIC (mmol/mol)	$51.7 \pm 11.8$	-:4 ≖ 1.7 54.7 ± 11.2	2.2 ± 1.4 55.9 ± 15.7	2.1 ± 1.0 58.9 ± 16.5	$1.3 \pm 0.0$ 52.1 ± 12.3	1.3 ± 0.7 52.9 ± 14.8	0.13 (-0.36, 0.63)	-0.07 (-0.56, 0.45)	0.19 (-0.22, 0.60)
Hemodvnamic (ndices	ces								
bSBP (mmHg)	$127.4 \pm 17.3$	131.5 ± 19.2	133.3 ± 18.5	138.3 ± 19.6	136.1 ± 16.7	$129.6 \pm 15.6$	0.10 (-0.62, 0.83)	-0.90 (-1.60, -0.20)*	1.01 (0.34, 1.67)*
bDBP (mmHg)	73.8 ± 6.7	$74.0 \pm 11.0$	78.0 ± 11.7	78.4 ± 7.1	81.0 ± 9.3	$75.6 \pm 8.2^{\dagger}$	0.05 (-0.41, 0.51)	-0.48 (-0.90, -0.07)*	0.53 (0.07, 0.99)*
bMAP (mmHg)	$91.5 \pm 9.0$	93.0 ± 11.8	$96.2 \pm 13.0$	$98.1 \pm 9.6$	$99.3 \pm 10.5$	$93.5 \pm 9.6$	0.06 (-0.45, 0.57)	-0.63 (-1.09, -0.17)*	0.69 (0.20, 1.19)*
cSBP (mmHg)	$121.9 \pm 25.3$	$121.2 \pm 19.3$	$121.0 \pm 20.0$	$127.6 \pm 21.1$	122.7 ± 14.0	$117.6 \pm 15.2$	0.61 (-0.44, 1.66)	-0.40 (-1.33, 0.52)	1.01 (0.31, 1.71)*
cDBP (mmHg)	73.8 ± 6.7	74.0 ± 11.0	78.0 ± 11.7	78.4 ± 7.1	$81.0 \pm 9.3$	$75.6 \pm 8.2$	0.05 (-0.41, 0.51)	-0.48 (-0.90, -0.07)*	0.54 (0.07, 0.99)*
cMAP (mmHg)	89.8 ± 11.8	89.8 ± 12.2	92.3 ± 13.4	$98.4 \pm 10.4$	94.9 ± 9.8	89.6 ± 9.5	0.23 (-0.36, 0.82)	-0.47 (-0.96, 0.02)	0.70 (0.20, 1.20)*
Vascular stiffness and structure indices	and structure indic	ces							
Carotid IMT (mm)	714.9 ± 130.7	751.2 ± 119.4*	$740.8 \pm 203.9$	723.3 ± 156.7	704.2 ± 139.7	$673.9 \pm 116.6^*$	-4.34 (-8.53, -0.15)*	-5.40 (-8.27, -2.53)*	1.01 (-3.35, 5.47)
Carotid PWV (m/s)	$7.5 \pm 1.3$	8.1 ± 1.9†	$7.6 \pm 1.5$	$7.9 \pm 1.7$	$7.7 \pm 1.3$	$7.6 \pm 1.5$	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.02)	-0.05 (-0.11, -0.01)*	003 (-0.02, 0.07)
Carotid DC (1/Kpa)	$1.8 \pm 0.6e^{-2}$	1.5 ± 0.6e-2* <sup>†</sup>	$0.02 \pm 0.8e^{-2}$	$0.02 \pm 0.8e^{-2}$	$0.02 \pm 0.7e^{-2}$	$0.02 \pm 0.8e^{-2}$	1.80e <sup>-4</sup> (-4.91e1 <sup>-5</sup> ,	3.47e <sup>-4</sup> (6.48e <sup>-5</sup> ,	-1.67e <sup>-5</sup> (-4.45e <sup>-5</sup> ,
							4.09e <sup>-5</sup> )	6.28e <sup>-4</sup> )*	1.11e <sup>-5</sup> )
Carotid β	$11.9 \pm 4.5$	$14.2 \pm 6.8^{\dagger}$	$11.9 \pm 4.9$	$13.5 \pm 3.4^{\dagger}$	$12.2 \pm 4.2$	12.1 ± 4.2	-0.06 (-0.23, 0.10)	-0.19 (-0.34, -0.04)*	0.13 (-0.04, 0.29)
Aortic PWV (m/s)	$13.1 \pm 4.8$	$14.0 \pm 4.3$	$13.0 \pm 3.0$	$13.5 \pm 3.4$	13.3 ± 4.2	$114.5 \pm 4.5$	-0.03 (-0.17, 0.11)	0.02 (-0.11, 0.15)	-0.05 (-0.17, 0.07)
UL PWV (m/s)	$9.2 \pm 1.9$	$9.3 \pm 1.5$	$9.5 \pm 1.6$	$9.0 \pm 1.7$	$10.0 \pm 2.2$	$9.2 \pm 2.4$	-0.05 (-0.16, 0.06)	-0.08 (-0.20, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.09, 0.15)
LL PWV (m/s)	$9.0 \pm 1.8$	$10.3 \pm 1.7^{\dagger}$	$9.9 \pm 2.1$	$9.6 \pm 2.0$	$10.1 \pm 2.4$	$9.7 \pm 2.6$	-0.13 (-0.24, -0.03)*	-0.15 (-0.27, -0.02)*	-0.01 (-0.09, 0.12)
Total body FM (kg)	29.9 ± 6.8	30.1 ± 7.6	28.1 ± 9.4	$28.6 \pm 9.5$	$28.2 \pm 8.5$	24.8 ± 8.4†	-0.04 (-0.06, 0.14)	-0.26 (-0.36, -0.16)*	0.30 (0.22, 0.38)*
$\beta$ =unstandardized $\beta$ adj	usted for sex, total nu	Imber of trainings comp.	leted, and baseline MV	PA and age; unstandar PD brochiol evotolic bl	rdized $\beta$ for carotid struction and struction of the structure of the st	sture and stiffness and	$\beta$ =unstandardized fit adjusted for sex, total number of trainings completed, and baseline MVPA and age, unstandardized fit carotid structure and stiffness and regional arterial stiffness indices additionally adjusted for percent of angle in MAP.	ices additionally adjusted for	r percent change in MAP
pressure; MAP, mean a	under une curve, rux, rterial pressure; IMT,	i, iat iriass, Onr. caluic intima-media thickness	respiratory nurses, boo	locity; DC, distensibilit,	y coefficient; UL, uppe	r limb; and LL, lower	root, invertential area under une curve, run, lat mass, orn, laduotespilatory intess, boor, pressue, boor, pressue, public, partias, curr, caruto bressue, curr, curr, caruto bressue, curr, curr, caruto bressue, curr, curr, caruto bressue, curr, curr, curr, curr, curr, curr, curr, curr, curr, c	asculto biologi pressure, cue ges significant at p < 0.05; 1	rr, caroud diascolic produ
significant at $p < 0.05$ .									

TABLE 3 | Within- and between-group changes in vascular health of control and low and high FM responders' groups.

of high responders in both the MCT and HIIT group compared to control, which is partly in line with our previously published main outcomes, where a time-by-group interaction for total FM loss was observed at the 1-year mark in the MCT group, but not for the HIIT group (Magalhaes et al., 2019a). These results put in perspective the importance of looking not only at the mean effects of an exercise intervention, but also to the added value of exploring the individual responses to exercise.

We have previously reported the main results of the D2FIT study, where glycemic and vascular health outcomes varied depending on the exercise intensity (Magalhaes et al., 2019a,b). As part of our secondary aim, we further explored whether individuals classified as low responders for FM loss could still benefit from the exercise intervention. We observed no timeby-group interaction for all of the glycemic control outcomes when comparing the high and low responders against the control group. Conversely, we found that being categorized as a low responder did not preclude individuals from having improvements in vascular and stiffness indices (i.e., cIMT and LL PWV) when compared to the controls. Despite benefits in vascular function being independent of FM loss (Tanaka et al., 2000; Hawkins et al., 2014), those classified as high responders had superior benefits in vascular health, as observed by the time-by-group interaction on cIMT, carotid DC, beta stiffness index, carotid PWV, and LL PWV, in addition to improvements in blood pressure parameters when compared to controls. Indeed, a positive relationship between obesity and blood pressure and risk for hypertension has been thoroughly documented (Hubert et al., 1983; Fogari et al., 2010). In our investigation, only the high responders had a time effect on their DBP, with a reduction of ~6 mmHg, which is noteworthy given the estimated 15-27% reduced incidence of CVD with a decrease of 3.0 mmHg in DBP (Appel et al., 1997). Plausible mechanisms, such as improvements in the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, may explain the favorable changes in hemodynamic outcomes observed in FM high responders (Kurukulasuriya et al., 2011; DeMarco et al., 2014).

Although improvements in glycemic control with exercise are a main driving factor for the favorable changes in structural and functional vascular indices (MacDonald et al., 2020), neither the low responders or high responders improved their glycemic control when compared to the control group. Thus, other mechanisms may be responsible for the actual improvements observed in vascular parameters in both groups. Indeed, the action of exercise itself can improve vascular function through increasing cardiac output, hence affecting systemic blood flow and impacting endothelial shear stress, which increases the forces exerted on the arterial wall that lead to the production of nitric oxide (Green et al., 2017).

Lastly, similar to the results of this study, we previously observed a similar pattern when considering CRF response to this same exercise intervention, where a low responder to CRF was not precluded from improvements in vascular health (Hetherington-Rauth et al., 2020a). Given that both CRF and FM are two of the most used clinical measurements indicative of the successfulness of an exercise intervention, our current results extend those previously published on CRF by showing that vascular benefits can still be obtainable with exercise in individuals with T2DM who lack reductions in total FM. Nevertheless, individuals classified as high responders for FM loss seem to have superior vascular health benefits, compared to low responders, which was not observed when classifying responders based on CRF.

In an era of personalized lifestyle-based medicine and with an increase in the number of interventions focused on the interindividual variability of several cardiometabolic risk factors in response to exercise (Alvarez et al., 2017; Solomon, 2018; Brennan et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2019; Hetherington-Rauth et al., 2020a; Brennan et al., 2020b), there is a clear need to have a control group to differentiate the inevitable withinsubject random variability due to biological error and the technical error of measurement from the variability resulting from the exercise intervention. A major strength of the D2FIT study was its long-term RCT design in individuals with T2DM, which follows the recent consensus statement recommendations, highlighting the importance of using a control group (Ross et al., 2019; Padilla et al., 2021).

The present investigation is not without limitations. The baseline differences observed for the time spent in MVPA may have contributed to the variability observed between the responders and non-responders; however, the results remained unchanged after adjusting for baseline MVPA levels. Due to the nature of this secondary analysis, the originally isoenergetic MCT and HIIT groups were rearranged based on their response rate for FM loss, which could have led to an un-matched exercise volume between the low and high responders. Despite these changes, the proportion of participants from the MCT and HIIT groups, as well as the percent trainings completed, was similar between the low and high responders.

There is still a potential risk to misclassify responders using the TE, which could be reduced by incorporating the 90% confidence intervals on top of the TE, as suggested by Bonafiglia et al. (2018). Nevertheless, for our investigation, this approach would be too conservative, given our high TE derived from the different FM losses observed in the control group, which were likely due to the length and the design of our study (for ethical reasons and participant retention, the control group had monthly sessions on how to improve several aspects of diabetes care, including exercise and diet). However, even when using the TE approach, we still observed variability in the responses to exercise training for FM loss at the 1-year mark with an average percent FM loss of ~13% in the high FM responder group. In fact, this is considerably large considering that in general a 5% loss of body weight is considered to be clinically meaningful for the improvement of cardiometabolic risk factors (Jensen et al., 2014).

In conclusion, a 1-year exercise intervention of either a MCT or HIIT protocol combined with RT had a superior proportion of T2DM individuals who were classified as high responders when compared to the control group. Moreover, individuals who did not improve their body FM following the 1-year intervention still had beneficial adaptations on

vascular structure and stiffness indices. Still, high responders to FM loss had additional improvements in vascular health and blood pressure. Practitioners should not overlook the other benefits on vascular health that can arise from exercise in those who are classified as low responders to FM loss. Nevertheless, FM loss is still an important outcome of exercise interventions to further reduce the progression of CVD in individuals with T2DM.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because data sharing was not included in the Ethics Committee proposal. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to lbsardinha@fmh.ulisboa.pt.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Portuguese Diabetes Association (approval number: 07/17/2013). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## REFERENCES

- Alvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017). Prevalence of non-responders for glucose control markers after 10 weeks of high-intensity interval training in adult women with higher and lower insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 8:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00479
- American Diabetes, A (2020). 1. Improving care and promoting health in populations: standards of medical care in diabetes-2020. *Diabetes Care* 43, S7–S13. doi: 10.2337/dc20-S001
- Appel, L. J., Moore, T. J., Obarzanek, E., Vollmer, W. M., Svetkey, L. P., Sacks, F. M., et al. (1997). A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH collaborative research group. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 336, 1117–1124. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199704173361601
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Nelms, M. W., Preobrazenski, N., Leblanc, C., Robins, L., Lu, S., et al. (2018). Moving beyond threshold-based dichotomous classification to improve the accuracy in classifying non-responders. *Physiol. Rep.* 6:e13928. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13928
- Boule, N. G., Haddad, E., Kenny, G. P., Wells, G. A., and Sigal, R. J. (2001). Effects of exercise on glycemic control and body mass in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. *JAMA* 286, 1218–1227. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.10.1218
- Brennan, A. M., Day, A. G., Cowan, T. E., Clarke, G. J., Lamarche, B., and Ross, R. (2019). Individual response to standardized exercise: Total and abdominal adipose tissue. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000001930 [Epub ahead of print]
- Brennan, A. M., Day, A. G., Cowan, T. E., Clarke, G. J., Lamarche, B., and Ross, R. (2020a). Individual response to standardized exercise: Total and abdominal adipose tissue. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 490–497. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000001930
- Brennan, A. M., Standley, R. A., Yi, F., Carnero, E. A., Sparks, L. M., and Goodpaster, B. H. (2020b). Individual response variation in the effects of weight loss and exercise on insulin sensitivity and cardiometabolic risk in older adults. *Front. Endocrinol.* 11:632. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00632
- Cardoso, C. R., and Salles, G. F. (2016). Aortic stiffness as a surrogate endpoint to micro- and macrovascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:2044. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122044

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS and JM contributed to the conception and design of the study. JM, PJ, IC, GR, DH-N, and XM were responsible for data collection and acquisition. MH-R and EC were responsible for data analysis and interpretation. JM and MH-R drafted the manuscript. AS, EC, LS, JM, PJ, IC, DH-N, GR, and XM contributed to reviewing and editing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the fellowships from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (grant to JM: SFRH/BD/85742/2012; IC: SFRH/BD/149394/2019; and GR: 2020.07856. BD). This work is also financed by a national grant through the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) within the unit I&D 447 (UIDB/00447/2020).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to all participants for their time and effort.

- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Piatrikova, E., Betts, J. A., Williams, S., and Gonzalez, J. T. (2020). Variability in exercise physiology: can capturing intra-individual variation help better understand true inter-individual responses? *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 20, 452–460. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2019.1655100
- De Nardi, A. T., Tolves, T., Lenzi, T. L., Signori, L. U., and Silva, A. (2018). High-intensity interval training versus continuous training on physiological and metabolic variables in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 137, 149–159. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.12.017
- Demarco, V. G., Aroor, A. R., and Sowers, J. R. (2014). The pathophysiology of hypertension in patients with obesity. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 10, 364–376. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.44
- Dube, J. J., Amati, F., Toledo, F. G., Stefanovic-Racic, M., Rossi, A., Coen, P., et al. (2011). Effects of weight loss and exercise on insulin resistance, and intramyocellular triacylglycerol, diacylglycerol and ceramide. *Diabetologia* 54, 1147–1156. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2065-0
- Fogari, R., Zoppi, A., Corradi, L., Preti, P., Mugellini, A., Lazzari, P., et al. (2010). Effect of body weight loss and normalization on blood pressure in overweight non-obese patients with stage 1 hypertension. *Hypertens. Res.* 33, 236–242. doi: 10.1038/hr.2009.220
- Gaesser, G. A., Angadi, S. S., and Sawyer, B. J. (2011). Exercise and diet, independent of weight loss, improve cardiometabolic risk profile in overweight and obese individuals. *Phys. Sportsmed.* 39, 87–97. doi: 10.3810/ psm.2011.05.1898
- Goedecke, J. H., and Micklesfield, L. K. (2014). The effect of exercise on obesity, body fat distribution and risk for type 2 diabetes. *Med. Sport Sci.* 60, 82–93. doi: 10.1159/000357338
- Green, D. J., Hopman, M. T., Padilla, J., Laughlin, M. H., and Thijssen, D. H. (2017). Vascular adaptation to exercise in humans: role of hemodynamic stimuli. *Physiol. Rev.* 97, 495–528. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00014.2016
- Hawkins, M., Gabriel, K. P., Cooper, J., Storti, K. L., Sutton-Tyrrell, K., and Kriska, A. (2014). The impact of change in physical activity on change in arterial stiffness in overweight or obese sedentary young adults. *Vasc. Med.* 19, 257–263. doi: 10.1177/1358863X14536630
- Hetherington-Rauth, M., Magalhaes, J. P., Judice, P. B., Melo, X., and Sardinha, L. B. (2020a). Vascular improvements in individuals with type 2 diabetes following a 1 year randomised controlled exercise intervention, irrespective of changes

in cardiorespiratory fitness. *Diabetologia* 63, 722-732. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05089-5

- Hetherington-Rauth, M., Magalhães, J. P., Júdice, P. B., Melo, X., and Sardinha, L. B. (2020b). Vascular improvements in individuals with type 2 diabetes following a 1 year randomised controlled exercise intervention, irrespective of changes in cardiorespiratory fitness. *Diabetologia* 63, 722–732. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-020-05089-5
- Hoeks, A. P., Willekes, C., Boutouyrie, P., Brands, P. J., Willigers, J. M., and Reneman, R. S. (1997). Automated detection of local artery wall thickness based on M-line signal processing. *Ultrasound Med. Biol.* 23, 1017–1023. doi: 10.1016/S0301-5629(97)00119-1
- Hopkins, W. G. (2000). Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. Sports Med. 30, 1–15. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030010-00001
- Hubert, H. B., Feinleib, M., Mcnamara, P. M., and Castelli, W. P. (1983). Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular-disease - a 26-year follow-up of participants in the Framingham Heart-Study. *Circulation* 67, 968–977. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.67.5.968
- Jensen, M. D., Ryan, D. H., Apovian, C. M., Ard, J. D., Comuzzie, A. G., Donato, K. A., et al. (2014). 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and The Obesity Society. *Circulation* 129, S102–S138. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000437739.71477.ee
- Kurukulasuriya, L. R., Stas, S., Lastra, G., Manrique, C., and Sowers, J. R. (2011). Hypertension in obesity. *Med. Clin. North Am.* 95, 903–917. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2011.06.004
- Lean, M. E., Leslie, W. S., Barnes, A. C., Brosnahan, N., Thom, G., Mccombie, L., et al. (2018). Primary care-led weight management for remission of type 2 diabetes (DiRECT): an open-label, cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet* 391, 541–551. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33102-1
- Liu, J. X., Zhu, L., Li, P. J., Li, N., and Xu, Y. B. (2019). Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training on glycemic control and cardiorespiratory fitness in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Aging Clin. Exp. Res. 31, 575–593. doi: 10.1007/s40520-018-1012-z
- Lohman, T. G., Roche, A. F., and Martorell, R. 1988. *Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual.* Champaign. IL: Human Kinetics Publishers.
- Macdonald, T. L., Pattamaprapanont, P., Pathak, P., Fernandez, N., Freitas, E. C., Hafida, S., et al. (2020). Hyperglycaemia is associated with impaired muscle signalling and aerobic adaptation to exercise. *Nat. Metab.* 2, 902–917. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-0240-7
- Magalhaes, J. P., Judice, P. B., Ribeiro, R., Andrade, R., Raposo, J., Dores, H., et al. (2019a). Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training combined with resistance training versus continuous moderate-intensity training combined with resistance training in patients with type 2 diabetes: A one-year randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 21, 550–559. doi: 10.1111/dom.13551
- Magalhaes, J. P., Melo, X., Correia, I. R., Ribeiro, R. T., Raposo, J., Dores, H., et al. (2019b). Effects of combined training with different intensities on vascular health in patients with type 2 diabetes: a 1-year randomized controlled trial. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 18:34. doi: 10.1186/s12933-019-0840-2
- Nesti, L., Pugliese, N. R., Sciuto, P., and Natali, A. (2020). Type 2 diabetes and reduced exercise tolerance: a review of the literature through an integrated physiology approach. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 19:134. doi: 10.1186/ s12933-020-01109-1

- Padilla, J., Leary, E., and Limberg, J. K. (2021). Identifying responders versus non-responders: incorporation of controls is required for sound statistical inference. *Exp. Physiol.* 106, 375–376. doi: 10.1113/EP089142
- Ross, R., Chaput, J.-P., Giangregorio, L. M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M. E., et al. (2020). Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 45, S57–S102. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2020-0467
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2018-100328
- Santos, D. A., Gobbo, L. A., Matias, C. N., Petroski, E. L., Goncalves, E. M., and Cyrino, E. S. (2013). Body composition in taller individuals using DXA: a validation study for athletic and non-athletic populations. *J. Sports Sci.* 31, 405–413. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.734918
- Solomon, T. P. J. (2018). Sources of inter-individual variability in the therapeutic response of blood glucose control to exercise in type 2 diabetes: going beyond exercise dose. *Front. Physiol.* 9:896. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00896
- Stephens, N. A., and Sparks, L. M. (2015). Resistance to the beneficial effects of exercise in type 2 diabetes: are some individuals programmed to fail? *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100, 43–52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2545
- Tanaka, H., Dinenno, F. A., Monahan, K. D., Clevenger, C. M., Desouza, C. A., and Seals, D. R. (2000). Aging, habitual exercise, and dynamic arterial compliance. *Circulation* 102, 1270–1275. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.11.1270
- Troiano, R. P., Berrigan, D., Dodd, K. W., Masse, L. C., Tilert, T., and Mcdowell, M. (2008). Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 181–188. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2008). 2008 Physical Acivity Guidelines for Americans. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Walsh, J. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., Goldfield, G. S., Sigal, R. J., Kenny, G. P., Doucette, S., et al. (2020). Interindividual variability and individual responses to exercise training in adolescents with obesity. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 45, 45–54. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2019-0088

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Magalhães, Hetherington-Rauth, Júdice, Correia, Rosa, Henriques-Neto, Melo, Silva and Sardinha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effects of Two Different Concurrent Training Configurations on Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Fitness in Women With Severe/ Morbid Obesity: A Randomised Controlled Trial

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hassane Zouhal, University of Rennes 2 – Upper Brittany, France

#### Reviewed by:

Morteza Taheri, Imam Khomeini International University, Iran Masahide Hamaguchi, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan Aleksandra Klisic, Primary Health Care Center Podgorica, Montenegro

#### \*Correspondence:

Cristian Álvarez cristian.alvarez@ulagos.cl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 13 April 2021 Accepted: 02 July 2021 Published: 21 September 2021

#### Citation:

Delgado-Floody P, Soriano-Maldonado A, Rodríguez-Pérez MA, Latorre-Román PÁ, Martínez-Salazar C, Vargas CA, Caamaño-Navarrete F, Jerez-Mayorga D and Álvarez C (2021) The Effects of Two Different Concurrent Training Configurations on Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Fitness in Women With Severe/Morbid Obesity: A Randomised Controlled Trial. Front. Physiol. 12:694798. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.694798 Pedro Delgado-Floody<sup>1</sup>, Alberto Soriano-Maldonado<sup>2,3</sup>, Manuel A. Rodríguez-Pérez<sup>2,3</sup>, Pedro Ángel Latorre-Román<sup>4</sup>, Cristian Martínez-Salazar<sup>1</sup>, Claudia Andrea Vargas<sup>1</sup>, Felipe Caamaño-Navarrete<sup>5</sup>, Daniel Jerez-Mayorga<sup>6</sup> and Cristian Álvarez<sup>7</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physical Education, Sport and Recreation, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>2</sup> Department of Education, Faculty of Education Sciences, University of Almería, Almería, Spain, <sup>3</sup> SPORT Research Group (CTS-1024), CERNEP Research Center, University of Almería, Almería, Spain, <sup>4</sup> Department of Didactics of Corporal Expression, University of Jaen, Jaen, Spain, <sup>6</sup> Faculty of Education, Universidad Católica de Temuco, Temuco, Chile, <sup>6</sup> Faculty of Rehabilitation Sciences, Universidad Andres Bello, Santiago, Chile, <sup>7</sup> Department of Health, Universidad de Los Lagos, Osorno, Chile

Concurrent training (CT), characterised by combining both aerobic and resistance training modalities within the same session, is recognised to improve metabolic syndrome (MetS) markers, but little is known about the effects of different configurations (i.e., order) of these exercise modalities on MetS markers and the interindividual responses. The purpose of the present study was to describe the effects, and the interindividual variability, of 20 weeks of two CT configurations (i.e., high intensity interval training (HIIT) plus resistance training (RT), compared with RT plus HIIT) in women with severe/morbid obesity. Overall, 26 women with severe/morbid obesity were assigned either to HIT + RT [n = 14, mean and95%CI, 45.79 (40.74; 50.83) or RT + HIIT (n = 12), 33.6 (25.30; 41.79) years]. MetS-related outcomes were waist circumference (WC, cm), systolic (SBP, mmHg) and diastolic (DBP, mmHa) blood pressure, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c), trialycerides (Tg), and fasting plasma glucose (FPG). Secondary outcomes were other anthropometrics, body composition, lipids, muscle strength, and the six-minute walk test (6Mwt). There were significant differences in the prevalence of nonresponders (NRs) only for WC comparing HIIT+RT 2 (18.1%) vs. RT+HIIT group 5 (50.0%), p < 0.0001, but not for SBP 4 (27.2%) vs. 4 (40.0%), DBP 8 (72.7%) vs. 7 (70.0%), FPG 8 (72.7%) vs. 9 (90.0%), HDL-c 7 (63.6%) vs. 8 (80.0%), and Tg 7 (63.6%) vs. 8 (80.0%), all p > 0.05. Additionally, the RT+HIIT group showed significant reductions in WC ( $\Delta$  –3.84 cm, p=0.015), SBP  $(\Delta - 8.46 \text{ mmHg}, p = 0.040)$ , whereas the HIIT+RT group elicited significant reductions only in SBP ( $\Delta$  –8.43 mmHg, p=0.022). The HIIT+RT promoted a lower prevalence of NRs than the RT + HIIT configuration on WC, and overall, there were slightly more beneficial training-induced effects on markers of MetS in the RT+HIIT group compared to the HIIT + RT group.

Keywords: concurrent training, morbid obesity, exercise training, metabolic syndrome, exercise order, interindividual variability

## INTRODUCTION

Morbid obesity, defined as a body mass index (BMI) of  $\geq$ 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (class III obesity), is a chronic disease with life-threatening cardiometabolic consequences such as elevated blood pressure [systolic (SBP) or diastolic BP (DBP)], fasting plasma glucose (FPG), triglycerides (Tg), and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c), all summarised as metabolic syndrome (MetS; Baffi et al., 2016), substantially increasing the rates of total mortality, with most of the excess deaths due to heart disease, cancer, diabetes, and important life expectancy reductions compared with normal weight peers (Kitahara et al., 2014). Moreover, morbid obesity has been associated with impairments of cardiorespiratory fitness and muscle strength, limiting the capacity to perform activities of daily living (Pazzianotto-Forti et al., 2020). Additionally, this fact increases the economic costs associated with healthcare in this population (Espallardo et al., 2017).

Due to the multi-factorial aetiology of morbid obesity, such as the genetic load (e.g., the FTO gen), and other environmental factors, including mainly lifestyle determinants such as physical activity, exercise training participation, and diet as the main modulators, the application of lifestyle strategies have been proposed prior to alternative surgical intervention in these populations (Bächler et al., 2013; Espallardo et al., 2017). In this sense, exercise training such as the resistance training (RT), defined as any exercise that causes voluntary skeletal muscle contraction by using external weights including dumbbells and metal bars (Schoenfeld et al., 2017), is a known non-pharmacotherapy strategy for improving muscle strength and functional capacity in obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery (Huck, 2015). Similarly, high intensity interval training (HIIT), defined as several and brief bouts of high-intensity effort usually by cycling/running, interspersed by recovery periods (Gibala et al., 2012; Delgado-Floody et al., 2020), has produced strong evidence for the improvement of cardiometabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension, central arterial stiffness, vascular function, and cardiorespiratory fitness (Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2019). Thus, HIIT might have protective effects against the development of cardiometabolic diseases including populations with poor glucose control and high blood pressure in comparison to moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT; Campbell et al., 2019). Thus, following RT or HIIT alone, unique physiological adaptations have been described for improving, for example, muscle strength, the endurance performance by walking test, as well as beneficial metabolic improvements at MetS markers including fasting glucose reductions, increases at HDL-c, and decreases in Tg in populations with higher adiposity (de Matos et al., 2018).

Thus, in individuals with morbid obesity for example, exercise training has proven to be effective for inducing clinically significant weight loss (5-10%; Gerber et al., 2015), and for the reduction of cardiovascular risk (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019), in accordance with the standard recommendations for these cohorts prior to bariatric surgery. Additionally, there are also other benefits such as the increase of skeletal muscle mass, the reduction of body fat, and better glucose control by the lowering of FPG, and lipids regulation (i.e., increases of HDL-c, and decreases of Tg; Han and Lean, 2016). Briefly, 12weeks of concurrent training (CT), defined as a combination of both MICT/plus RT, decreased body weight (by ~7.3kg), blood pressure, and FPG in this cohort (Marc-Hernández et al., 2019). In addition, part of our preliminary findings have shown that 20 weeks of RT decreases MetS risk factors in morbidly obese patients, showing a low inter-individual variability in those patients with greater adiposity, revealing that with more adiposity alteration, the benefits of RT are also more visible (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019). However, some inconsistences, which are directly related with the 'order' (i.e., starting the CT session with MICT followed by RT, or vice versa) of the CT session, have been described after CT. For example, some literature reports that by starting the CT exercise session by RT, participants can get more benefits and improve their physical fitness markers (i.e., increases of upper body strength and neuromuscular markers; Murlasits et al., 2018). However, in contrast, other studies have reported that starting CT with MICT/or HIIT does not alter physiological adaptations in similar outcomes (Wilhelm et al., 2014). Other evidence shows that starting CT with RT exercises first clearly promotes greater lower-body strength gains and neuromuscular economy (Cadore et al., 2013). By contrast, other reports claim no more benefits by starting with MICT/HIIT or RT to physical fitness markers in populations of athletes (Eddens et al., 2018), and additionally, no other benefits for decreasing body fat using one or another exercise modality when starting the CT session (Cadore et al., 2012). However, little is known about the interindividual variability to exercise training (IVET) in relation to different orders of sessions of CT in morbidly obese populations, and in health-related outcomes, such as MetS markers. Briefly, IVET means that some subjects achieve benefits after training, and are termed responders (Rs), while others exhibit a worsened or unchanged response, that are commonly known as nonresponders (NRs; Bouchard et al., 2012). With regard to the causes of IVET, genetic (Stephens et al., 2015) and environmental factors, including the mode of exercise training (Alvarez et al., 2017), have been described. In addition, considering the healthrelated benefits of CT including MICT/or HIIT plus RT in terms of physical fitness, and the metabolic markers in different populations, as well as taking into account the previous discrepancies of the order session in relevant literature, it is necessary to

Abbreviations: CT, Concurrent training; MetS, Metabolic syndrome; HIIT, Highintensity interval training; RT, Resistance training; WC, Waist circumference; SBP, Systolic blood pressure; DBP, Diastolic blood pressure; HDL-c, High-density lipoproteins; Tc, Total cholesterol; LDL-c, Low-density lipoproteins; Tg, Triglycerides; FPG, Fasting plasma glucose; 6Mwt, Six minutes walking test; IVET, Interindividual variability to exercise training; TE, Technical error of measurement; Rs, Responders; NRs, Nonresponders; MICT, Moderate-intensity continuous training; BMI, Body mass index; CRF, Cardiorespiratory fitness; HGS, Handgrip strength; SMM, Skeletal muscle mass; LM, Lean mass.

investigate the exercise modalities interaction as a precision medicine for improving MetS markers. The purpose of the present study was to describe the effects, and the interindividual variability of 20 weeks CT in different orders by HIIT plus RT compared with another group doing RT plus HIIT in women with severe/ morbid obesity at risk of MetS.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Design and Participants**

This study is a parallel-group randomised controlled trial in which 34 women with morbid obesity were randomly allocated to one of the two similar CT exercise programmes. The exercises were then applied in different session orders by the two groups (HIIT+RT, n=17), and resistance training plus high-intensity interval training (RT + HIIT, n = 17). The sample size was calculated by G\*Power software, and by using the observed delta changes in FPG after previous CT exercise interventions of -4.0 mg/dl, and a standard deviation of 1.0 mg/dl (Álvarez et al., 2019). Thus, a sample with a minimum of four cases per group (minimum sample of n=8), gave us an alpha error of  $\alpha=0.05$ , and a  $\beta=0.80$ . All participants were informed of the pre-post procedures and of the possible risks/benefits potentially involved with participation in the study, after which they signed an informed consent. The study follows the CONSORT guidelines for randomised trials, was developed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (2013), and has been approved by the Ethical Committee of the Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile (DI18-0043 Project).

Eligibility criteria were as follows; (i) being a candidate for bariatric surgery (ii) aged between 18 and 60 years (iii) being medically authorised, and (iii) with a BMI  $\geq$ 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or  $\geq$ 35 kg/ m<sup>2</sup> with additional comorbidities (i.e., diabetes, hypertension, insulin resistance) controlled by pharmacotherapy according to the Chilean requirements for morbidly obese patients in order to be a candidate for bariatric surgery (Carrasco et al., 2005). Exclusion criteria were; (i) having physical limitations preventing the performance of exercise (e.g., restricting injuries of the musculoskeletal system) (ii) having exercise-related dyspnoea or respiratory alterations (iii) having chronic heart disease with any worsening in the last month, and (iv) adhering to less than 80% of the total interventions (these results were excluded from the statistical analyses). After the enrolment stage, 43 (n=43)participants were assessed for eligibility and nine (n=9) were not included according to the inclusion criteria. After the lost followed up participants (n=8) for data analysis, 26 (n=26)participants were part of the final sample size as follows; HIIT+RT group [n=14, mean and (95%CI); 45.79 (40.74; 50.83) or to RT+HIIT group (n=12), 33.6 (25.30; 41.79) vears old]. Clinical trial number registration is NCT04932642. The study design is shown in (Supplementary Material 1).

# Interindividual Variability With Regard to Concurrent Exercise Training

Following previous criteria applied in exercise training interventions (Bouchard et al., 2012), the IVET was categorised as responders (Rs), and nonresponders (NRs), using the typical

error measurement (TE). Thus, we used previous TE×2 calculated for WC (0.50 cm×2), SBP (4.01 mmHg×2), DBP (2.49 mmHg×2), HDL-c (2.5 mg/dl×2), Tg (12.3 mg/dl×2), using the known equation: TE =  $D_{diff} / \sqrt{2}$ , where  $SD_{diff}$  is the variance (standard deviation) of the difference scores observed between the two repetitions of each test. The NRs for all the MetS outcomes were defined as those individuals who failed to demonstrate a decrease or increase (in favour of beneficial changes) that was greater than twice the TE away from zero.

## **Metabolic Syndrome Markers**

The MetS markers were screened using standard criteria (Alberti et al., 2009). All participants were instructed to arrive at the laboratory with an overnight fasting of 8-10h, being measured between 08:00 and 9:00 in the morning. These conditions were taken at baseline (pre-test), and at post intervention (post-test). Blood samples were taken with an extraction of ~5ml, in order to determine the MetS outcomes; FPG, HDL-c, and triglycerides (Tg), as well as the additional markers, total cholesterol (Tc), and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c). Briefly, the samples were placed on ice and centrifuged at  $2000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4°C. Plasma samples were immediately transferred to pre-chilled microtubes and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for the following analysis. The measurement of plasma glucose, total cholesterol, and triglycerides were analyzed by enzymatically standard kits (Wiener Lab, Inc., Rosario, Argentina) using automatic equipment (Metrolab2300 Plus<sup>™</sup>, Metrolab Biomed, Inc., Buenos Aires, Argentina). The HDL-c was analyzed by enzymatic methods after phosphotungstate precipitation (Demacker et al., 1997), and LDL-c was estimated by the Friedewald formula (Friedewald et al., 1972).

The SBP and DBP measurements were carried out according to the standard criteria (Mancia et al., 2014). Blood pressure was measured in the sitting position after 5 min of rest. Two recordings were made, and the mean of the measurements was used for statistical analysis with an OMRON™ digital electronic BP monitor (model HEM 7114, Chicago, IL, United States). Previously to this measurement, we asked the participants to not smoke, or drink meals at least 30 min prior to measurement. Waist circumference (WC) was assessed with a tape measure calibrated in centimetres (Adult SECATM, United States) at the upper hipbone and the top of the right iliac crest, with a non-elastic measuring tape in a horizontal plane around the abdomen at the level of the iliac crest. The tape was snug, but did not compress the skin and was parallel to the floor. The measurement was made at the end of a normal expiration (National Institutes of Health et al., 2000).

# Body Composition and Anthropometrics Parameters

The body composition and anthropometrics parameters were measured after fasting (>8h). Body mass (kg), and body fat (% and kg), skeletal muscle mass (kg), and lean mass (kg) were measured using a digital bio-impedance scale (TANITA<sup>TM</sup>, model 331, Tokyo, Japan) and height (m) was measured using a SECA<sup>TM</sup> stadiometer (model 214, Hamburg, Germany), with subjects in light clothing and without shoes. BMI was calculated

as the body mass divided by the square of the height  $(kg/m^2)$ . The BMI was determined to estimate the degree of obesity  $(kg/m^2)$  using the standard criteria for obesity and severe/morbid obesity classification (Sturm, 2007).

## Six-Minutes Walking Test

The day after the metabolic measurements, the physical condition of the participants in both groups was measured by endurance and muscle strength testing. First, a six-minute walking test (6Mwt) was used to estimate CRF. The test was performed in a closed space on a flat surface (30 m long), with two reflective cones placed at the ends to indicate the distance. During the test, participants were assisted with instructions from an exercise physiologist (de Souza et al., 2009).

## Handgrip Strength

Handgrip strength (HGS) was assessed using a digital dynamometer (Baseline<sup>TM</sup> Hydraulic Hand Dynamometers, United States), which has been used in previous studies (Norman et al., 2011). Two attempts were made, measuring each hand, and the best result from each was selected. As previously, the mean value obtained was taken as the total score (Norman et al., 2011). Using this data we calculated other outcomes such as the HGS and its variation ratio by body mass [HGS/BM], skeletal muscle [HGS/SMM], and lean mass [HGS/LM].

## **Concurrent Training Intervention**

The CT programme had two sections of HIIT and RT, which were applied in different orders to the two experimental groups; HIIT+RT, and RT+HIIT. Before the starting of each exercisegroup, both HIIT+RT, and RT+HIIT participated in four familiarization sessions that included (i) knowledge of all measurements, exercise-machine, and instructions during the exercise program (ii) exercising in cycling, weights, and metal bars (iii) applying a few of the exercises of HIIT in 2-3 intervals, and RT in 2-3 sets of exercises, in order to know the configuration of each exercise, and (iv) applying 50-70% of their CT program, independent of their group. Following this, first, in the HIIT+RT group, the HIIT section consisted of 60s of maximum intensity exercise using a magnetic resistance static bicycle (Oxford<sup>TM</sup> Fitness, model BE-2701, Chile), followed by 60-120s of passive recovery with the bicycle totally off. This was repeated four to seven times according to the weekly schedule (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019). The intensity of the exercise was measured on the Borg scale of 1-10 of perceived exertion and the participants worked at a level of between 6 and 9 points.

Second, in the RT section, three out of four RT exercises were included (according to the planning week), targeting the following different muscle groups: (1) forearm (2) knee flexors and extensors (3) trunk (4) chest (5) shoulder elevators (6) horizontal shoulder flexors (7) extensors, and finally (8) plantar flexors. These exercises were performed in three sets of as many repetitions (continuous concentric/eccentric voluntary contraction) as possible in 60 s, followed by 60–120 s of passive recovery, as previously reported (Álvarez et al., 2019). To estimate the intensity of work in the different RT exercise, the maximum dynamic muscular strength (1RM) was estimated indirectly through the Brzycki formula (Brzycki, 1993), with fewer than 12 maximum repetitions. The RT+HIIT group performed the same training programme as the HIIT+RT group (described above) but the order of the HIIT and RT exercises were reversed (i.e., first RT and then HIIT). This was called the RT+HIIT group. The exercise programme compounds of the CT regime applied can be found in **Table 1**.

## **Statistical Analyses**

Data are presented as the mean and (95%CI) in tables, as mean with (±) standard error in Figures 1-3, and as individual delta in Figure 4 for identification of Rs and NRs. Normality and homoscedasticity assumptions for all data were analyzed using the Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's test, respectively. In the HIIT+RT group, the Tg outcome, as well as in the RT+HIIT group, LDL-c, and lean mass outcomes were analyzed by the Wilcoxon non-parametric test. For training-induced changes, the student's t-test was used to identify differences at baseline, while a repeated measure two-way ANOVA was applied to assess the occurrence of an actual training effect; namely, p < 0.05 for the interaction (time×group) on the main MetS (WC, SBP, DBP, FPG, HDL, and Tg, as well as to the secondary outcomes). A Sidack's post hoc test was used for multiple comparisons. Additionally, the Eta partial squared for interaction (Time×Group) was assessed by  $\eta^2$  obtained from the ANCOVA with small ( $\eta^2 = 0.01$ ), medium  $(\eta^2 = 0.06)$ , and large  $(\eta^2 = 0.14)$  effects defined according to Lakens (2013). The prevalence of NRs was described using the comparisons by percentage between both experimental groups using a Chi square test  $\chi^2$ . All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS statistical software version 23.0 (SPSS™ Inc., Chicago, IL). The alpha level was set at p < 0.05 for statistical significance.

# RESULTS

## **Baseline Characteristics**

There were significant differences between the groups (p = 0.004) in terms of age with 45.79 (95% CI; 40.74 to 50.83) in the HIIT+RT vs. 33.55 (95% CI; 25.30 to 41.79) in the RT+HIIT group. There were no other differences at baseline (**Table 2**).

## Training-Induced Changes on Mets Markers and Secondary Outcomes

With regard to anthropometric and body composition and considering the absolutes values, in the RT + HIIT group there were significant changes between pre- and post-training measurements in outcomes relating to BMI: 42.72 (39.77; 45.63) vs. 41.87 (38.73; 45.01) kg/m<sup>2</sup>, p=0.050, WC: 118.67 (110.43; 126.91) vs. 114.83 (106.31; 123.35) cm, p=0.015, of skeletal muscle mass 52.21 (49.06; 55.37) vs. 51.00 (48.53; 53.48) kg, p=0.015, and the lean mass of this group: 54.99 (51.66; 58.31) vs. 53.78 (51.18; 56.38) kg, p=0.022 (**Table 2**). There were no other changes of the RT + HIIT or HIIT+RT groups (**Table 2**).

Comparing the HIIT+RT and RT+HIIT groups with regard to delta ( $\Delta$ ) changes from pre to post test, there were no

Delgado-Floody et al.

Weeks			НІТ						RT			
	° Х Ш	Intensity (Borg Time (min) subjective perception)	Time (min)	Sets	Rest (min)	° Z U	Intensity (%1RM)	Reps	Time (min)	Sets	Rest (min)	Duration (min)
-2	0	6-7	-	4	2.0	e	40	20-25	-	e	2.0	45
4	ო	6–7	-	4	2.0	ო	40-50	25-30	-	ო	2.0	45
5-6	4	6–7	-	Q	1.5	4	45-50	30	-	ო	1.5	45
φ	4	7–8	-	Ð	1.5	4	45-50	30-35	-	ო	1.5	45
-10	4	7–8	-	Ð	1.5	4	50-55	25-30	-	ო	1.5	45
1-12	4	7–8	-	9	1.5	4	50-55	25-30	-	ო	1.5	45
3-14	4	7–8	-	9	1.0	4	50-55	30	-	ო	1.0	45
5-16	4	80	-	9	1.0	4	50-55	30-35	-	ო	1.0	45
7–18	4	80	-	7	1.0	4	55	30-35	-	ო	1.0	45
19–20	4	8-9	-	7	1.0	4	55-60	30-35	-	ო	1.0	45

Outcomes	Time	Gro	oups	Baseline †p value
		HIIT + RT	RT+HIIT	·p value
(n =)				
Age (y)		45.79 (40.74; 50.83)	33.55 (25.30; 41.79)	p=0.004
Height (m)		1.55 (1.51; 1.59)	1.59 (1.55; 1.62)	p=0.188
Anthronometri	c/Body.com	position outcome	,	
	Pre		108.12	n 0 100
Body mass (kg)	Pre	99.30 (87.45; 111.15)	(99.84; 116.40)	p=0.109
	Post	98.09 (86.24;	105.64	
		109.93)	(97.05;	
			114.22)	
	<i>p</i> =	p = 0.160	p=0.015	
Body mass	Pre	40.95 (37.00;	42.72 (39.77;	p = 0.217
index (kg/m²)		44.89)	45.63)	,- 0.211
	Post	40.23 (36.49;	41.87 (38.73;	
		44.01)	45.01)	
	p =	p = 0.065	p = 0.050	
Waist	Pre	114.22	118.67	p = 0.246
circumference		(106.24;	(110.43;	1
(cm)		122.18)	126.91)	
· · ·	Post	112.27	114.83	
		(104.31;	(106.31;	
		120.23)	123.35)	
	p =	p = 0.147	p = 0.015	
Body fat (%)	Pre	46.95 (43.72;	48.95 (47.27;	p = 0.161
, , ,		50.19)	50.63)	,
	Post	46.65 (43.90;	49.05 (47.00;	
		49.40)	51.10)	
	p =	p=0.413	p = 0.807	
Body fat (kg)	Pre	47.59 (39.17;	52.85 (47.49;	p = 0.143
y ( 0,		56.01)	58.21)	,
	Post	46.55 (38.58;	52.21 (46.04;	
		54.51)	58.39)	
	p =	p = 0.118	p=0.388	
Skeletal	Pre	49.08 (45.54;	52.21 (49.06;	p = 0.093
muscle mass		52.62)	55.37)	
(kg)	Post	49.91 (45.02;	51.00 (48.53;	
		52.79)	53.48)	
	p =	p=0.677	p=0.015	
Lean mass (kg)	Pre	, 51.70 (47.98; 55.42)	54.99 (51.66; 58.31)	p=0.094
	Post	51.51 (47.42;	53.78 (51.18;	
		55.60)	56.38)	
	p =	p=0.622	p=0.081¥	

Data are shown as mean and (95%CI). Groups are described as; (HIIT + RT) order session of high-intensity interval training plus resistance training, (RT + HIIT) order session of resistance training plus high-intensity interval training. (†) Between-group baseline comparisons were measured by a General Lineal Model, using a Univariant test. Within-group comparisons by pre-post time were analyzed by Repeated Measures using 2-way ANOVA (Group × Time). (¥) Analyzed by non-parametric Wilcoxon test. Bold values denote significant differences at  $p \le 0.05$ . All analyses were adjusted by age, height, and BMI.

significant differences between groups at  $\Delta BM$  kg,  $\Delta BF\%$ ,  $\Delta WC$ ,  $\Delta BF$  kg,  $\Delta LM$ , and  $\Delta SMM$  (Figures 1A-F).

With regard to cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes, and considering the absolutes values, there were significant changes in the HIIT+RT group from pre- to post-training measurements



resistance training order group. (RT + HIT) Resistance training plus high-intensity interval training order group. (RM + RT) High-intensity interval training plus high-intensity interval training order group. (RM + HIT) Resistance training plus high-intensity interval training order group. (BM) body mass (BF) body fat (SMM) skeletal muscle mass (LM) lean mass (WC) waist circumference. (Δ) denotes delta changes from pre–post intervention. (NS) denotes no significant differences.

in SBP: 138.57 (128.50; 148.64) vs. 130.14 (123.20; 137.08) mmHg, p = 0.022, to pre and post-test, respectively, (**Table 3**). No other pre- or post-training changes were observed in other outcomes in this group at these parameters. Similarly, for the RT + HIIT group, there were significant training-induced changes of SBP from 136.36 (125.74; 146.98) vs. 129.90 (122.85; 132.96) mmHg, p = 0.040, and of total cholesterol from 177.09 (161.31; 192.87) vs. 162.09 (148.27; 175.90) mg/dl, p = 0.017 (**Table 3**). No other pre- or post-training changes were observed in other outcomes in this group at these parameters.

Comparing the HIIT+RT and RT+HIIT group with regard to delta ( $\Delta$ ) changes from pre- to post-test, there were no significant differences between groups at  $\Delta$ SBP,  $\Delta$ DBP,  $\Delta$ Tc,  $\Delta$ LDL-c,  $\Delta$ HDL-c,  $\Delta$ Tg, and  $\Delta$ FPG (**Figure 2**).

### **Training-Induced Changes on Fitness**

With regard to physical fitness outcomes, and considering absolute values, there were significant changes in the HIIT+RT group from pre- to post-training measurements in the 6Mwt from pre 499.28 (426.58; 571.98) vs. 637.14 (573.87; 700.40) m, p < 0.0001 (**Table 4**). Similarly, in the RT+HIIT group, there were significant changes in this outcome from pre 533.63 (491.33; 575.94) vs. 597.27 (505.49; 689.04) m, p = 0.048 (**Table 4**). No other significant pre- or post-training changes were detected in both groups at these parameters.

Comparing the HIIT+RT and RT+HIIT group in terms of delta ( $\Delta$ ) changes from pre- to post-test, there were no significant differences between groups in  $\Delta$ HGS,  $\Delta$ HGS/BM ratio,  $\Delta$ HGS/LM ratio,  $\Delta$ HGS/LM ratio,  $\Delta$ HGL-c, and  $\Delta$ 6Mwt (**Figure 3**).



intervention. (NS) denotes no significant differences.

## Interindividual Variability on Mets Markers After HIIT+RT or RT+HIIT Session Orders of CT

There was a different prevalence of NRs in improving (i.e., decreasing) WC comparing HIIT+RT 2 (18.1%) vs. RT+HIIT group 5 (50.0%), p<0.0001 (**Figure 4A**). The two groups can

be compared as follows: HIIT+RT vs. RT+HIIT group SBP 4 (27.2%) vs. 4 (40.0%; **Figure 4B**), DBP 8 (72.7%) vs. 7 (70.0%; **Figure 4C**), FPG 8 (72.7%) vs. 9 (90.0%; **Figure 4D**), HDL-c 7 (63.6%) vs. 8 (80.0%; **Figure 4E**), and Tg 7 (63.6%) vs. 8 (80.0%; **Figure 4F**), there were no significant differences in these outcomes.



test. ( $\Delta$ ) denotes delta changes from pre to post intervention. (NS) denotes no significant differences.

## DISCUSSION

The purpose of the present study was to describe the effects and the interindividual variability of 20 weeks of HIIT+RT compared with another group doing RT+HIIT in a sample of women with severe/morbid obesity who were at risk of MetS. The main results of this study were that: (i) considering the MetS outcomes, the WC adiposity marker had significantly less prevalence of NRs in the HIIT+RT compared to the RT+HIIT order session after 20 weeks of CT (**Figure 4A**) (ii) when both order session groups demonstrated significant improvements in MetS markers, such as at SBP (**Figure 2A**), or in secondary outcomes such as 6Mwt, for example (**Figure 4E**), there were no differences by group. Additionally, considering the overall training-induced changes for both HIIT+RT and RT+HIIT groups, a slight advantage in the RT+HIIT group was observed favouring more beneficial effects than the HIIT+RT group (**Tables 2** and **3**).

Although there are only a minor number of studies reporting the Rs and NRs phenomenon, there is little knowledge about this topic exploring exercise methodologies such as CT variations in clinical populations like the morbidly obese. Along these lines, and from our previous experience with obesity patients, for example, after an RT programme (20 weeks, eight exercises), morbid obesity patients showed an NR prevalence of 42.8% compared with obesity patients (85.4%). Interestingly, however, **TABLE 3** | Training-induced changes on cardiovascular and plasma markers inmorbid obesity patients after 20 weeks of concurrent training applied in twodifferent order session; CT as HIIT + RT, or CT applied as RT + HIIT.

Outcomes	Time	Gro	oups	Baseline <sup>†</sup> p value
		HIIT + RT	RT+HIIT	<i>p</i> value
Cardiovascula	r/metabolic ou	utcomes		
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Pre	138.57 (128.50; 148.64)	136.36 (125.74; 146.98)	p=0.741
	Post	130.14 (123.20; 137.08)	127.90 (122.85; 132.96)	
	p =	p=0.022	p=0.040	
Diastolic blood pressure	Pre	83.57 (77.02; 90.11)	91.54 (83.40; 99.68)	p=0.085
(mmHg)	Post	85.21 (80.74; 89.68)	90.27 (85.01; 95.52)	
Fasting plasma	p = Pre	p=0.614 99.71 (86.51;	<i>p</i> =0.728 97.45 (86.62;	p=0.961
glucose   (mg/dl)	Post	112.91) 98.07 (87.73; 108.40)	106.88) 95.18 (88.00; 102.35)	
	p =	p = 0.307	p = 0.213	
Total cholesterol	Pre	181.35 (163.65;	177.09 (161.31;	p=0.817
(mg/dl)	Post	199.06) 178.28	192.87) 162.09	
		(157.47; 199.10)	(148.27; 175.90)	
Laura da sa sta s	р = Р	p=0.558	<i>p</i> =0.017	- 0.000
Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol	Pre	124.78 (111.02; 138.54)	101.18 (78.09; 124.26)	p=0.068
(mg/dl)	Post	124.00 (110.93; 137.06)	104.09 (90.35; 117.82)	
	p =	p=0.868	$p = 0.509^{\circ}$	
High-density lipoprotein	Pre	54.71 (47.89; 61.52)	49.18 (43.44; 54.92)	p=0.151
cholesterol (mg/dl)	Post	57.35 (50.84; 63.86)	51.45 (45.78; 57.12)	
	p =	p = 0.153	p = 0.271	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	Pre	, 117.42 (72.85;	, 123.81 (94.74;	p=0.749
(		162.00)	152.88)	
	Post	107.00	124.18	
	1 051	(65.57;	(88.14;	
		(05.57, 148.42)	(66.14, 160.21)	
	<i>р</i> =	p=0.004 <sup>¥</sup>	p=0.966	

Data are shown as mean and (95%Cl). Groups are described as; (HIIT + RT) order session of high-intensity interval training plus resistance training, (RT + HIT) order session of resistance training plus high-intensity interval training. (†) Between-group baseline comparisons were measured by General Lineal Model, using a Univariant test. Within-group comparisons by pre-post time were analyzed by Repeated Measures using 2-way ANOVA (Time × Group). (¥) Analyzed by non-parametric Wilcoxon test. Bold values denote significant differences at  $p \le 0.05$ . All analyses were adjusted by age, height, and BMI.

morbid obesity patients showed higher benefits of decreasing WC  $\Delta$  -10.1 than their obese peers  $\Delta$  -2 to -6 cm (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019). In this sense, the evidence shows the apparent role of the previously reported 'health status' factor in the prevalence of NRs, where populations of women with

 TABLE 4 | Training-induced changes on strength and endurance performance in

 morbid obesity patients after 16 weeks of concurrent training applied in two

 different concurrent training session modalities; CT as HIIT + RT, or CT applied as

 RT + HIIT.

Outcomes	Time	Gro	Groups	
		HIIT+RT	RT+HIIT	- †p value
Strength/endu	rance perfo	rmance		
HGS (kg)	Pre	26.28 (22.51; 30.05)	29.72 (23.61; 35.83)	p=0.263
	Post	28.21 (23.60; 32.81)	31.18 (25.87; 36.48)	
	p =	p = 0.090	p = 0.249	
Ratio HGS/ skeletal muscle mass	Pre	0.53 (0.47; 0.59)	0.57 (0.44; 0.71)	p=0.560
	Post	0.57 (0.49; 0.65)	0.61 (0.49; 0.74)	
	<i>p</i> =	p=0.076	p=0.295	
Ratio HGS/ body mass	Pre	0.26 (0.23; 0.29)	0.28 (0.20; 0.35)	p=0.792
	Post	0.29 (0.22; 0.36)	0.30 (0.23; 0.37)	
	p =	p=0.045	p = 0.106	
Ratio HGS/ lean mass	Pre	0.50 (0.44; 0.56)	0.54 (0.42; 0.67)	p=0.558
	Post	0.54 (0.47; 0.62)	0.58 (0.46; 0.70)	
	p =	p=0.075	p=0.131	
6 min walking test (m)	Pre	499.28 (426.58; 571.98)	533.63 (491.33; 575.94)	p=0.463
	Post	637.14 (573.87;	597.27 (505.49;	
	_	700.40)	689.04)	
	p =	<i>p</i> <0.0001	p=0.048	

Data are shown as mean and (95%CI). Groups are described as: (HIIT+RT) order session of high-intensity interval training plus resistance training, (RT+HIIT) order session of resistance training plus high-intensity interval training. (HGS) Handgrip muscle strength. (†) Between-group baseline comparisons were measured by a General Lineal Model, using a Univariant test. Within-group comparisons by pre-post time were analyzed by Repeated Measures using 2-way ANOVA (Group × Time). Bold values denote significant differences at  $p \le 0.05$ . All analyses were adjusted by age, height, and BMI.

more disease clearly experience more benefits after exercise than peers with a minor degree of disease (Alvarez et al., 2017). However, one of the most intriguing results revealed in the present study regarding the minor prevalence of NRs for decreasing WC in the HIIT+RT 2 (18.1) vs. RT + HIIT 5 (50.0%; **Figure 4A**) is shown by contrast with the minor degree of reduction of WC in HIIT+RT  $\Delta$  –1.2 vs. RT + HIIT  $\Delta$  –2.7 cm (**Figure 1C**). Although this difference is more than approximately twofold of WC reduction and was non-significant between groups, we could presume that independent of showing a higher prevalence of NRs for decreasing WC in the CT order session of RT + HIIT rather than the HIIT+RT group (**Figure 4A**), the training-induced changes are independent of the NRs phenomenon.

Additionally, a study conducted in overweight and obese subjects showed that 6 weeks of HIIT (20-min protocol, consisting of 4 min of cycling at 15% of maximum anaerobic



FIGURE 4 | Inter-individual variability for a different concurrent training order session in morbid obesity patients in MetS outcomes. Abbreviations: WC; waist circumference; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HDL-c high-density lipids; and Tg, triglycerides. (Rs) denotes 'responders'. (NRs) denotes non-responders to improve MetS outcomes considering modifications more than 2 technical errors. Bold values denote significant differences among frequencies of NRs between HIIT+RT vs. RT+HIIT group.

power [Max-AP] followed by 30 s at 85% of Max-AP) decreased BF%  $\Delta$  –0.88%, and BMI  $\Delta$  –0.26 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Fisher et al., 2015). Another study by Alvarez et al. (2018) reported that 16 weeks of HIIT (7–10×1 min exercise with 2 min of rest) reduced body mass  $\Delta$  –3.3 kg, BMI  $\Delta$  –1.4% kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and BF%  $\Delta$ –5.8% in a prehypertensive and overweight/obese cohort of women.

Additionally, a 12-week RT programme (three times weekly, 60 min/session, 17 strength exercises at 60–70% 1RM intensity) reported a significant reduction in both SBP  $\Delta$  –12.3 mmHg,

and DBP  $\Delta$  -11.2 mmHg in obese men (Klimcakova et al., 2006). Although the authors have not reported the IVET as Rs and NRs, these blood pressure benefits are in accordance with the previous findings of our research team of  $\Delta$  -10.4 mmHg at SBP, and  $\Delta$  -7.0 mmHg at DBP, in morbidly obese patients after RT, where interestingly, these blood pressure benefits occurred independently of a weight loss (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019). Along similar lines, part of the exercise capacity for improving vasculature was the subject of a recent study conducted in young obese women which compared a HIIT group (4×4 min

at 85-95% of HR<sub>max</sub>, interspersed with 3-min periods of active recovery at 65-75% of HR<sub>max</sub>) with an MICT group (41 min at 65-75% of HR<sub>max</sub>). This showed that both exercise protocols significantly reduced carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity by  $\Delta - 0.37$  and  $\Delta - 0.35$ , respectively. Furthermore, significant reductions in brachial SBP  $\Delta - 6.3$ , and central SBP  $\Delta - 6.6$  mmHg were observed after HIIT (de Oliveira et al., 2020). Thus, the authors concluded that HIIT and MICT reduced arterial stiffness in obese young women, therefore showing salutary benefits as an antihypertensive nondrug therapy. Another study which investigated the effects of 6 weeks of HIIT (10×1 min intervals at 90-100% peak workload) or MICT (30 min at 65-75% peak HR) on blood pressure and aortic stiffness in males who were overweight/obese, reported that HIIT was effective for reducing BP  $\Delta \sim 3-5$  mmHg, also there were MICT-induced moderate reductions in diastolic blood pressure (peripheral;  $\Delta -3.4$  mmHg and central;  $\Delta -3$  mmHg; Clark et al., 2020). From our previous experience, a 16 week-HIIT programme (7-10×1 min exercise with 2 min of rest) reduced SBP  $\Delta$  -8.0 mmHg, and DBP  $\Delta$ -5.8 mmHg in sedentary and overweight/obese women (Alvarez et al., 2018). Thus, the mechanisms by which exercise training decreases blood pressure have been explained in part by a reduction of arterial stiffness, an improvement of endothelial mediated vasodilation, a reduction in vascular peripheral resistance, an increase of the novel peptide apelin by the nitric oxide plasma levels, and a decrease in sympathetic nervous activity (Alvarez et al., 2018) to name a few. Likewise, WC, SBP, and DBP are important parts of the MetS in which both HIIT and RT have been shown to benefit populations with higher adiposity.

In other secondary outcomes, only the RT+HIIT group reported changes in Tc (**Table 3**). In this sense, a 16 week HIIT programme (7–10×1 min exercise with 2 min of rest) reduced Tc  $\Delta$  –8 mg/dl, LDL-c  $\Delta$  –2.6 mg/dl, Tg  $\Delta$  –13.9 mg/ dl, and increased HDL-c  $\Delta$  +5 mg/dl in overweight/obese women (Alvarez et al., 2018). Following our experiences, similarly 20 weeks of RT (three sessions/week, 4–8 exercise) using free weights reduced Tc  $\Delta$  –7.5 mg/dl in adults with obesity or morbid obesity (Delgado-Floody et al., 2019). Thus, at this level of adiposity, our present findings are in accordance with previous benefits of HIIT or RT in decreasing WC (a marker of visceral subcutaneous fat), as well as other fat sources such as the lipoproteins Tc, LDL-c, and Tg.

Both groups (HIIT+RT and RT+ HIIT) showed significant changes of the CRF marker 6Mwt, without a difference between the groups (**Figure 2E**). In this sense, for example, 34 sessions of HIIT (3–7 repetitions of 3 min bouts of high-intensity walking [100% of  $V O_{2peak}$ ], interspersed by 1.5min walking at low intensity) improved the  $V O_{2peak} \Delta$ +16% in obese subjects (Vaccari et al., 2020). Interestingly, RT has also been shown to improve CRF in some clinical populations. Following this, a study comparing 8 weeks of RT (the programme started with two sets of 18–20 maximal repetitions and progressed to three sets of 10–14 maximal repetitions with a rest of 1–2min between sets) and CT (30min of MICT 40–70 HR reserve and 30min of RT per session) showed that the CRF was increased in RT  $\Delta$  +1.5ml/ kg/min and CT  $\Delta$  +7.7ml/kg/min in obese adults (Schroeder et al., 2019). Considering that in the present study both HIIT+RT and RT+HIIT order session groups increased their performance in the 6Mt by  $\Delta$  +137.8 and  $\Delta$  +63.3 m, respectively, (**Figure 3E**), together with the overall training-induced changes of RT at level of both MetS and secondary outcomes, we can presume that in a CT intervention for clinical populations, the RT scheme can play a major role in the health-related benefits of morbidly obese patients.

A limitation of this study was that the foods habits (diet) of the participants during the intervention were not measured. By contrast, a strength of this study was that we included not only MetS markers but also different outcomes such as anthropometric, body composition, strength, and CRF fitness markers, as well as highlighting the severely/morbidly obese clinical cohort with whom we developed our research project. Considering the expensive and long treatments before bariatric surgery, the topic of IVET is of high interest and value.

In conclusion, the HIIT+RT intervention promotes a smaller prevalence of NRs than the RT+HIIT order session of CT. Overall there is a slight advantage in the RT+HIIT group in favour of more beneficial training-induced effects compared to the HIIT+RT group.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of the Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile (ACTA N°071\_18). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD-F and CA: conceptualization, formal analysis, and writing -review and editing. PD-F and CA: methodology. MR-P: software. CA: validation. CA and PD-F: formal analysis. PD-F, CA, and AS-M: investigation. PD-F, CA, AS-M, CM-S, CV, and FC-N: data curation. AS-M, MR-P, CV, and DJ-M: writing -original draft preparation. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This research was funded by the Project FRO1895 and Project D118-0043 by the University de La Frontera. CA was funded partially by Universidad de Los Lagos. AS-M was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities (ref. RTI2018–093302-A-I00).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge all the patients of the morbidly obese group who participated in the programme, as well as our research team.

## REFERENCES

- Alberti, K., Eckel, R. H., Grundy, S. M., Zimmet, P. Z., Cleeman, J. I., Donato, K. A., et al. (2009). Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; national heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; world heart federation; international atherosclerosis society; and international association for the study of obesity. *Circulation* 120, 1640–1645. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644
- Alvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Cristi-Montero, C., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2018). Prevalence of non-responders for blood pressure and cardiometabolic risk factors among prehypertensive women after long-term high-intensity interval training. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1443. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01443
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Lucia, A., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Concurrent exercise training on hyperglycemia and comorbidities associated: non-responders using clinical cutoff points. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 952–967. doi: 10.1111/sms.13413
- Alvarez, C., Ramirez-Campillo, R., Ramirez-Velez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017). Prevalence of non-responders for glucose control markers after 10 weeks of high-intensity interval training in adult women with higher and lower insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 8:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00479
- Bächler, T., Papamargaritis, D., Bueter, M., and Le Roux, C. (2013). Treatment of morbid obesity: intensive lifestyle intervention vs. bariatric surgery. Surg. Curr. Res. 3:1000147. doi: 10.4172/2161-1076.1000147
- Baffi, C. W., Wood, L., Winnica, D., Strollo, P. J. Jr., Gladwin, M. T., Que, L. G., et al. (2016). Metabolic syndrome and the lung. *Chest* 149, 1525–1534. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2015.12.034
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Häkkinen, K., et al. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: is it a rare or common occurrence? *PLoS One* 7:e37887. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0037887
- Brzycki, M. (1993). Strength testing—predicting a one-rep max from reps-tofatigue. J. Phys. Educ. Recreation Dance 64, 88–90. doi: 10.1080/07303084.1993.10606684
- Cadore, E. L., Izquierdo, M., Alberton, C. L., Pinto, R. S., Conceição, M., Cunha, G., et al. (2012). Strength prior to endurance intra-session exercise sequence optimizes neuromuscular and cardiovascular gains in elderly men. *Exp. Gerontol.* 47, 164–169. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2011.11.013
- Cadore, E. L., Izquierdo, M., Pinto, S. S., Alberton, C. L., Pinto, R. S., Baroni, B. M., et al. (2013). Neuromuscular adaptations to concurrent training in the elderly: effects of intrasession exercise sequence. *Age* 35, 891–903. doi: 10.1007/ s11357-012-9405-y
- Campbell, W. W., Kraus, W. E., Powell, K. E., Haskell, W. L., Janz, K. F., Jakicic, J. M., et al. (2019). High-intensity interval training for cardiometabolic disease prevention. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51:1220. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000001934
- Carrasco, F., Klaassen, J., Papapietro, K., Reyes, E., Rodríguez, L., Csendes, A., et al. (2005). A proposal of guidelines for surgical management of obesity. *Revista medica de Chile* 133, 699–706. doi: 10.4067/s0034-98872 005000600013
- Clark, T., Morey, R., Jones, M. D., Marcos, L., Ristov, M., Ram, A., et al. (2020). High-intensity interval training for reducing blood pressure: a randomized trial vs. moderate-intensity continuous training in males with overweight or obesity. *Hypertens. Res.* 43, 396–403. doi: 10.1038/ s41440-019-0392-6
- De Matos, M. A., Vieira, D. V., Pinhal, K. C., Lopes, J. F., Dias-Peixoto, M. F., Pauli, J. R., et al. (2018). High-intensity interval training improves markers of oxidative metabolism in skeletal muscle of individuals With obesity and insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1451. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01451

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2021.694798/full#supplementary-material

- De Oliveira, G. H., Boutouyrie, P., Simões, C. F., Locatelli, J. C., Mendes, V. H. S., Reck, H. B., et al. (2020). The impact of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) on arterial stiffness and blood pressure in young obese women: a randomized controlled trial. *Hypertens. Res.* 43, 1315–1318. doi: 10.1038/s41440-020-0477-2
- De Souza, S. A. F., Faintuch, J., Fabris, S. M., Nampo, F. K., Luz, C., Fabio, T. L., et al. (2009). Six-minute walk test: functional capacity of severely obese before and after bariatric surgery. *Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis.* 5, 540–543. doi: 10.1016/j.soard.2009.05.003
- Delgado-Floody, P., Alvarez, C., Lusa Cadore, E., Flores-Opazo, M., Caamano-Navarrete, F., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Preventing metabolic syndrome in morbid obesity with resistance training: reporting interindividual variability. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 29, 1368–1381. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2019.07.002
- Delgado-Floody, P., Izquierdo, M., Ramirez-Velez, R., Caamano-Navarrete, F., Moris, R., Jerez-Mayorga, D., et al. (2020). Effect of high-intensity interval training on body composition, cardiorespiratory fitness, blood pressure, and substrate utilization during exercise among prehypertensive and hypertensive patients with excessive adiposity. *Front. Physiol.* 11:558910. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.558910
- Demacker, P. N., Hessels, M., Toenhake-Dijkstra, H., and Baadenhuijsen, H. (1997). Precipitation methods for high-density lipoprotein cholesterol measurement compared, and final evaluation under routine operating conditions of a method with a low sample-to-reagent ratio. *Clin. Chem.* 43, 663–668. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/43.4.663
- Eddens, L., Van Someren, K., and Howatson, G. (2018). The role of intrasession exercise sequence in the interference effect: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 48, 177–188. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0784-1
- Espallardo, O., Busutil, R., Torres, A., Zozaya, N., Villoro, R., and Hidalgo-Vega, A. (2017). The impact of severe obesity on healthcare resource utilisation in Spain. *Obes. Surg.* 27, 2058–2066. doi: 10.1007/s11695-017-2596-7
- Fisher, G., Brown, A. W., Brown, M. M. B., Alcorn, A., Noles, C., Winwood, L., et al. (2015). High intensity interval-vs moderate intensity-training for improving cardiometabolic health in overweight or obese males: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 10:e0138853. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0138853
- Friedewald, W., Levy, R. I., and Fredrickson, D. (1972). Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin. Chem.* 18, 499–502. doi: 10.1093/ clinchem/18.6.499
- Gerber, P., Anderin, C., and Thorell, A. (2015). Weight loss prior to bariatric surgery: an updated review of the literature. *Scand. J. Surg.* 104, 33–39. doi: 10.1177/1457496914553149
- Gibala, M. J., Little, J. P., Macdonald, M. J., and Hawley, J. A. (2012). Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. J. Physiol. 590, 1077–1084. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224725
- Han, T. S., and Lean, M. E. (2016). A clinical perspective of obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. JRSM Cardiovasc. Dis. 5:2048004016633371. doi: 10.1177/2048004016633371
- Huck, C. J. (2015). Effects of supervised resistance training on fitness and functional strength in patients succeeding bariatric surgery. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 589–595. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000667
- Kitahara, C., Flint, A., De Gonzalez, A., Bernstein, L., Brotzman, M., Macinnis, R., et al. (2014). Association between class III obesity (BMI of 40–59 kg/m 2) and mortality: a pooled analysis of 20 prospective studies. *PLoS Med.* 11:e1001673. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001673
- Klimcakova, E., Polak, J., Moro, C., Hejnova, J., Majercik, M., Viguerie, N., et al. (2006). Dynamic strength training improves insulin sensitivity without altering plasma levels and gene expression of adipokines in subcutaneous

adipose tissue in obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 91, 5107-5112. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0382

- Lakens, D. (2013). Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. *Front. Psychol.* 4:863. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863
- Mancia, G., Fagard, R., Narkiewicz, K., Redon, J., Zanchetti, A., Böhm, M., et al. (2014). 2013 ESH/ESC practice guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: ESH-ESC the task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Blood Press.* 23, 3–16. doi: 10.3109/08037051.2014.868629
- Marc-Hernández, A., Ruiz-Tovar, J., Aracil, A., Guillén, S., and Moya-Ramón, M. (2019). Impact of exercise on body composition and cardiometabolic risk factors in patients awaiting bariatric surgery. *Obes. Surg.* 29, 3891–3900. doi: 10.1007/s11695-019-04088-9
- Murlasits, Z., Kneffel, Z., and Thalib, L. (2018). The physiological effects of concurrent strength and endurance training sequence: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J. Sports Sci. 36, 1212–1219. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2017.1364405
- National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, and North American Association for the Study of Obesity. (2000). *The Practical Guide Identification, Evaluation and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults.* NIH Publication no. 00–4084.
- Norman, K., Stobäus, N., Gonzalez, M. C., Schulzke, J.-D., and Pirlich, M. (2011). Hand grip strength: outcome predictor and marker of nutritional status. *Clin. Nutr.* 30, 135–142. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.09.010
- Pazzianotto-Forti, E. M., Moreno, M. A., Plater, E., Baruki, S. B. S., Rasera-Junior, I., and Reid, W. D. (2020). Impact of physical training programs on physical fitness in people with class II and III obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Phys. Ther.* 100, 963–978. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa045
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Hernández-Quiñones, P. A., Tordecilla-Sanders, A., Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Izquierdo, M., et al. (2019). Effectiveness of HIIT compared to moderate continuous training in improving vascular parameters in inactive adults. *Lipids Health Dis.* 18:42. doi: 10.1186/ s12944-019-0981-z
- Schoenfeld, B., Grgic, J., Ogborn, D., and Krieger, J. (2017). Strength and hypertrophy adaptations between low-vs. high-load resistance training: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 31, 3508–3523. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002200

- Schroeder, E. C., Franke, W. D., Sharp, R. L., and Lee, D.-C. (2019). Comparative effectiveness of aerobic, resistance, and combined training on cardiovascular disease risk factors: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 14:e0210292. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210292
- Stephens, N. A., Xie, H., Johannsen, N. M., Church, T. S., Smith, S. R., and Sparks, L. M. (2015). A transcriptional signature of "exercise resistance" in skeletal muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 64, 999–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.06.008
- Sturm, R. (2007). Increases in morbid obesity in the USA: 2000–2005. Public Health 121, 492–496. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2007.01.006
- Vaccari, F., Passaro, A., D'amuri, A., Sanz, J. M., Di Vece, F., Capatti, E., et al. (2020). Effects of 3-month high-intensity interval training vs. moderate endurance training and 4-month follow-up on fat metabolism, cardiorespiratory function and mitochondrial respiration in obese adults. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 120, 1787–1803. doi: 10.1007/s00421-020-04409-2
- Wilhelm, E. N., Rech, A., Minozzo, F., Botton, C. E., Radaelli, R., Teixeira, B. C., et al. (2014). Concurrent strength and endurance training exercise sequence does not affect neuromuscular adaptations in older men. *Exp. Gerontol.* 60, 207–214. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2014.11.007

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Delgado-Floody, Soriano-Maldonado, Rodríguez-Pérez, Latorre-Román, Martínez-Salazar, Vargas, Caamaño-Navarrete, Jerez-Mayorga and Álvarez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# Strength Training Volume to Increase Muscle Mass Responsiveness in Older Individuals: Weekly Sets Based Approach

Davi Alves de Santana<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Alex Castro<sup>1,3</sup> and Cláudia Regina Cavaglieri<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Exercise Physiology, Faculty of Physical Education, University of Campinas, Campinas, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Adventist University of Sao Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Federal University of São Carlos, São Carlos, Brazil

Keywords: resistance training, aging, non-responsiveness, hypertrophy, sets

# INTRODUCTION

Currently, strength training (ST) is widely recommended to promote healthy aging. This reflects efforts made over the past three decades through which the role of ST as a sarcopenia countermeasure, preventing physical disability and other poor outcomes, has become evident. However, in recent years, considerable attention has been directed to the phenomenon of ST response heterogeneity. Different adaptive patterns among individuals submitted to the same intervention have increasingly led scholars to conventionally label non-responders or low responders those who do not respond appropriately, either for lack of meaningful improvements or even for worsening parameters. In the latter case, such individuals are specifically classified generally as adverse responders since they present responses in opposite direction to a threshold theoretically or empirically determined (Bouchard et al., 2012; Hecksteden et al., 2018). Although there is still no consensus on the definition of non-responders or low responders to ST, showing that their study is in its infancy, an interesting review by Atkinson et al. (2019) suggests that the categorization of a given response should be rationalized by the researcher after analyzing which threshold is clinically or practically relevant, changing the notion that minimal detectable change is imperative to determine who respond or not to an intervention.

In this scenario, the phenomenon of non- or low-responsiveness indirectly favored the development of a more restrictive and less important perspective regarding the role of ST. However, reaffirming the ST relevance in aging, Churchward-Venne et al. (2015) have claimed that there are no older non-responders. In that study, it has been shown that all older adults submitted to ST improve at least one analyzed parameter (e.g., functional capacity and muscle strength), defended its widespread application. As suggested by Pickering and Kiely (2019), there are likely no individuals totally unresponsive to training. Nevertheless, the reason why some individuals show less expressive results than others in apparently homogeneous samples remains unclear, especially concerning muscle hypertrophy.

It can be noticed in the study conduct by Churchward-Venne et al. (2015) that more than 35 and 30% of the older individuals had a maximum lean mass increase of 0.5 kg after 12 and 24 weeks of ST, respectively. In addition, about 20% had a decrease in lean mass, regardless of protocol duration. Despite the inherent physiological changes of aging, Ahtiainen et al. (2016) demonstrate that the variability of muscle mass response to ST is not affected by age. Although such changes may indeed lead older individuals to a decreased skeletal muscle tissue sensitivity to anabolic stimuli (Yang et al., 2012), it prohibits putting on account of aging the occurrence of inexpressive morphological adaptations in response

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Eduardo Lusa Cadore, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul. Brazil

\*Correspondence:

Davi Alves de Santana das.unicamp@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 16 August 2021 Accepted: 02 September 2021 Published: 30 September 2021

#### Citation:

Santana DA, Castro A and Cavaglieri CR (2021) Strength Training Volume to Increase Muscle Mass Responsiveness in Older Individuals: Weekly Sets Based Approach. Front. Physiol. 12:759677. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.759677

72

to training exclusively. Regarding this muscle mass response heterogeneity, while some scholars (Atkinson et al., 2019; Dankel and Loenneke, 2020) recommend cautiousness when claiming its existence, emphasizing that individual differences need to be attested in studies that consider the random error, verified from a matched control group, many others widely recognize it (Hubal et al., 2005; Davidsen et al., 2011; Sparks, 2017; Stec et al., 2017; Camera, 2018; Räntilä et al., 2021). Although more studies need to be conducted to demonstrate the true variability of the response, the body of evidence indicates that such heterogeneity should not be ignored. In this context, it is inevitable to admit that more efforts should be made to clarify the reasons behind the low-responsiveness of some individuals, which, in turn, might assist in planning more effective ST programs.

## **VOLUME: A KEY POINT?**

The proper design of an ST program involves the management of several variables. Among all, most of them are closely related to intensity and volume. By intensity, it is recognized as the load lifted in a given movement, calculated basically by the percentage of the maximum load lifted only once [e.g., percentage of one-repetition maximum (1RM)]. The training volume, in turn, is traditionally determined by multiplying the number of sets, repetitions, and load. It is noted that the amount of load lifted directly influences the number of repetitions performed (Spiering et al., 2008). Because of the close relationship between repetitions and load, the number of sets performed plays an independent role during the ST progression management and training volume measurement.

Currently, some scholars have considered volume the most effective ST variable to promote morphological changes (Figueiredo et al., 2018). Mattocks et al. (2017) demonstrated that subjects submitted to very high-intensity strength training, simulating 1RM test sessions, achieved the same strength gains as those who trained at a higher volume. However, only the group that trained with higher volume presented muscle hypertrophy. From a molecular point of view, higher exercise volume positively affects myofibrillar protein synthesis and anabolic signaling and is critical for the degree of p70S6k and S6 phosphorylation following a resistance exercise bout (Burd et al., 2010a,b; Terzis et al., 2010). Additionally, it appears that the type of contraction is not more important than volume to cause molecular changes after an exercise session (Garma et al., 2007). A meta-analysis on the influence of ST on the lean mass of the older individuals found that more significant results were particularly related to protocols where more total sets were performed during the training session (Peterson et al., 2011).

From this evidence, it would be reasonable to expect greater effectiveness of experimental protocols on morphological as higher training volume is applied. Several studies comparing the performance of a single set with multiple sets have demonstrated the superiority of performing multiple sets in both young and older individuals (Kramer, 1997; Radaelli et al., 2014a,b). However, the meta-analysis conducted by Krieger (2010) minimizes the relevance of the volume. In this review, the authors concluded that multiple sets are, in fact, better than a single set but performing four to six sets is not superior to performing two to three sets. While providing valuable information, this body of evidence partially explains why increasing the training volume for more robust physiological responses is not a unanimous strategy (Souza et al., 2018). By the way, it seems that there is a subtle scientific orientation in establishing a minimum dose of exercise by which older people can benefit from ST to the detriment of the search for an optimal dose (Fisher et al., 2017). This is understandable because less time spent on training sessions may increase adherence to the intervention.

These conflicting perspectives raise some unavoidable and related issues. First, does an inadequate training volume explain the unresponsiveness of some older individuals? Consequently, is it possible to establish an optimal volume to maximize hypertrophy in this population? To the best of our knowledge, only one study attempted to answer directly whether training volume is important for the variability of response to ST in older people, despite the large body of studies on this topic (Nunes et al., 2021b). Nunes et al. (2021b) verified that the non-responsiveness condition was not changed after the training volume increase. However, one should be cautious to make conclusions based on this evidence, since it is an analysis of retrospective data in which randomization was not specifically performed to provide a comparative analysis of training volume. On the other hand, Scarpelli et al. (2020) showed that a suboptimal training volume could hamper muscle hypertrophy responses in trained young individuals. This issue is yet to be impulsed by the interesting protocol designed by Montero and Lundby (2017), in which it was observed that all individuals classified as non-responders after 6 weeks of aerobic training responded positively after the additional 2 weeks with higher training volume. Although the intervention of this study has been aerobic training, one can speculate that non-responders to ST also may achieve better adaptations naturally by increasing the training volume.

# WEEKLY SETS PER MUSCLE GROUP

Despite current recommendations on ST for older people (Fragala et al., 2019), which suggests prescribing two to three sets per exercise based on the previously discussed evidence, the optimal training volume to increase muscle mass responsiveness in older individuals is still a scientific challenge. It is proposed here that the findings observed in the literature may be interpreted based, specifically, on the number of weekly sets per muscle group to allow a more comprehensive analysis on this issue, since from this perspective the number of exercise and weekly frequency are already taken into account, avoiding misleading conclusions. It is worth mentioning that these factors usually differ among studies comparing single and multiple sets, which may partially be responsible for obtaining different results. Thus, this approach would contribute to a greater connection among the findings, uniformity in experimental design conception, and practicality in the training prescription, emphasizing that few studies analyzed volume from this perspective.

In this regard, an interesting meta-analysis elaborated by Schoenfeld et al. (2017) provides one of the main clues on this matter. They investigated the dose-response relationship between weekly ST volume and muscle mass gains analyzing studies that compared protocols with low and high training volumes. It was noted that ST tends to promote better results with higher doses, further concluding that 10 weekly sets per muscle group or more may be necessary to maximize muscle hypertrophy. Even though this review was not limited to the older individuals, this is consistent with the review proposed by Peterson et al. (2011), although they did not specifically address the number of weekly sets per muscle group. It can be inferred that one of the main strengths of the analysis by Schoenfeld et al. (2017) was to indicate that there may be a training volume threshold to be reached. Importantly, this finding demands a more critical appraisal of current literature since some clinical trials claiming to apply a high training volume may be less than the supposedly required.

While a reduced number of weekly sets may be insufficient to promote more significant hypertrophy, excessive sets may produce prolonged muscle damage and consequently, decrease adaptive response in older people chronically (Hamada et al., 2005; Ferri et al., 2006; Fell and Williams, 2008; Sorensen et al., 2018). Yet, the dose-response of volume on muscle damage in older individuals has to be determined. In this regard, it was observed that 15 weekly sets per muscle group causes more ultrastructure muscle damage in older than young women after a 9-week intervention (Roth et al., 2000) but not in older men when compared to young (Roth et al., 1999). Although one may argue that the high intensity proposed in these studies may have influenced the results, it has been shown that high and lowintensity training with equal volume produces the same level of muscle damage in young people (Paschalis et al., 2005). It is reasonable to suppose that some older people, especially women, do not respond adequately to training due to overtraining, which in turn makes the previous results (Krieger, 2010) understandable since increasing training volume (2 to 3 vs. 4 to 6 sets a week) does not necessarily improve response. Therefore, it appears that there is an upper threshold for ST volume in older individuals still have to be confirmed. This observation may be particularly relevant in designing training programs for frail individuals and others with chronic diseases since higher training doses could be more harmful.

In this scenario, training weekly frequency should not be neglected. Dankel et al. (2017) have hypothesized that higher training frequencies may induce a higher hypertrophic response by promoting optimal successive increase in protein synthesis rate. Based on the evidence that there is a plateau in protein synthesis response to increased training volume (Kumar et al., 2012; Martín-Hernández et al., 2013), there would be no advantage in performing a high training volume in a single session. However, it is not possible to make inferences in this regard from the current evidence. A meta-analysis conducted by Schoenfeld et al. (2019) concluded that the ST frequency does not meaningfully impact muscle hypertrophy when the volume is equated. Concerning older individuals, recently Pina et al. (2019) found no difference in lean mass response between individuals who trained two or three times a week after a 12-week sets-equated ST. On the other hand, Zaroni et al. (2019) found that high-frequency training (five vs. one time per week) may confer a superior hypertrophic response in young individuals. Regarding the comparison of protocols, Nunes et al. (2021a) argued that weekly set-equated do not necessarily mean volume-equated when there are marked differences in the weekly frequency ( $\geq$ 3) since a reduction in the number of repetitions performed in groups with low frequency is observed due to fatigue experienced during the sessions. Nevertheless, some studies that compared protocols with markedly different frequencies with weekly sets-equated did not find differences in the increase in muscle hypertrophy (Gomes et al., 2019; Saric et al., 2019).

We recognize that further research needs to be carried with the older population in this sense, as previously suggested (Dankel et al., 2017). Meanwhile, the number of weekly sets needed to enhance muscle hypertrophy in low-responsive older individuals could be achieved by following the ST current position, which recommends a frequency of two to three times per week, comprising one to two exercise for each muscle group per session (Fragala et al., 2019), depending, however, on sets number per exercise, in which it must be individually adjusted during the exercise program.

# WHAT IS NEXT?

To provide more specific recommendations regarding the proper range of weekly sets per muscle group to increase responsiveness to ST in older people, it is first necessary that the scientific community does not ignore the heterogeneity of the exercise response, reflected, often, by neglecting individual responses in clinical trials. This simple but significant perspective may contribute greatly to the characterization of the nonresponsiveness phenomenon and its prevalence, especially with respect to muscle mass. In particular, there should be an effort to define the minimal clinically important difference regarding muscle hypertrophy in older individuals to support responsiveness categorization, since such difference hardly coincides with the minimum detectable change (Atkinson et al., 2019). Thus, clinical trials assessing relevant clinical outcomes together with hypertrophy response at different times of intervention are required. Second, as a few reviews addressing the dose-response effects of training volume in the older individuals were inconclusive (Steib et al., 2010; Nicola and Catherine, 2011; Silva et al., 2014; Borde et al., 2015) or did not assess morphological adaptations (Rhea et al., 2003), systematic reviews and meta-analysis on the dose-response relationship between weekly sets per muscle group, rather than exercise general sets or weekly frequency, and morphological adaptations in this population are encouraged. It is worth mentioning, none of the reviews cited above considered or measured individual responses. Third, dose-response should be investigated through within-subject experimental protocols and long-term interventions. On the latter, if, on the one hand,

the duration of the intervention has been considered one of the most relevant ST variables for elderly individuals (Nicola and Catherine, 2011; Radaelli et al., 2014b), on the other hand, prolonged interventions could minimize the influence of the training volume on the hypertrophic response (Da Silva et al., 2018; Teodoro et al., 2019). In future investigations, it is imperative to separate the true interindividual response variance from other sources of variance, since the individual observed changes are the sum of the change caused by the training program, plus the change that would have occurred in the absence of intervention (in the control group), plus measurement error and day-to-day biological variability (Ross et al., 2019). We also emphasize controlling confounders such as concerning the dietary pattern including energy balance and protein intake, given their potential role on muscle mass maintenance (Houston et al., 2008; Hanach et al., 2019; Landi et al., 2019). In addition, possible differences between lower and upper-body muscle group's responses to training should be considered, as there is evidence that high-volume training seems to be more efficient for lower-body muscles (Radaelli et al., 2014b). Lastly, alternative assessments are necessary to understand the variability of the response and assist in planning new studies. In this sense, omic sciences (e.g., genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics) emerge as the next frontier to be explored in this field of knowledge (Tanaka et al., 2016; Picca et al., 2019). From them, diverse dimensions of the organism (e.g., metabolic and genetic) are analyzed simultaneously and, when associated with training responses, can create network maps that help to explain the complexity of morphological adaptations to ST.

### CONSIDERATIONS

Strength training is an important strategy against poor outcomes during aging. In order to enable that older individuals plenty achieve positive adaptations, training variables need to be

### REFERENCES

- Ahtiainen, J. P., Walker, S., Peltonen, H., Holviala, J., Sillanpää, E., Karavirta, L., et al. (2016). Heterogeneity in resistance training-induced muscle strength and mass responses in men and women of different ages. *Age* 38:10. doi: 10.1007/s11357-015-9870-1
- Atkinson, G., Williamson, P., and Batterham, A. M. (2019). Issues in the determination of 'responders' and 'non-responders' in physiological research. *Exp. Physiol.* 104, 1215–1225. doi: 10.1113/EP087712
- Borde, R., Hortobágyi, T., and Granacher, U. (2015). Dose-Response relationships of resistance training in healthy old adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Sports Med., 45, 1693–1720. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0385-9
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Häkkinen, K., et al. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: is it a rare or common occurrence? *PLoS ONE* 7:e37887. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037887
- Burd, N. A., Holwerda, A. M., Selby, K. C., West, D. W., Staples, A. W., Cain, N. E., et al. (2010a). Resistance exercise volume affects myofibrillar protein synthesis and anabolic signalling molecule phosphorylation in young men. *J. Physiol.* 588, 3119–3130. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.192856
- Burd, N. A., West, D. W., Staples, A. W., Atherton, P. J., Baker, J. M., Moore, D. R., et al. (2010b). Low-load high volume resistance exercise stimulates muscle

carefully manipulated. In this context, although it is recognized that the training volume is fundamental for muscle hypertrophy, there is no consensus on the magnitude of its influence. Consequently, the contribution level of the volume training for increasing responsiveness to ST in older individuals is lacking. It is noticeable that establishing such a volume is a challenge to be addressed. While future studies are expected to clarify this issue, it can be hypothesized, based on current evidence, that there should be a more specific range of training volume that older people can respond more adequately. We suggested that such a range could be based on the number of sets per muscle group, comprising at least 10 sets per week. Evidently, this does not mean that older individuals do not respond to other training volumes (e.g., <10), but only that some nonresponders or low-responders may have better morphological adaptations in a specific range. In practical terms, after an initial adaptation period, the training volume can be allocated in this range and adjusted according to individual responses to achieve better results. To reach this number of sets, one must carefully select exercises for each muscle group and weekly frequency. In addition, reporting ST volume based on weekly sets per group muscle in future studies may facilitate literature analysis as it already includes the aforementioned variables.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DS contributed to the conception of the study and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AC and CC revised the original manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### **FUNDING**

AC was supported by the São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP, Grant No. 2020/13939-7).

protein synthesis more than high-load low volume resistance exercise in young men. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12033. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012033

- Camera, D. M. (2018). Anabolic heterogeneity following resistance training: a role for circadian rhythm? *Front. Physiol.* 9:569. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00569
- Churchward-Venne, T. A., Tieland, M., Verdijk, L. B., Leenders, M., Dirks, M. L., De Groot, L. C., et al. (2015). There are no nonresponders to resistance-type exercise training in older men and women. *J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc.* 16, 400–411. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.01.071
- Da Silva, L. X. N., Teodoro, J. L., Menger, E., Lopez, P., Grazioli, R., Farinha, J., et al. (2018). Repetitions to failure versus not to failure during concurrent training in healthy elderly men: a randomized clinical trial. *Exp. Gerontol.* 108, 18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.03.017
- Dankel, S. J., and Loenneke, J. P. (2020). A method to stop analyzing random error and start analyzing differential responders to exercise. *Sports Med.* 50, 231–238. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01147-0
- Dankel, S. J., Mattocks, K. T., Jessee, M. B., Buckner, S. L., Mouser, J. G., Counts, B. R., et al. (2017). Frequency: the overlooked resistance training variable for inducing muscle hypertrophy? *Sports Med.* 47, 799–805. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0640-8
- Davidsen, P. K., Gallagher, I. J., Hartman, J. W., Tarnopolsky, M. A., Dela, F., Helge, J. W., et al. (2011). High responders to resistance exercise training demonstrate

differential regulation of skeletal muscle microRNA expression. J. Appl. Physiol. 110, 309–317. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00901.2010

- Fell, J., and Williams, D. (2008). The effect of aging on skeletal-muscle recovery from exercise: possible implications for aging athletes. J. Aging Phys. Act. 16, 97–115. doi: 10.1123/japa.16.1.97
- Ferri, A., Narici, M., Grassi, B., and Pousson, M. (2006). Neuromuscular recovery after a strength training session in elderly people. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 97, 272–279. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0168-y
- Figueiredo, V. C., de Salles, B. F., and Trajano, G. S. (2018). Volume for muscle hypertrophy and health outcomes: the most effective variable in resistance training. *Sports Med.* 48, 499–505. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0793-0
- Fisher, J. P., Steele, J., Gentil, P., Giessing, J., and Westcott, W. L. (2017). A minimal dose approach to resistance training for the older adult; the prophylactic for aging. *Exp. Gerontol.*, 99, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.012
- Fragala, M. S., Cadore, E. L., Dorgo, S., Izquierdo, M., Kraemer, W. J., Peterson, M. D., et al. (2019). Resistance training for older adults: position statement from the national strength and conditioning association. J. Strength Cond. Res. 33, 2019–2052. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003230
- Garma, T., Kobayashi, C., Haddad, F., Adams, G. R., Bodell, P. W., and Baldwin, K. M. (2007). Similar acute molecular responses to equivalent volumes of isometric, lengthening, or shortening mode resistance exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 135–143. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00776.2006
- Gomes, G. K., Franco, C. M., Nunes, P. R. P., and Orsatti, F. L. (2019). High-frequency resistance training is not more effective than low-frequency resistance training in increasing muscle mass and strength in well-trained men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 33, S130–S139. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000002559
- Hamada, K., Vannier, E., Sacheck, J. M., Witsell, A. L., and Roubenoff, R. (2005). Senescence of human skeletal muscle impairs the local inflammatory cytokine response to acute eccentric exercise. *FASEB J.* 9, 264–266. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-1286fje
- Hanach, N. I., McCullough, F., and Avery, A. (2019). The impact of dairy protein intake on muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical performance in middleaged to older adults with or without existing sarcopenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Adv. Nutr. 10, 59–69. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmy065
- Hecksteden, A., Pitsch, W., Rosenberger, F., and Meyer, T. (2018). Repeated testing for the assessment of individual response to exercise training. J. Appl. Physiol. 124, 1567–1579. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00896.2017
- Houston, D. K., Nicklas, B. J., Ding, J., Harris, T. B., Tylavsky, F. A., Newman, A. B., et al. (2008). Dietary protein intake is associated with lean mass change in older, community-dwelling adults: the health, aging, and body composition (health ABC) study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 87, 150–155. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.1.150
- Hubal, M. J., Gordish-Dressman, H., Thompson, P. D., Price, T. B., Hoffman, E. P., Angelopoulos, T. J., et al. (2005). Variability in muscle size and strength gain after unilateral resistance training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, 964–972. Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/7794282\_Variability\_in\_muscle\_size\_and\_strength\_gain\_after\_unilateral\_resistance\_training
- Kramer, J. B. (1997). Effects of single vs multiple sets of weight training: impact of volume, intensity, and variation. J. Strength Cond. Res. 11, 143–147. doi: 10.1519/00124278-199708000-00002
- Krieger, J. W. (2010). Single vs. multiple sets of resistance exercise for muscle hypertrophy: a meta-analysis. J. Strength. Cond. Res. 24, 1150–1159. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181d4d436
- Kumar, V., Atherton, P. J., Selby, A., Rankin, D., Williams, J., Smith, K., et al. (2012). Muscle protein synthetic responses to exercise: effects of age, volume, and intensity. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 67, 1170–1177. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls141
- Landi, F., Camprubi-Robles, M., Bear, D. E., Cederholm, T., Malafarina, V., Welch, A. A., et al. (2019). Muscle loss: the new malnutrition challenge in clinical practice. *Clin. Nutr.*, 38, 2113–2120. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018. 11.021
- Martín-Hernández, J., Marín, P. J., Menéndez, H., Ferrero, C., Loenneke, J. P., and Herrero, A. J. (2013). Muscular adaptations after two different volumes of blood flow-restricted training. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 23, 114–120. doi: 10.1111/sms.12036
- Mattocks, K. T., Buckner, S. L., Jessee, M. B., Dankel, S. J., Mouser, J. G., and Loenneke, J. P. (2017). Practicing the test produces strength equivalent to higher volume training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 49, 1945–1954. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001300

- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2017). Refuting the myth of non-response to exercise training: 'non-responders' do respond to higher dose of training. *J. Physiol.* 595, 3377–3387. doi: 10.1113/JP273480
- Nicola, F., and Catherine, S. (2011). Dose-response relationship of resistance training in older adults: a meta-analysis. Br. J. Sports Med. 45, 233–234. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2010.083246
- Nunes, J. P., Kassiano, W., Costa, B. D. V., Mayhew, J. L., Ribeiro, A. S., and Cyrino, E. S. (2021a). Equating resistance-training volume between programs focused on muscle hypertrophy. *Sports Med.* 51, 1171–1178. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01449-2
- Nunes, J. P., Pina, F. L., Ribeiro, A. S., Cunha, P. M., Kassiano, W., Costa, B. D., et al. (2021b). Responsiveness to muscle mass gain following 12 and 24 weeks of resistance training in older women. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 33, 1071–1078. doi: 10.1007/s40520-020-01587-z
- Paschalis, V., Koutedakis, Y., Jamurtas, A. Z., Mougios, V., and Baltzopoulos, V. (2005). Equal volumes of high and low intensity of eccentric exercise in relation to muscle damage and performance. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 19, 184–188. doi: 10.1519/00124278-200502000-00031
- Peterson, M. D., Sen, A., and Gordon, P. M. (2011). Influence of resistance exercise on lean body mass in aging adults: a meta-analysis. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 249–258. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181eb6265
- Picca, A., Coelho-Junior, H. J., Cesari, M., Marini, F., Miccheli, A., Gervasoni, J., et al. (2019). The metabolomics side of frailty: toward personalized medicine for the aged. *Exp. Gerontol.* 126:110692. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019. 110692
- Pickering, C., and Kiely, J. (2019). Do non-responders to exercise existand if so, what should we do about them? *Sports Med.* 49, 1–7. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-01041-1
- Pina, F. L. C., Nunes, J. P., Schoenfeld, B. J., Nascimento, M. A., Gerage, A. M., Januário, R. S. B., et al. (2019). Effects of different weekly setsequated resistance training frequencies on muscular strength, muscle mass, and body fat in older women. J. Strength Cond. Res. 34, 2990–2995. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003130
- Radaelli, R., Botton, C. E., Wilhelm, E. N., Bottaro, M., Brown, L. E., Lacerda, F., et al. (2014a). Time course of low- and high-volume strength training on neuromuscular adaptations and muscle quality in older women. Age 36, 881–892. doi: 10.1007/s11357-013-9611-2
- Radaelli, R., Wilhelm, E. N., Botton, C. E., Rech, A., Bottaro, M., Brown, L. E., et al. (2014b). Effects of single vs. multiple-set short-term strength training in elderly women. Age 36:9720. doi: 10.1007/s11357-014-9720-6
- Räntilä, A., Ahtiainen, J. P., Avela, J., Restuccia, J., Kidgell, D., and Häkkinen, K. (2021). High responders to hypertrophic strength training also tend to lose more muscle mass and strength during detraining than low responders. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 35, 1500–1511. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000 04044
- Rhea, M. R., Alvar, B. A., Burkett, L. N., and Ball, S. D. (2003). A meta-analysis to determine the dose response for strength development. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 456–464. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000053727.63505.D4
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-100328
- Roth, S. M., Martel, G. F., Ivey, F. M., Lemmer, J. T., Metter, E. J., Hurley, B. F., et al. (2000). High-volume, heavy-resistance strength training and muscle damage in young and older women. J. Appl. Physiol. 88, 1112–1128. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2000.88.3.1112
- Roth, S. M., Martel, G. F., Ivey, F. M., Lemmer, J. T., Tracy, B. L., Hurlbut, D. E., et al. (1999). Ultrastructural muscle damage in young vs. older men after highvolume, heavy-resistance strength training. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 86, 1833–1840. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.86.6.1833
- Saric, J., Lisica, D., Orlic, I., Grgic, J., Krieger, J. W., Vuk, S., et al. (2019). Resistance training frequencies of 3 and 6 times per week produce similar muscular adaptations in resistance-trained men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 33, S122–S129. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002909
- Scarpelli, M. C., Nóbrega, S. R., Santanielo, N., Alvarez, I. F., Otoboni, G. B., Ugrinowitsch, C., et al. (2020). Muscle hypertrophy response is affected by previous resistance training volume in trained individuals. J. Strength Cond. Res. 27, 1–5. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003558

- Schoenfeld, B. J., Grgic, J., and Krieger, J. (2019). How many times per week should a muscle be trained to maximize muscle hypertrophy? A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies examining the effects of resistance training frequency. J. Sports Sci. 37, 1286–1295. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1555906
- Schoenfeld, B. J., Ogborn, D., and Krieger, J. W. (2017). Dose-response relationship between weekly resistance training volume and increases in muscle mass: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Sports Sci.* 35, 1073–1082. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1210197
- Silva, N. L., Oliveira, R. B., Fleck, S. J., Leon, A. C., and Farinatti, P. (2014). Influence of strength training variables on strength gains in adults over 55 years-old: a meta-analysis of dose-response relationships. J. Sci. Med. Sport 17, 337–344. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.05.009
- Sorensen, J. R., Skousen, C., Holland, A., Williams, K., and Hyldahl, R. D. (2018). Acute extracellular matrix, inflammatory and MAPK response to lengthening contractions in elderly human skeletal muscle. *Exp. Gerontol.* 106, 28–38. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.02.013
- Souza, D. C., Viana, R. B., Coswig, V. S., Fisher, J. P., Steele, J., and Gentil, P. (2018). Comment on: volume for muscle hypertrophy and health outcomes: the most effective variable in resistance training. *Sports Med.* 48, 1281–1284. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0865-9
- Sparks, L. M. (2017). Exercise training response heterogeneity: physiological and molecular insights. *Diabetologia* 60, 2329–2336. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4461-6
- Spiering, B. A., Kraemer, W. J., Anderson, J. M., Armstrong, L. E., Nindl, B. C., Volek, J. S., et al. (2008). Resistance exercise biology: manipulation of resistance exercise programme variables determines the responses of cellular and molecular signalling pathways. *Sports Med.* 38, 527–540. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200838070-00001
- Stec, M. J., Thalacker-Mercer, A., Mayhew, D. L., Kelly, N. A., Tuggle, S. C., Merritt, E. K., et al. (2017). Randomized, four-arm, dose-response clinical trial to optimize resistance exercise training for older adults with age-related muscle atrophy. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 98–109. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.018
- Steib, S., Schoene, D., and and, Pfeifer, K. (2010). Dose-response relationship of resistance training in older adults: a meta-analysis. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 902–914. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c34465
- Tanaka, M., Wang, G., and Pitsiladis, Y. P. (2016). Advancing sports and exercise genomics: moving from hypothesis-driven single study approaches

to large multi-omics collaborative science. *Physiol. Genomics* 48, 173–174. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00009.2016

- Teodoro, J. L., da Silva, L. X. N., Fritsch, C. G., Baroni, B. M., Grazioli, R., Boeno, F. P., et al. (2019). Concurrent training performed with and without repetitions to failure in older men: a randomized clinical trial. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 1141–1152. doi: 10.1111/sms.13451
- Terzis, G., Spengos, K., Mascher, H., Georgiadis, G., Manta, P., and Blomstrand, E. (2010). The degree of p70 S6k and S6 phosphorylation in human skeletal muscle in response to resistance exercise depends on the training volume. *Eur.* J. Appl. Physiol. 110, 835–843. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1527-2
- Yang, Y., Breen, L., Burd, N. A., Hector, A. J., Churchward-Venne, T. A., Josse, A. R., et al. (2012). Resistance exercise enhances myofibrillar protein synthesis with graded intakes of whey protein in older men. *Br. J. Nutr.* 108, 1780–1788. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511007422
- Zaroni, R. S., Brigatto, F. A., Schoenfeld, B. J., Braz, T. V., Benvenutti, J. C., Germano, M. D., et al. (2019). High resistance-training frequency enhances muscle thickness in resistance-trained men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 33, S140– S151. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002643

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Santana, Castro and Cavaglieri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Association Between Changes in Serum and Skeletal Muscle Metabolomics Profile With Maximum Power Output Gains in Response to Different Aerobic Training Programs: The Times Study

Alex Castro <sup>1,2\*</sup>, Renata G. Duft<sup>1</sup>, Silas Gabriel de Oliveira-Nunes<sup>1</sup>, André L. L. de Andrade<sup>3</sup>, Claudia R. Cavaglieri<sup>1</sup> and Mara Patricia Traina Chacon-Mikahil<sup>1\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Robinson Ramírez-Vélez, Public University of Navarre, Spain

frontiers

in Physiology

#### Reviewed by:

Cristina Piras, University of Cagliari, Italy Leonardo Coelho Rabello de Lima, São Paulo State University, Brazil

#### \*Correspondence:

Alex Castro ax.castro@yahoo.com.br orcid.org/0000-0002-0298-2672 Mara Patricia Traina Chacon-Mikahil marapatricia@fef.unicamp.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 10 August 2021 Accepted: 23 September 2021 Published: 20 October 2021

#### Citation:

Castro A, Duft RG, de Oliveira-Nunes SG, de Andrade ALL, Cavaglieri CR and Chacon-Mikahil MPT (2021) Association Between Changes in Serum and Skeletal Muscle Metabolomics Profile With Maximum Power Output Gains in Response to Different Aerobic Training Programs: The Times Study. Front. Physiol. 12:756618. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.756618 <sup>2</sup> Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Federal University of São Carlos (UFSCar), São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> School of Medical Sciences, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), São Paulo, Brazil

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Exercise Physiology, School of Physical Education, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), São Paulo, Brazil,

**Purpose:** High heterogeneity of the response of cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) to standardized exercise doses has been reported in different training programs, but the associated mechanisms are not widely known. This study investigated whether changes in the metabolic profile and pathways in blood serum and the skeletal muscle are associated with the inter-individual variability of CRF responses to 8-wk of continuous endurance training (ET) or high-intensity interval training (HIIT).

**Methods:** Eighty men, young and sedentary, were randomized into three groups, of which 70 completed 8 wk of intervention (> 90% of sessions): ET, HIIT, or control. Blood and vastus lateralis muscle tissue samples, as well as the measurement of CRF [maximal power output (MPO)] were obtained before and after the intervention. Blood serum and skeletal muscle samples were analyzed by 600 MHz <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectroscopy (metabolomics). Associations between the pretraining to post-training changes in the metabolic profile and MPO gains were explored via three analytical approaches: (1) correlation between pretraining to post-training changes in metabolites' concentration levels and MPO gains; (2) significant differences between low and high MPO responders; and (3) metabolite contribution to significantly altered pathways related to MPO gains. After, metabolites within these three levels of evidence were analyzed by multiple stepwise linear regression. The significance level was set at 1%.

**Results:** The metabolomics profile panel yielded 43 serum and 70 muscle metabolites. From the metabolites within the three levels of evidence (15 serum and 4 muscle metabolites for ET; 5 serum and 1 muscle metabolites for HIIT), the variance in MPO gains was explained: 77.4% by the intervention effects, 6.9, 2.3, 3.2, and 2.2% by changes in skeletal muscle pyruvate and valine, serum glutamine and creatine phosphate, respectively, in ET; and 80.9% by the intervention effects; 7.2, 2.2, and 1.2% by changes in skeletal muscle glycolate, serum creatine and creatine phosphate, respectively, in

78

HIIT. The most changed and impacted pathways by these metabolites were: arginine and proline metabolism, glycine, serine and threonine metabolism, and glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism for both ET and HIIT programs; and additional alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, arginine biosynthesis, glycolysis/gluconeogenesis, and pyruvate metabolism for ET.

**Conclusion:** These results suggest that regulating the metabolism of amino acids and carbohydrates may be a potential mechanism for understanding the inter-individual variability of CRF in responses to ET and HIIT programs.

Keywords: trainability, cardiorespiratory fitness, metabolomics, metabolites, responsiveness

# INTRODUCTION

Physical inactivity and low levels of cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) are currently considered a threat to public health. As a consequence, international agencies recommend that adults accumulate  $\geq 150 \text{ min} \cdot \text{wk}^{-1}$  of moderate-intensity cardiorespiratory exercise training,  $\geq$ 75 min·wk<sup>-1</sup> of vigorousintensity cardiorespiratory exercise training, or a combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity exercise to achieve a total energy expenditure of  $\geq$ 500-1000 MET·wk<sup>-1</sup>, in an attempt to minimize the occurrence of non-communicable diseases (Garber et al., 2011; Riebe et al., 2018). However, several previous investigations demonstrate a wide variability of individual responses to standardized doses of exercise. There is a substantial number of individuals who do not show clinically important increases in CRF after completing traditional continuous endurance training (ET) or alternative high-intensity interval training (HIIT) programs conducted under current recommendations for physical activity practices (Bouchard and Rankinen, 2001; Ross et al., 2015a; Williams et al., 2019, 2021; Bonafiglia et al., 2021).

In the past decade, with the technological advance of the comprehensive methods that make up the omic sciences (Tanaka et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2020) new opportunities to investigate the integrative mechanisms of the variability of individual CRF responses to exercise have emerged (Sanford et al., 2020). So far, there are few genomic (Bouchard et al., 2011; Sarzynski et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2021), proteomic (Robbins et al., 2021), transcriptomic (Timmons et al., 2010; Keller et al., 2011; Dias et al., 2015) and metabolomic (Lewis et al., 2010; Huffman et al., 2014; Castro A., et al., 2019) studies involving the use of omic methods to study the variability of responses to exercise.

Particularly, metabolomics is a powerful metabolic phenotyping technology that allows to identify and quantify metabolites that reflect the biochemical activity underlying different physiological conditions and complex phenotypes (Rinschen et al., 2019; Wishart, 2019a), such as CRF (Castro A., et al., 2019; Castro et al., 2021). In this sense, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is known for its reproducibility, nondestructive nature and minimal sample preparation (Wishart, 2019b), being one of the most widely employed metabolomics platforms for detecting and quantifying metabolites and their metabolic pathways related to exercise, physical activity, and health (Duft et al., 2017b; Kelly et al., 2020). Based on a metabolomic approach, Huffman et al. identified, in different training programs, that the improvement in CRF is associated with changes in the concentrations of acetyl-heavy chains and intermediates of the citric acid cycle in the skeletal muscle, accompanied by changes in the expression of genes related to the pathways of production of these metabolites (Huffman et al., 2014). More recently, Castro et al. showed a panel of baseline serum and skeletal muscle metabolites associated with inter-individual response variability of CRF (TIMES Study), suggesting involvement of amino acid metabolism and translation processes in ET and HIIT programs, and carbohydrate metabolism in ET program (Castro A., et al., 2019).

Although the study of the variability of responses to training has received some attention in the last 4 decades (Bouchard et al., 1980, 2011; Lortie et al., 1984; Bouchard and Rankinen, 2001; Kohrt et al., 2004; Ross et al., 2015a, 2019; Castro A., et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019; Bonafiglia et al., 2021; Meyler et al., 2021), as we know, the metabolic determinants of inter-individual variability of CRF in response to different aerobic training programs, especially under an integrated view of the adaptations in blood serum and skeletal muscle tissue, remain largely unknown. Understanding through which metabolic pathways individuals improve CRF in different aerobic training programs may be useful to guide new studies on the mechanisms related to the variability of CRF responses and pave the way for novel CRF-enhancing strategies in exercise training routine. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate whether changes in the metabolic profile and metabolic pathways of blood serum and skeletal muscle tissue are associated with the inter-individual variability of CRF responses to ET and HIIT programs.

## METHODS

The sample, study design, and exercise training protocol of the TraInability and MEtabolomicS study (TIMES study) have been described in details previously (Castro A., et al., 2019).

#### **Participants**

A total of eighty healthy and sedentary young Caucasian men, which seventy were defined as completers [age:  $23.7 \pm 3.0$  yr; height:  $1.74 \pm 0.06$  m; body mass:  $75.2 \pm 8.8$ ; body fat:  $20.0 \pm$ 

7.4%; body mass index (BMI): 24.8  $\pm$  2.5 kg·m<sup>-2</sup>], from the TIMES study, were used for analysis (Castro A., et al., 2019). Briefly, participants were sedentary and did not engage in regular exercise defined as 30 min.wk<sup>-1</sup> at an energy expenditure of 6 METS or more in the previous 4 months (Riebe et al., 2018; Castro A., et al., 2019; Castro et al., 2021). All participants were free from diabetes (fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol·L–1), hypertension (blood pressure > 140/90 mmHg), dyslipidemia (based on medication use), severe obesity (defined as body mass index > 33 kg·m<sup>-2</sup>), smoking, metabolic disorders, heart diseases, musculoskeletal problems interfering with exercise or significant chronic respiratory conditions (Castro A., et al., 2019).

Written informed consent was obtained from each participant. The study was approved by the University's Research Ethics Committee (Number: 2.717.688; CAAE: 52997216.8.0000.5404) and included in the Brazilian Clinical Trials Registry (ensaiosclinicos.gov.br; RBR-3rh38g).

### **Study Design**

Prior to the intervention, blood and vastus lateralis muscle tissue samples were obtained. These evaluations were preceded by 12h of fasting following a standardized meal. After 72h, the body composition was evaluated (full body plethysmography), followed by cardiorespiratory assessment and retest 48 h later (Skinner et al., 1999). Seventy-two h after the last pre-training evaluation, 80 participants were randomized into three groups, with a 3:3:1 allocation ratio, and of the total sample, 70 completed the eight wk of intervention (exercise adherence > 90%): ET (*n* = 30), HIIT (n = 30) and Control (CO, n = 10). This unequal randomization strategy was used to ensure adequate sample size for correlation analysis and subsequent analysis of high and low responders in the intervention groups. After the 4th wk of intervention, cardiorespiratory assessment was performed to adjust the training's intensity. In the end, after 48 h of the last training session, the assessments referred to in the pre-training moment were repeated (Castro A., et al., 2019).

# Standardization of Meals Prior to Data Collection

The night before the blood collections and muscle biopsies (12 h before), the participants consumed a standardized and balanced meal (60% carbohydrate, 25% lipid and 15% protein), with an energy value corresponding to 30% of the total individual energy expenditure estimated in order to avoid effects of dietary variations on the metabolic profile of the blood and muscle tissue samples (Peake et al., 2014; Shrestha et al., 2015; Castro et al., 2020).

### **Blood and Muscle Tissue Samples**

The venous blood and muscle tissue samples were collected between 7 am and 10 am. After the blood samples' collection, they were kept at rest in a serological tube for 30 min, and then centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 min. Afterwards, the serum aliquots were obtained and stored in a freezer at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. Following the blood collections, tissue biopsies of the dominant lower limb's vastus lateralis muscle were performed according to the procedure described above (Shanely et al., 2014). Prior to the tissue's extraction, the area was shaved and cleaned with an antiseptic. A small area over the selected region was anesthetized with 2% xylocaine, injected subcutaneously. After anesthesia, a small incision ( $\sim$ 5 mm) was made up to the muscle fascia using a surgical scalpel. The biopsy needle was then inserted into the muscle ( $\sim$ 3 cm) to obtain the sample. After the tissues' removal, the incision was closed and covered with bandages. After extraction, all samples were cleaned (free of blood and excess connective tissue), aliquoted, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for further analysis.

## **Body Composition Assessment**

The participants were instructed to drink only water and not to consume food or exercise 2 h prior to the assessment. For plethysmography measurements, the participants were asked to wear only trunks and a shower cap, without shoes and metallic accessories. Body mass and height were measured using a digital scale and stadiometer (BOD POD, Cosmed, Chicago, USA), respectively. Body density was then assessed using a fullbody plethysmograph calibrated according to the manufacturer's recommendations (BOD POD<sup>®</sup>; Body Composition System; Life Measurement Instruments; Concord, CA) (McCrory et al., 1995). In all evaluations, the ambient temperature and the humidity conditions were maintained between 20–22°C and ~60%, respectively, without significant variations in atmospheric pressure. Based on these data, body density was converted to fat percentage using the Siri equation (Siri, 1993).

## **Cardiorespiratory Assessment**

Cardiorespiratory assessment was performed during an incremental test until exhaustion using a cycle ergometer with electromagnetic braking (Corival 400, Quinton® Instrument Co., Groningen, Holland). Heart rate (HR) was continuously monitored by a cardio-frequency monitor (S810, Polar, Keple, Finland). The subjective perception of effort was recorded at the final 15 s, using the 6-20 Borg scale (Borg and Linderho, 1967). Before and after each test, the cycle ergometer was calibrated according to the manufacturer's recommendations. After 5 min of rest on the ergometer cycle, the incremental test started, with a 3-min warmup at 50 W, followed by 25 W.min<sup>-1</sup> increments (Buchfuhrer et al., 1983). The pedaling cadence was maintained between 70-80 rpm. The test was interrupted when the participant was unable to continue and/or did not maintain a minimum cadence of 70 rpm despite verbal encouragement (Thompson et al., 2013).

The resting HR values were estimated from the average of the values recorded during the 5-min rest (Swain and Leutholtz, 1997). The maximum HR (HR<sub>MAX</sub>) was defined as the mean value in the test's final 10 s. The reserve HR (HRR) was estimated by subtracting the values at rest from the respective maximum values achieved in the incremental test (Swain and Leutholtz, 1997; Lounana et al., 2007). MPO was estimated as  $W+[25\cdot(t/60)]$ , where W is the last load reached and *t* is the number of seconds in the test's final load (Kuipers et al., 1985). The highest MPO value recorded between tests was considered for the analyses and defined as the measure of CRF (Castro A., et al., 2019; Castro et al., 2021). The within-test coefficient of

variations (CV) and intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) were 2.8% and 0.98, respectively.

Additionally, an incremental validation step was conducted based on the HR<sub>MAX</sub> achieved in relation to the HR<sub>MAX</sub> expected, considering all the tests performed by the participants. As previously reported, the intra-participant standard deviation for HR<sub>MAX</sub> derived from repeated measures is expected to be around 4 bpm (Skinner et al., 1999). Thus, the cutoff value corresponding to twice the intra-participant standard deviation, or 8 bpm, was used as a validation criterion. In the case of the pre-training tests, the highest MPO was retained as reference. In the posttraining moment, for the tests to be validated and the participant considered for further analysis, the HR<sub>MAX</sub> achieved could not have been 8 bpm higher than the HR<sub>MAX</sub> obtained in the pretraining test. When this criterion was not met, the participant was excluded from the study (Castro A., et al., 2019).

### **Training Protocol**

Throughout the training program, the exercise intensity was individualized and customized for each participant based upon HRR. Both ET and HIIT programs were designed to obtain the same exercise volume in total and by session. A complete and detailed description of training volume balancing between groups can be found elsewhere (Castro A., et al., 2019).

The training program was carried out on an ergometer cycle (U1x, Matrix, Brazil), with 40 min per session, for eight wk, divided into Stage 1 (first four wk) and Stage 2 (last four wk). At the end of Stage 1, a cardiorespiratory assessment was performed to adjust the training intensity to be prescribed in Stage 2. For ET, the participants exercised for 40 min at 70% of HRR, three times a wk, in Stage 1; and for 40 min at 75% of HRR, four times a wk, in Stage 2. For HIIT, the participants exercised for 40 min, with 5 min at 50% of HRR, followed by five 4-min intervals at 90% of HRR (effort phase) interspersed with 3-min intervals at 50% of HRR (recovery phase), three times a week, in Stage 1; and 5 min at 60% of HRR, followed by five 4-min intervals at 90% of HRR interspersed with 3-min intervals at 60% of HRR, four times a week, in Stage 2. For the control, the participants were instructed not to perform physical exercises for eight wk. After four wk, the control participants were contacted again to remind them about the importance of remaining sedentary and to schedule the tests for the end of the eight-wk period.

All training sessions were supervised by an experienced professional to ensure that the target HR and pedaling cadence (70–80 rpm) were maintained. All training sessions were carried out in a reserved environment, with temperature controlled between  $21-23^{\circ}$ C.

## Preparation of Blood Samples for Metabolomics

Prior to the analysis of the blood samples, 3 kDa filters (Amicon Ultra) were washed with 500  $\mu$ l of Milli-Q H<sub>2</sub>O, followed by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm and 4°C for 10 min. After the fifth wash, spin was performed (inversion of the filter and rotation at 8,000 rpm for 5 s) to eliminate any remnants of Milli-Q H<sub>2</sub>O. Subsequently, 500  $\mu$ l of blood serum were added to the filter and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm and 4°C for 45 min. After this

period, the filtered serum (250  $\mu$ l) were diluted in an deuterium oxide solution (290  $\mu$ l D<sub>2</sub>O, 99.9 %; Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc., Massachusetts, USA) containing a phosphate buffer (60  $\mu$ l, Monobasic Sodium Phosphate, Na<sub>2</sub>PPO<sub>4</sub> – H<sub>2</sub>O-137.99 g/mol; Dibasic Sodium Phosphate, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>3</sub> – 141.96 g/mol; 0.1 M, pH 7.4), 0.5 TMSP-d4 (3-(trimethylsilyl)-2,2',3,3'-tetradeuteropropionic acid from Sigma-Aldrich), and added to a 5 mm NMR tube (Wilmad Standard Series 5 mm, Sigma-Aldrich®) for immediate acquisition of the spectra on the spectrometer (Duft et al., 2017a; Castro A., et al., 2019).

## Preparation of Muscle Tissue Samples for Metabolomics

The muscle tissue samples were processed following the Le Belle protocol (Belle et al., 2002) adapted by Castro et al. (Castro A., et al., 2019). Firstly, the samples (~40 mg) were weighed and added to a cold methanol/chloroform solution (2:1 v/v, total of 2.5 ml), after which they were homogenized on ice (3×30s repetitions, interspersed with 10-s pauses) and sonicated for 3 min, with 10-s pauses between minutes. Subsequently, a cold chloroform/Milli-Q water solution (1:1 v/v, total of 2.5 ml) was added to the samples, which were then briefly stirred (to form an emulsion) and centrifuged at 4°C for 30 min (2000 g). The top phase of the mixture (methanol, water and polar metabolites) was collected and completely dried in a vacuum concentrator (miVac Duo Concentrator, Genevac, UK). The remaining solid phase was rehydrated in 0.6 ml deuterium oxide containing phosphate buffer (0.1 M, 7.4 pH) and 0.5 mM of TMSP-d4. Finally, the samples were added to a 5 mm NMR tube (Wilmad Standard Series 5 mm, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) for immediate acquisition of the spectra on the spectrometer.

# Acquisition of Spectra and Quantification of Metabolites

To obtain and quantify the metabolites via metabolomics, the spectra were acquired from the serum and skeletal muscle tissue samples at the National Biosciences Laboratory (LNbio http://lnbio.cnpem.br/) using the VnmrJ software (Varian NMR Systems) and an Inova Agilent NMR spectrometer (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA), operating at a resonance frequency of <sup>1</sup>H 600 MHz and a constant temperature of 298 K (25°C). A total of 256 free induction decays (FID) with 32-k data points over a spectral width of 8,000 Hz were used, with an acquisition time of 4s and 1.5-s intervals between scans (relaxation delay). The spectral phase and baseline corrections, as well as the identification and quantification of the metabolites present in the samples, were performed using the Suite 7.6 Chenomx NMR software (Chenomx Inc., Edmonton, AB, Canada), with TMSP-d4 (concentration known) as a reference for quantifying the concentrations of other metabolites. All NMR spectra were processed with 0.5 Hz line broadening (lb) to smooth out the noise in the spectral signals. To inhibit any bias, the samples were randomly profiled by a blinded evaluator. Metabolites (methanol and ethanol) involved in the reagents used in the samples' collection and preparation were not considered for analysis. In addition, in relation to serum

metabolites included in the study (Castro A., et al., 2019), the median within-test CV and ICC were 8.5% (range: 3–23%) and 0.98 (range: 0.79–1.00), respectively.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

For all variables, the data distributions were checked for major deviation from normality. Logarithmic transformations ( $\log_2$ ) were used to improve normality of distributions when appropriate (skewness values > 3.0). All transformed data were presented in their original scale for easier interpretation.

Pearson's correlation test was used to analyze the association of the changes ( $\Delta$ , post-training values - pretraining values) in the metabolites' concentration levels and participant's physical characteristics with MPO gains. Afterwards, the ET and HIIT groups were fragmented, separately, into new subgroups, based on the first tercile (low responders, LRE) and third tercile (high responders, HRE) of the distribution of MPO gains in response to training (Castro A., et al., 2019). Comparisons at the pretraining and of the pre- to post-training changes between the LRE and HRE groups were performed using Student's t-test for independent samples. These analyses were performed using the PASW statistics software version 18.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL), and the significance level adopted was 1% for these hypothesisgenerating analyses, assuming that a Bonferroni correction would be too conservative, leading to a high rate of false-negative results. In addition, this approach was supplemented by estimating the effect size and 95% confidence interval for each comparison between LRE and HRE. Thus, when the confidence intervals did not cross zero, the differences were considered significant (Nakagawa and Cuthill, 2007). This approach helped to minimize the occurrence of type II error in the study.

For the identification of metabolic pathways altered by training associated with MPO gains, based on all correlational analyses performed, the metabolites that showed a nominal correlation of  $r \ge |0.2|$  were retained for pathway overrepresentation and pathway topology analyses (Castro A., et al., 2019; Castro et al., 2021). Pathway analyses were based on the "Homo sapiens" library using Hypergeometric Test for Over Representation Analysis and Relative-Betweenness Centrality for Test Pathway Topology Analysis, as previously described (Xia and Wishart, 2010). The significance level was adjusted considering a false discovery rate of 0.1 (Benjamini and Ochberg, 1995) for the purpose of corrections due to multiple tests (van den Oord and Sullivan, 2003).

Finally, to determine the main altered metabolites associated with the MPO gains, only those supported by three levels of evidence were selected: (1) correlation with MPO gains ( $r \ge |0.2|$ ); (2) significant difference between HRE and LRE; and (3) contributing to significant metabolic pathways associated with MPO gains. Afterwards, multiple linear regression models with stepwise selection were used to determine the variance in MPO gains explained by the changes observed in each serum and/or skeletal muscle metabolites retained by the three levels of evidence and to point out the key metabolites. To validate the models, the assumption of multicollinearity of measures between the independent variables was assessed by the variance

**TABLE 1** | Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) for the association between MPO gains and the pretraining to post-training changes in serum metabolites' concentration levels metabolic levels in the TIMES study.

Serum metabolites <sup>#</sup>	ET ( <i>n</i> = 30)	HIIT ( <i>n</i> = 29
		∆ MPO
Amino acids		
Alanine	-0.04	-0.06
Asparagine	-0.39*	-0.10
Glutamine	-0.51**	-0.26
Glycine	-0.41*	-0.14
Histidine	-0.33	0.02
Isoleucine	-0.16	-0.31
Lysine	-0.01	0.13
Methionine	-0.48**	0.16
Phenylalanine	-0.20	0.23
Proline	-0.03	-0.19
Threonine	-0.41*	-0.04
Tyrosine	-0.05	0.11
Valine	-0.23	-0.31
Carboxylic Acids		
Betaine	-0.35	-0.20
Creatinine	-0.32	0.05
Guanidinoacetate	-0.34	- <b>0.45</b> *
N,N–Dimethylglycine	-0.18	-0.03
Ornithine	-0.50**	-0.22
Succinate	-0.39*	-0.31
Creatine	-0.09	-0.54**
Creatine phosphate	-0.48**	-0.48*
Formate	0.11	0.29
Fatty acids	0.11	0.23
2-hydroxy-isocaproate	-0.18	-0.24
2-hydroxy-isovalerate	-0.05	-0.24 -0.14
Methylsuccinate	-0.03	-0.14 -0.07
O-Acetylcarnitine	-0.64**	-0.07
	-0.04	-0.20
Hydroxy Acids	-0.41*	-0.31
3-hydroxybutyrate		
Lactate	0.04	0.05
Glycolate	-0.32	-0.02
Imidazopyrimidines	0.10	0.05
Hypoxanthine	-0.16	-0.05
Xanthine	-0.41*	-0.24
Organic Carbonic Acids	0.07	
N–methylhydantoin	-0.07	-0.17 <sup>LT</sup>
Urea	-0.08	-0.23
Organic Oxygen Compounds		
Glycerol	-0.31	-0.15
Carnitine	-0.42*	-0.29
Choline	-0.30	-0.01
Citrate	-0.29	0.03
Dimethyl sulfone	-0.05	-0.02
Trimethylamine	-0.25	0.24
Propylene glycol	-0.45*	-0.21

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Serum metabolites <sup>#</sup>	ET ( <i>n</i> = 30)	HIIT ( <i>n</i> = 29)
	Δ ΜΡΟ	∆ MPO
Unclustered		
Dimethylamine	-0.12	0.05
Inosine	-0.13	-0.14
Pyruvate	-0.12	-0.15

ET, Endurance training; HIIT, High–intensity interval training; MPO, Maximal power output;  $\Delta$ , post–training values – pretraining values. \*P < 0.05. \*\*P < 0.01. <sup>LT</sup> Data log transformed before analysis. Values in bold are correlation coefficients (r)  $\geq$  |0.2|. <sup>#</sup>The metabolites' chemical taxonomy was based on the classes and subclasses of the Human Metabolome Database.

inflation factor (VIF 1); the normality of residue distribution was determined by inspecting the frequency histograms; and the global influence of each case in the model was analyzed by inspecting the standardized residues and Cook's distance (Field, 2009).

### RESULTS

#### **Participants**

The information regarding the correlations between the pretraining participant's characteristics and MPO gains were described in a previous publication (Castro A., et al., 2019). Briefly, there were no significant correlations between pretraining age, body mass, body fat percentage, BMI, and MPO with MPO gains for ET or HIIT programs (P > 0.01 for all).

## Association Between Changes in Metabolites Concentration Levels and MPO Gains

There were no significant correlations between MPO gains and pretraining to post-training changes in: body mass (ET: r = 0.26, P = 0.165, n = 30; HIIT: r = 0.22, P = 0.258, n = 30); body fat (ET: r = -0.17, P = 0.380, n = 30; HIIT: r = -0.04, P = 0.849, n = 29); and fat-free mass (ET: r = 0.29, P = 0.119, n = 30; HIIT: r = 0.36, P = 0.054, n = 29).

Of the 43 metabolites quantified in blood serum, 24 and 19 showed correlation coefficients  $(r) \ge |0.2|$  for the association between MPO gains and the pretraining to post-training changes in metabolites' concentration levels of ET and HIIT programs, respectively (**Table 1**). For ET, the most correlated metabolites were glutamine, methionine, ornithine, creatine phosphate, and o-acetylcarnitine (P < 0.01 for all), asparagine, glycine, threonine, succinate, 3-hydroxybutyrate, xanthine, carnitine, and propylene glycol (P < 0.05 for all), while for HIIT, the most correlated were creatine (P < 0.01, guanidinoacetate and creatine phosphate (P < 0.05 for both). These correlations were moderate (ET:  $0.39 \le r \le 0.64$ ; HIIT:  $0.45 \le r \le 0.54$ ) and negative for all serum metabolites.

Of the 70 metabolites quantified in the skeletal muscle, 42 and 18 showed correlation coefficients  $(r) \ge |0.2|$  for the association between MPO gains and the pretraining to post-training changes

**TABLE 2** | Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) for the association between MPO gains and the pretraining to post-training changes in skeletal muscle metabolites' concentration levels in the TIMES study.

Skeletal muscle metabolites <sup>#</sup>	ET ( <i>n</i> = 29)	HIIT ( <i>n</i> = 28
	Δ MPO	∆ MPO
Alcohols and Polyols		
Ethylene glycol	-0.01	0.09
Myo-inositol	-0.15	-0.06
Amino acids		
Alanine	-0.41*	0.03
Anserine	<b>-0.43</b> *	0.09
Beta–Alanine	<b>−0.24</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.17
Glutamate	<b>–0.31</b> <sup>⊥⊤</sup>	0.06
Glutamine	-0.19 <sup>LT</sup>	0.09
Glycine	<b>-0.42</b> * LT	0.05
Histidine	-0.50** LT	0.16
soleucine	-0.29	-0.07
Leucine	-0.21	-0.17
Phenylalanine	-0.35	0.21
Proline	<b>-0.32</b> <sup>⊥⊺</sup>	-0.16
Threonine	<b>-0.45</b> * <sup>L</sup> ⊺	0.11
Tyrosine	<b>-0.47</b> * <sup>LT</sup>	-0.12
Valine	0.34	0.19
Carboxylic Acids	0101	0.10
Acetate	-0.34	-0.18
Betaine	0.05	0.19
Citrate	0.09	0.36
Creatine	<b>−0.26</b> <sup>LT</sup>	-0.18
Creatine phosphate	0.08 <sup>LT</sup>	0.22
Creatinine	-0.28	-0.11
Formate	-0.18 <sup>LT</sup>	-0.09
Fumarate	-0.33	-0.14
Glutathione	-0.17	0.25
sobutyrate	-0.61** LT	-0.36
socitrate	-0.21	0.23
Valeate	0.08	0.11
Valonate	<b>−0.26</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.03
N,N–Dimethylglycine	-0.18	0.12
N-Acetylaspartate	-0.10	0.21
N-Acetylglutamine	-0.04	0.08
Nicotinate	0.32	0.53**
Ornithine	-0.48**	-0.16
Succinate	_0.17 <sup>LT</sup>	0.09
π-Methyl-histidine	-0.13	0.09
$\tau$ -Methyl–histidine		-0.35 <sup>LT</sup>
,	0.06	-0.35
	–0.35 <sup>⊥⊺</sup>	0.10
2-Hydroxy-isocaproate		0.12
3-Hydroxy-isovalerate	-0.12 <sup>LT</sup>	0.36
O-Acetylcarnitine	<b>−0.22</b> <sup>LT</sup>	-0.26
Hydroxy Acids	0.40*	0.00**
Glycolate	0.42*	0.68**
Lactate	-0.39*	-0.08

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Skeletal muscle metabolites <sup>#</sup>	ET (n = 29)	HIIT ( <i>n</i> = 28)
	Δ MPO	Δ ΜΡΟ
3-Methylxanthine	-0.48**	0.11
Oxipurinol	-0.08 <sup>LT</sup>	0.11
Theophylline	-0.33	0.03
Nucleosides and Nucleotides		
ADP	-0.05	0.22
AMP	-0.52**	-0.19
ATP	<b>−0.27</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.05
NAD+	-0.04	0.27
NADP+	<b>-0.22</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.11
Organic Oxygen Compounds		
2-Phosphoglycerate	-0.44*	-0.42*
Glucose	-0.50**	-0.14
Glycerol	-0.01	-0.11
Organic Nitrogen Compounds		
Carnitine	-0.37*	-0.06
Choline	0.19	0.16
Dimethylamine	<b>-0.32</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.13
Histamine	-0.56** LT	<b>-0.43</b> *
Methylamine	<b>-0.34</b> <sup>LT</sup>	-0.34
N–Nitrosodimethylamine	-0.42*	-0.15
Trimethylamine	<b>−0.31</b> <sup>LT</sup>	0.07
Trimethylamine N-oxide	<b>-0.40</b> * LT	0.18
Tartrate	0.19	0.12
Unclustered		
2–Hydroxyphenylacetate	-0.31	-0.10
Acetamide	-0.07	0.38
Carnosine	-0.14	-0.01
Dimethyl sulfone	-0.02	0.05
Niacinamide	-0.47**	-0.16
Pyrimidine	-0.20	-0.04
Pyruvate	-0.55**	0.00
Taurine	-0.03 <sup>LT</sup>	0.02

ET, Endurance training; HIIT, High–intensity interval training; MPO, Maximal power output;  $\Delta$ , post–training values – pretraining values. \*P < 0.05. \*\*P < 0.01. <sup>LT</sup> Data log transformed before analysis. Values in bold are correlation coefficients (r)  $\geq$ |0.2]. # The metabolites' chemical taxonomy was based on the classes and subclasses of the Human Metabolome Database.

in metabolites' concentration levels of ET and HIIT programs, respectively (**Table 2**). For ET, the most correlated metabolites were isobutyrate, histamine, pyruvate, AMP, glucose, histidine, 3-methylxanthine, ornithine, niacinamide (P < 0.01 for all), tyrosine, threonine, 2-phosphoglycerate, anserine, glycolate, glycine, N-nitrosodimethylamine, alanine, trimethylamine N-oxide, lactate and carnitine (P < 0.05 for all), while for HIIT, the most correlated were glycolate, nicotinate (P < 0.01 for both), histamine and 2-phosphoglycerate (P < 0.05 for both). These correlations were moderate (ET:  $0.37 \leq |r| \leq 0.61$ ; HIIT:  $0.42 \leq |r| \leq 0.68$ ) and negative for all these skeletal muscle metabolites, except for glycolate

in both training programs and nicotinate in HIIT, which were positive.

# Differences Between Low and High Responders (LRE and HRE)

As demonstrated in previous study (Castro A., et al., 2019), there were no baseline differences between LRE and HRE for age, height, body mass, body fat, BMI,  $HR_{MAX}$  and MPO in the ET and HIIT programs (P > 0.01).

After ET, the pretraining to post-training changes for HRE showed a reduction in the serum levels of 3-hydroxybutyrate, asparagine, betaine, carnitine, citrate, creatine phosphate, creatinine, glutamine, glycine, glycolate, guanidinoacetate, histidine, methionine, O-acetylcarnitine, ornithine, propylene glycol, succinate, threonine, trimethylamine and xanthine, as well as lower increase in choline and glycerol levels compared to pretraining to post-training changes of LRE. The effect size (Cohen's *d*) for these comparisons was classified as wide, ranging from 0.99 to 1.98 (**Table 3**). In the skeletal muscle, the pretraining to post-training changes for HRE showed a higher reduction in the levels of histamine and isobutyrate, increase of glycolate and valine, and a reduction of 3-methylxanthine and pyruvate (effect size: 1.14 to 1.29) compared to LRE (**Table 4**).

After HIIT, the pretraining to post-training changes for HRE showed a reduction in the serum levels of carnitine, creatine, creatine phosphate, guanidinoacetate, propylene glycol and succinate, and a lower increase in valine levels compared to LRE. The effect size for these comparisons was classified as wide, ranging from 1.09 to 1.63 (**Table 3**). In the skeletal muscle, HRE showed an increase in the levels of acetamide, glycolate and nicotinate (effect size: -1.17 to -2.27) and a reduction of isobutyrate levels (effect size: 1.37) compared to LRE (**Table 4**).

#### Metabolic Pathways

For pathway analysis, pretraining to post-training changed metabolites that were correlated at  $r \ge |0.2|$  with MPO gains were used, separately for serum (ET: 24 metabolites; HIIT: 19 metabolites) and skeletal muscle (ET: 42 metabolites; HIIT: 18 metabolites) in each exercise program. A total of 18 distinct and significantly changed pathways were identified and related to MPO gains, at a false discovery rate of 0.1. From these pathways, only 6 in serum (aminoacyltRNA biosynthesis, arginine and proline metabolism, arginine biosynthesis, butanoate metabolism, glycine serine and threonine metabolism, and valine leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis) and 4 in skeletal muscle (alanine aspartate and glutamate metabolism, citrate cycle, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism, histidine metabolism) were similar between ET and HIIT programs. The complete list of significant pathways and their related metabolites for each training program are summarized in detail in Supplementary Table 1 and Figure 1.

### Summary of Key Altered Metabolites Associated With MPO Gains

The altered metabolites associated with gains in MPO were identified based on three levels of evidence, previously described: (1) correlation with MPO gains ( $r \ge |0.2|$ ); (2) significant

Trainability and Metabolomics Study

Frontiers in	
Physiology	
www.frontiersin.org	

Metabolites (mM)#				ET						Metabolites (mM)#			ŀ	шт					
	LRE	E (n =	= 10)	HRI	E (n =	= 10)	ES	95%	CI		LRE	E (n =	: 9)	HRI	E (n =	= 10)	ES	95%	CI
3-Hydroxybutyrate	0.1124	±	0.1501	-0.0393	±	0.0889*	1.23	0.22	2.24	2-Hydroxy-isocaproate	0.0210	±	0.0341	-0.0002	±	0.0171	0.80	-0.19	1.79
Asparagine	0.0212	$\pm$	0.0210	-0.0030	±	0.0163**	1.29	0.27	2.31	3-Hydroxybutyrate	0.1011	±	0.2216	-0.0228	±	0.1942	0.60	-0.38	1.57
Betaine	0.0239	±	0.0293	-0.0076	±	0.0117**	1.41	0.37	2.45	Betaine	0.0197	±	0.0414	0.0039	±	0.0133	0.53	-0.44	1.50
Carnitine	0.0256	±	0.0280	-0.0051	±	0.0127**	1.41	0.37	2.45	Carnitine	0.0139	±	0.0211	-0.0037	±	0.0092*	1.10	0.08	2.13
Choline	0.0045	±	0.0027	0.0004	±	0.0033**	1.35	0.33	2.38	Creatine	0.0057	±	0.0102	-0.0118	±	0.0112**	1.63	0.53	2.73
Citrate	0.0504	±	0.0741	-0.0127	±	0.0256*	1.14	0.14	2.14	Creatine phosphate	0.0041	±	0.0059	-0.0022	±	0.0032**	1.34	0.29	2.40
Creatine phosphate	0.0023	$\pm$	0.0058	-0.0020	±	0.0020*	1.00	0.01	1.98	Formate	-0.0117	±	0.0112	0.0018	±	0.0155*	-0.98	-1.99	0.03
Creatinine	0.0563	±	0.0682	-0.0080	±	0.0262	1.24	0.23	2.26	Glutamine	0.1092	±	0.1504	0.0020	±	0.0804	0.90	-0.10	1.91
Glutamine	0.1128	$\pm$	0.1875	-0.1211	±	0.1757**	1.29	0.27	2.31	Guanidinoacetate	0.0138	±	0.0295	-0.0189	±	0.0209*	1.29	0.24	2.34
Glycerol	0.1507	±	0.1081	0.0012	±	0.0484**	1.78	0.69	2.88	Isoleucine	0.0242	±	0.0212	0.0047	±	0.0235	0.87	-0.13	1.87
Glycine	0.1584	±	0.1875	-0.0356	±	0.0988**	1.29	0.28	2.31	O-Acetylcarnitine	0.0043	±	0.0065	0.0011	±	0.0059	0.53	-0.44	1.50
Glycolate	0.0145	$\pm$	0.0175	-0.0021	±	0.0062*	1.26	0.25	2.28	Ornithine	0.0140	±	0.0241	0.0000	±	0.0198	0.64	-0.34	1.62
Guanidinoacetate	0.0304	±	0.0376	-0.0078	±	0.0205*	1.26	0.25	2.28	Phenylalanine	-0.0002	±	0.0143	0.0068	±	0.0146	-0.48	-1.45	0.48
Histidine	0.0344	$\pm$	0.0382	-0.0074	±	0.0268*	1.27	0.25	2.28	Propylene glycol	0.0041	±	0.0053	-0.0012	±	0.0043*	1.09	0.07	2.12
Methionine	0.0091	$\pm$	0.0099	-0.0039	±	0.0087**	1.40	0.36	2.43	Succinate	0.0057	±	0.0081	-0.0010	±	0.0027*	1.13	0.11	2.16
O-Acetylcarnitine	0.0029	$\pm$	0.0022	-0.0013	±	0.0020**	1.98	0.85	3.11	Trimethylamine	0.0001	±	0.0017	0.0006	±	0.0007	-0.45	-1.42	0.51
Ornithine	0.0267	$\pm$	0.0199	-0.0073	±	0.0213**	1.65	0.58	2.73	Urea	0.1478	±	0.2013	-0.0014	±	0.3778	0.49	-0.48	1.45
Phenylalanine	0.0136	$\pm$	0.0157	-0.0025	±	0.0179*	0.96	-0.02	1.93	Valine	0.1111	±	0.1066	0.0148	±	0.0557*	1.15	0.12	2.18
Propylene glycol	0.0051	$\pm$	0.0071	-0.0015	±	0.0042*	1.14	0.14	2.14	Xanthine	0.0030	±	0.0105	-0.0034	±	0.0097	0.63	-0.34	1.61
Succinate	0.0045	$\pm$	0.0077	-0.0037	±	0.0053*	1.23	0.22	2.24										
Threonine	0.0566	$\pm$	0.0664	-0.0214	±	0.0519**	1.31	0.29	2.33										
Trimethylamine	0.0015	±	0.0024	-0.0003	±	0.0011*	0.99	0.01	1.98										
Valine	0.1089	±	0.1515	0.0039	±	0.1110	0.79	-0.17	1.75										
Xanthine	0.0171	±	0.0128	-0.0033	±	0.0110**	1.71	0.63	2.79										

TABLE 3 | Comparison of the pretraining to post-training changes in serum metabolites' concentration levels between low responders (LRE) and high responders (HRE) to the ET and HIIT programs in the TIMES study.

The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

ET, Endurance training; HIIT, High–intensity interval training; LRE and HRE were stratified from the 1st and 3rd terciles, respectively, of the gains in maximal power output (MPO) in response to the ET and HIIT programs. ES, effect size (Cohen's d); #Metabolites with correlation coefficient (r)  $\geq$  [0.2]for the association between MPO gains and pretraining to post–training changes in serum metabolites' concentration levels.

\*\*P < 0.01 for independent t-test. \*P < 0.05 for independent t-test. Values in bold are ES and 95% CI that did not cross zero.

TABLE 4 | Comparison of the pretraining to post-training changes in skeletal muscle metabolites' concentration levels between low responders (LRE) and high responders (HRE) to the ET and HIIT programs in the TIMES study.

Metabolites (mM.g <sup>-1</sup> )	E	т	ES			Metabolites (mM.g <sup>-1</sup> )	н	IIT	ES		
	LRE ( <i>n</i> = 10)	HRE ( <i>n</i> = 10)		95%	CI		LRE ( <i>n</i> = 9)	HRE ( <i>n</i> = 8)		95%	CI
2–Hydroxy–isocaproate <sup>LT</sup>	-0.9767 ±0.0490	-1.1171±0.2971	0.66	-0.29	1.61	2–Phosphoglycerate	-0.1949 ± 1.3958	$-1.4458 \pm 1.6225$	0.83	-0.23	1.89
2–Hydroxyphenylacetate	-0.0044±0.0217	$-0.0291 \pm 0.0634$	0.52	-0.42	1.46	3–Hydroxy–isovalerate	$0.0018 \pm 0.0641$	$0.0530 \pm 0.1377$	-0.49	-1.52	0.54
2–Phosphoglycerate	0.2978±1.4179	-2.1872±3.4615	0.94	-0.04	1.92	ADP	$-0.0067 \pm 0.0154$	$0.0003 \pm 0.0100$	-0.53	-1.57	0.50
3-Methylxanthine	0.0045±0.0525	$-0.0701 \pm 0.0756^{*}$	1.15	0.15	2.15	Acetamide	$-0.0257 \pm 0.0277$	$0.0049 \pm 0.0240^{*}$	-1.17	-2.27	-0.07
Acetate	$-0.0936 \pm 0.1599$	-0.3411±0.4866	0.68	-0.27	1.64	Citrate	$-0.0579 \pm 0.1036$	$0.0472 \pm 0.2108$	-0.65	-1.69	0.40
Alanine	$-0.1011 \pm 0.6762$	-1.3267±2.3226	0.72	-0.24	1.67	Creatine phosphate	$-4.9562 \pm 4.9418$	$0.3420 \pm 7.8008$	-0.82	-1.88	0.24
AMP	0.0167±0.0914	$-0.0665 \pm 0.0875$	0.93	-0.05	1.91	Glutathione	$-0.0468 \pm 0.0691$	$0.0246 \pm 0.1175$	-0.75	-1.81	0.30
Anserine	0.0266±0.0771	-0.0894±0.2401	0.65	-0.30	1.60	Glycolate	$-0.3983 \pm 0.5146$	0.5652 ± 0.7211**	-1.56	-2.71	-0.40
ATPLT	-1.0135±0.0398	-1.0593±0.1739	0.36	-0.57	1.30	Histamine	$0.0045 \pm 0.1524$	$-0.0952 \pm 0.1977$	0.57	-0.47	1.61
Beta–Alanine <sup>LT</sup>	-1.0054±0.1144	-1.1512±0.5371	0.38	-0.56	1.31	Isobutyrate	$0.0591 \pm 0.0677$	$-0.0264 \pm 0.0557^{*}$	1.37	0.24	2.50
Carnitine	$-0.3709 \pm 0.9981$	-1.2760±1.4129	0.74	-0.22	1.70	Isocitrate	$-0.0574 \pm 0.2519$	$0.0590 \pm 0.1322$	-0.57	-1.60	0.47
CreatineLT	-0.0487±3.0419	-1.4351±4.0936	0.38	-0.55	1.32	Methylamine	$0.0248 \pm 0.0724$	$-0.0192 \pm 0.0636$	0.64	-0.40	1.69
Creatinine	-0.0081±0.0789	-0.1002±0.1285	0.86	-0.10	1.83	N-Acetylaspartate	$-0.0224 \pm 0.0273$	$-0.0070 \pm 0.0236$	-0.60	-1.64	0.44
Dimethylamine <sup>LT</sup>	$-0.9836 \pm 0.0227$	-1.0350±0.1187	0.60	-0.35	1.55	NAD+	$0.0019 \pm 0.0596$	$0.0666 \pm 0.1037$	-0.78	-1.83	0.28
Fumarate	0.0157±0.0310	-0.0046±0.0503	0.49	-0.45	1.43	Nicotinate	$-0.0251 \pm 0.0156$	$0.0081 \pm 0.0157^{*}$	-2.13	-3.40	-0.86
Glucose	0.0424±0.3745	-0.4060±0.7525	0.75	-0.20	1.71	O-Acetylcarnitine	$0.1582 \pm 0.4713$	$-0.0505 \pm 0.4058$	0.47	-0.56	1.50
Glutamate <sup>LT</sup>	-0.4999±0.7289	-1.0001±1.3018	0.47	-0.47	1.41	Phenylalanine	$-0.0310 \pm 0.0225$	$-0.0151 \pm 0.0561$	-0.38	-1.41	0.64
Glycine <sup>LT</sup>	-1.1648±0.4299	-1.7293±0.9048	0.80	-0.17	1.76	$\tau$ –Methylhistidine <sup>LT</sup>	$-1.1472 \pm 0.6479$	$-1.7065 \pm 1.0033$	0.67	-0.37	1.72
Glycolate	-0.7410±1.1241	0.5077±0.8685*	-1.24	-2.26	-0.23						
Histamine <sup>LT</sup>	-0.7948±0.2054	-1.2963±0.5869	1.14	0.14	2.14						
Histidine <sup>LT</sup>	-0.9803±0.1740	-1.3268±0.6772	0.70	-0.25	1.66						
Isobutyrate <sup>LT</sup>	-0.8888±0.0540	-1.2206±0.3610	1.29	0.27	2.30						
Isocitrate	0.0247±0.2148	-0.0472±0.3212	0.26	-0.67	1.19						
Isoleucine	-0.0011±0.0804	-0.1332±0.2648	0.67	-0.28	1.63						
Lactate	0.2268±2.4944	-1.8445±3.5699	0.67	-0.28	1.63						
Leucine	-0.0388±0.1024	-0.1232±0.3741	0.31	-0.62	1.24						
Malonate <sup>LT</sup>	-1.2491±0.4161	-1.5383±0.7521	0.48	-0.46	1.42						
MethylamineLT	-0.9867±0.0690	-1.0720±0.2065	0.55	-0.39	1.50						
NADP+LT	-1.0010±0.0193	-1.0132±0.0625	0.26	-0.67	1.19						
Niacinamide	0.0049±0.0600	-0.1276±0.2090	0.86	-0.11	1.83						
Nicotinate	-0.0240±0.0269	0.0090±0.0472	-0.86	-1.83	0.11						
N-Nitrosodimethylamine	-0.0007±0.0346	-0.0263±0.0662	0.48	-0.46	1.42						
O-Acetylcarnitine <sup>LT</sup>	$-1.0525 \pm 0.6012$	-1.2634±1.1183	0.23	-0.70	1.16						
Ornithine	0.0163±0.0762	$-0.1099 \pm 0.2270$	0.74	-0.21	1.70						

Trainability and Metabolomics Study

Castro et al.

LRE (n = 10)         HRE (n = 10)         95%         CI         LRE (n = 8)         95%         CI           Penylatanie         -0.009840.0241         -0.056840.1284         0.53         -0.41         1.47         95%         95%         95%         95%         7           Penylatanie         -0.0987540.2060         -1.552841.2327         0.64         -0.31         1.47         95%         95%         95%         95%         7           Polinie <sup>U</sup> -0.098540.182         0.64         -0.31         1.59         1.17         95%         7         95%         7         95%         7         95%         7         95%         7         95%         95%         7         95%         17         95%         17         95%	Metabolites (mM.g <sup>-1</sup> )	ш	ET	ES		Metabolites (mM.g <sup>-1</sup> )	Ī	HIIT	ES	
$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{inle} & -0.0098\pm 0.0241 & -0.0586\pm 0.1284 & 0.53 & -0.41 \\ -0.9875\pm 0.2060 & -1.5528\pm 1.2327 & 0.64 & -0.31 \\ e & 0.0086\pm 0.0182 & -0.0014\pm 0.0423 & 0.24 & -0.69 \\ 0.00499\pm 0.1795 & -0.1651\pm 0.1892^* & 1.17 & 0.16 \\ 0.00499\pm 0.1430 & -0.1247\pm 0.2248 & 0.63 & -0.32 \\ e^{1T} & -0.9830\pm 0.2012 & -1.3190\pm 0.5785 & 0.78 & -0.19 \\ amine^{1T} & -1.0079\pm 0.0484 & -1.0582\pm 0.4373 & 0.74 & -0.22 \\ amine^{1T} & -1.0195\pm 0.1255 & -1.2582\pm 0.4373 & 0.74 & -0.22 \\ e^{1} & -0.9753\pm 0.0480 & -1.0891\pm 0.1140^{**} & -2.71 & -4.00 \\ \end{array} $		LRE ( <i>n</i> = 10)	HRE ( <i>n</i> = 10)		95%	ō	LRE ( <i>n</i> = 9)	HRE ( <i>n</i> = 8)	<b>95</b> %	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Phenylalanine	-0.0098±0.0241	-0.0586±0.1284	0.53	-0.41	1.47				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Proline <sup>LT</sup>	-0.9875±0.2060		0.64	-0.31	1.59				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Pyrimidine	0.0066±0.0182	-0.0014±0.0423	0.24	-0.69	1.17				
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Pyruvate	0.0499±0.1795		1.17	0.16	2.17				
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Theophylline	-0.0069±0.1430		0.63	-0.32	1.57				
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Threonine <sup>LT</sup>	-0.9830±0.2012		0.78	-0.19	1.74				
nylamine N-oxide <sup>IT</sup> −1.0195±0.1255 −1.2582±0.4373 0.74 −0.22 he <sup>LT</sup> −0.9753±0.0480 −1.0891±0.1656 0.93 −0.04 −0.2042±0.0899 0.0741±0.1140 <sup>**</sup> − <b>2.71 −4.00</b>	Trimethylamine <sup>LT</sup>	—1.0079±0.0484	$-1.0532\pm0.1455$	0.42	-0.52	1.36				
ne <sup>LT</sup> −0.9753±0.0480 −1.0891±0.1656 0.93 −0.04 −0.2042±0.0899 0.0741±0.1140** <b>−2.71 −4.00</b>	Trimethylamine N-oxide <sup>LT</sup>	-1.0195±0.1255		0.74	-0.22	1.70				
-0.2042±0.0899 0.0741±0.1140** <b>-2.71 -4.00</b>	Tyrosine <sup>LT</sup>	-0.9753±0.0480	-1.0891±0.1656	0.93	-0.04	1.91				
	Valine	-0.2042±0.0899	0.0741±0.1140**	-2.71	-4.00	-1.43				

differences between LRE and HRE; and (3) contribution in significant altered pathways related to MPO gains.

The metabolites supported by the three levels of evidence in the ET program were: asparagine, glutamine, succinate, glycine, histidine, methionine, threonine, creatine phosphate, guanidinoacetate, ornithine, citrate, 3-hydroxybutyrate, betaine, choline and glycolate in blood serum; and pyruvate, glycolate, valine and histamine in the skeletal muscle. On the other hand, in the HIIT program, they were: succinate, valine, creatine, creatine phosphate, and guanidinoacetate in blood serum; and glycolate in the skeletal muscle (**Table 5**).

From these metabolites, multiple linear regression models were conducted in order to determine the true interindividual response variance of the MPO gains (changes free from the effects caused by the intervention and the changes that would have occurred in the absence of intervention) explained by each metabolite supported by the three levels of evidence (**Table 6**). For ET, the variance in MPO gains was explained: 77.4% by the intervention effects; 6.9, 2.3, 3.2, and 2.2% by changes in skeletal muscle pyruvate and valine, serum glutamine and creatine phosphate, respectively. For HIIT, the variance in MPO gains was explained: 80.9% by the intervention effects; 7.2, 2.2, and 1.2% by changes in skeletal muscle glycolate, serum creatine and creatine phosphate, respectively.

#### DISCUSSION

This study investigated whether changes in the metabolic profile and metabolic pathways of blood serum and the skeletal muscle are associated with the trainability of CRF, based on MPO, in response to ET and HIIT programs. The results were based on the commonality of three levels of evidence and the main findings were: (i) differences in the metabolic changes associated with the MPO gains between training programs, as well as between LRE and HRE; (ii) associations between changes in the metabolic profile and MPO gains, which were: negative for serum asparagine, glutamine, succinate, glycine, histidine, methionine, threonine, creatine phosphate, guanidinoacetate, ornithine, citrate, 3-hydroxybutyrate, betaine, choline, glycolate, and skeletal muscle pyruvate and histamine in the ET program; negative for serum succinate, valine, creatine, creatine phosphate, and guanidinoacetate in the HIIT program; and positive for skeletal muscle valine in ET and glycolate in both ET and HIIT programs; (iii) identification of key altered metabolites that were able to explain the interindividual response variance of the MPO gains, adjusted by random errors and intervention effects: 14.7%, based on changes of skeletal muscle pyruvate and valine, serum glutamine and creatine phosphate in the ET program; 10.5%, based on changes of skeletal muscle glycolate, serum creatine and creatine phosphate in the HIIT program (Table 6); (iv) the most impacted pathways (impact > 0) by these key altered metabolites were: arginine and proline metabolism, glycine, serine and threonine metabolism, and glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism for both ET and HIIT programs; alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, arginine biosynthesis, glycolysis/gluconeogenesis, and pyruvate metabolism for ET (Table 5).





FIGURE 1 | Summary of altered metabolic pathways and their metabolites associated with maximal power output gains after endurance training (ET) and high intensity interval training (HIIT). The numbers and labels in the figures represent the most enriched and impacted pathways. All numbered pathways have significance for a false discovery rate of 0.1 (vertical axis). The pathway's impact on the horizontal axis represents the relative contribution of all identified metabolites in relation to those that compose it. (1) Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism (A: asparagine, glutamine, citrate and succinate; B: alanine, pyruvate, glutamine and fumarate; C: glutamine and succinate; D: N-acetylaspartate and citrate); (2) Aminocyl-tRNA biosynthesis (A: asparagine, histidine, phenylalanine, glutamine, glycine, methionine, valine and threonine; B: histidine, phenylalanine, glycine, alanine, isoleucine, leucine, threonine, tyrosine, proline, valine and glutamate; C: phenylalanine, glutamine, valine and isoleucine); (3) Arginine and proline metabolism (A: ornithine, guanidinoacetate, creatine phosphate; B: ornithine, glutamate, proline, creatine, and pyruvate; C: ornithine, guanidinoacetate, creatine, and creatine phosphate); (4) Arginine biosynthesis (A: ornithine and glutamine; B: glutamate, ornithine, and fumarate; C: ornithine, glutamine, and urea); (5) Beta-alanine metabolism (B: beta-alanine, anserine and histidine); (6) Butanoate metabolism (B, C: 3-hydroxybutyrate and succinate); (7) Citric acid cycle (A: succinate and citrate; B: isocitrate, pyruvate and fumarate; D: isocitrate and citrate); (8) Glutathione metabolism (B: glycine, glutamate, NADP+ and ornithine); (9) Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism (A: choline, betaine, guanidinoacetate, glycine and threonine; B: glycine, threonine, creatine and pyruvate; C: betaine, quanidinoacetate and creatine); (10) Glycolvsis or gluconeogenesis (B: pyruvate, lactate, glucose and acetate); (11) Glycoalate and dicarboxylate metabolism (A: glycolate, citrate, glycine, and glutamine; B: glycolate, glycine, glutamate, acetate, isocitrate, and pyruvate; C: isocitrate, glycolate and citrate); (12) Histidine metabolism (B: glutamine, histidine, anserine and histamine; D: anserine and histamine); (13) Nicotinate and nicotinamide metabolism (B: nicotinamide, NADP+, and nicotinate); (14) Phenylalanine metabolism (B: phenylalanine, 2-hydroxyphenylacetate and tyrosine); (15) Phenylalanine tyrosine and tryptophan biosynthesis (B: phenylalanine and tyrosine); (16) Purine metabolism (C: xanthine and glutamine); (17) Pyruvate metabolism (B: pyruvate, lactate, fumarate and acetate); (18) Valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis (A: threonine and valine; B: threonine, leucine, isoleucine, and valine; C: valine and isoleucine).

TABLE 5 | Summary of altered metabolites and their metabolic pathways associated with MPO gains in response to ET and HIIT, supported by the three levels of evidence in the TIMES study.

Metabolic pathways#	ET		НІТ		Reference Metabolism
	Serum	Muscle	Serum	Muscle	
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	Asparagine, glutamine, citrate, and succinate	Pyruvate	Succinate		Amino acid metabolism
Aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis	Asparagine, histidine, glutamine, glycine, methionine, threonine, and valine	Valine	Valine		Translational process
Arginine and proline metabolism	Guanidinoacetate, ornithine, and creatine phosphate	Pyruvate	Guanidinoacetate, creatine phosphate and creatine		Amino acid metabolism
Arginine biosynthesis	Ornithine and glutamine				Amino acid metabolism
Butanoate metabolism	3-hydroxybutyrate and succinate		Succinate		Carbohydrate metabolism
Citrate cycle	Succinate and citrate	Pyruvate			Carbohydrate metabolism
Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism	Choline, betaine, guanidinoacetate, glycine, and threonine	Pyruvate	Guanidinoacetate and creatine		Amino acid metabolism
Glycolysis/Gluconeogenesis		Pyruvate			Carbohydrate metabolism
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	Glycolate, citrate, glycine, and glutamine	Glycolate and pyruvate		Glycolate	Carbohydrate metabolism
Histidine metabolism		Histamine			Amino acid metabolism
Pyruvate metabolism		Pyruvate			Carbohydrate metabolism
Valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis	Threonine	Valine	Valine		Amino acid metabolism

MPO, Maximal power output; ET, Endurance training; HIIT, High-intensity interval training. <sup>#</sup>Based on the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Pathway Database.

TABLE 6 Results of the multivariate linear regression model with stepwise selection for the MPO gains in response to training in the TIMES Study.

Models	β	E	3 (95% CL)	F-value	Probability > F	r <sup>2</sup> Change	r <sup>2</sup> Model	VIF
Model 1								
Control		Refere	nce					
ET	0.89	59.6	(52.4; 66.8)	126.5	< 0.001	0.774	0.774	1.17
Skeletal muscle pyruvate	-0.19	-30.9	(-48.8; -13.1)	96.2	< 0.001	0.069	0.842	1.22
Serum glutamine	-0.16	-26.1	(-43.4; -8.7)	81.5	< 0.001	0.032	0.875	1.08
Serum creatine phosphate	-0.17	-1,132.1	(-1,851.3; -412.9)	74.1	< 0.001	0.022	0.897	1.10
Skeletal muscle valine	0.16	16.3	(5.7; 27.0)	76.3	< 0.001	0.023	0.920	1.09
Model 2								
Control		Refere	nce					
HIIT	0.83	60.3	(52.1; 68.5)	144.3	< 0.001	0.809	0.809	1.12
Skeletal muscle glycolate	0.21	10.0	(4.4; 15.6)	122.1	< 0.001	0.072	0.881	1.25
Serum creatine	-0.12	-217.4	(-414.4; -20.3)	98.8	< 0.001	0.022	0.903	1.10
Serum creatine phosphate	-0.12	-870.7	(-1720.3; -21.2)	83.0	< 0.001	0.012	0.915	1.19

MPO, Maximum power output; ET, Endurance training; HIIT, High-intensity interval training; β, Standardized coefficient; B, Unstandardized coefficient; VIF, Variance inflation fator.

In order to summarize the results, only the key metabolites, supported by the three levels of evidence, will be discussed. In the case of ET, these metabolites were serum glutamine and creatine phosphate, skeletal muscle pyruvate and valine. Glutamine is produced from the reaction of ammonia with glutamate, being responsible for the transfer of nitrogen between organs or for the synthesis of nucleotides, detoxification of ammonia and maintenance of the acid-base balance in the kidneys, in addition to serving as fuel for immune cells and signaling the regulation of protein synthesis and degradation (Pérez-Sala et al., 1987; Hood and Terjung, 1990; Newsholme et al., 2003). Previous studies have shown higher circulating levels of glutamine in athletes compared to sedentary people and after endurance training (Kargotich et al., 2007), which were however lower in athletes with *overtraining* (Rowbottom et al., 1995), pointing to glutamine reduction as an indicator of training overload (Rowbottom et al., 1995, 1996). Conversely, in the present study, there was a negative association of changes in serum glutamine with MPO gains. This can be attributed to the greater degradation of amino acids during prolonged fasting in LRE individuals, increasing the supply of amine groups and the production of ammonia, precursors of glutamine production. This hypothesis can be supported in part by the inverse relationship observed also for essential amino acids such as valine, threonine and histidine, and for the enrichment of the metabolic pathway of alanine, glutamate and aspartate.

Creatine phosphate, on the other hand, is a molecule that stores energy within the muscle and promotes the immediate replenishment of ATP during intense exercise. Although circulating creatine phosphate levels have rarely been reported (Harris et al., 2004; Kalim et al., 2015), the present study identified low concentrations  $(4-5 \,\mu M)$  of this metabolite in the circulation, which, when changed by training, were negatively associated with the trainability of CRF in both ET and HIIT programs. Although the reasons for this result are not clear, it is possible to speculate on the occurrence of cell damage promoted by the sum of consecutive sessions performed in the last week of training (Baird et al., 2012; Sureda et al., 2015) as a mechanism related to the extravasation of the circulating creatine phosphate. This hypothesis is based on previous studies demonstrating evidence of cell damage due to the increase in creatine kinase observed after up to eight wk of aerobic training (De Araujo et al., 2013), as well as 24-48 h after successive sessions of acute aerobic exercise (Baird et al., 2012), which corroborate with the adopted timing of blood collection in the present study. Unfortunately, the creatine kinase or creatine phosphate levels (quantified by other methods) were not measured in this study, otherwise it would be possible to confirm or refute this hypothesis.

Similarly, in the skeletal muscle, changes in pyruvate were negatively associated with MPO gains. This result corroborates findings from other studies that demonstrated a reduction in pyruvate levels concomitantly with an increase in CRF after moderate to vigorous aerobic training (Henderson et al., 2004; LeBlanc et al., 2004; Huffman et al., 2014). The attenuated production of pyruvate at rest after training has been attributed to the improvement in the cellular energy supply (availability of free ADP and AMP, and inorganic phosphate) and decrease in the glycogenolysis rate, mediated by the decrease in the activity of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, which is responsible for decarboxylating pyruvate and supplying the citric acid cycle with Acetyl-CoA (LeBlanc et al., 2004; Han et al., 2020). Additionally, it is likely that the reduction in the amount of Acetyl-CoA supplied by pyruvate and via glycogenolysis is being offset by the amount derived from the oxidation of fatty acids (Nelson and Cox, 2013). In accordance with these results, there was also a positive association with changes in valine levels, an essential branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) which is required for protein synthesis in the skeletal muscle (Harper et al., 1984) and MPO gains. The results found for both pyruvate and valine in the skeletal muscle suggest that HRE individuals may benefit from a more efficient mechanism of fatty acid oxidation and muscle protein synthesis with aerobic training (Overmyer et al., 2015; Li et al., 2018).

For HIIT, the key metabolites were serum creatine and creatine phosphate, and skeletal muscle glycolate. Creatine is synthesized in the liver and kidneys from guanidinoacetate,

derived from glycine and arginine, then it is then released into the circulation and transported to the skeletal muscle, where it will be stored as creatine phosphate serve as a source of rapid ATP production during high-intensity exercise (Walker, 1979). In this sense, there is evidence that the increased availability of circulating creatine is associated with an improvement in CRF indicators after HIIT programs (Graef et al., 2009; Kendall et al., 2009). However, in the present study, the increase in creatine levels was demonstrated concomitantly with the increase in its guanidinoacetate precursor, suggesting an imbalance in creatine metabolism (Walker, 1979) and possibly partially explaining the negative association with changes in CRF shown by both. Another point that should be highlighted is that high-intensity exercise can promote changes in renal functions (Bellinghieri et al., 2008). Thus, given that the kidneys are the main producers of guanidinoacetate (Edison et al., 2007), monitoring renal function markers may prove to be useful for understanding the trainability of CRF in future studies.

Additionally, changes in the skeletal muscle glycolate, involved in glyoxalate and dicarboxylate metabolism, were positively associated with MPO gains. Glycolate is a glyoxalate precursor that produces oxaloacetate, an intermediate in the citric acid cycle (Miao et al., 2018). Although the relationship between muscle glycolate and the adaptations induced by exercise or aerobic training in humans is not widely known (Castro A., et al., 2019; Danaher et al., 2020), previous studies with animal models corroborate the results obtained here, showing greater activation of glyoxalate and dicarboxylate metabolism in trained rats compared to sedentary ones (Starnes et al., 2017), as well as in rats with high CRF compared to those with low CRF (Falegan et al., 2017), in addition to a positive association with increased fatigue resistance in rats submitted to exhaustive aerobic exercise (Miao et al., 2018). It is tempting to speculate that increased levels of glycolate may be associated with an improved citrate cycle activity, via oxaloacetate production derived from glyoxalate and dicarboxylate metabolism, perhaps contributing to MPO gains regulation. In this sense, recently studies have shown associations between baseline glyoxalate and dicarboxylate metabolism activity with intrinsic (Castro et al., 2021) and acquired MPO levels (Castro A., et al., 2019).

In summary, our results demonstrated that the interindividual variability of CRF in responses to ET and HIIT programs seems to be primarily associated with the individual's potential to regulate fasting energy supply through amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism. As we observed, there was a decrease in metabolites indicatives of pyruvate metabolism and glycolysis metabolism pretraining to post-training, as well as of amino acid metabolism (arginine and proline metabolism, glycine, serine and threonine metabolism, alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, and arginine biosynthesis), while an increase in metabolites precursor of intermediates of the citric acid cycle via glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism was found.

Some important limitations to present study should be highlighted. Both training programs tested consisted of eight wk of training, which is generally not sufficient to achieve the maximum response to a given dose of exercise (Ross et al.,

2015b). Thus, it is possible that the specific time needed to achieve the physiological adaptations in each training program (Astorino et al., 2013; Ross et al., 2015b; MacInnis and Gibala, 2017; O'Connor and Malone, 2019) contributed to the differences observed in the association between mechanisms related to the trainability of CRF between ET and HIIT. Diet was not controlled during the entire experimental period. Since the participants were not hospitalized, this type of control would be almost impossible; however, all participants were constantly asked to avoid major changes in nutritional habits, such as, changes that would lead to substantial fluctuations in body weight. Despite this, it is important to highlight that the variability of the interindividual response of CRF or other biochemical health markers is expected to happen regardless of diet (Bouchard et al., 2012; Ross et al., 2015a,b). In addition, the results of the present study are limited to two types of aerobic training, so generalizations to other programs or different intensities should be avoided, since variations in individual responses can be protocol or dose-dependent (Huffman et al., 2014; Bonafiglia et al., 2016; Joyner and Lundby, 2018; Williams et al., 2019). It is important to consider that the moment of biopsy and blood collection, 48 h after the last training session, may not represent the optimal moment to investigate the chronic changes induced by training in all identified metabolites. We also recognize that our tertile-based classification of exercise responders will by default result in 33% low and 33% high responders. In this sense, these classification terminologies must be taken with caution when comparing studies, as they reflect the distribution of MPO gains values and context in the population of the TIMES study. Most of previous studies have investigated the integrative mechanisms of variability of individual CRF responses measured by maximal oxygen uptake, but not necessarily referencing MPO, which makes it difficult to compare with our findings. However, MPO as a surrogate of CRF is known to present low technical error and high test-retest reproducibility (Skinner et al., 1999; Montero and Lundby, 2017). The TIMES study cohort consists of healthy and sedentary young Caucasian men which potentially limiting the generalizability of our results. Replication studies are warranted. Lastly, some strengths of the present study are that the results were based essentially on the commonality among three levels of evidence minimizing the occurrence of metabolites occasionally associated to the MPO gains. Blood and muscle tissue were collected at fasting state after a prior 12h diet control. The explained variance of the MPO gains was interpreted under the changes in key metabolites adjusted by the effects caused by the intervention and absence of intervention (random error) as previously recommended (Ross et al., 2019).

# CONCLUSION

This study has demonstrated distinct serum and skeletal muscle metabolites between ET and HIIT programs, who's pretraining to post-training changes associated with the interindividual variability of CRF responses. Additionally, the panel of pretraining to post-training changed metabolites also indicated some similar pathways between ET and HIIT associated with variability of CRF responses, suggesting the involvement of amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism. These results provide new insights to investigate the underlying changes in metabolism that are determinant for inter-individual variability of CRF in responses to ET and HIIT programs.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Campinas' Research Ethics Committee (Number: 2.717.688; CAAE: 52997216.8.0000.5404). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AC and MC-M conceptualized and designed the study. AC, RD, and SO-N conducted training program, experimental data collection, and metabolomics analysis. AA performed the muscle biopsies. MC-M and CC provided technical assistance and/or conceptual advice. AC performed statistical analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors have read, edited and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

MC-M is supported by grants from the São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP, No. 2016/057417) and Support Fund for Teaching, Research and Extension (FAEPEX, No. 2021/16). AC also was supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, No. 149201/2015-0), Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (PDSE-CAPES, No. 88881.135219/2016-01), and São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP, No. 2020/13939-7).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) Facility at the Brazilian Biosciences National Laboratory (LNBio) for the use of the NMR spectrometer (600MHz, Varian Inova), and the Integrated Laboratory of Education and Research (LABFEF) at the University of Campinas for the Body Composition Tracking System (BOD POD, Cosmed, USA). We also thank Espaço da Escrita – Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa – UNICAMP – for the language services provided.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.756618/full#supplementary-material

#### Trainability and Metabolomics Study

# REFERENCES

- Astorino, T. A., Schubert, M. M., Palumbo, E., Stirling, D., McMillan, D. W., Cooper, C., et al. (2013). Magnitude and time course of changes in maximal oxygen uptake in response to distinct regimens of chronic interval training in sedentary women. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 2361–2369. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2672-1
- Baird, M. F., Graham, S. M., Baker, J. S., and Bickerstaff, G. F. (2012). Creatine-kinase- and exercise-related muscle damage implications for muscle performance and recovery. J. Nutr. Metab. 2012. doi: 10.1155/2012/960363
- Belle, J. E., Le, H.arris, N. G., Williams, S. R., and Bhakoo, K. K. (2002). A comparison of cell and tissue extraction techniques using high-resolution 1 H-NMR spectroscopy. 37–44. doi: 10.1002/nbm.740
- Bellinghieri, G., Savica, V., and Santoro, D. (2008). Renal Alterations During Exercise. J. Ren. Nutr. 18, 158–164. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2007.10.031
- Benjamini, Y., and Ochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. 57, 289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Preobrazenski, N., Islam, H., Walsh, J. J., Ross, R., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2021). Exploring differences in cardiorespiratory fitness response rates across varying doses of exercise training: a retrospective analysis of eight randomized controlled trials. *Sport. Med.* 11, 1–3. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01442-9
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Rotundo, M. P., Whittall, J. P., Scribbans, T. D., Graham, R. B., and Gurd, B. J. (2016). Inter-individual variability in the adaptive responses to endurance and sprint interval training: a randomized crossover study. *PLoS ONE* 11, 1–14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167790
- Borg, G., and Linderho, H. (1967). Perceived exertion and pulse rate during graded exercise in various age groups. Acta Med. Scand. 181, 194–206. doi: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1967.tb12626.x
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Häkkinen, K., et al. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: is it a rare or common occurrence? *PLoS ONE* 7, e37887. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037887
- Bouchard, C., Boulay, M., and Thibault, M. C. (1980). Training of submaximal working capacity: Frequency intensity, duration, and their interactions. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 20, 29–40.
- Bouchard, C., and Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, 446–451. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200106001-00013
- Bouchard, C., Sarzynski, M. A., Rice, T. K., Kraus, W. E., Church, T. S., Sung, Y. J., et al. (2011). Genomic predictors of the maximal O2 uptake response to standardized exercise training programs. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 1160–1170. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00973.2010
- Buchfuhrer, M. J., Hansen, J. E., Robinson, T. E., Sue, D. Y., Wasserman, K., and Whipp, J. (1983). Optimizing the Exercise Protocol Cardiopulmonary Assessment. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1983.55.5.1558
- Castro, A., Duft, R. G., Ferreira, M. L. V., Andrade, A. L. L., de, Gáspari, A. F., Marchi-Silva, L., et al. (2019). Association of skeletal muscle and serum metabolites with maximum power output gains in response to continuous endurance or high-intensity interval training programs: The TIMES study - a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE* 14, e021211. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212115
- Castro, A., Duft, R. G., Silva, L. M., Ferreira, M. L. V., Andrade, A. L. L., Bernardes, C. F., et al. (2021). Understanding the Relationship between Intrinsic Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Serum and Skeletal Muscle Metabolomics Profile. J. Proteome Res. 20, 2397–2409. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.0c00905
- Castro, A., Duft, R. G., Zeri, A. C. M., Cavaglieri, C. R., and Chacon-Mikahil, M. P. T. (2020). Commentary: metabolomics-based studies assessing exerciseinduced alterations of the human metabolome: a systematic review. *Front. Physiol.* 11, 353. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00353
- Danaher, J., Stathis, C. G., Wilson, R. A., Moreno-Asso, A., Wellard, R. M., and Cooke, M. B. (2020). High intensity exercise downregulates. *Nutr. Metab.* 17, 68. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-00489-1
- De Araujo, G. G., Papoti, M., Delbin, M. A., Zanesco, A., and Gobatto, C. A. (2013). Physiological adaptations during endurance training below anaerobic threshold in rats. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 1859–1870. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2616-9
- Dias, R. G., Silva, M. S. M., Duarte, N. E., Bolani, W., Alves, C. R., Lemos Junior, J., et al. (2015). PBMCs express a transcriptome signature predictor of

oxygen uptake responsiveness to endurance exercise training in men. *Physiol. Genomics.* 47, 13–23. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00072.2014

- Duft, R. G., Castro, A., Bonfante, I. L. P., Brunelli, D. T., and Chacon-mikahil, M. P. T. (2017a). Metabolomics approach in the investigation of metabolic changes in obese men after 24 weeks of combined training. *J. Proteome Res.* 16, 2151–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00967
- Duft, R. G., Castro, A., Chacon-Mikahil, M. P. T., and Cláudia Regina, C. (2017b). Metabolomics and Exercise: possibilities and perspecti. *Mot. Rev. Educ. Física* 23, 1–13. doi: 10.1590/s1980-6574201700020010
- Edison, E. E., Brosnan, M. E., Meyer, C., and Brosnan, J. T. (2007). Creatine synthesis: Production of guanidinoacetate by the rat and human kidney *in vivo*. *Am. J. Physiol. - Ren. Physiol.* 293, 1799–1804. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00356.2007
- Falegan, O. S., Vogel, H. J., Hittel, D. S., Koch, L. G., Britton, S. L., Hepple, R. T., et al. (2017). High aerobic capacity mitigates changes in the plasma metabolomic profile associated with aging. *J. Proteome Res.* 16, 798–805. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00796
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering Statistics using SPSS. London: SAGE Publications.
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I. M., et al. (2011). Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: Guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1334–1359. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb
- Graef, J. L., Smith, A. E., Kendall, K. L., Fukuda, D. H., Moon, J. R., Beck, T. W., et al. (2009). The effects of four weeks of creatine supplementation and highintensity interval training on cardiorespiratory fitness: a randomized controlled trial. *J. Int. Soc. Sports Nutr.* 6, 1–7. doi: 10.1186/1550-2783-6-18
- Han, Y., Jia, Y., Tian, J., Zhou, S., Chen, A., and Luo, X. (2020). Urine metabolomic responses to aerobic and resistance training in rats under chronic unpredictable mild stress. *PLoS ONE* 15, 1–19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237377
- Harper, A. E., Miller, R. H., and Block, K. P. (1984). Branchedchain amino acid metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 4, 409–454. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nu.04.070184.002205
- Harris, R. C., Almada, A. L., Harris, D. B., Dunnett, M., and Hespel, P. (2004). The creatine content of creatine serum and the change in the plasma concentration with ingestion of a single dose. J Sport. Sci 22, 851–857. doi: 10.1080/02640410310001658739
- Henderson, G. C., Horning, M. A., Lehman, S. L., Wolfel, E. E., Bergman, B. C., and Brooks, G. A. (2004). Pyruvate shuttling during rest and exercise before and after endurance training in men. J. Appl. Physiol. 97, 317–325. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01367.2003
- Hood, D. A., and Terjung, R. L. (1990). Amino Acid Metabolism During Exercise and Following Endurance Training. Sport. Med. 9, 23–35. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199009010-00003
- Huffman, K. M., Koves, T. R., Hubal, M. J., Abouassi, H., Beri, N., Bateman, L. A., et al. (2014). Metabolite signatures of exercise training in human skeletal muscle relate to mitochondrial remodelling and cardiometabolic fitness. *Diabetologia* 57, 2282–2295. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3343-4
- Joyner, M. J., and Lundby, C. (2018). Concepts about V-O2max and trainability are context dependent. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 46, 138–143. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000150
- Kalim, S., Clish, C. B., Deferio, J. J., Ortiz, G., Moffet, A. S., Gerszten, R. E., et al. (2015). Cross-sectional examination of metabolites and metabolic phenotypes in uremia. *BMC Nephrol* 16, 98. doi: 10.1186/s12882-015-0100-y
- Kargotich, S., Keast, D., Goodman, C., Bhagat, C. I., Joske, D. J., Dawson, B., et al. (2007). Monitoring 6 weeks of progressive endurance training with plasma glutamine. *Int J Sport. Med* 28, 211–216. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-924218
- Keller, P., Vollaard, N. B. J., Gustafsson, T., Gallagher, I. J., Sundberg, C. J., Rankinen, T., et al. (2011). A transcriptional map of the impact of endurance exercise training on skeletal muscle phenotype. J. Appl. Physiol. 110, 46–59. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00634.2010
- Kelly, R. S., Kelly, M. P., and Kelly, P. (2020). Metabolomics, physical activity, exercise and health: A review of the current evidence. *Biochim Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis. Dis.* 1866, 165936. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165936
- Kendall, K. L., Smith, A. E., Graef, J. L., Fukuda, D. H., Moon, J. R., Beck, T. W., et al. (2009). Effects of four weeks of high-intensity interval training and creatine supplementation on critical power and anaerobic working capacity in college-aged men. J Strength Cond Res 23, 1663–1669. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181b1fd1f

- Kohrt, W. M., Bloomfield, S. A., Little, K. D., Nelson, M. E., and Yingling, V. R. (2004). Physical activity and bone health. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36, 1985–1996. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000142662.21767.58
- Kuipers, H., Verstappen, F. T. J., Keizer, H. A., Geurten, P., and Kranenburg, G., Van (1985). Variability of aerobic performance in the laboratory and its physiologic correlates. *Int. J. Sport. Med.* 6, 197–201. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1025839
- LeBlanc, P. J., Howarth, K. R., Gibala, M. J., and Heigenhauser, G. J. F. (2004). Effects of 7 wk of endurance training on human skeletal muscle metabolism during submaximal exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 97, 2148–2153. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00517.2004
- Lewis, G. D., Farrell, L. M. J., Wood, M., Martinovic, Z., Arany, G. C., Rowe, A., et al. (2010). Metabolic Signatures of Exercise in Human Plasma. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2, 33–37. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001006
- Lewis, J., Campion, F., Noakes, D., T., and Medelli, J. (2007). Relationship between %HRmax, %HR reserve, %VO2max, and %VO2 reserve in elite cyclists. *Med Sci Sport. Exerc* 39, 350–357. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000246996.63 976.5f
- Li, F. H., Li, T., Ai, J. Y., Sun, L., Min, Z., Duan, R., et al. (2018). Beneficial autophagic activities, mitochondrial function, and metabolic phenotype adaptations promoted by high-intensity interval training in a rat model. *Front. Physiol.* 9. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00571
- Lortie, G., Simoneau, J. A., Hamel, P., Boulay, M. R., Landry, F., and Bouchard, C. (1984). Responses of maximal aerobic power and capacity to aerobic training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 5, 232–236. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1025911
- MacInnis, M. J., and Gibala, M. J. (2017). Physiological adaptations to interval training and the role of exercise intensity. J. Physiol. 595, 2915–2930. doi: 10.1113/JP273196
- McCrory, M. A., Gomez, T. D., Bernauer, E. M., and Mol, P. A. (1995). Evaluation of a new air displacement plethysmograph for measuring human body composition. *Med Sci Sport. Exerc* 12, 1686–1691. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199512000-00016
- Meyler, S., Bottoms, L., and Muniz-Pumares, D. (2021). Biological and methodological factors affecting. *Exp. Physiol.* 106:1410–1424. doi: 10.1113/EP089565
- Miao, X., Xiao, B., Shui, S., Yang, J., Huang, R., and Dong, J. (2018). Metabolomics analysis of serum reveals the effect of Danggui Buxue Tang on fatigued mice induced by exhausting physical exercise. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 151, 301–309. doi: 10.1016/j.jpba.2018.01.028
- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2017). Refuting the myth of non-response to exercise training: 'non-responders' do respond to higher dose of training. *J. Physiol.* 595, 3377–3387. doi: 10.1113/JP273480
- Nakagawa, S., and Cuthill, I. C. (2007). Effect size, confidence interval and statistical significance: a practical guide for biologists. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 82, 591–605. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00027.x
- Nelson, D., and Cox, M. (2013). *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry*. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Newsholme, P., Procopio, J., Lima, M. M., Curi, T. C., and Pithon-Curi, R. (2003). Glutamine and glutamate-their central role in cell metabolism and function. *Cell Biochem. Funct.* 21, 1–9. doi: 10.1002/cbf.1003
- O'Connor, D., and Malone, J. K. (2019). The Dose Response for Sprint Interval Training Interventions May Affect the Time Course of Aerobic Training Adaptations. *Sports* 7, 85. doi: 10.3390/sports7040085
- Overmyer, K. A., Evans, C. R., Qi, N. R., Minogue, C. E., Carson, J. J., Chermside-Scabbo, C. J., et al. (2015). Maximal oxidative capacity during exercise is associated with skeletal muscle fuel selection and dynamic changes in mitochondrial protein acetylation. *Cell Metab.* 21, 468–478. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.02.007
- Peake, J. M., Tan, S. J., Markworth, J. F., Broadbent, J. A., Skinner, T. L., and Cameron-smith, D. (2014). Metabolic and hormonal responses to isoenergetic high-intensity interval exercise and continuous moderate-intensity exercise. Am. J. Phusiol. Endocrinol. Metabolism. 307, E3539–52. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00276.2014
- Pérez-Sala, D., Parrilla, R., and Ayuso, M. S. (1987). Key role of L-alanine in the control of hepatic protein synthesis. *Biochem J* 241, 491–498. doi: 10.1042/bj2410491
- Riebe, D., Ehrman, J., Liguori, G., and Magal, M. (2018). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Pescription.

- Rinschen, M. M., Ivanisevic, J., Giera, M., and Siuzdak, G. (2019). Identification of bioactive metabolites using activity metabolomics. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 20, 353–367. doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0108-4
- Robbins, J. M., Peterson, B., Schranner, D., Tahir, U. A., Rienmüller, T., Deng, S., et al. (2021). Human plasma proteomic profiles indicative of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Nat Metab* 3, 786–797. doi: 10.1038/s42255-021-00400-z
- Ross, R., De Lannoy, L., and Stotz, P. J. (2015a). Separate effects of intensity and amount of exercise on interindividual cardiorespiratory fitness response. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 90, 1506–1514. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.024
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: Understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-100328
- Ross, R., Stotz, P. J., and Lam, M. (2015b). Effects of exercise amount and intensity on abdominal obesity and glucose tolerance in obese adults: a randomized trial. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 162, 325–334. doi: 10.7326/M14-1189
- Rowbottom, D. G., Keast, D., Goodman, C., and Morton, A. R. (1995). The haematological, biochemical and immunological profile of athletes suffering from the overtraining syndrome. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 70, 502–509. doi: 10.1007/BF00634379
- Rowbottom, D. G., Keast, D., and Morton, A. R. (1996). The emerging role of glutamine as an indicator of exercise stress and overtraining. *Sport. Med.* 21, 80–97. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199621020-00002
- Sanford, J. A., Nogiec, C. D., Lindholm, M. E., Adkins, J. N., Amar, D., Dasari, S., et al. (2020). Molecular Transducers of Physical Activity Consortium (MoTrPAC): Mapping the Dynamic Responses to Exercise. *Cell* 181, 1464–1474. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.06.004
- Sarzynski, M. A., Ghosh, S., and Bouchard, C. (2017). Genomic and transcriptomic predictors of response levels to endurance exercise training. J. Physiol. 595, 2931–2939. doi: 10.1113/JP272559
- Shanely, R. A., Luo, B., Meaney, M. P., Dew, D. A., Kirk, L., and Carolina, N. (2014). Metabolomics approach to assessing plasma 13- and 9-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid and linoleic acid metabolite responses to 75-km cycling. Am. J. Physiol. Regulat. Integrat. Comparat. Physiol. 307, 68–74. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00092.2014
- Shrestha, A., Müllner, E., Poutanen, K., and Mykkänen, H. (2015). Metabolic changes in serum metabolome in response to a meal. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 56, 671–81. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1111-y
- Siri, W. E. (1993). Body composition from fluid spaces and density: analysis of methods. *Nutrition* 9, 480–491.
- Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, K. M., Jaskolska, A., Jaskolski, A., Daw, E. W., Rice, T., et al. (1999). Reproducibility of maximal exercise test data in the HERITAGE family study. *Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc.* 31, 1623–1628. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199911000-00020
- Starnes, J. W., Parry, T. L., O'Neal, S. K., Bain, J. R., Muehlbauer, M. J., Honcoop, A., et al. (2017). Exercise-induced alterations in skeletal muscle, heart, liver, and serum metabolome identified by non-targeted metabolomics analysis. *Metabolites* 7. doi: 10.3390/metabo7030040
- Sureda, A., Mestre-Alfaro, A., Banquells, M., Riera, J., Drobnic, F., Camps, J., et al. (2015). Exercise in a hot environment influences plasma anti-inflammatory and antioxidant status in well-trained athletes. *J. Therm. Biol.* 47, 91–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.11.011
- Swain, D. P., and Leutholtz, B. C. (1997). Heart rate reserve is equivalent to %VO2 reserve, not to %VO2max. *Med Sci Sport. Exerc* 29, 410–414. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199703000-00018
- Tanaka, M., Wang, G., and Pitsiladis, Y. P. (2016). Advancing sports and exercise genomics: Moving from hypothesis-driven single study approaches to large multi-omics collaborative science. *Physiol. Genomics* 48, 173–174. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00009.2016
- Thompson, P. D., Arena, R., Riebe, D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2013). ACSM's new preparticipation health screening recommendations from ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, ninth edition. *Curr Sport. Med Rep.* 12, 215–217. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e31829a68cf
- Timmons, J. A., Knudsen, S., Rankinen, T., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M., Jensen, T., et al. (2010). Using molecular classification to predict gains in maximal aerobic capacity following endurance exercise training in humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 108, 1487–1496. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01295.2009

- van den Oord, E. J., and Sullivan, P. F. (2003). False discoveries and models for gene discovery. *Trends Genet* 19, 537–542. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2003.08.003
- Walker, J. B. (1979). Creatine: biosynthesis, regulation, and function. Adv Enzym. Relat Areas Mol Biol 50, 177-242. doi: 10.1002/9780470122952.ch4
- Williams, C. J., Gurd, B. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., Voisin, S., Li, Z., Harvey, N., et al. (2019). A multi-center comparison of VO2peak trainability between interval training and moderate intensity continuous training. *Front. Physiol.* 10. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00019
- Williams, C. J., Li, Z., Harvey, N., Lea, R. A., Gurd, B. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., et al. (2021). Genome wide association study of response to interval and continuous exercise training: the Predict-HIIT study. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 28, 1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12929-021-00733-7
- Wishart, D. S. (2019a). Metabolomics for investigating physiological and pathophysiological processes. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 1819–1875. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2018
- Wishart, D. S. (2019b). NMR metabolomics: a look ahead. J. Magn. Reson. 306, 155-161. doi: 10.1016/j.jmr.2019.07.013
- Xia, J., and Wishart, D. S. (2010). MetPA: a web-based metabolomics tool for pathway analysis and visualization. *Bioinformatics* 26, 2342–2344. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq418

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Castro, Duft, de Oliveira-Nunes, de Andrade, Cavaglieri and Chacon-Mikahil. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Systematic Review Examining the Approaches Used to Estimate Interindividual Differences in Trainability and Classify Individual Responses to Exercise Training

Jacob T. Bonafiglia<sup>1†</sup>, Nicholas Preobrazenski<sup>2†</sup> and Brendon J. Gurd<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Kinesiology and Health Studies, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

# Edited by:

Stefano Ramat, University of Pavia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Brendan Egan, Dublin City University, Ireland Daniel Muniz, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom

#### \*Correspondence:

Brendon J. Gurd gurdb@queensu.ca

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 06 February 2021 Accepted: 05 October 2021 Published: 08 November 2021

#### Citation:

Bonafiglia JT, Preobrazenski N and Gurd BJ (2021) A Systematic Review Examining the Approaches Used to Estimate Interindividual Differences in Trainability and Classify Individual Responses to Exercise Training. Front. Physiol. 12:665044. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.665044 **Background:** Many reports describe statistical approaches for estimating interindividual differences in trainability and classifying individuals as "responders" or "non-responders." The extent to which studies in the exercise training literature have adopted these statistical approaches remains unclear.

**Objectives:** This systematic review primarily sought to determine the extent to which studies in the exercise training literature have adopted sound statistical approaches for examining individual responses to exercise training. We also (1) investigated the existence of interindividual differences in trainability, and (2) tested the hypothesis that less conservative thresholds inflate response rates compared with thresholds that consider error and a smallest worthwhile change (SWC)/minimum clinically important difference (MCID).

**Methods:** We searched six databases: AMED, CINAHL, EMBASE, Medline, PubMed, and SportDiscus. Our search spanned the aerobic, resistance, and clinical or rehabilitation training literature. Studies were included if they used human participants, employed standardized and supervised exercise training, and either: (1) stated that their exercise training intervention resulted in heterogenous responses, (2) statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability, and/or (3) classified individual responses. We calculated effect sizes (ES<sub>IR</sub>) to examine the presence of interindividual differences in trainability. We also compared response rates (n = 614) across classification approaches that considered neither, one of, or both errors and an SWC or MCID. We then sorted response rates from studies that also reported mean changes and response thresholds (n = 435 response rates) into four quartiles to confirm our ancillary hypothesis that larger mean changes produce larger response rates.

**Results:** Our search revealed 3,404 studies, and 149 were included in our systematic review. Few studies (n = 9) statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability. The results from these few studies present a mixture of evidence for the presence of interindividual differences in trainability because several ES<sub>IR</sub> values lay above, below,

November 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 665044

95

or crossed zero. Zero-based thresholds and larger mean changes significantly (both  $\rho < 0.01$ ) inflated response rates.

**Conclusion:** Our findings provide evidence demonstrating why future studies should statistically estimate interindividual differences in trainability and consider error and an SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses to exercise training.

Keywords: individual response, interindividual variability, trainability, exercise training, responders, non-responder analysis

# INTRODUCTION

In 1999, the seminal Health, Risk Factors, Exercise Training, and Genetics (HERITAGE) Family Study reported individual cardiorespiratory fitness responses ranging from approximately -100 to +1,000 ml/min following 20 weeks of supervised and standardized aerobic exercise training (Bouchard et al., 1999). Early studies following HERITAGE continued to examine individual responses to exercise training by (1) interpreting a wide range of observed responses as evidence that exercise training causes interindividual variability and (2) classifying individuals as "responders" or "nonresponders" if their observed response was above or below zero, respectively [reviewed in Williamson et al. (2017), Ross R. et al. (2019), Bonafiglia et al. (2020)]. In 2015, biostatisticians raised concerns with these approaches and have advocated for more rigorous statistical approaches when estimating interindividual variability and classifying individual responses (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015; Hopkins, 2015). Despite many subsequent reviews echoing these concerns (reviews listed in Supplementary Table S1), we are aware of several studies published in the past year that did not adopt these statistical approaches (Marsh et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2020; Vellers et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Because no study has systematically reviewed the approaches used to examine individual responses, it is unclear whether these recent studies are representative of the exercise training literature.

Estimating interindividual variability requires partitioning the variability in outcome measurements caused by exercise training per se, herein referred to as interindividual differences in trainability, from the variability caused by random measurement error and within-subject variability (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). Within-subject variability refers to real physiological responses resulting from changes in behavioral or environmental factors such as diet, sleep, and physical activity outside of a standardized exercise intervention (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). In 2015, biostatisticians recommended statistical approaches that estimate interindividual differences in trainability by partitioning error or within-subject variability (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015; Hopkins, 2015). Since then, many reviews have used data simulations or theoretical arguments to emphasize the importance of partitioning error or within-subject variability to encourage researchers to adopt these statistical approaches (Williamson et al., 2017; Swinton et al., 2018; Atkinson et al., 2019; Bonafiglia et al.,

2019a; Ross R. et al., 2019; Voisin et al., 2019; Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2020; Dankel and Loenneke, 2020). What remains unclear is whether the exercise training literature has adopted the recommended statistical approaches of biostatisticians. If the literature has not adopted these approaches, additional lines of evidence (i.e., beyond data simulations and theoretical arguments) may be required to persuade researchers to adopt a statistical approach that partitions error or withinsubject variability when attempting to examine individual response heterogeneity.

With respect to classifying individual responses, labeling someone as a "non-responder" to exercise should be avoided because individuals can: (1) demonstrate individual patterns of response across a range of outcomes [e.g., the VO<sub>2</sub>max of an individual may "respond" positively while their body fat percentage may "not respond" (Barber et al., 2021)], (2) respond differently following different exercise doses (Bonafiglia et al., 2016; Montero and Lundby, 2017; Marsh et al., 2020), or (3) respond differently to repeated exposure to the same training intervention (Del Giudice et al., 2020). Further, given the difficulty in delineating changes caused by exercise vs. behavioral or environmental factors, "responders" and "non-responders" should not be interpreted as individuals who responded or did not respond to exercise per se (Swinton et al., 2018). Instead, "responders" and "non-responders" should be interpreted as individuals who did or did not experience benefit following the completion of an exercise training intervention (Swinton et al., 2018). To reduce the risk of misclassifying individuals who did not benefit as "responders," many reports have recommended that "responders" should be classified as individuals whose observed change in a given outcome exceeds the smallest worthwhile change (SWC) or a minimum clinically important difference (MCID) after accounting for random measurement error (Bonafiglia et al., 2018, 2019b; Hecksteden et al., 2018; Swinton et al., 2018; Ross R. et al., 2019). In support of these recommendations, we (Schulhauser et al., 2020) and others (Hecksteden et al., 2018) found that thresholds not considering error and/or a SWC or MCID inflate "response rates" compared with more conservative thresholds that consider both error and a SWC or MCID. However, recent studies have classified "responders" and "non-responders" using nonconservative thresholds (Marsh et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2020). Whether this observation is representative of the classification approaches used in the exercise training literature is unknown. Further, given that previous reports (Hecksteden et al., 2018; Schulhauser et al., 2020) included few outcomes (n = 6 and 1) and small sample sizes (n = 40 and 84), corroborating the inverse relationship between threshold conservativeness and response rates with a larger dataset may provide more compelling evidence to convince researchers to consider error and a SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses to exercise training.

The primary purpose of the present review was to determine the extent to which studies in the exercise training literature have adopted approaches to statistically estimate interindividual differences in trainability and consider error and an SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses. We performed a systematic review that spanned the aerobic, resistance, and clinical/rehabilitation training literature. We developed our search criteria to only include studies that examined individual responses (i.e., analyzed individual responses or commented on response heterogeneity), and our analyses, therefore, do not contain data from studies that did not consider individual responses.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

This systematic review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) checklist (see **Supplementary Table S2**). The study selection process was conducted using Covidence's systematic review software (Veritas Health Innovation Ltd., Australia). **Table 1** includes a list of definitions of individual response terms that we use throughout this review.

## **Eligibility Criteria**

Studies were included in the systematic review if they met all of the following inclusion criteria: (1) were an original, published research study (including novel re-analyses, which refer to secondary analyses of datasets where individual responses were not examined in primary reports), (2) used human participants, (3) employed a minimum of 2 weeks (or six sessions) of standardized and supervised exercise training, and (4) examined individual responses to exercise training by (i) stating that exercise training resulted in heterogeneous responses without using a statistical approach to estimate interindividual differences in trainability (e.g., commenting on response heterogeneity or a wide range of individual responses in their results, discussion, or conclusions); (ii) adopting a statistical approach to estimate interindividual differences in trainability (approaches listed in our Supplementary Table S3) (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015, 2018; Hopkins, 2015; Dankel and Loenneke, 2020); and/or (iii) classifying individual responses. The latter criteria are not necessarily mutually exclusive. For example, Hecksteden et al. (2018) adopted the standard deviation of individual response (SD<sub>IR</sub>) to estimate interindividual differences in trainability (criteria ii) and classified individual responses (criteria iii). Conversely, Yu et al. (2020) adopted the SDIR but did not classify (criteria ii only), and Bonafiglia et al. (2018) did not adopt the  $SD_{IR}\,$ but did classify (criteria iii only). Studies were excluded if they did not meet all of the inclusion criteria, or if the

manuscript was not available (i.e., conference abstract only) or not in English.

## Literature Search and Study Selection

We conducted a literature search in AMED, CINAHL, EMBASE, Medline, PubMed, and SportDiscus on March 28, 2020. A second, identical up-to-date search took place on January 6, 2021. The search strategy incorporated two main concepts: exercise training and individual response. A complete list of synonyms or related terms for these two main concepts was combined with "OR" (see **Supplementary Table S4** for full list), and the search strategy combined the two separate synonym lists with "AND." Titles and abstracts were extracted from the database searches, and Covidence automatically removed duplicates.

Study selection followed a two-step process and was independently completed by JTB and NP. BJG resolved disagreements (n = 2 total). First, titles and abstracts were screened to identify studies that appeared to meet eligibility criteria. Second, full texts were downloaded for articles that passed title and abstract screening to determine their eligibility. Studies removed during full-text screening were assigned a reason for exclusion. Final analyses included studies that passed both levels of study selection. We used the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Assessment Tool (Higgins et al., 2011) to assess the risk of bias. We reviewed the protocol and/or primary publications to evaluate the risk of bias for studies that included re-analyses of previously published data.

## **Data Extraction**

JTB and NP performed data extraction using a predetermined data collection template, which included the variables provided in our Supplementary Table S5 along with response rates, mean changes, and response thresholds. These two reviewers met to compare extracted data and resolve discrepancies. JTB and NP dichotomously categorized all included studies based on whether they did or did report using a statistical approach (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015, 2018; Hopkins, 2015; Dankel and Loenneke, 2020) to estimate interindividual differences in trainability. Because adopting a statistical approach is needed to partition the sources of variation, this dichotomous categorization allowed us to determine how many studies may have overlooked the confounding influence of random measurement error and within-subject variability on response variability. This dichotomous categorization is further warranted because studies not adopting a statistical approach, and thus not accounting for the confounding sources of variation, risk erroneously interpreting variability in observed responses as evidence of interindividual differences in trainability. After this initial categorization, JTB and NP then sorted studies that classified individual responses into three categories based on whether they considered an error and/or an SWC or MCID (see Table 2 for details).

We extracted basic study characteristics such as training protocols, participant characteristics, and measured outcomes from all included studies (see **Supplementary Table S5** for

#### TABLE 1 | Definitions of individual response terms used throughout the present review.

Term	Definition
Terms related to interindividual differences	s in trainability
Random measurement error	Source of random variation caused by technical error and day-to-day biological variability
Within-subject variability	Source of random variation caused by real physiological changes that occur due to changes in behavioral and/or environmental factors external to the prescribed intervention
Interindividual differences in trainability	Variability in outcome measurements caused by exercise training; also referred to as "true response variability" or "the subject-by-training interaction" (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015)
SD <sub>IR</sub>	A statistical estimate of interindividual differences in trainability calculated by subtracting observed variability in control from exercise groups
ES <sub>IR</sub>	An effect size of the $SD_{IR}$ estimate
Terms related to classifying individual resp	oonse
"Responder"	An observed response that exceeds a given response threshold; importantly, this term should be applied in an outcome and training-specific manner (e.g., "VO2 max responder to aerobic training")
Response threshold	The threshold used to classify "responders"
Zero-based thresholds	Classification method that uses zero as the response threshold whereby "responders" have observed responses exceeding zero
Quantiles	An arbitrary classification approach that guarantees a fixed percentage of "responders" (e.g., using quartiles to identify the top 25% of participants as "responders")
TE	Typical error; calculated to account for random measurement error when classifying individual responses (Hopkins, 2000)
MCID	Minimum clinically important difference; a non-arbitrary threshold for classifying individual responses based on evidence of clinically relevant changes [e.g., 1 MET improvements for cardiorespiratory fitness because this change is associated with risk reduction of all-cause mortality (Ross et al., 2016)]
SWC	Smallest worthwhile change; a response threshold calculated as 0.2 multiplied by baseline standard deviation and is recommended when an evidence-based MCID is not available
Response rate	The proportion of "responders" within a given group under specific classification parameters and training conditions

#### TABLE 2 | Categorization details for the primary analysis.

Category	Description
Did studies use a statistical approach to es	timate interindividual differences in trainability?
Yes	Used a statistical approach (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015, 2018; Hopkins, 2015 Bonafiglia et al., 2019a) that accounts for random measurement error or within-subject variability to estimate interindividual differences in trainability
No	This category included all studies that commented on variability (e.g., "we observed a wide range of individual responses") or classified individual responses <b>without performing statistical analysis</b> to estimate interindividual differences in trainability
How did studies classify individual response	es?
Did not consider error or a SWC or MCID	Classified "responders" and "non-responders" using quantiles or zero-based thresholds (e.g., "responders" identified as individuals with observed responses exceeding zero). These approaches <b>do not</b> consider error or SWC or MCID
Considered error or a SWC or MCID*	Used a response threshold that <b>either</b> considered error <b>or</b> a SWC or MCID
Considered error and a MCID/SWC	Used a response threshold that considered <b>both</b> error and a SWC or MCID

\*Studies that only considered error were combined with studies that only considered an SWC or MCID based on our observation that these approaches generally result in similar response thresholds (e.g., Johannsen et al., 2013; Hecksteden et al., 2018; Bonafiglia et al., 2019b; Schulhauser et al., 2020). Bold indicates to visually emphasize and differentiate descriptions of categories.

study characteristics). For studies that statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability, we extracted sample sizes and standard deviations (SD) of baseline values and change scores. We used WebPlotDigitizer (Rohatgi, 2018) to calculate SDs of change scores from two studies (Steele et al., 2017; Hammond et al., 2019) that did not report these values but presented individual data in their figures. For studies that classified individual responses, we extracted mean changes, thresholds used to classify "responders," and response rates. For the purposes of this review, response rate refers to the proportion of "responders" for a given outcome following a specific exercise or control condition (**Table 1**).

#### Data Analysis

In addition to our primary analysis, we conducted two analyses to demonstrate limitations with not statistically estimating interindividual differences in trainability or considering error and an SWC or MCID. First, we calculated estimates of interindividual differences in trainability from included studies that have adopted a statistical approach (**Supplementary Table S3**) to determine how many outcomes provided evidence of variability caused by exercise training *per se*. Second, we examined the impact of threshold conservativeness on response rates. Details for these two analyses are provided in the following sections.

#### Interindividual Differences in Trainability

For studies that statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability, we calculated the  $SD_{IR}$ , a statistic that estimates the presence of interindividual differences in trainability (see Bonafiglia et al., 2019a for a detailed explanation), for each outcome using the following equation (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hopkins, 2015):

$$SD_{IR} = \sqrt{SD_{EX}^2 - SD_{CTRL}^2}$$
(1)

where SD<sub>EX</sub> and SD<sub>CTRL</sub> represent the SD of change scores from the exercise (EX) and control group (CTRL), respectively. Positive SD<sub>IR</sub> values (i.e., SD<sub>EX</sub> < SD<sub>CTRL</sub>) suggest that interindividual differences in trainability exist. An SDIR cannot be calculated if SD<sub>CTRL</sub> exceeds SD<sub>EX</sub> because you cannot take the square root of a negative number (Eq. 1). In these instances, researchers can either report not being able to calculate an SD<sub>IR</sub>, or they can switch SD<sub>CTRL</sub> with SD<sub>EX</sub> in Eq. 1 and report the value as a negative SD<sub>IR</sub>. Both incalculable and negative SD<sub>IR</sub> values should be interpreted as a lack of evidence for interindividual differences in trainability (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). For studies that had multiple exercise groups, we amalgamated the data of the exercise groups according to chapter 7.7.3.8 in the Cochrane Handbook (Higgins et al., 2019) to calculate one SD<sub>EX</sub> value and thus one SD<sub>IR</sub> value for each outcome in each study. The standard error (SE) for each SDIR value was calculated to construct 90% confidence intervals (CIs) using the following equations (Hopkins, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2018):

$$SE = \sqrt{2\left(\frac{SD_{EX}^4}{(n_{EX} - 1)} + \frac{SD_{CTRL}^4}{(n_{CTRL} - 1)}\right)}$$
(2)

90% CI Limits = 
$$\sqrt{SD_{IR}^2 \pm 1.65 \times SE}$$
 (3)

where  $n_{\text{EX}}$  and  $n_{\text{CTRL}}$  represent sample sizes for the EX and CTRL groups, respectively. To visually present these data from different outcomes in one figure, we standardized SD<sub>IR</sub> values by calculating unitless effect sizes (denoted as ES<sub>IR</sub>) using the following equation (Hopkins, 2015):

$$ES_{IR} = \frac{SD_{IR}}{SD_{BSL.Pooled}}$$
(4)

where  $SD_{BSL,Pooled}$  represents the pooled SD of baseline values from the EX and CTRL groups. Upper and lower CI limits were also divided by  $SD_{BSL,Pooled}$  to construct 90% CIs for  $ES_{IR}$  values (Hopkins, 2015).

The interpretation of interindividual differences in trainability for each outcome was based on the positions of 90% CIs: CIs laying fully above zero suggested that interindividual differences in trainability were present, whereas CIs crossing or laying fully below zero indicated a lack of evidence for interindividual differences in trainability.

#### Analysis of Variances on Response Rates

We performed one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) comparing response rates across the three response classification categories outlined in Table 2. We performed an ANOVA that compared response rates across every outcome and another ANOVA on the most commonly reported outcome. The ANOVA on the most commonly reported outcome was performed to determine whether the variance introduced by comparing response rates across different outcomes impacted our ability to detect significance. We excluded studies that used quantiles because these approaches guarantee a fixed percentage of responders or non-responders and therefore do not provide estimates of response rates. To determine whether standardized mean changes impacted our ANOVA on all outcomes, we also performed an ANCOVA with a standardized mean  $(\bar{x})$  changes inputted as a covariate. Specifically, we first extracted available pre and post-training means and SDs for each outcome to calculate Cohen's *d* values using the following equation:

$$d_{av} = \frac{\bar{x}_{POST} - \bar{x}_{PRE}}{Pooled SD}$$
(5)

where  $d_{av}$  refers to a Cohen's *d* value for a within-subject standardized mean change (Lakens, 2013), and pooled SD was calculated as the standard deviation of pre values plus the standard deviation of post values divided by two. Because many (130 out of 298) of the sample sizes included in our ANCOVA were less than 20, we then converted  $d_{av}$  values to Hedge's *g* values ( $g_{av}$ ) using the following equation:

Hedge's 
$$g_{av} = d_{av} \times \left(1 - \frac{3}{4 \times (n_{POST} + n_{PRE}) - 9}\right)$$
 (6)

Additionally, our ancillary hypothesis investigated whether response rates were a function of mean change relative to the response threshold. We based this hypothesis on findings from two of our recent studies: (1) larger mean changes produce larger response rates at a given response threshold (Bonafiglia et al., 2021b), and (2) smaller response thresholds produce larger response rates at a given mean change (Schulhauser et al., 2020). We tested this hypothesis using outcomes with reported response rates, mean changes, and response thresholds; outcomes could not be included if any of these three parameters were not reported. Data from both exercise and non-exercising control groups were included in this analysis. Our dependent variable was response rates (in percentage), and our independent variable was calculated as the mean change divided by the response threshold. This approach standardized our independent variable and thus allowed us to compare response rates across different outcomes. We could not include response rates from studies using zerobased thresholds because mean changes cannot be divided by a response threshold of zero. We then sorted outcomes into four response rate quartiles: response rates less than or equal to (1) 100%, (2) 75%, (3) 50%, or (4) 25%. Following this, we used a one-way ANOVA to compare standardized mean changes across

these response rate quartiles. We identified outliers within each quartile as *z*-scores that were either >2.58 or <-2.58, and we removed these data before running our ANOVA.

For all ANOVAs, significant main effects were followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* tests. These statistical tests were performed on GraphPad Prism version 9 with the ANCOVA performed on SPSS version 26. All data are presented as means  $\pm$  standard deviation.

# RESULTS

# **Study Selection**

**Figure 1** presents a flow diagram of the study selection process. The literature search retrieved 3,404 studies, and Covidence removed 1,120 duplicates. Two thousand two hundred eightyfour studies entered title and abstract screening, and 2,036 were deemed irrelevant and were subsequently excluded. Full texts were then downloaded for 248 studies, and 99 were excluded (reasons provided in **Figure 1**), leaving a total of 149 included studies. Study details, measured outcomes, analytical approaches, and participant characteristics for these 149 studies can be found in the **Supplementary Table S5**. Most included studies had an unclear-high risk of bias (results presented in **Supplementary Table S6**). For ease of viewing, in-text references for all 149 included studies are provided at the end of this manuscript (see **Appendix**). **Table 3** presents study characteristics and analysis categories (categories outlined in **Table 2**) for these 149 studies.

# Timeline of Studies Examining Individual Responses to Exercise Training

We created two timelines of the studies included in our analysis (Figure 2). Figure 2A includes all studies and is sorted based on whether studies used a statistical approach to estimate interindividual differences in trainability. The number of studies examining individual responses to exercise training has increased substantially since 1999, when the findings from the HERITAGE Family Study were published, with the majority (72.5%; 108/149) being published within the last 5 years (i.e., 2015 onward). The paper by Atkinson and Batterham (2015) is highlighted in Figure 2A because it describes the  $SD_{IR}$  approach and, to our knowledge, is the first article in the exercise literature outlining how to statistically estimate the presence of interindividual differences in trainability. It was therefore unsurprising that no study before 2015 statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability (Figure 2A). However, strikingly few studies (~9.5%; 8/84 studies) published in 2017 onward [i.e., after Atkinson et al.'s (2019) SDIR paper] statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability. Seven of these studies (Steele et al., 2017; Williamson et al., 2017, 2018; Bonafiglia et al., 2019a; Hammond et al., 2019; Walsh et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020) used the SD<sub>IR</sub>, and one study explored different SD<sub>IR</sub> approaches using a variety of statistical parameters (Hecksteden et al., 2018). The 2016 study by Leifer et al. (2016) used Levene's tests to compare variability in observed responses between control and exercise groups - an approach that follows the same principles as the SD<sub>IR</sub> (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a).

A percentage of 77.9% (116/149) of all included studies classified individual responses, and a timeline of these studies sorted by the three categories outlined in Table 2 is presented in Figure 2B. 31.9% of studies (37/116) classified individuals using an approach that did not consider error or an SWC or MCID (e.g., zero-based thresholds or quantiles). 56.9% of studies (66/116) considered error (66.7%; 44/66) or an SWC or MCID (33.3%; 22/66), and the most common approach in this category (37.9%; 25/66) was classifying responders as individuals whose observed response exceeded a threshold of two times the typical error. Only 8.6% of studies (10/116) considered both error and an SWC or MCID. The most common approach (90%; 9/10) in this last category was classifying responders as individuals with confidence intervals, built using the typical error of measurement and constructed around observed responses, that lay fully above an SWC or MCID. Supplementary Table S5 provides more information on the specific classification approaches used in each study. Three studies (Hubal et al., 2005; Hagstrom and Denham, 2018; Peltonen et al., 2018) were not categorized because they did not report enough information on how they classified individual responses.

# Studies Adopting Approaches for Estimating Interindividual Differences in Trainability

We were unable to calculate  $ES_{IR}$  values from three of the nine studies that statically estimated interindividual differences in trainability because they did not report SD of baseline measures and/or change scores (Williamson et al., 2017, 2018; Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). All three of these studies included novel re-analyses of previously published data. Williamson et al. (2017) reported greater variability in VO<sub>2</sub>max responses in a control group compared with an exercise group, the 2018 meta-analysis of Williamson et al. (2018) demonstrated trivial interindividual differences in trainability for body weight, and we reported moderate-large variability in behavioral factors (e.g., dietary habits and sedentary time) following a controlled exercise intervention (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a).

We calculated ES<sub>IR</sub> values in the remaining six studies. These values with 90% CIs along with basic details regarding participant characteristics and training modes are presented in Figure 3. Combining data across the three aerobic training groups from Hammond et al. (2019) resulted in positive ESIR values for body mass and waist circumference. However, we can only conclude that interindividual differences in trainability were present for body mass because the 90% CI for waist circumference crossed zero. The aerobic, resistance, and aerobic plus resistance groups were also combined in the study Walsh et al. (2020). Responses in body composition and cardiometabolic health from Walsh et al. (2020) revealed mixed evidence of interindividual differences in trainability because ESIR 90% CIs lay above, below, or crossed zero. ESIR estimates from the Leifer et al. (2016). The Leifer et al. (2016) study also presented a mixture of 90% CI positions for indices of cardiometabolic health. The ESIR values from Hecksteden et al. (2018) and Yu et al. (2020), who measured fitness parameters following aerobic training, were all positive



but had large 90% CIs that crossed zero. These large CIs were likely attributable to the small sample sizes of these two studies. Interestingly, only the study by Steele et al. (2017), which examined strength responses to resistance training, revealed consistent evidence of interindividual differences in trainability as all ES<sub>IR</sub> 90% CIs lay above zero.

### **Analysis of Variances on Response Rates**

We obtained response rates for 614 outcomes from the 116 studies that classified individual responses. 71, 491, and 52 response rates were obtained from zero-based thresholds, approaches that considered error or an SWC or MCID, or both error and an SWC or MCID, respectively. Our one-way ANOVA with all 614 response rates (**Figure 4A**; left panel) was significant (p < 0.01) with zero-based thresholds producing a significantly (p < 0.01) higher mean response rate ( $71.22 \pm 18.09\%$ ) compared with approaches that considered one of ( $50.53 \pm 31.08\%$ ) or both error and an SWC or MCID ( $45.49 \pm 20.52\%$ ). Our second ANOVA was performed on VO<sub>2</sub>max because this outcome had the most response rates (n = 75) compared with other outcomes

(next three outcomes with the most response rates: various strength measures, n = 51; waist circumference, n = 20; body weight, n = 17). The one-way ANOVA on VO<sub>2</sub>max response rates (**Figure 4A**; right panel) was also significant (p < 0.05) with zero-based thresholds resulting in a significantly (p < 0.05) higher mean response rate ( $78.42 \pm 12.98\%$ ) compared with approaches that considered both error and an SWC or MCID ( $46.50 \pm 20.85\%$ ). We extracted 298 Hedge's g values, and our ANCOVA and associated *post hoc* tests remained significant indicating that standardized mean changes did not confound the relationship between classification category and response rate (**Figure 4A**).

Response rates, mean changes, and response thresholds were reported for 435 of the 614 outcomes. Our ancillary analysis (**Figure 4B**) on these 435 outcomes revealed significant differences in standardized mean changes (mean change divided by response threshold) across each quartile:  $\leq 25\% = 0.09 \pm 0.46$ ;  $\leq 50\% = 0.83 \pm 0.41$ ;  $\leq 75\% = 1.58 \pm 0.69$ ;  $\leq 100\% = 3.62 \pm 2.19$  (ANOVA and all *post hoc p* values < 0.01). We identified ten outlying data points, and only one lay below the mean (blue

training studies included) in w	in weeks (SD)	Avg. trequency (SD)	# in males only	# In remales only	# IN DOUN	Variability categories <sup>a</sup>	categories <sup>a</sup>	asilodean	Kesponse classification categories <sup>2</sup>	itegories
						"Yes"	"oN" #	# No TE or SWC or MCID	# TE or SWC or MCID	# TE and SWC or MCID
Aerobic 74 (50%) 13	13.1 (10.1)	3.9 (1.7)	16 (22%)	9 (12%)	48 <sup>c</sup> (65%)	68 (92%)	6 (8%)	14 (27%)	30 (58%)	8 (15%)
<b>Resistance</b> 32 (22%) 1	14.3 (9.3)	2.7 (0.8)	13 (41%)	8 (25%)	11 (34%)	31 (97%)	1 (3%)	12 (44%)	15 (56%)	0 (0%)
Aerobic and 35 (23%) 1 Resistance	17.1 (8.9)	3.3 (0.7)	4 (11%)	5 (14%)	26 (74%)	33 (94%)	2 (6%)	10 (37%)	16 (59%)	1 (2%)
Other 8 (5%) 1	11.4 (6.2)	4.1 (2.9)	1 (13%)	0 (0%)	7 (87%)	8 (100%)	0 (0%)	1 (14%)	5 (72%)	1 (14%)

55 aerobic and resistance = 35, other = 8), whereas the percentages for response classification categories are based on the number of studies that classified individual responses within each type of training (aerobic = resistance = 27; aerobic and resistance = 27; other = 7). data point; all other outliers in red; Figure 4B). The two outliers in the upper quartile (response rates <100%) had very large standardized mean changes, and both data points represent strength gains (leg press one-repetition maximum) from two resistance training groups in the same study (Barbalho et al., 2017). The remaining eight outlying data points came from six studies (Alvarez et al., 2017b,c; Álvarez et al., 2018a,d; Delgado-Floody et al., 2019; Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2019) produced by the same research group, and homeostasis model assessmentestimated insulin resistance measurements accounted for four of these outliers.

### DISCUSSION

This is the first systematic review to investigate the approaches used to examine individual responses to exercise training. Our search revealed a large number of eligible studies (n = 149; Figure 1) that spanned the aerobic, resistance, and clinical/rehabilitation training literature. Our primary analysis revealed that few studies have statistically estimated whether exercise training causes interindividual differences in trainability (Figure 2A). This finding indicates that the majority of studies may have inappropriately interpreted variability in observed responses as evidence of interindividual differences in trainability. In support of this speculation, our review highlighted several ESIR values that either fell below zero or had a 90% CI crossing zero (Figure 3). Given that many recent studies have not adopted the statistical approaches described in previous reviews (listed in Supplementary Table S3), we hope our findings help persuade researchers to adopt these approaches when estimating the existence of interindividual differences in trainability in the future work.

Our additional analyses found that few studies considered an error and an SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses (Figure 2B). Our analyses on response rates confirmed the hypotheses that: (1) thresholds not considering error and an SWC or MCID inflate response rates (Figure 4A), and (2) larger mean changes produce larger response rates (Figure 4B). Given the disconnect between the many reviews (listed in Supplementary Table S1), highlighting the importance of considering error and an SWC or MCID and the few studies doing so (Figure 2B), our findings hopefully encourage researchers to consider error and an SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses in future studies.

### Interindividual Differences in Trainability

Our ESIR calculations highlighted mixed evidence for the presence of interindividual differences in trainability (Figure 3). For instance, resistance training in the Steele et al. (2017) study appeared to cause variability in strength responses, whereas aerobic training in the Leifer et al. (2016) re-analysis may not have led to interindividual differences in cardiometabolic responses because the 90% CIs crossed zero. Interestingly, fasting insulin from the Leifer et al. (2016) study and peak strength from the Steele et al. (2017) study had similar ESIR values, but only peak strength revealed evidence of interindividual

TABLE 3 | Overview of study details for the 149 studies included in our systematic review.



differences in trainability because its 90% CI lay fully above zero (Figure 3). Because fasting insulin had a much larger sample size than peak strength (n = 1188 vs. n = 114), its larger 90% CI may reflect how blood-based physiological outcomes have larger random measurement error compared with strength-based performance outcomes. This observation may also highlight how random measurement error for a given outcome influences interpretations of interindividual differences in trainability. Future work should therefore avoid pooling data across different outcomes when estimating interindividual differences in trainability. Moreover, these discrepancies highlight how reading one of these studies in isolation may lead to either the conclusion that interindividual differences in trainability exist or do not exist (Leifer et al., 2016; Steele et al., 2017). Figure 3 presents ES<sub>IR</sub> values across a range of outcomes and studies, highlighting how the existence of interindividual differences in trainability should be interpreted on an outcome, population, and studyspecific basis.

The observation that most  $ES_{IR}$  values (18/25) lay below or crossed zero (**Figure 3**) adds to a growing body of literature questioning the presence of interindividual differences in trainability following standardized exercise training (Williamson et al., 2017, 2018; Del Giudice et al., 2020; Kelley et al., 2020, 2021; Bonafiglia et al., 2021a; Islam et al., 2021). For example, we recently reported wide-ranging changes in energy intake, diet composition, and sedentary time following a controlled exercise intervention (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). This apparent variability in behavioral changes suggests that within-subject variability contributes substantially to the variability in observed responses. Recent studies have also demonstrated that individual cardiorespiratory fitness and skeletal muscle responses appear non-reproducible following repeated exposure to an identical exercise training intervention (Lindholm et al., 2016; Del Giudice et al., 2020; Islam et al., 2021). Assuming trainability of an individual is a stable and reproducible trait, this non-reproducibility provides further evidence suggesting that within-subject variability largely comprises the variability in observed responses (Hecksteden et al., 2015). Taken together, these findings indicate that it may be erroneous to assume that variability in observed responses reflects interindividual differences in trainability. Despite this indication, also highlighted in many previous reviews (listed in Supplementary Table S1), the majority of recent studies have not adopted a statistical approach to investigate the existence of interindividual differences in trainability (Figure 2A). Future work should therefore use a statistical approach to determine whether interindividual differences in trainability are present following exercise training (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hecksteden et al., 2015, 2018; Hopkins, 2015; Dankel and Loenneke, 2020).

Although we focused on interindividual differences in trainability, other disciplines have reported a similar lack of evidence for "true response variability" following non-exercise interventions (Mills et al., 2020). For example, a recent metaanalysis of psychiatric assessment responses in patients with schizophrenia reported greater variability in control groups

					Sample Size	
Reference	Participants	Training Mode	Outcome	ES <sub>IR</sub> ±90% CI	CTRL	EX
Hammond et al. 2019	Overweight or obese, sedentary adults	ATª	Body mass	0	44	137
Hammond et al. 2019	Overweight or obese, sedentary adults	ATa	WC	÷••	44	137
Hecksteden et al. 2018	Healthy, untrained adults	AT	VO₂max		20	16
Leifer et al. 2016	Sedentary adults (reanalysis of 4 trials)	AT <sup>b</sup>	SBP	-0	843	345
Leifer et al. 2016	Sedentary adults (reanalysis of 4 trials)	AT <sup>b</sup>	HDL-C	-0	843	345
Leifer et al. 2016	Sedentary adults (reanalysis of 4 trials)	AT <sup>b</sup>	TG	——————————————————————————————————————	843	345
Leifer et al. 2016	Sedentary adults (reanalysis of 4 trials)	AT <sup>b</sup>	Insulin	<u> </u>	843	345
Steele et al. 2017	Adults with low back pain	RT	Peak strength	-0-	77	37
Steele et al. 2017	Adults with low back pain	RT	Mean strength	-0-	77	37
Steele et al. 2017	Adults with low back pain	RT	Strength index	-0-	77	37
Steele et al. 2017	Adults with low back pain	RT	Disability index	O	77	37
Steele et al. 2017	Adults with low back pain	RT	VAS pain		77	37
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	ATRT⁰	TG	<b>O</b>	87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	<b>ATRT</b> ⁰	HDL-C	- <b>o</b>	87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	ATRT⁰	Glucose	O	87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	<b>ATRT</b> <sup>◦</sup>	WC		87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	<b>ATRT</b> ⁰	LBM	<u> </u>	87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	<b>ATRT</b> ⁰	SBP	O	87	56
Walsh <i>et al.</i> 2020	Obese, pre-pubertal adolescents	<b>ATRT</b> °	BFM	-0-	87	56
Yu <i>et al.</i> 2020	Older adults (>65yrs) with dementia	AT	Shuttle walk	O	16	10
Yu <i>et al.</i> 2020	Older adults (>65yrs) with dementia	AT	ADAS-Cog Score	O	16	10
Yu <i>et al.</i> 2020	Older adults (>65yrs) with dementia	AT	VO <sub>2</sub> max		16	10
Yu <i>et al.</i> 2020	Older adults (>65yrs) with dementia	AT	6-min walk	O	16	10
			-1.5	-1.0 -0.5 0.0 0.5 1.	0 1.5	
			-1.5 Variability may		ariability cause	d
			caused by exercis	exercise traini		
<b>PE 3</b>   Earast plat of the	studios that statistically astimated	intorindividual di	fforoncos in trainabi	ility. CTRL, control group; EX, exercis	o training grou	
	,			y lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglyce	00	
	BFM, body fat mass; ADAS-cog, /					

training groups (see section "Interindividual Differences in Trainability"); <sup>b</sup>Data from four trials combined by Leifer et al. (2016); <sup>c</sup>We combined data from the three training groups (see section "Interindividual Differences in Trainability"), which included an aerobic, resistance, and combined training group.

compared with treatment groups (Winkelbeiner et al., 2019). Rather than using the  $SD_{IR}$ , these non-exercise studies utilized the "variability ratio" (Winkelbeiner et al., 2019; Mills et al., 2020), an approach that is similar to the  $SD_{IR}$  because it relies on the assumption of independence to estimate true response variability. In this context, the assumption of independence refers to the assumption that random measurement error and within-subject variability are equal between groups in a randomized controlled trial (Bonafiglia et al., 2019a). However, the variability ratio divides, instead of subtracts, the variability of observed responses in the treatment group by the variability of observed responses in the control group. The variability ratio was used in recent meta-analyses (reviewed in Mills et al., 2020) across scientific disciplines other than exercise and sport science to empirically test for the existence of "true response variability."

### **Classifying Individual Responses**

We found that zero-based thresholds inflate response rates compared with classification approaches that consider error and an SWC or MCID (**Figure 4A**). These findings add to previous results derived from fewer outcomes and smaller datasets demonstrating that non-conservative thresholds increase the proportions of participants classified as "responders" (Hecksteden et al., 2018; Schulhauser et al., 2020). We hope our large dataset (i.e., 614 response rates from 116 studies) demonstrating inflated response rates with zero-based thresholds (Figure 4A) better convinces researchers to consider error and an SWC or MCID when classifying individual responses. Although considering error and an SWC or MCID will help conservatively identify individuals who experienced meaningful benefit, it is also possible these conservative thresholds increase the risk of failing to classify individuals who responded to exercise per se as "responders" (i.e., type II error). Conversely, less conservative thresholds (e.g., zerobased or considering one of error or an SWC or MCID only) increase the risk of classifying individuals who did not experience meaningful benefit as "responders" (i.e., type I error). While researchers can choose which risk of misclassification is more acceptable for their study, avoiding dichotomous classification and considering uncertainty (e.g., individual confidence intervals) can help reduce the risk of misclassifying "responders" or "non-responders" (Bonafiglia et al., 2018; Swinton et al., 2018).

Controlling for differences in response thresholds supported our ancillary hypothesis that larger mean changes produce larger response rates (**Figure 4B**). This finding corroborates our recent demonstration that larger mean changes explain why higher doses of exercise produce larger cardiorespiratory fitness response rates (Bonafiglia et al., 2021b). We speculate that the red outliers in the 25, 50, and 75% quartiles had



large variability (or a single outlying data point), which resulted in a low response rate despite having a large standardized mean change (and *vice versa* for the blue data point in **Figure 4B**). However, analyzing these raw data is needed to confirm this speculation. Both analyses demonstrate how response rates are group statistics that highly depend on response thresholds (**Figure 4A**) and mean changes (**Figure 4B**; Atkinson et al., 2019). Future research should therefore avoid attributing lower response rates to reduced interindividual variability, an interpretation made in several studies included in our review (Wolpern et al., 2015; Dalleck et al., 2016; Byrd et al., 2019), and should recognize that response rates provide little if any, useful information at the individual level (Atkinson et al., 2019).

Although our results demonstrate *how* we should classify observed changes following exercise training (i.e., consider error and an SWC or MCID; **Figure 4A**), what remains less clear is *why* we should classify individuals in the first place. Although individual classification may help guide exercise prescription decision-making in clinical and applied settings, to our knowledge, only one study (Montero and Lundby, 2017) has utilized initial response classifications to guide subsequent exercise prescription decisions. A key challenge to individualizing exercise prescription is choosing a response threshold that incorporates an equipment-specific error estimate (Weatherwax et al., 2018a) and a change linked to clinical benefit (i.e., MCID). While equipment-specific errors can be easily generated using simple test re-test experiments, MCIDs are not available for many outcomes (Hopkins, 2000). For VO2max, we recently used an MCID of 1.0 MET because this change confers a  $\sim$ 8-14% risk reduction in all-cause morbidity and mortality (Dorn et al., 1999; Bonafiglia et al., 2019b). When MCIDs are unavailable, researchers can use SWCs (i.e., 20% of baseline standard deviation) to estimate a threshold representing a small effect size (Swinton et al., 2018). It is important to emphasize that, unlike MCIDs, SWCs are clinically arbitrary and should not be used to gauge whether an individual has clinically benefited following exercise training. Future work is needed to examine the validity of the classification of individual responses for the purpose of optimizing exercise prescriptions and for establishing MCIDs for a wider range of outcomes.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

The few studies that statistically estimated the presence of interindividual differences in trainability varied substantially in participant characteristics, training modes, and outcomes assessed (Figure 3). Recent meta-analyses have reported pooled SD<sub>IR</sub> estimates indicating a lack of interindividual differences in trainability in body weight and body composition (Williamson et al., 2018; Kelley et al., 2020, 2021). Unlike the present study, these meta-analyses focused on a single outcome and used search criteria that identified all studies reporting standard deviations of change scores and not just those evaluating individual responses as we did in the present review. We did not pool ESIR values because of the heterogeneity in populations (e.g., overweight adolescents, adults with low back pain, or older adults with cognitive impairment) and outcomes assessed (e.g., VO2max, perceptions of back pain, or an Alzheimer's cognition score) across studies (Figure 3). Nevertheless, the observation that most ES<sub>IR</sub> values (18/25) lay below or crossed zero supports conclusions from pooled estimates of single outcomes demonstrating a lack of interindividual differences in trainability. More studies should adopt the SD<sub>IR</sub> approach to allow for additional populationand outcome-specific meta-analyses on other clinically relevant outcomes (e.g., VO2max, waist circumference, grip strength, etc.). Importantly, these meta-analyses can provide robust assessments of the presence or absence of interindividual differences in trainability.

Large variation in our dataset may also explain why response rates were not significantly different between studies that considered error or SWC or MCID vs. studies that considered both (**Figure 4A**). Comparing response rates across different thresholds within the same group (and thus mean change) overcomes this limitation by eliminating between-study variation in participant characteristics, training modes, and random measurement error. Although we and others have explored the relationship between response rates and thresholds using VO<sub>2</sub>max and exercise performance data (Hecksteden et al., 2018; Schulhauser et al., 2020), future work should confirm that failing to account for error and an SWC or MCID inflates response rates in different outcomes.

# CONCLUSION

The present systematic review found that despite many previous reviews (listed in Supplementary Table S1) advocating for more statistically sound approaches when examining individual responses, few studies have statistically estimated interindividual differences in trainability or used response classification thresholds that consider error and an SWC or MCID. We also presented ESIR values that question the presence of interindividual differences in trainability, which demonstrates why it is inappropriate and potentially erroneous to assume variability in observed responses reflects interindividual differences in trainability. Further, we found that zero-based thresholds inflate response rates, which demonstrates why it is important to classify responses using an approach that considers both error and an SWC or MCID. Additionally, our analysis examining mean changes supported the notion that response rates are group statistics that provide little information about an individual's response to exercise training. We hope our findings and novel data presentations better convince researchers to statistically estimate interindividual differences in trainability and consider error and an SWC or MCID in future work.

# REFERENCES

- Ahtiainen, J. P., Sallinen, J., Häkkinen, K., and Sillanpää, E. (2020). Inter-individual variation in response to resistance training in cardiometabolic health indicators. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 1040–1053. doi: 10.1111/sms.13650
- Ahtiainen, J. P., Walker, S., Peltonen, H., Holviala, J., Sillanpää, E., Karavirta, L., et al. (2016). Heterogeneity in resistance training-induced muscle strength and mass responses in men and women of different ages. *Age* 38:10. doi: 10.1007/ s11357-015-9870-1
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Cano-Montoya, J., Ramírez-Vélez, R., Harridge, S. D. R., Alonso-Martínez, A. M., et al. (2018a). Exercise and glucose control in children with insulin resistance: prevalence of non-responders. *Pediatr. Obes.* 13, 794–802. doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12437
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Cristi-Montero, C., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2018b). Prevalence of non-responders for blood pressure and cardiometabolic risk factors among prehypertensive women after long-term high-intensity interval training. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1443. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 01443
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ramírez-Vélez, R., Martínez, C., Castro-Sepúlveda, M., Alonso-Martínez, A., et al. (2018c). Metabolic effects of resistance or high-intensity interval training among glycemic controlnonresponsive children with insulin resistance. *Int. J. Obes.* 42, 79–87. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.177
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Vélez, R., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ito, S., Celis-Morales, C., García-Hermoso, A., et al. (2018d). Interindividual responses to different exercise stimuli among insulin-resistant women. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 28, 2052–2065. doi: 10.1111/sms.13213
- Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Lucia, A., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Concurrent exercise training on hyperglycemia and comorbidities associated: non-responders using clinical cutoff points. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 952–967. doi: 10.1111/sms.13413
- Alvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017a). Effects and prevalence of non-responders after 12weeks of high-intensity interval or resistance training in adult woman with insulin resistance: a

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JTB and NP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to conception and design of the study, conducted the systematic review, statistical analysis, and manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This project was supported by an operating grant from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC; grant number: 402635) to BJG.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.665044/full#supplementary-material

randomized trial. J. Appl. Physiol. 122, 985–996. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 01037.2016

- Alvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017b). Effects of 6-weeks high-intensity interval training in schoolchildren with insulin resistance: influence of biological maturation on metabolic, body composition, cardiovascular and performance non-responses. *Front. Physiol.* 8:444. doi: 10. 3389/fphys.2017.00444
- Alvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Ramírez-Vélez, R., and Izquierdo, M. (2017c). Prevalence of non-responders for glucose control markers after 10 weeks of high-intensity interval training in adult women with higher and lower insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 8:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00479
- Astorino, T. A., and Schubert, M. M. (2014). Individual responses to completion of short-term and chronic interval training: a retrospective study. *PLoS One* 9:e97638. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097638
- Astorino, T. A., deRevere, J., Anderson, T., Kellogg, E., Holstrom, P., Ring, S., et al. (2018). Change in VO2maxand time trial performance in response to highintensity interval training prescribed using ventilatory threshold. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1811–1820. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-3910-3
- Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2015). True and false interindividual differences in the physiological response to an intervention. *Exp. Physiol.* 100, 577–588. doi: 10.1113/EP085070
- Atkinson, G., Williamson, P., and Batterham, A. M. (2019). Issues in the determination of 'responders' and 'non-responders' in physiological research. *Exp. Physiol.* 104, 1215–1225. doi: 10.1113/EP087712
- Bakker, E. A., Snoek, J. A., Meindersma, E. P., Hopman, M. T. E., Bellersen, L., Verbeek, A. L. M., et al. (2018). Absence of fitness improvement is associated with outcomes in heart failure patients. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 50, 196–203. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001429
- Barbalho, M., de, S. M., Gentil, P., Izquierdo, M., Fisher, J., Steele, J., et al. (2017). There are no no-responders to low or high resistance training volumes among older women. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.003
- Barbeau, P., Gutin, B., Litaker, M. S., Ramsey, L. T., Cannady, W. E., Allison, J., et al. (2003). Influence of physical training on plasma leptin in obese youths. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* 28, 382–396. doi: 10.1139/h03-028

- Barber, J. L., Ruiz-Ramie, J. J., Robbins, J. M., Gerszten, R. E., Leon, A. S., Rao, D., et al. (2021). Regular exercise and patterns of response across multiple cardiometabolic traits: the HERITAGE family study. *Br. J. Sports Med.* doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-103323 [Epub ahead of print].
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Brennan, A. M., Ross, R., and Gurd, B. J. (2019a). An appraisal of the SD IR as an estimate of true individual differences in training responsiveness in parallel-arm exercise randomized controlled trials. *Physiol. Rep.* 7:e14163. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14163
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Ross, R., and Gurd, B. J. (2019b). The application of repeated testing and monoexponential regressions to classify individual cardiorespiratory fitness responses to exercise training. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 889–900. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04078-w
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Islam, H., Eynon, N., and Gurd, B. J. (2020). "Statistical considerations and biological mechanisms underlying individual differences in adaptations to exercise training," in *The Routledge Handbook on Biochemistry of Exercise*, eds P. M. Tiidus, R. E. K. MacPherson, P. J. LeBlanc, and A. R. Josse (Abingdon-on-Thames: Routledge), 242–259. doi: 10.4324/9781003123835-16
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Nelms, M. W., Preobrazenski, N., LeBlanc, C., Robins, L., Lu, S., et al. (2018). Moving beyond threshold-based dichotomous classification to improve the accuracy in classifying non-responders. *Physiol. Rep.* 6:e13928. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13928
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Islam, H., Preobrazenski, N., Ma, A., Deschenes, M., Erlich, A. T., et al. (2021a). Examining interindividual differences in select muscle and whole-body adaptations to continuous endurance training. *Exp. Physiol.* doi: 10.1113/EP089421 [Epub ahead of print].
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Preobrazenski, N., Islam, H., Walsh, J. J., Ross, R., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2021b). Exploring differences in cardiorespiratory fitness response rates across varying doses of exercise training: a retrospective analysis of eight randomized controlled trials. *Sports Med.* 51, 1785–1797. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01442-9
- Bonafiglia, J. T., Rotundo, M. P., Whittall, J. P., Scribbans, T. D., Graham, R. B., and Gurd, B. J. (2016). Inter-individual variability in the adaptive responses to endurance and sprint interval training: a randomized crossover study. *PLoS One* 11:e0167790. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167790
- Bouchard, C., An, P., Rice, T., Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, J. H., Gagnon, J., et al. (1999). Familial aggregation of VO2max response to exercise training: results from the HERITAGE family study. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 1003–1008. doi: 10.1152/jappl. 1999.87.3.1003
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Häkkinen, K., et al. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: is it a rare or common occurrence? *PLoS One* 7:e37887. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037887
- Bouchard, C., Tremblay, A., Després, J.-P., Thériault, G., Nadeauf, A., Lupien, P. J., et al. (1994). The response to exercise with constant energy intake in identical twins. *Obes. Res.* 2, 400–410. doi: 10.1002/j.1550-8528.1994.tb00087.x
- Bouchard, C., Tremblay, A., Nadeau, A., Dussault Despres, J. J. P., Theriault, G., Lupien, P. J., et al. (1990). Long-term exercise training with constant energy intake. 1: effect on body composition and selected metabolic variables. *Int. J. Obes.* 14, 57–73.
- Boule, N. G., Weisnagel, S. J., Lakka, T. A., Tremblay, A., Bergman, R. N., Rankinen, T., et al. (2005). Effects of exercise training on glucose homeostasis. *Diabetes Care* 28, 108–114.
- Brennan, A. M., Day, A. G., Cowan, T. E., Clarke, G. J., Lamarche, B., and Ross, R. (2019). Individual response to standardized exercise: total and abdominal adipose tissue. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52:1. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000001930
- Byrd, B. R., Keith, J., Keeling, S. M., Weatherwax, R. M., Nolan, P. B., Ramos, J. S., et al. (2019). Personalized moderate-intensity exercise training combined with high-intensity interval training enhances training responsiveness. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:2088. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16122088
- Cadore, E. L., Pinto, R. S., Teodoro, J. L., da Silva, L. X. N., Menger, E., Alberton, C. L., et al. (2018). Cardiorespiratory adaptations in elderly men following different concurrent training regimes. J. Nutr. Heal. Aging 22, 483–490. doi: 10.1007/s12603-017-0958-4
- Castro, A., Duft, R. G., Ferreira, M. L. V., de Andrade, A. L. L., Gáspari, A. F., Silva, L. D. M., et al. (2019). Association of skeletal muscle and serum metabolites with maximum power output gains in response to continuous endurance or high-intensity interval training programs: the TIMES study – a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 14:e0212115. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212115

- Caudwell, P., Hopkins, M., King, N. A., Stubbs, R. J., and Blundell, J. E. (2009). Exercise alone is not enough: weight loss also needs a healthy (Mediterranean) diet? *Public Health Nutr.* 12, 1663–1666. doi: 10.1017/S1368980009990528
- Chen, Y.-W., Gregory, C., Ye, F., Harafuji, N., Lott, D., Lai, S.-H., et al. (2017). Molecular signatures of differential responses to exercise trainings during rehabilitation. *Biomed. Genet. Genomics* 2, 1–22. doi: 10.15761/bgg.1000127
- Chmelo, E. A., Crotts, C. I., Newman, J. C., Brinkley, T. E., Lyles, M. F., Leng, X., et al. (2015). Heterogeneity of physical function responses to exercise training in older adults. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 63, 462–469. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13322
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Piatrikova, E., Betts, J. A., Williams, S., and Gonzalez, J. T. (2020). Variability in exercise physiology: can capturing intra-individual variation help better understand true inter-individual responses? *Eur. J. Sports Sci.* 20, 452–460. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2019.1655100
- Churchward-Venne, T. A., Tieland, M., Verdijk, L. B., Leenders, M., Dirks, M. L., de Groot, L. C. P. G. M., et al. (2015). There are no nonresponders to resistancetype exercise training in older men and women. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 16, 400–411. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.01.071
- Croymans, D. M., Paparisto, E., Lee, M. M., Brandt, N., Le, B. K., Lohan, D., et al. (2013). Resistance training improves indices of muscle insulin sensitivity and β-cell function in overweight/obese, sedentary young men. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 1245–1253. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00485.2013
- da Cunha Nascimento, D., da Silva, C. R., Valduga, R., Saraiva, B., de Sousa Neto, I. V., Vieira, A., et al. (2018). Blood pressure response to resistance training in hypertensive and normotensive older women. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 13, 541–553. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S157479
- da Cunha Nascimento, D., de Sousa Neto, I. V., Saraiva, B., Lima, A. D. S., Navalta, J. W., Pereira, G. B., et al. (2020). Advancements and critical steps for statistical analyses in blood pressure response to resistance training in hypertensive older women. *Blood Press. Monit.* 26, 135–145. doi: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000055
- Dalleck, L. C., Haney, D. E., Buchanan, C. A., and Weatherwax, R. M. (2016). Does a personalised exercise prescription enhance training efficacy and limit training unresponsiveness? A randomised controlled trial. *Fit. Res.* 5, 15–27.
- Dalleck, L. C., Van Guilder, G. P., Richardson, T. B., and Vella, C. A. (2015). The prevalence of adverse cardiometabolic responses to exercise training with evidence-based practice is low. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.* 8, 73–78. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S76880
- Damas, F., Barcelos, C., Nóbrega, S. R., Ugrinowitsch, C., Lixandrão, M. E., Santos, L. M. E. D., et al. (2019b). Individual muscle hypertrophy and strength responses to high vs. low resistance training frequencies. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 33, 897–901. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000002864
- Damas, F., Angleri, V., Phillips, S. M., Witard, O. C., Ugrinowitsch, C., Santanielo, N., et al. (2019a). Myofibrillar protein synthesis and muscle hypertrophy individualized responses to systematically changing resistance training variables in trained young men. J. Appl. Physiol. 127, 806–815. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 00350.2019
- Dankel, S. J., and Loenneke, J. P. (2020). A method to stop analyzing random error and start analyzing differential responders to exercise. *Sports Med.* 50, 231–238. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01147-0
- Davidsen, P. K., Gallagher, I. J., Hartman, J. W., Tarnopolsky, M. A., Dela, F., Helge, J. W., et al. (2011). High responders to resistance exercise training demonstrate differential regulation of skeletal muscle microRNA expression. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 309–317. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00901.2010
- de Lannoy, L., Clarke, J., Stotz, P. J., and Ross, R. (2017). Effects of intensity and amount of exercise on measures of insulin and glucose: analysis of inter-individual variability. *PLoS One* 12:e0177095. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0177095
- Del Giudice, M., Bonafiglia, J. T., Islam, H., Preobrazenski, N., Amato, A., and Gurd, B. J. (2020). Investigating the reproducibility of maximal oxygen uptake responses to high-intensity interval training. *J. Sci. Med. Sports* 23, 94–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.09.007
- Delgado-Floody, P., Álvarez, C., Lusa Cadore, E., Flores-Opazo, M., Caamaño-Navarrete, F., and Izquierdo, M. (2019). Preventing metabolic syndrome in morbid obesity with resistance training: reporting interindividual variability. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 29, 1368–1381. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2019.07. 002
- Denham, J. (2019). The association between sperm telomere length, cardiorespiratory fitness and exercise training in humans. *Biomed. J.* 42, 430–433. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2019.07.003
- Díaz-Vegas, A., Espinoza, A., Cofré, C., and Sánchez-Aguilera, P. (2018). Eccentric resistance training reduces both non-response to exercise and cardiovascular risk factors in adult with overweight or obesity. *Sci. Sports* 33, 245–252. doi: 10.1016/j.scispo.2017.12.002
- Dionne, F. T., Turcotte, L., Thibault, M. C., Boulay, M. R., Skinner, J. S., and Bouchard, C. (1991). Mitochondrial DNA sequence polymorphism, VO2max, and response to endurance training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 23, 177–185. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199102000-00006
- Dorn, J., Naughton, J., Imamura, D., and Trevisan, M. (1999). Results of a multicenter randomized clinical trial of exercise and long-term survival in myocardial infarction patients. *Circulation* 100, 1764–1769. doi: 10.1161/01. CIR.100.17.1764
- Edgett, B. A., Bonafiglia, J. T., Raleigh, J. P., Rotundo, M. P., Giles, M. D., Whittall, J. P., et al. (2018). Reproducibility of peak oxygen consumption and the impact of test variability on classification of individual training responses in young recreationally active adults. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 38, 630–638. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12459
- Erskine, R. M., Jones, D. A., Williams, A. G., Stewart, C. E., and Degens, H. (2010). Inter-individual variability in the adaptation of human muscle specific tension to progressive resistance training. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 1117–1125. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1601-9
- Garcia, P., Nascimento, D., da, C., Tibana, R. A., Barboza, M. M., Willardson, J. M., et al. (2016). Comparison between the multiple-set plus 2 weeks of triset and traditional multiple-set method on strength and body composition in trained women: a pilot study. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 36, 47–52. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12192
- Goddard, N., Baker, M., Higgins, T., and Cobbold, C. (2014). The effect of angiotensin converting enzyme genotype on aerobic capacity following high intensity interval training. *Int. J. Exerc. Sci.* 7, 250–259.
- Gray, S. R., Aird, T. P., Farquharson, A. J., Horgan, G. W., Fisher, E., Wilson, J., et al. (2018). Inter-individual responses to sprint interval training, a pilot study investigating interactions with the sirtuin system. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 43, 84–93. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2017-0224
- Gross, M., Swensen, T., and King, D. (2007). Nonconsecutive- versus consecutiveday high-intensity interval training in cyclists. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 1666–1671. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180cac209
- Gurd, B. J., Giles, M. D., Bonafiglia, J. T., Raleigh, J. P., Boyd, J. C., Ma, J. K., et al. (2016). Incidence of nonresponse and individual patterns of response following sprint interval training. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 229–234. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0449
- Hagstrom, A. D., and Denham, J. (2018). MicroRNAs in high and low responders to resistance training in breast cancer survivors. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 39, 482–489. doi: 10.1055/a-0592-7691
- Hammond, B. P., Stotz, P. J., Brennan, A. M., Lamarche, B., Day, A. G., and Ross, R. (2019). Individual variability in waist circumference and body weight in response to exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 315–322. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000001784
- Haun, C. T., Vann, C. G., Mobley, C. B., Osburn, S. C., Mumford, P. W., Roberson, P. A., et al. (2019). Pre-training skeletal muscle fiber size and predominant fiber type best predict hypertrophic responses to 6 weeks of resistance training in to previously trained young men. *Front. Physiol.* 10:297. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019. 00297
- Hauser, A., Schmitt, L., Troesch, S., Saugy, J. J., Cejuela-Anta, R., Faiss, R., et al. (2016). Similar hemoglobin mass response in hypobaric and normobaric hypoxia in athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 734–741. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000000808
- Hautala, A. J., Kiviniemi, A. M., Mäkikallio, T. H., Kinnunen, H., Nissilä, S., Huikuri, H. V., et al. (2006). Individual differences in the responses to endurance and resistance training. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 96, 535–542. doi: 10. 1007/s00421-005-0116-2
- Hecksteden, A., Kraushaar, J., Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Theisen, D., Senn, S., and Meyer, T. (2015). Individual response to exercise training – a statistical perspective. J. Appl. Physiol. 118, 1450–1459. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00714. 2014
- Hecksteden, A., Pitsch, W., Rosenberger, F., and Meyer, T. (2018). Repeated testing for the assessment of individual response to exercise training. J. Appl. Physiol. 124, 1567–1579. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00896.2017

- Higgins, J. P. T., Altman, D. G., Gøtzsche, P. C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A. D., et al. (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ* 343, 1–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., et al. (2019). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, 2nd Edn. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. doi: 10.1002/9781119536604
- Hopkins, W. G. (2000). Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. *Sports Med.* 30, 375–381. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030050-00006
- Hopkins, W. G. (2015). Individual responses made easy. J. Appl. Physiol. 118, 1444–1446. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00098.2015
- Horak, M., Zlamal, F., Iliev, R., Kucera, J., Cacek, J., Svobodova, L., et al. (2018). Exercise-induced circulating microRNA changes in athletes in various training scenarios. *PLoS One* 13:e0191060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191060
- Hubal, M. J., Gordish Dressman, H., Thompson, P. D., Price, T. B., Hoffman, E. P., Angelopoulos, T. J., et al. (2005). Variability in muscle size and strength gain after unilateral resistance training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, 964–972. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000170469.90461.5f
- Hvid, L. G., Nielsen, M. K. F., Simonsen, C., Caserotti, P., Andersen, M., and Caserotti, P. (2017). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) serum basal levels is not affected by power training in mobility-limited older adults — a randomized controlled trial. *Exp. Gerontol.* 93, 29–35. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017. 03.019
- Islam, H., Bonafiglia, J. T., Del Giudice, M., Pathmarajan, R., Simpson, C. A., Quadrilatero, J., et al. (2021). Repeatability of training-induced skeletal muscle adaptations in active young males. J. Sci. Med. Sports 24, 494–498. doi: 10.1016/ j.jsams.2020.10.016
- Islam, H., Siemens, T. L., Matusiak, J. B. L., Sawula, L., Bonafiglia, J. T., Preobrazenski, N., et al. (2019). Cardiorespiratory fitness and muscular endurance responses immediately and two-months after a whole-body Tabata or vigorous-intensity continuous training intervention. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 45, 650–658. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2019-0492
- Johannsen, N. M., Swift, D. L., Lavie, C. J., Earnest, C. P., Blair, S. N., and Church, T. S. (2013). Categorical analysis of the impact of aerobic and resistance exercise training, alone and in combination, on cardiorespiratory fitness levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 36, 3305–3312. doi: 10.2337/ dc12-2194
- Kacerovsky-Bielesz, G., Kacerovsky, M., Chmelik, M., Farukuoye, M., Ling, C., Pokan, R., et al. (2012). A single nucleotide polymorphism associates with the response of muscle ATP synthesis to long-term exercise training in relatives of type 2 diabetic humans. *Diabetes Care* 35, 350–357. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1426
- Karavirta, L., Costa, M. D., Goldberger, A. L., Tulppo, M. P., Laaksonen, D. E., Nyman, K., et al. (2013). Heart rate dynamics after combined strength and endurance training in middle-aged women: heterogeneity of responses. *PLoS One* 8:e72664. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072664
- Karavirta, L., Häkkinen, K., Kauhanen, A., Arija-Blázquez, A., Sillanpää, E., Rinkinen, N., et al. (2011). Individual responses to combined endurance and strength training in older adults. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 484–490. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181f1bf0d
- Keller, P., Vollaard, N. B. J. J., Gustafsson, T., Gallagher, I. J., Sundberg, C. J., Rankinen, T., et al. (2011). A transcriptional map of the impact of endurance exercise training on skeletal muscle phenotype. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 46–59. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00634.2010
- Kelley, G. A., Kelley, K. S., and Pate, R. R. (2020). Are there inter-individual differences in fat mass and percent body fat as a result of aerobic exercise training in overweight and obese children and adolescents? A meta-analytic perspective. *Child. Obes.* 16, 301–306. doi: 10.1089/chi.2020.0056
- Kelley, G. A., Kelley, K. S., and Pate, R. R. (2021). Inter-individual differences in body mass index were not observed as a result of aerobic exercise in children and adolescents with overweight and obesity. *Pediatr. Obes.* 16, 1–9. doi: 10. 1111/ijpo.12692
- King, N. A., Hopkins, M., Caudwell, P., Stubbs, R. J., and Blundell, J. E. (2008). Individual variability following 12 weeks of supervised exercise: identification and characterization of compensation for exercise-induced weight loss. *Int. J. Obes.* 32, 177–184. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803712
- Kneppers, A. E. M., Haast, R. A. M., Langen, R. C. J., Verdijk, L. B., Leermakers, P. A., Gosker, H. R., et al. (2019). Distinct skeletal muscle molecular responses to pulmonary rehabilitation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a cluster analysis. J. Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 10, 311–322. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12370

- Koufaki, P., Nash, P. F., and Mercer, T. H. (2002). Assessing the efficacy of exercise training in patients with chronic disease. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 34, 1234–1241. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200208000-00002
- Krusnauskas, R., Eimantas, N., Baranauskiene, N., Venckunas, T., Snieckus, A., Brazaitis, M., et al. (2020). Response to three weeks of sprint interval training cannot be explained by the exertional level. *Medicina* 56:395. doi: 10.3390/ medicina56080395
- Lakens, D. (2013). Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. *Front. Psychol.* 4:863. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863
- Leddy, A. L., Connolly, M., Holleran, C. L., Hennessy, P. W., Woodward, J., Arena, R. A., et al. (2016). Alterations in aerobic exercise performance and gait economy following high-intensity dynamic stepping training in persons with subacute stroke. J. Neurol. Phys. Ther. 40, 239–248. doi: 10.1097/NPT. 000000000000147
- Leifer, E. S., Mikus, C. R., Karavirta, L., Resnick, B. D., Kraus, W. E., Hakkinen, K., et al. (2016). Adverse cardiovascular response to aerobic exercise training: is this a concern? *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 20–25. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0000000000000752
- Leon, A. S., Gaskill, S. E., Rice, T., Bergeron, J., Gagnon, J., Rao, D. C., et al. (2002). Variability in the response of HDL cholesterol to exercise training in the HERITAGE family study. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 23, 1–9. doi: 10.1055/s-2002-19270
- Leoñska-Duniec, A., Jastrzêbski, Z., Jażdżewska, A., Moska, W., Luliňska-Kuklik, E., Sawczuk, M., et al. (2018). Individual responsiveness to exercise-induced fat loss and improvement of metabolic profile in young women is associated with polymorphisms of adrenergic receptor genes. J. Sports Sci. Med. 17, 134–144.
- Lindholm, M. E., Giacomello, S., Werne Solnestam, B., Fischer, H., Huss, M., Kjellqvist, S., et al. (2016). The impact of endurance training on human skeletal muscle memory, global isoform expression and novel transcripts. *PLoS Genet*. 12:e1006294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006294
- Lortie, G., Simoneau, J. A., Hamel, P., Boulay, M. R., Landry, F., and Bouchard, C. (1984). Responses of maximal aerobic power and capacity to aerobic training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 5, 232–236. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1025911
- Marsh, C. E., Thomas, H. J., Naylor, L. H., Scurrah, K. J., and Green, D. J. (2020). Fitness and strength responses to distinct exercise modes in twins: studies of twin responses to understand exercise as a therapy (STRUETH) study. *J. Physiol.* 598, 3845–3858. doi: 10.1113/JP280048
- Massie, R., Smallcombe, J., and Tolfrey, K. (2019). Effects of a 12-week exercise intervention on subsequent compensatory behaviors in adolescent girls: an exploratory study. *Pediatr. Exerc. Sci.* 31, 495–504. doi: 10.1123/pes.2019-0012
- Mclaren, S. J., Smith, A., Bartlett, J. D., Spears, I. R., Weston, M., Mclaren, S. J., et al. (2018). Differential training loads and individual fitness responses to pre-season in professional rugby union players. *J. Sports Sci.* 36, 2438–2446. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1461449
- McPhee, J. S., Williams, A. G., Degens, H., and Jones, D. A. (2010). Inter-individual variability in adaptation of the leg muscles following a standardised endurance training programme in young women. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 1111–1118. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1454-2
- McPhee, J. S., Williams, A. G., Perez-Schindler, J., Degens, H., Baar, K., and Jones, D. A. (2011). Variability in the magnitude of response of metabolic enzymes reveals patterns of co-ordinated expression following endurance training in women. *Exp. Physiol.* 96, 699–707. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.057729
- Medrano, M., Arenaza, L., Ramírez-Vélez, R., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., and Labayen, I. (2020). Prevalence of responders for hepatic fat, adiposity and liver enzyme levels in response to a lifestyle intervention in children with overweight/obesity: EFIGRO randomized controlled trial. *Pediatr. Diabetes* 21, 215–223. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12949
- Metcalfe, R. S., Tardif, N., Thompson, D., and Vollaard, N. B. J. (2016). Changes in aerobic capacity and glycaemic control in response to reduced-exertion highintensity interval training (REHIT) are not different between sedentary men and women. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 1117–1123. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0253
- Mills, H., Higgins, J. P., Morris, R., Kessler, D., Heron, J., Wiles, N., et al. (2020). Detecting heterogeneity of intervention effects using analysis and meta-analysis of differences in variance between arms of a trial. *MedRxiv* [Preprint] doi: 10.1101/2020.03.07.20032516
- Mobley, C. B., Haun, C. T., Roberson, P. A., Mumford, P. W., Kephart, W. C., Romero, M. A., et al. (2018). Biomarkers associated with low, moderate, and

high vastus lateralis muscle hypertrophy following 12 weeks of resistance training. *PLoS One* 13:e0195203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195203

- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2017). Refuting the myth of non-response to exercise training: 'non-responders' do respond to higher dose of training. *J. Physiol.* 595, 3377–3387. doi: 10.1113/JP273480
- Morton, R. W., Sato, K., Gallaugher, M. P. B., Oikawa, S. Y., McNicholas, P. D., Fujita, S., et al. (2018). Muscle androgen receptor content but not systemic hormones is associated with resistance training-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy in healthy, young men. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1373. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01373
- Mueller, K., Moller, H. E., Horstmann, A., Busse, F., Lepsien, J., Bluher, M., et al. (2015). Physical exercise in overweight to obese individuals induces metabolicand neurotrophic-related structural brain plasticity. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:372. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00372
- Mulroy, S. J., Klassen, T., Gronley, J. K., Eberly, V. J., Brown, D. A., and Sullivan, K. J. (2010). Gait parameters associated with responsiveness to treadmill training with body-weight support after stroke: an exploratory study. *Phys. Ther.* 90, 209–223. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20090141
- Nunes, J. P., Pina, F. L. C., Ribeiro, A. S., Cunha, P. M., Kassiano, W., Costa, B. D. V., et al. (2020). Responsiveness to muscle mass gain following 12 and 24 weeks of resistance training in older women. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 33, 1071–1078. doi: 10.1007/s40520-020-01587-z
- Ogasawara, R., Akimoto, T., Umeno, T., Sawada, S., Hamaoka, T., and Fujita, S. (2016). MicroRNA expression profiling in skeletal muscle reveals different regulatory patterns in high and low responders to resistance training. *Physiol. Genomics* 48, 320–324. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00124.2015
- Orssatto, L. B. R., Bezerra, E. S., Zwaal, G. I., Moreira, J. D., Moro, A. R. P., de Moura, B. M., et al. (2020). Is responsiveness of elderly individuals to resistance training related to habitual nutritional intake? An exploratory analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *Sports Sci. Health* 16, 355–364. doi: 10.1007/ s11332-020-00628-4
- Pandey, A., Swift, D. L., Mcguire, D. K., Ayers, C. R., Neeland, I. J., Blair, S. N., et al. (2015). Metabolic effects of exercise training among fitness- nonresponsive patients with type 2 diabetes: the HART-D study. *Diabetes Care* 38, 1494–1501. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2378
- Park, J. Y., Farrance, I. K. G., Fenty, N. M., Hagberg, J. M., Roth, S. M., Mosser, D. M., et al. (2007). NFKB1 promoter variation implicates shear-induced NOS3 gene expression and endothelial function in prehypertensives and stage I hypertensives. Am. J. Physiol. Hear. Circ. Physiol. 293, 2320–2327. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.00186.2007
- Patel, K., Polonsky, T. S., Kibbe, M. R., Guralnik, J. M., Tian, L., Ferrucci, L., et al. (2021). Clinical characteristics and response to supervised exercise therapy of people with lower extremity peripheral artery disease. J. Vasc. Surg. 73, 608–625. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.04.498
- Peltonen, H., Walker, S., Hackney, A. C., Avela, J., and Häkkinen, K. (2018). Increased rate of force development during periodized maximum strength and power training is highly individual. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1033–1042. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-3836-9
- Prestes, J., da Cunha Nascimento, D., Tibana, R. A., Teixeira, T. G., Vieira, D. C. L., Tajra, V., et al. (2015). Understanding the individual responsiveness to resistance training periodization. Age 37:9793. doi: 10.1007/s11357-015-9793-x
- Prestes, J., Nascimento, D. D. C., Neto, I. V. D. S., Tibana, R. A., Shiguemoto, G. E., de Andrade Perez, S. E., et al. (2018). The effects of muscle strength responsiveness to periodized resistance training on resistin, leptin, and cytokine in elderly postmenopausal women. J. Strength Cond. Res. 32, 113–120. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001718
- Prud'homme, D., Bouchard, C., Leblanc, C., Landry, F., and Fontaine, E. (1984). Sensitivity of maximal aerobic power to training is genotype-dependent. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 16, 489–493. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198410000-00012
- Radnor, J. M., Lloyd, R. S., and Oliver, J. L. (2017). Individual response to different forms of resistance training in school-aged boys. J. Strength Cond. Res. 31, 787–797. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001527
- Raleigh, J. P., Giles, M. D., Islam, H., Nelms, M., Bentley, R. F., Jones, J. H., et al. (2018). Contribution of central and peripheral adaptations to changes in maximal oxygen uptake following 4 weeks of sprint interval training. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 43, 1059–1068. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2017-0864
- Raleigh, J. P., Giles, M. D., Scribbans, T. D., Edgett, B. A., Sawula, L. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., et al. (2016). The impact of work-matched interval training on VO2peak

and VO2 kinetics: diminishing returns with increasing intensity. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, 706–713. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0614

- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Hernández-Quiñones, P. A., Tordecilla-Sanders, A., Álvarez, C., Ramírez-Campillo, R., Izquierdo, M., et al. (2019). Effectiveness of HIIT compared to moderate continuous training in improving vascular parameters in inactive adults. *Lipids Health Dis.* 18, 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12944-019-0981-z
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Izquierdo, M., Castro-Astudillo, K., Medrano-Mena, C., Monroy-Díaz, A. L., Castellanos-Vega, R. D. P., et al. (2020). Weight loss after 12 weeks of exercise and/or nutritional guidance is not obligatory for induced changes in local fat/lean mass indexes in adults with excess of adiposity. *Nutrients* 12:2231. doi: 10.3390/nu12082231
- Riesco, E., Aubertin-Leheudre, M., Maltais, M. L., Audet, M., and Dionne, I. J. (2010). Synergic effect of phytoestrogens and exercise training on cardiovascular risk profile in exercise-responder postmenopausal women: a pilot study. *Menopause* 17, 1035–1039. doi: 10.1097/gme.0b013e3181da7915
- Rohatgi, A. (2018). *WebPlotDigitizer*. Available online at: https://automeris.io/ WebPlotDigitizer (accessed November 18, 2018).
- Ross, L. M., Slentz, C. A., and Kraus, W. E. (2019). Evaluating individual level responses to exercise for health outcomes in overweight or obese adults. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1401. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01401
- Ross, R., Blair, S. N., Arena, R., Church, T. S., Després, J.-P., Franklin, B. A., et al. (2016). Importance of assessing cardiorespiratory fitness in clinical practice: a case for fitness as a clinical vital sign: a scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation* 134, e653–e699. doi: 10.1161/CIR. 000000000000461
- Ross, R., de Lannoy, L., and Stotz, P. J. (2015). Separate effects of intensity and amount of exercise on interindividual cardiorespiratory fitness response. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 90, 1506–1514. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.024
- Ross, R., Goodpaster, B. H., Koch, L. G., Sarzynski, M. A., Kohrt, W. M., Johannsen, N. M., et al. (2019). Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2018-100328
- Sandroff, B. M., Baird, J. F., Silveira, S. L., and Motl, R. W. (2019). Response heterogeneity in fitness, mobility and cognition with exercise-training in MS. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 139, 183–191. doi: 10.1111/ane.13041
- Saric, J., Lisica, D., Orlic, I., Grgic, J., Krieger, J. W., Vuk, S., et al. (2019). Resistance training frequencies of 3 and 6 times per week produce similar muscular adaptations in resistance-trained men. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 33, S122–S129. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002909
- Sawyer, B. J., Bhammar, D. M., Angadi, S. S., Ryan, D. M., Ryder, J. R., Sussman, E. J., et al. (2015). Predictors of fat mass changes in response to aerobic exercise training in women. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 29, 297–304. doi: 10.1519/ JSC.000000000000726
- Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Walitzek, S., Kindermann, W., and Meyer, T. (2012). Differences in adaptations to 1 year of aerobic endurance training: individual patterns of nonresponse. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 113–118. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0838.2010.01139.x
- Schmid, J. P., Zurek, M., and Saner, H. (2013). Chronotropic incompetence predicts impaired response to exercise training in heart failure patients with sinus rhythm. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 20, 585–592. doi: 10.1177/2047487312444368
- Schubert, M. M., Palumbo, E., Seay, R. F., Spain, K. K., and Clarke, H. E. (2017). Energy compensation after sprint- and high-intensity interval training. *PLoS One* 12:e0189590. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189590
- Schulhauser, K. T., Bonafiglia, J. T., McKie, G. L., McCarthy, S. F., Islam, H., Townsend, L. K., et al. (2020). Individual patterns of response to traditional and modified sprint interval training. *J. Sports Sci.* 39, 1077–1087. doi: 10.1080/ 02640414.2020.1857507
- Seward, S., Ramos, J., Drummond, C., Dalleck, A., Byrd, B., Kehmeier, M., et al. (2019). Inter-individual variability in metabolic syndrome severity score and VO2max changes following personalized, community-based exercise programming. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:4855. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16234855
- Simoneau, J. A., Lortie, G., Boulay, M. R., Marcotte, M., Thibault, M. C., and Bouchard, C. (1986). Inheritance of human skeletal muscle and anaerobic capacity adaptation to high-intensity intermittent training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 7, 167–171.
- Sisson, S. B., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Earnest, C. P., Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., and Church, T. S. (2009). Volume of exercise and fitness nonresponse in sedentary,

postmenopausal women. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 41, 539–545. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0b013e3181896c4e

- Stec, M. J., Kelly, N. A., Many, G. M., Windham, S. T., Tuggle, S. C., and Bamman, M. M. (2016). Ribosome biogenesis may augment resistance training-induced myofiber hypertrophy and is required for myotube growth in vitro. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* 310, E652–E661. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00486.2015
- Stec, M. J., Thalacker-Mercer, A., Mayhew, D. L., Kelly, N. A., Tuggle, C. S., Merritt, E. K., et al. (2017). Randomized, four-arm, dose-response clinical trial to optimize resistance exercise training for older adults with age-related muscle atrophy. *Exp. Gerontol.* 99, 98–109. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.09.018
- Steele, J., Fisher, J., Bruce-Low, S., Smith, D., Osborne, N., and Newell, D. (2017). Variability in strength, pain, and disability changes in response to an isolated lumbar extension resistance training intervention in participants with chronic low back pain. *Healthcare* 5:75. doi: 10.3390/healthcare5040075
- Stephens, N. A., Brouwers, B., Eroshkin, A. M., Yi, F., Cornnell, H. H., Meyer, C., et al. (2018). Exercise response variations in skeletal muscle PCR recovery rate and insulin sensitivity relate to muscle epigenomic profiles in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 41, 2245–2254. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0296
- Stephens, N. A., Xie, H., Johannsen, N. M., Church, T. S., Smith, S. R., and Sparks, L. M. (2015). A transcriptional signature of "exercise resistance" in skeletal muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 64, 999–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.06.008
- Stuart, C. A., Lee, M. L., South, M. A., Howell, M. E. A., Cartwright, B. M., Ramsey, M. W., et al. (2017). Pre-training muscle characteristics of subjects who are obese determine how well exercise training will improve their insulin responsiveness. J. Strength Cond. Res. 31, 798–808. doi: 10.1519/JSC. 000000000001530
- Swinton, P. A., Hemingway, B. S., Saunders, B., Gualano, B., and Dolan, E. (2018). A statistical framework to interpret individual response to intervention: paving the way for personalised nutrition and exercise prescription. *Front. Nutr.* 5:41. doi: 10.3389/FNUT.2018.00041
- Taaffe, D. R., Newton, R. U., Spry, N., Joseph, D. J., and Galvão, D. A. (2019). Responsiveness to resistance-based multimodal exercise among men with prostate cancer receiving androgen deprivation therapy. J. Natl. Compr. Cancer Netw. 17, 1211–1220. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2019.7311
- Thomaes, T., Thomis, M., Onkelinx, S., Goetschalckx, K., Fagard, R., Lambrechts, D., et al. (2013). Genetic predisposition scores associate with muscular strength, size, and trainability. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 1451–1459. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0b013e31828983f7
- Thomas, H. J., Marsh, C. E., Maslen, B. A., Scurrah, K. J., Naylor, L. H., and Green, D. J. (2020). Studies of twin responses to understand exercise therapy (STRUETH). *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 53, 58–67. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000002461
- Timmons, J. A., Jansson, E., Fischer, H., Gustafsson, T., Greenhaff, P. L., Ridden, J., et al. (2005). Modulation of extracellular matrix genes reflects the magnitude of physiological adaptation to aerobic exercise training in humans. *BMC Biol.* 3:19. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-3-19
- Valenzuela, P. L., de Alba, A., Pedrero-Chamizo, R., Morales, J. S., Cobo, F., Botella, A., et al. (2018). Intradialytic exercise: one size doesn't fit all. *Front. Physiol.* 9:844. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00844
- Valenzuela, P. L., Ortiz-Alonso, J., Bustamante-Ara, N., Vidán, M. T., Rodríguez-Romo, G., Mayordomo-Cava, J., et al. (2020). Individual responsiveness to physical exercise intervention in acutely hospitalized older adults. *J. Clin. Med.* 9:797. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030797
- Vellers, H. L., Verhein, K. C., Burkholder, A. B., Lee, J., Kim, Y., Lightfoot, J. T., et al. (2020). Association between mitochondrial DNA sequence variants and VO2 max trainability. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 2303–2309. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000002390
- Vincent, H. K., Vincent, K. R., Seay, A. N., Conrad, B. P., Hurley, R. W., and George, S. Z. (2014). Back strength predicts walking improvement in obese, older adults with chronic low back pain. *PM R* 6, 418–426. doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2013. 11.002
- Voisin, S., Jacques, M., Lucia, A., Bishop, D. J., and Eynon, N. (2019). Statistical Considerations for exercise protocols aimed at measuring trainability. *Exerc. Sports Sci. Rev.* 47, 37–45. doi: 10.1249/JES.000000000000176
- Vollaard, N. B. J., Constantin-Teodosiu, D., Fredriksson, K., Rooyackers, O., Jansson, E., Greenhaff, P. L., et al. (2009). Systematic analysis of adaptations in aerobic capacity and submaximal energy metabolism provides a unique

insight into determinants of human aerobic performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 106, 1479–1486. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.91453.2008

- Wadell, K., Sundelin, G., Lundgren, R., Henriksson-Larsén, K., and Lindström, B. (2005). Muscle performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease – effects of a physical training programme. *Adv. Physiother.* 7, 51–59. doi: 10.1080/14038190510010269
- Walsh, J. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., Goldfield, G. S., Sigal, R. J., Kenny, G. P., Doucette, S., et al. (2020). Interindividual variability and individual responses to exercise training in adolescents with obesity. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 45, 45–54. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2019-0088
- Wang, X., Breneman, C. B., Sparks, J. R., and Blair, S. N. (2020). Sedentary time and physical activity in older women undergoing exercise training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 2590–2598. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002407
- Weatherwax, R. M., Harris, N. K., Kilding, A. E., and Dalleck, L. C. (2018a). Using a site-specific technical error to establish training responsiveness: a preliminary explorative study. *Open Access J. Sports Med.* 9, 47–53. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM. S155440
- Weatherwax, R. M., Harris, N. K., Kilding, A. E., and Dalleck, L. C. (2019). Incidence of VO2max responders to personalized versus standardized exercise prescription. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 681–691. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000001842
- Weatherwax, R. M., Ramos, J. S., Harris, N. K., Kilding, A. E., and Dalleck, L. C. (2018b). Changes in metabolic syndrome severity following individualized versus standardized exercise prescription: a feasibility study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15, 1–14. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15112594
- Williams, C. J., Gurd, B. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., Voisin, S., Li, Z., Harvey, N., et al. (2019). A multi-center comparison of VO2peak trainability between interval training and moderate intensity continuous training. *Front. Physiol.* 10:19. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00019
- Williamson, P. J., Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2017). Inter-individual responses of maximal oxygen uptake to exercise training: a critical review. *Sports Med.* 47, 1501–1513. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0680-8
- Williamson, P. J., Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2018). Inter-individual differences in weight change following exercise interventions?: a systematic review and meta- analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Obes. Rev.* 19, 960–975. doi: 10.1111/obr.12682
- Wilson, J. R., Groves, J., and Rayos, G. (1996). Circulatory status and response to cardiac rehabilitation in patients with heart failure. *Circulation* 94, 1567–1572. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.94.7.1567
- Winkelbeiner, S., Leucht, S., Kane, J. M., and Homan, P. (2019). Evaluation of differences in individual treatment response in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. JAMA Psychiatry 76:1063. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.1530
- Witvrouwen, I., Pattyn, N., Gevaert, A. B., Possemiers, N., Van Craenenbroeck, A. H., Cornelissen, V. A., et al. (2019). Predictors of response to exercise training

in patients with coronary artery disease – a subanalysis of the SAINTEX-CAD study. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 26, 1158–1163. doi: 10.1177/2047487319828478

- Wolpern, A. E., Burgos, D. J., Janot, J. M., and Dalleck, L. C. (2015). Is a thresholdbased model a superior method to the relative percent concept for establishing individual exercise intensity? A randomized controlled trial. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabil.* 7:16. doi: 10.1186/s13102-015-0011-z
- Wormgoor, S. G., Dalleck, L. C., Zinn, C., Borotkanics, R., and Harris, N. K. (2018). High-intensity interval training is equivalent to moderate-intensity continuous training for short- and medium-term outcomes of glucose control, cardiometabolic risk, and microvascular complication markers in men with type 2 diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:475. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018. 00475
- Yalamanchi, S. V., Stewart, K. J., Ji, N., Golden, S. H., Dobs, A., Becker, D. M., et al. (2016). The relationship of fasting hyperglycemia to changes in fat and muscle mass after exercise training in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 122, 154–161. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2016.09.026
- Yan, X., Eynon, N., Papadimitriou, I. D., Kuang, J., Munson, F., Tirosh, O., et al. (2017). The gene SMART study: method, study design, and preliminary findings. *BMC Genomics* 18:821. doi: 10.1186/s12864-017-4186-4
- Yoo, J., Kim, B. H., Kim, S. H., Kim, Y., and Yim, S. V. (2016). Genetic polymorphisms to predict gains in maximal O2 uptake and knee peak torque after a high intensity training program in humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 116, 947–957. doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3353-7
- Yu, F., Salisbury, D., and Mathiason, M. A. (2020). Interindividual differences in the responses to aerobic exercise in Alzheimer's disease: findings from the FIT-AD trial. *J. Sports Heal. Sci.* 10, 65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2020.05.007

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Bonafiglia, Preobrazenski and Gurd. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## APPENDIX

## In-Text Citations for the 149 Included Studies

#### References A-I:

(Bouchard et al., 1990, 1994, 1990, 2012; Dionne et al., 1991; Barbeau et al., 2003; Boule et al., 2005; Hubal et al., 2005; Hautala et al., 2006; Gross et al., 2007; Caudwell et al., 2009; Erskine et al., 2010; Davidsen et al., 2011; Croymans et al., 2013; Astorino and Schubert, 2014; Goddard et al., 2014; Chmelo et al., 2015; Churchward-Venne et al., 2015; Dalleck et al., 2015, 2016; Ahtiainen et al., 2016, 2020; Bonafiglia et al., 2016, 2018, 2021a,b; Garcia et al., 2016; Gurd et al., 2016; Hauser et al., 2016; Alvarez et al., 2017a,b,c; Barbalho et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2017; de Lannoy et al., 2017; Hvid et al., 2017; Astorino et al., 2018; Álvarez et al., 2018, b,c,d, 2019; Bakker et al., 2018; Cadore et al., 2018; Díaz-Vegas et al., 2018; Edgett et al., 2018; Gray et al., 2018; Hagstrom and Denham, 2018; Hecksteden et al., 2018; Horak et al., 2018; Brennan et al., 2019; Byrd et al., 2019; Castro et al., 2019; Damas et al., 2019a,b; Delgado-Floody et al., 2019; Denham, 2019; Hammond et al., 2019; Islam et al., 2019; Del Giudice et al., 2020).

#### References I-R:

(Lortie et al., 1984; Prud'homme et al., 1984; Koufaki et al., 2002; Leon et al., 2002; Park et al., 2007; King et al., 2008; McPhee et al., 2010; 2011; Mulroy et al., 2010; Riesco et al., 2010; Karavirta et al., 2011, 2013; Keller et al., 2011; Kacerovsky-Bielesz et al., 2012; Johannsen et al., 2013; Mueller et al., 2015; Pandey et al., 2015; Prestes et al., 2015, 2018; Ross et al., 2015; Leddy et al., 2016; Leifer et al., 2016; Metcalfe et al., 2016; Ogasawara et al., 2016; Raleigh et al., 2016, 2018; Montero and Lundby, 2017; Radnor et al., 2017; da Cunha Nascimento et al., 2018, 2020; Leoñska-Duniec et al., 2018; Mclaren et al., 2018; Mobley et al., 2018; Morton et al., 2018; Peltonen et al., 2018; Kneppers et al., 2019; Massie et al., 2019; Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2019, 2020; Ross L. M. et al., 2019; Krusnauskas et al., 2020; Marsh et al., 2020; Medrano et al., 2020; Nunes et al., 2020; Orssatto et al., 2020; Patel et al., 2021).

#### References S-Z:

(Simoneau et al., 1986; Wilson et al., 1996; Timmons et al., 2005; Wadell et al., 2005; Sisson et al., 2009; Vollaard et al., 2009; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2012; Schmid et al., 2013; Thomaes et al., 2013; Vincent et al., 2014; Sawyer et al., 2015; Stephens et al., 2015, 2018; Wolpern et al., 2015; Stec et al., 2016, 2017; Yalamanchi et al., 2016; Yoo et al., 2016; Schubert et al., 2017; Steele et al., 2017; Stuart et al., 2017; Williamson et al., 2017, 2018; Yan et al., 2017; Valenzuela et al., 2018, 2020; Weatherwax et al., 2018a,b, 2019; Wormgoor et al., 2018; Sandroff et al., 2019; Saric et al., 2019; Seward et al., 2019; Taaffe et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019; Witvrouwen et al., 2019; Schulhauser et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2020; Vellers et al., 2020; Walsh et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020).





## Levels of Adherence of an Exercise Referral Scheme in Primary Health Care: Effects on Clinical and Anthropometric Variables and Depressive Symptoms of Hypertensive Patients

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Mikel Izquierdo, Public University of Navarre, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Moushira Zaki, National Research Centre (Egypt), Egypt Juan Garduño Espinosa, Federico Gómez Children's Hospital, Mexico

> \***Correspondence:** Carmen Garcia-Peña mcgarciapena@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 20 May 2021 Accepted: 16 November 2021 Published: 21 December 2021

#### Citation:

Gallegos-Carrillo K, Garcia-Peña C, Salgado-de-Snyder N, Salmerón J and Lobelo F (2021) Levels of Adherence of an Exercise Referral Scheme in Primary Health Care: Effects on Clinical and Anthropometric Variables and Depressive Symptoms of Hypertensive Patients. Front. Physiol. 12:712135. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.712135 Katia Gallegos-Carrillo¹, Carmen Garcia-Peña²\*, Nelly Salgado-de-Snyder³, Jorge Salmerón⁴ and Felipe Lobelo⁵

<sup>1</sup> Unidad de Investigación en Epidemiología y Servicios de Salud, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social (IMSS), Cuernavaca, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Centro de Investigación en Sistemas de Salud, Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública (México), Cuernavaca, Mexico, <sup>4</sup> Academic Unit of Epidemiological Research, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>5</sup> Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

Among the modifiable health behaviors, physical activity (PA) promotion has been one of the challenges in primary care, particularly how to translate the results of proven interventions and implement them in the real world. This study was aimed to compare whether two programs designed for hypertensive patients achieve changes in clinical and anthropometric variables, quality of life, and depressive symptoms; and if higher levels of adherence to one of the interventions using an exercise referral (ER) approach achieved better health outcomes. Pragmatic cluster randomized trials were carried out in four Primary Health Care Units (PHCUs). Physicians in the PHCUs identified hypertensive patients and assessed whether they were eligible to be part of this trial. Each center was randomized to a brief PA counseling (BC, n = 2) or an exercise referral (ER, n = 2) intervention to conducted PA programs among hypertensive patients aged 35-70 years, self-reported as physically inactive. Outcome variables included changes in blood pressure levels, triglycerides, HDL cholesterol, fasting glucose, body mass index, waist/hip ratio, abdominal obesity, and metabolic syndrome risk score, health-related quality of life, and depressive symptoms. Longitudinal multilevel analyses assessed the effects of the BC and ER programs and the level of adherence of the ER on clinical, anthropometric, and mental health variables, models were linear for continuous variables, and logistic for dichotomous variables. Differences were observed in triglycerides, BMI, metabolic risk scores variables, and depressive symptoms among ER and BC programs. In addition, differences in the ER group were observed according to the level of adherence in blood pressure levels, waist circumference and waist/hip

ratio, depressive symptoms, and the mental health component of health-related quality of life. An ER program in comparison to a BC intervention is promoting changes in some specific health indicators of hypertensive patients, showing the usefulness of these PA programs in primary health care facilities.

Keywords: health behaviors, physical activity, hypertension, adherence, primary care (MeSH)

#### INTRODUCTION

In the global health community, one of the greatest challenges is how to translate the results of proven interventions and implement them in the real world. Part of this challenge resides on the individuals themselves who are responsible for making these recommendations.

The efficacy of interventions to reduce high-risk behaviors through healthy lifestyle promotion, including healthy food habits, smoking cessation, and increased physical activity (PA) levels, has been determined in randomized or quasi-randomized controlled trials (Ashenden et al., 1997; Lawlor and Hanratty, 2001; Eden et al., 2002; Stead et al., 2016). However, some studies reveal that interventions aimed to change unhealthy health behaviors under realistic conditions of the health service delivery are still challenging to accomplish (Eakin et al., 2004; Aittasalo, 2008).

Among the modifiable health behaviors, the promotion of PA has been one of the challenges in primary care. Estimations indicated that not meeting PA recommendations is responsible for more than 5 million deaths globally each year (Lee et al., 2012). Although regular PA and health levels have a strong causal relationship, only 47% of the general Mexican population is achieving the PA levels. Among the strategies to increase PA levels exercise referral schemes (ERs) provide a promising alternative to PA promotion, facilitating changes in behavior in the at-risk population (Dugdill et al., 2005; Pavey et al., 2011).

Few studies have evaluated the impact of the levels of adherence of PA interventions carried out in primary health care, and its effects on participants physical health, anthropometry, perception of their quality of life, as well as mental well-being. Buckley et al. (2020), considered participant monthly attendance to a fitness center to assess differences of the exercise referral scheme and usual care in the United Kingdom, participants in the usual care program had lower attendance to the program and less attendance sustainability after 6-month follow-up, however, this level of attendance was not used to determine impact of the ER on PA, clinical or anthropometrics outcomes. Other studies in high-income countries have observed moderate effects of the ERS in self-reported PA levels and cardiovascular health outcomes (Murphy et al., 2012; Onerup et al., 2019), while other approaches to assess the effectiveness of ERS through measuring PA adherence concluded that a higher adherence (a more active stage of chance) of those in the ERs compared to usual care show an association with higher levels of PA (Martín-Borrás et al., 2018).

The aim of this study was to compare if two PA programs designed for increasing the PA levels of hypertensive patients achieve changes in clinical and anthropometric variables, quality of life, and depressive symptoms between baseline, 16 and 24 weeks; and if higher levels of adherence to one of the interventions using an exercise referral (ER) approach achieve better outcomes.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design**

Cluster randomized trial, with Primary Health Care Units(PHCUs) as the unit of randomization and hypertensive patients as the unit of assessment.

The physicians in all PHCUs identified hypertensive patients and assessed that they met the established criteria. Study design and details of the recruitment process are described elsewhere (Gallegos-Carrillo et al., 2014).

#### **Participants**

Trained staff in all the PHCUs used the eligibility criteria to warrant both that the practice of PA was safe for all participants, and the conditions to apply the behavioral theorybased intervention: women and men with IMSS affiliation, between 35 and 70 years old, less than 5 years from hypertension diagnosis, and/or without drug treatment (according to JNC 7 criteria) (Chobanian et al., 2003; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2004), self-reported performance of less PA than recommended (<150 min per week of moderate to vigorous intensity PA), and self-reported willingness to practice PA, according to Transtheoretical model of behavioral change (Prochaska and DiClemente, 1983); moderate level of cardiovascular risk, according to the Guidelines for exercise testing and recommendations of the (American College of Sports Medicine, 2009; Thompson et al., 2013), and complemented with a pre-participation screening questionnaire from the American Heart Association (Thomas et al., 1992) and ACSM. Specific information about inclusion criteria has been previously detailed (American College of Sports Medicine, 2009; Thompson et al., 2013; Gallegos-Carrillo et al., 2014).

Hypertensive patients complying with the inclusion criteria were not eligible if they reported a high PA level (>300 min a week of moderate to vigorous intensity), and have previously attended a PA program at IMSS facilities.

#### Setting

The Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS) includes facilities for primary, secondary, and tertiary health care services as well as available resources designed to develop PA programs (such as sports fields, gyms, pools, and outdoor spaces for PA) called Social Security Centers (SCC). The screening assessment and the exercise reference by physicians were carried out in PHCUs, while the PA program exercise program was performed during 16 weeks at SCCs. The functioning and staff of the SCCs were described previously.

#### Sample Size

The sample size estimation was based on the goal of increasing the percentage of hypertensive patients who are physically active from 17 to 37%, the proportion that has been shown in preliminary assessments. An increase in compliance with PA recommendations of 20% showed whether the intervention was effective. The proportion is consistent with the effectiveness level tested in other studies (Harrison et al., 2005). Thus, to identify a difference of 20% more of the population becoming physically active, with a power of 90, and a level of significance of  $\alpha = 0.05$ , 68 patients were required in each group (IG and CG). We considered increasing our sample size by 40%, due to the high dropout rates reported in previous studies (Hillsdon et al., 2004). Therefore, the sample size was estimated to be 224 hypertensive patients, 112 for each group. We assumed that a PA program with planned sessions of PA and surveillance as it is the Exercise Referral Scheme (ER), would be a better approach to achieve better health outcomes at the end of the intervention than just brief counseling (BC).

#### Randomization

To avoid contamination randomization was conducted with IMSS facilities PHCUs located on average 5.5 kilometers (kms) from the place where patients were referred (ER at 5.1 kms, and BC at 6.6 kms), within the urban area of the city, and had public transportation available, average transfer time being 20 to 30 min. The four PHCUs were randomized into an intervention group called exercise referral (ER) (two centers) and a BC (two centers) using sealed envelopes by a health researcher who was not involved in this study.

#### **Recruitment Process**

The recruitment process took place from September 2011 to March 2012, in four PHCUs; 506 hypertensive patients were identified and assessed by 108 PHC physicians who took part in the four PHCUs that were randomized as the study groups. The activities of the physicians during the daily consultation to identify potential participants were expressed in a previous publication (Gallegos-Carrillo et al., 2014). Figure 1 shows the flow diagram detailing the recruitment of participants during the study, according to guidelines of the Consolidated Standard of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) (Schulz et al., 2010). During recruitment, we identified 506 hypertensive patients as potential candidates for the study for both groups, ER and BC; of them, 21.7% were excluded because their levels of blood pressure were >160 mmHg systolic, or >100 mmHg diastolic during screening. In addition, 5.3% declined to participate, and 27.1% were unable to attend or complete assessments. Therefore, at the end of the recruitment process, 117 patients (50.4 years old on average and 67.5 % women) were incorporated into the intervention group and 115 into the control group (51.7 years old on average and 73.04 % women).

#### **Outcome Measures**

The main health outcomes were: systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels, triglycerides, HDL cholesterol, fasting glucose, body mass index, weight, waist/hip ratio, and metabolic syndrome risk score, health-related quality of life, and depressive symptoms.

Follow-up measurements were carried out at the end of the intervention (16 weeks) for both ER and BC groups, while the sustainability of intervention effects was assessed 24 weeks after the beginning of the study. In addition, differences in health outcomes were observed among hypertensive patients belonging to the ER group who achieved 50% of adherence to the PA program, which means they attended at least 24 planned PA sessions or more.

- (a) Blood pressure levels measured with a digital instrument following criteria established by the JNC 7 (Chobanian et al., 2003; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2004);
- (b) Biochemical markers measured according to the procedures of the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (Tate et al., 1999):
  (1) Fasting glucose levels: blood samples were taken following a fasting period of at least 8 h. The serum glucose determination was made using the enzymatic calorimetric method. All blood biochemistry tests, including (2) total cholesterol, (3) high-density lipids (HDL), and (4) triglycerides were conducted with a Selectra XL (Randox).
- (c) Anthropometric measures were carried out by trained nurses, following standard procedures: (1) weight, measured with TANITA electronic scale, with participants wearing minimal clothes and without shoes; (2) Body Mass Index (BMI), was calculated dividing kilograms by height in meters squared. The data obtained were categorized according to the following criteria: normal (BMI = 18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (BMI =  $25-29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and obese (BMI =  $> 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) (World Health Organization [WHO], 1995); (3) waist circumference, measured at the highest point of the iliac crest at the end of expiration, to the nearest measuring tape point of 0.1 cm. The criteria for abdominal obesity will be: men >100 cm and women >88 cm (Expert panel, 2001); and (4) hip circumference, participants were stood with feet separated about 20 cm and weight distributed evenly on both feet, at the level of the maximum extent of the gluteus in a horizontal plane, verifies that the measuring tape covered at same high the perimeter of the body, near to the skin but without compress (World Health Organization [WHO], 2000) and waist/hip ratio.
- (d) Physical and psychological measurements: (1) healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL), measured through the short form of 12 items (SF-12), considering two components physical (PCS) and mental (MCS) (Ware et al., 1996). The Physical Activity Summary Measures (PCS)



included four scales, whose scores varied from 0 to 100, which were summarized to generate the PCS, a higher score meaning better PA functioning and fewer limitations. The scales are the following: Physical Functioning (PF), Role-Physical (RP), Bodily Pain (BP), and General Health (GH). While the Mental Health Activity Summary Measure (MCS) included four scales which also varied between 0 and 100 in which a higher score represents better mental health functioning: Vitality (VT), Social Functioning (SF), Role-Emotional (RE), and Mental Health (ME) were the criteria.

(2) Symptoms of depression were measured with the Center for Epidemiologic Studies–Depression Scale, (CESD), this

version included 20 items which are summarized to create the scale, the score range is from 0 to 60, higher scores are indicating a certain level of depressive symptomatology (Radloff, 1977).

Metabolic Syndrome Risk Score (MetSyn): Abdominal obesity; elevated fasting glucose as 100 mg/dL, triglycerides as 150 mg/dL; Cholesterol HDL <40 mg/dL and blood pressure as a resting systolic 130 mm Hg or a resting diastolic 85 mm Hg, which corresponds to a mean arterial blood pressure (MABP) of 100 mm Hg. For each MetSyn component, the clinical cutoff value was subtracted from the individual's value and then divided by the population's standard deviation (SD). The standardized score for each MetSyn component was then averaged to derive a clustered CVD risk score relative to IDF MetSyn definition (CVD risk score). To compile the CVD risk score with units of SD, positively skewed variables (FG and TG) were previously transformed (natural log).

Physical activity: PA levels were assessed at baseline, T1 (16 weeks) and T2 (24 weeks), to determine changes in the following: percentage of participants meeting the PA recommendation, minutes of moderate and vigorous PA performed per week, and minutes per day of sedentary behavior. PA was measured by self-report (indirect methods) and accelerometry (direct methods). Self-reported (subjective) through the short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (Craig et al., 2003), and objectively by ActiGraph GT3X accelerometers (ActiGraph LLC, Ft. Walton Beach, FL, United States), this device has an internal time clock and extended memory, and it is able to record and store the magnitude of acceleration and deceleration of movements. The recorded data is scored as a "count," which can be summed in a specific time interval called an "epoch." In this study, an epoch is equal to 60 s. Participants were instructed to wear the device for 7 days during all waking hours, removing it only during swimming, bathing, or having other contact with water. The accelerometers were mounted on elastic belts and placed at the right hip. For this study wear time was valid if the patient wore the device for 5 days in 1 week (including at least 1 weekend day) to accumulate at least 600 min daily.

Each patient's accelerometer record was analyzed in terms of time (in minutes) to perform PA of moderate to vigorous intensity per day and then calculate the average time spent (in minutes) of PA during the week. Using this data, patients were categorized as complying or not complying with PA recommendation, 6 (150 min of PA at moderate to vigorous intensity a week) at baseline, T1 and T2, in both IG and CG. Additionally, PA measures were complemented with a PA log that participants completed every week.

#### **Other Variables**

Socio-demographic variables included age, age group, gender, marital status, and main activity.

# Confounding or Modifier Effects Variables

We defined as confounding and modifier variables the following: met PA recommendation measured by both self-reported and objectively with the accelerometer, weight, and BMI at baseline, age, gender, education, main activity.

# Intervention Group: Exercise Referral Scheme

The intervention was based on the assumptions of the Transtheoretical Model and Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1977; Bandura and National Inst of Mental Health, 1986). The information about the procedure of implementation and development of the PA program has already been described and is summarized below.

During the first session, a functional capacity assessment and PA prescription were carried out. The program of 16 weeks had 48 sessions of 60 min, a frequency of three times per week, and an average intensity of moderate to vigorous. Three levels or stages during the 16 weeks of the PA program were developed: Level 1, or Induction; Level 2, or Development; and Level 3, or Maintenance. In addition, each session consisted of three phases of exercise: warm-up and flexibility phase; aerobics phase, and recovery phase. The ER program had 48 sessions of planned PA. We defined a high level of adherence (>50%) to those patients who attended at least half of the sessions (24 sessions or more), while a low level of adherence (<50%) was determined for patients who attended less than 24 sessions of the PA program.

At the end of the 16 weeks of the program, PA specialists encouraged the participants to continue with PA practice at the CSS facilities (at no cost for the following 6 months) or practice regular PA during leisure time in their preferred facilities, but without financial support from IMSS.

### **Control Group: Brief Counseling**

Participants belonging to PHCUs were randomized to the control group after inclusion criteria were confirmed. Additionally, written and verbal information about the health benefits of PA practice, and how to increase PA levels in a safe way was distributed to the participants. All the patients in this group continued receiving their usual care at PHCU facilities but were also informed about the health benefits of PA and a balanced diet, and how to safely increase PA levels during free time, their participation in this PA program did not include planned PA sessions, therefore adherence to PA program was not estimated. In addition, they were invited to undergo two subsequent measurements at the PHCU facilities, at 16 weeks and 24 to the baseline measurement. Monthly contact with participants was carried out during their consultation at PHCUs.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Analyses were carried out according to an intention to treat analysis.

A baseline comparability analysis was carried out among the ER and BC, in relation to the variables studied during the baseline, 16 and 14 weeks. To compare means, a *T*-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted, while U of Mann Whitney was used to compare variables with not normal distribution. Due randomization took place in PHCUs and multilevel analyses were used. Longitudinal multilevel analyses were developed to account for the three measurements between intervention and control groups, thus the three follow-up measurements of the outcome measure concerned were defined as dependent variables. The multilevel model allowed taking into account the clustering of individuals within PHCUs through the next levels: (1) the individual and (2) PHCUs. These models were linear for all outcome variables including blood pressure, biochemical and anthropometric measurements, depressive symptoms, the physical and mental component of quality of life, and metabolic syndrome risk score. The Wald statistic was used to determine the statistical significance of intervention effects and level of compliance on the outcome variables.

For the variables, the models were adjusted for confounding or modifier effects variables following the next steps: (1) crude model, adjusted by group (intervention/control), stage (time), and baseline value of the outcome measure concerned, the latest to avoid a regression bias to the estimated mean (Barnett et al., 2005); (2) Additionally adjusted by age, gender, education, main activity, and meet PA recommendation measured both selfreported and objective with an accelerometer. (3) Additionally, adjusted by weight, BMI, and waist circumference. (a) Weight additionally adjusted by BMI and waist circumference; (b) waist circumference additionally adjusted by weight and BMI.

#### **Ethical Issues**

The National Research Commission and Ethics Committee at Mexican Social Security Institution and National Institute of Public Health in Mexico, approved this study and all its procedures, as stated before (Gallegos-Carrillo et al., 2014).

#### RESULTS

The characteristics of the study population according to meeting PA recommendations at 16 (T1) and 24 (T2) weeks of followup in the BC and the ER groups and by the level of adherence for the ER are shown in **Table 1**. The proportion of participants in the ER and BC group who met PA recommendations in both T1 and T2 was higher in the ER group (32.4%) than in the BC (25.4%), Body Mass Index (BMI) values were lower in participants meeting PA recommendations in T1 and T2 in comparison with those meeting PA recommendations in T1 only, BMI = 32.6 vs. 28.2 in the ER and BMI = 28.5 vs. 28.2 for the BC group. While differences in glucose levels were only observed in the ER group 109 vs. 103 mg/dL (**Table 1**), and blood pressure level observed a decrease in the BC, systolic 130 vs. 128 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure 79.9 vs. 76.6 mmHg, respectively (**Table 1**).

#### Longitudinal Analysis in Biological, Biochemical, and Anthropometric Variables

The percentage change observed in systolic and diastolic blood pressure was not statistically significantly different in longitudinal multilevel analyses, although blood pressure levels decreased in the BC group and remained at the same levels in the ER group. We also observed a statistically significant difference in weight and in metabolic syndrome risk score, whose values in participants in the ER group decreased among basal, T1 (16 weeks), and T2 (24 weeks) of follow-up, however, difference by level of compliance was not observed in biological (systolic and diastolic blood pressure, levels of cholesterol HDL AND LDL, biochemical and anthropometrics) variables (**Table 2**).

Longitudinal changes in depressive symptoms and quality of life showed differences statistically significant among Baseline, T1, and T2 in depressive symptoms among the ER and BC groups, and by level of compliance >50% of the ER group in the mean of the mental health component of quality of life (Table 3).

Multilevel longitudinal analyses according to intention to treat analysis showed statistically significant changes in the biochemical variables measured in the study among ER and BC groups: triglycerides  $\beta$  adjusted = -14.1 (95% C.I. -25.2, -3.1) and Metabolic syndrome risk score  $\beta$  adjusted = -3.5 (95% C.I. -5.7, -1.4), (**Table 4**). Anthropometric variables as weight  $\beta$  adjusted -1.0 (95% C.I. -1.56, -0.43),  $\beta$  adjusted BMI -0.28 (95% C.I. -0.54, -0.02) and rate waist/hip  $\beta$  adjusted -13.9 (95% C.I. -20.7, -8.8) and perception of depressive symptoms shown difference statistically significant after adjusting for the variables specified in **Table 4**, including socio-demographic and health status variables, *p*-value < 0.05.

The results of longitudinal multilevel analysis by the level of compliance in the ER group observed differences statically significant in diastolic blood pressure  $\beta$  adjusted -2.56 mmHg (95% C.I. -0.47, -0.041), waist circumference  $\beta$  adjusted -1.8 (95% C.I. -3.5, -0.01), depressive symptoms  $\beta$  adjusted -1.66 (95% C.I. -3, -0.28) and the score of the Mental Health Component (MCS) of quality of life, p < 0.05, after adjusting for group, stage (time), and baseline value of outcome measure (**Table 4**).

### DISCUSSION

The results of this study show firstly the feasibility of carrying out an exercise-referral scheme intervention in the context of a social security institution in an upper-middle-income country like Mexico. We observed that both PA programs achieved changes in clinical indicators as triglycerides and anthropometric values Body Mass Index and Metabolic syndrome risk score. While higher levels of adherence of patients who got the ER scheme to increase PA levels accomplished better outcomes in the Mental Health Component in comparison with hypertensive patients who had a lower level of adherence to the ER scheme. In comparison to the BC group, the ER and higher levels of adherence achieved both changes in the perception of social functioning.

Backgrounds in a similar context are lacking, and thus the findings of this cluster-randomized trial would be helpful to encourage the design of programs and strategies to increase PA among patients with chronic diseases in a context such as Mexico. TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics among exercise-referral and brief counseling groups according to meeting physical recommendations at the end of the interventions.

	Exe	rcise referral (ER) n =	: 117	Brief counseling (BC) $n = 115$				
Variables	No meet PA recommendation both T1 and T2 n = 58 (52.2%)	No meet PA recommendation T1 meet in T2 n = 17 (15.3%)	Meet PA recommendation both T1 and T2 n = 36 (32.4%)	No meet PA recommendation both T1 and T2 n = 59 (53.6%)	No meet PA recommendation T1 meet in T2 n = 23 (20.9)	Meet PA recommendation both T1 and T2 n = 28 (25.4)		
Socio-demographic								
Age, mean (SD)	50.8 (10.9)	48.7 (11.6)	50.3 (11.2)	52.5 (9.9)	51.5 (10.6)	50.3 (11.2)		
Age group %								
35–49	23 (46.9)	8 (16.3)	18 (36.7)	19 (43.2)	10 (22.7)	15 (34.1)		
50–65	28 (53.8)	8 (15.4)	16 (30.8)	34 (60.7)	11 (19.6)	11 (19.6)		
65 and more	7 (70)	1 (10)	2 (20)	6 (60)	2 (20)	2 (20)		
Male (%)	17 (47.2)	5 (13.9)	14 (38.9)	15 (48.4)	8 (25.8)	8 (25.8)		
Female (%)	41 (54.7)	12 (16)	22 (29.3)	44 (55.7)	15 (19)	20 (25.3)		
Educational level %	( ),							
Elementary school or less	17 (54.8)	4 (12.9)	10 (32.3)	25 (67.6)	5 (13.5)	7 (18.9)		
Middle school	12 (46.1)	3 (11.5)	11 (42.3)	7 (36.8)	4 (21.1)	8 (42.1)		
High school/technical	18 (46.1)	7 (17.9)	14 (35.9)	16 (51.6)	7 (22.6)	8 (25.8)		
Bachelor or higher	11 (73.3)	3 (20)	1 (6.7)	11 (47.8)	7 (30.4)	5 (21.7)		
Marital status % (C.I. 95%	. ,	0 (20)	1 (0.1)	11 (11.0)	1 (00.1)	0 (2111)		
Single	4 (40)	1 (10)	5 (50)	8 (66.7)	1 (8.3)	3 (25)		
Married	45 (51.7)		29 (33.3)	40 (51.3)	16 (20.5)	22 (28.2)		
	( )	13 (14.9)	29 (33.3)	( )	. ,	. ,		
Divorced	5 (83.3)	1 (16.7)		7 (63.6)	3 (27.3)	1 (9.1)		
Widowed	4 (50)	2 (25)	2 (25)	4 (44.4)	3 (33.3)	2 (22.2)		
Main activity % (C.I. 95%)		0 (10 0)	15 (00.0)	47 (50)	0 (17 0)			
Homemaker	24 (53.3)	6 (13.3)	15 (33.3)	17 (50)	6 (17.6)	11 (32.3)		
Student	0	0	1 (100)	1 (100)	0	0		
Works outside home	24 (48.9)	10 (20.4)	15 (30.6)	35 (56.4)	13 (20.69)	14 (22.6)		
Retired or pensioned	5 (50)	1 (10)	4 (40)	5 (50)	3 (30)	2 (20)		
Unemployed	4 (80)	0	1 (20)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)		
Permanently disabled	1 (100)	0	0	0	0	0		
Blood pressure and bioch		s mean (SD)						
Systolic	123.6 (16.7)	126 (27.5)	131 (18.5)	132 (19.3)	130 (15)	128 (17.2)		
Diastolic	79 (12.3)	82.1 (14.1)	83.5 (8.6)	77.3 (11.9)	79.9 (12)	76.6 (8.8)		
Fasting glucose	108 (35.5)	109 (27.1)	103 (16.8)	106 (23.1)	106.5 (21.6)	106 (28.3)		
Cholesterol HDL	47.6 (13.3)	40.6 (8.1)	45.4 (9.3)	46.7 (12.2)	49.7 (12.1)	46.3 (10.9)		
Triglycerides	178.9 (71.9)	167.9 (66.1)	162.4 (78.2)	166.5 (62.9)	164.4 (64.4)	151.1 (63.5)		
Anthropometric measures	s mean (SD)							
Weight	75.8 (16.3)	82.8 (20.7)	72.9 (13.5)	73.2 (14.3)	72.4 (16.1)	71.5 (9.4)		
Body Mass Index	30.2 (5.4)	32.6 (5.8)	28.2 (4.32)	29.9 (4.9)	28.5 (4.9)	28.2 (3.4)		
Waist circumference	101.5 (12.3)	105.1 (14.4)	96.2 (11.6)	98.9 (10)	96.3 (9.6)	93.3 (8.2)		
Quality of life and depress	ve symptoms							
Physical component summary	48.2 (5.3)	45.7 (6)	47.8 (5.7)	46.8 (4.2)	45.8 (5.5)	47.9 (3.66)		
Mental component summary	30.5 (5.2)	33.1 (5.4)	31.2 (5.4)	31.1 (5.4)	31.4 (4.5)	30.6 (3.98)		
Depressive symptoms (CES-D 20)	18.8 (7.9)	17 (19.1)	15.4 (6.9)	20.1 (7.9)	21.4 (9.5)	22.8 (10.4)		
Diabetes self-reported %	9 (56.2)	1 (6.25)	6 (37.5)	11 (61.1)	3 (16.7)	4 (22.2)		

Physical activity recommendations measured by accelerometers.

Physical activity promotion through an exercise-referral scheme, compared to the control group with BC to encourage PA, showed findings which are according to previous studies of effectiveness in which the BC has achieved increased the PA levels compared to the exercise-referral scheme (Galaviz et al.,

2013); or as has been found in PA promotion studies, in which increased in PA was reported for both the ER and the BC groups (Hillsdon et al., 2005).

The differences observed in clinical variables such as blood pressure levels, triglycerides, and fasting glucose among those

TABLE 2 | Longitudinal changes and multilevel analyses in biological, biochemical and anthropometrics variables among intervention and control groups and by level of compliance.

Variables	Exercise referral	Brief counseling	Crude model <sup>a</sup> P value	Level of compliance (50% and more)		Crude model (comp.<50% vs. ≥50%)	
				<50 ( <i>n</i> = 45)	≥50 ( <i>n</i> = 72)	P value	
Systolic Blood	pressure, mm Hg Mear	n (SD)					
0 weeks (T0)	124.9 (22)	130.1 (17.9)	0.105	121.1 (24.8)	127.4 (19.9)	0.386	
16 weeks (T1)	124.7 (19)	124.6 (18.4)		121.5 (21.2)	126.7 (17.2)		
24 weeks (T2)	124.4 (19.1)	125.9 (18.1)		121.1 (20.6)	126.5 (17.8)		
Diastolic Blood	pressure, mm Hg Mea	in (SD)					
0 weeks (T0)	79.9 (13.8)	77.5 (11.2)	0.417	77.4 (17)	81.5 (11.1)	0.905	
16 weeks (T1)	76.7 (12.3)	74.2 (12.6)		76.5 (14.6)	76.9 (10.8)		
24 weeks (T2)	76.5 (12.2)	72.1 (12.6)		75.5 (14.3)	77.2 (10.7)		
Cholesterol HD	L (mg/dL) Mean (SD)						
0 weeks (T0)	45.8 (12.1)	47.1 (11.6)	0.990	45.4 (14.1)	46.1 (10.7)	0.475	
16 weeks (T1)	46 (11.1)	47.5 (10.4)		46.4 (12.4)	45.8 (10.2)		
24 weeks (T2)	46.2 (11)	47.4 (10.5)		46.4 (12.2)	46 (10.3)		
Fasting glucose	e (mg/dL) Mean (SD)						
0 weeks (T0)	105.4 (31.3)	106.7 (24.2)	0.243	99.1 (23.4)	109.3 (34.8)	0.299	
16 weeks (T1)	105.5 (30.3)	108.2 (28.9)		101.6 (24.9)	107.9 (33)		
24 weeks (T2)	104.6 (31.3)	107.3 (29.8)		98.4 (26.7)	108.5 (33.3)		
Triglycerides (m	ng/dL) Mean (SD)						
0 weeks (T0)	168 (73.3)	161.9 (61.8)	0.016	169.2 (72.7)	167.3 (74.1)	0.829	
16 weeks (T1)	179.4 (88.3)	176.6 (82.8)		186.3 (90.2)	170.5 (77.4)		
24 weeks (T2)	178.5 (88)	176.4 (82.5)		182.6 (91.4)	172.6 (76.4)		
Weight (Kgs) Me	an (SD)						
0 weeks (T0)	76.2 (16.2)	72.6 (13.3)	0.000	81.5 (20.5)	72.9 (11.7)	0.590	
16 weeks (T1)	74.8 (15.9)	72.1 (13.1)		79.9 (19.9)	71.7 (11.7)		
24 weeks (T2)	74.9 (15.7)	72.2 (13.2)		79.9 (19.6)	71.8 (11.8)		
BMI Mean (SD)	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			· · ·	. ,		
0 weeks (T0)	30.1 (5.2)	29.2 (4.6)	0.031	31.3 (6)	29.3 (4.5)	0.846	
16 weeks (T1)	29.7 (5.2)	29.1 (4.7)		30.9 (6.1)	28.9 (4.4)		
24 weeks (T2)	29.6 (5.1)	29.1 (4.6)		30.7 (5.9)	28.8 (4.4)		
Waist circumfe	rence (cms) Mean (SD)						
0 weeks (T0)	100.5 (12.5)	97 (9.6)	0.269	103.9 (13.8)	98.3 (11.2)	0.721	
16 weeks (T1)	98.1 (11.7)	95.3 (9.4)		101.4 (12.9)	96.1 (10.4)		
24 weeks (T2)	98.2 (11.5)	95.3 (9.4)		100.9 (12.8)	96.5 (10.3)		
Rate waist/hip							
0 weeks (T0)	0.93 (0.08)	0.91 (0.09)	0.759	0.94 (0.08)	0.92 (0.08)	0.530	
16 weeks (T1)	0.92 (0.07)	0.90 (0.06)		0.93 (0.07)	0.91 (0.08)		
24 weeks (T2)	0.91 (0.07)	0.91 (0.06)		0.92 (0.08)	0.91 (0.07)		
, ,	rome Risk Score Mean			- *	. ,		
0 weeks (T0)	97.5 (17.7)	94.6 (14.6)	0.002	96.1 (17.7)	97.6 (17.9)	0.726	
16 weeks (T1)	98.1 (18.7)	99.4 (21.9)		97.1 (44.8)	98.7 (17.5)		
24 weeks (T2)	94.5 (16.5)	99.6 (20.7)		93.3 (16.4)	95.2 (16)		

Intention to treat analysis. <sup>a</sup>Adjusted for group, stage (time), and baseline value of outcome measure.

who reported higher levels of adherence to the intervention could be supported by findings in previous studies with similar approaches in which a "Hawthorne" effect could have been present. In fact, the findings of improved clinical and anthropometric factors have been reported in studies carried out mostly in high-income countries (Dugdill et al., 2005).

In a way consistent with the evidence generated in studies of exercise-referral schemes, the ability of the intervention to

increase physical health outcomes was low (Buckley et al., 2020). The eligibility assessment carried out in PHCU, might have affected the rate of participation, because 78.6% of patients attended the initial session, in which the exercise was prescribed, and the individualized program was developed. In addition, eligibility criteria as being a hypertensive patient with blood pressure values under control parameters, and having reported a stage of change with a willingness to PA practice would influence

TABLE 3 | Longitudinal changes and multilevel analyses in quality of life and depressive symptoms variables among exercise referral and brief counseling groups and by level of compliance.

Variables	Exercise referral	Brief counseling	Crude model <sup>a</sup> <i>P</i> value	Level of compliance (50% and more)		Crude model (comparing <50% vs. ≥50%) <sup>a</sup>	
				<50 (n = 45)	≥50 ( <i>n</i> = 72)	P value	
Physical Compo	onent Summary Mean (	(SD)					
0 weeks (T0)	46.7 (8.3)	47 (4.6)	0.125	46.9 (5.8)	46.5 (5.2)	0.108	
16 weeks (T1)	46.6 (5.2)	45.7 (4.4)		47.5 (5.5)	46.1 (4.9)		
24 weeks (T2)	46.8 (4.9)	45.7 (4.4)		47.6 (5.1)	46.4 (4.8)		
Mental Compor	nent Summary Mean (S	D)					
0 weeks (T0)	30.7 (6.5)	30.8 (4.9)	0.215	28.1 (8.2)	32.4 (4.6)	0.001	
16 weeks (T1)	30.9 (5.1)	31.1 (4.4)		30.2 (5.2)	31.3 (4.9)		
24 weeks (T2)	31.1 (5.0)	31.2 (4.4)		30.8 (5.2)	31.3 (4.9)		
Depressive sym	ptoms (CESD-20) Mea	n (SD)					
0 weeks (T0)	18 (7.6)	21.3 (9.3)	0.037	19.3 (9.5)	17.1 (5.9)	0.686	
16 weeks (T1)	15.6 (6.7)	17.5 (7.8)		16.4 (7.6)	15.1 (6.1)		
24 weeks (T2)	15.6 (6.9)	17.4 (7.9)		17 (7.8)	14.8 (6.2)		

Intention to treat analysis. <sup>a</sup>Adjusted for group, stage (time), and baseline value of outcome measure.

TABLE 4 | Results of longitudinal multilevel analysis.

Outcomes among intervention and control groups	Crude model <sup>a</sup> β or OR (95% Cl)	P value	Adjusted model <sup>b</sup> β or OR (95% Cl)	P value	Adjusted model <sup>c</sup> β or OR (95% Cl)	P value
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	-13.5 (-24.6, -2)	0.016	-14.1 (-25.2 -3.1)	0.012	-11.8 (-25.6, 2.02)	0.094
BMI	-0.27 (-0.52, 0.2)	0.031	-0.29 (-0.52, -0.05)	0.018	0.28 (-0.54, -0.02)	0.034
Weight	-0.76 (-1.16, -0.36)	0.000	-0.79 (-1.18, 0.39)	0.000	-1.0 (-1.56, -0.43)	0.001
Depressive symptoms (CESD-20)	-3.26 (-5.50.57)	0.019	-3.17 (-5.9, -0.43)	0.025	-2.28 (-7.18, 2.6)	0.305
Rate waist/hip	0.01 (0.0, 0.02)	0.031	0.01 (0.0, 0.02)	0.045	0.007 (-0.00, 0.01)	0.200
Metabolic syndrome risk score	-3.4 (-5.5, -1.2)	0.002	-3.5 (-5.7, -1.4)	0.001	-1.8 (-4.2, 0.39)	0.105
Outcomes by level of compliance (50%)						
Mental Component Summary Mean (SD)	-2.0 (-3.2, -0.81)	0.001	-0.6 (-1.57, 0.35)	0.154	-0.56 (-5.1, 4.01)	0.558
Diastolic Blood pressure mm Hg	-2.56 (-4.7, -0.41)	0.019	-1.9 (-4.1, 0.36)	0.100	-1.35 (-3.6, 0.9)	0.246
Waist circumference (cms.)	-1.8 (-3.5, -0.01)	0.048	-1.4 (-3.2, 0.43)	0.136	-0.41 (-2.2, 1.4)	0.650
Rate waist/hip	-0.02 (-0.03 -0.005)	0.006	-0.01 (-0.3, -0.001)	0.029	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.006)	0.190
Depressive symptoms (CESD-20)	-1.66 (-3, -0.28)	0.018	1-56 (-3.2, 0.09)	0.064	-0.88 (-2.4, 0.66)	0.263

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for group, stage (time), and baseline value of outcome measure.

<sup>b</sup>Additionally adjusted by age, gender, education, employment, acute morbidity and meet physical activity recommendation measured both self-reported and objective with accelerometer.

<sup>c</sup>Additionally adjusted by age, gender, education, employment, acute morbidity, meet physical activity recommendation measured both self-reported and objective with accelerometer, weight, BMI and waist circumference (1) Weight additionally adjusted by BMI and waist circumference; (2) waist circumference additionally adjusted by weight and BMI.

P value of the interaction term (assessment time × intervention group) and the interaction between (assessment time × adherence).

in rates of participation in ER programs, which has not been applied for participants in the BC group.

Likewise, in the follow-up, the rates of participation among the ER and BC were different, while the control group observed a follow-up rate at 24 weeks of 90%, the intervention group saw a decrease to 62%. Independent of changes of behavior and contrary to expectations, a behavioral theory-based intervention carried out with an exercise-referral scheme had less impact hooking the subjects as participants in the study. Studies in primary health care settings have suggested that motivational activities including the provision of exercise are more effective than interventions with only exercise aims (Lee et al., 2012). However, in this cluster-randomized trial provision of BC and health promotion materials combined with monthly monitoring attained a higher rate of participation than closer supervision and prescription. Therefore, as was shown in this study, unless a certain level of adherence to an exercise-referral scheme can be guaranteed; BC would be a good alternative to promote PA and achieve the recommended levels (Pate et al., 1995).

The modest effect of an exercise-referral scheme using a behavioral theory-based approach to achieve a recommended level, as stated before in National Exercise-Referral Schemes depends on the level of adherence; one of the most questionable issues of exercise-referral schemes. In this cluster trial, we set a goal of 50% of compliance (attendance of at least 24 sessions) which resulted in 78.2% of participants who began the exercise

program achieving this level of adherence; a top-level compared to the levels observed in other trials. In Taylor et al. (1998) observed a 28% of adherence and 33% Lamb et al. (2002). However, the changes observed in the intervention group along time in reducing high blood pressure along the follow-up period keep no consistency whether among ER and BC, nor by level of adherence or compliance; therefore a larger sample size that allows a longitudinal stratified analysis and determination of the factors associated with adherence to these kinds of initiatives meant to increase physical health outcomes, i.e., blood pressure and fasting glucose of hypertensive populations, is necessary.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This cluster-randomized trial has several strengths. To our knowledge, this is perhaps the first study to carry out an intervention to increase PA through an exercise-referral scheme among sedentary patients with a recent diagnosis of hypertension; in an upper-middle-income country.

This study used a control group with the same measurements throughout the study, which allowed for the assessment of the intervention effects from several dimensions during the three stages of the study. Particularly it had the strength of assessing PA levels through an objective method, thereby reducing the bias of self-reported PA measures.

It measured the sustainability effects and the level of adherence to the intervention, reinforcing the capacity of measuring the effects carefully. The trial was clustered by practice to reduce the risk of the intervention being contaminated; however, this mechanism of allocation was not enough to avoid changes in lifestyles in the control group, thus changes in outcome variables were observed in the BC group, which as it has been mentioned received a less intensive PA program under a BC approach, influencing not only in PA variables but in other lifestyles, findings that have been previously reported (Gallegos-Carrillo et al., 2017). Finally, and according to the protocol study, the intervention was extended to the control group, after the followup of 24 weeks ended.

#### CONCLUSION

This intervention achieved changes among the hypertensive patients who participated in the exercise referral program in comparison with those in the BC group. Changes observed among PA programs at time 0, 16, and 24 weeks pointed out a better performance of the ER in comparison to the BC program in clinical indicators and anthropometric variables, such as triglycerides and the Metabolic syndrome risk score, BMI, and also depression symptoms. About the objective aimed to determine differences in the outcome variables according to level of adherence to the exercise referral scheme, we observed that whether in clinical outcomes as blood pressure levels, waist circumference, and the rate waist/hip and in depressive symptoms and healthrelated quality of life perception of hypertensive patients who achieved at least 50% adherence to the ER have a better outcome than those with a lower level of adherence. However, although these results did not keep statistical significance in the adjusted models, they at least allow us to glimpse the benefits of PA when programs achieved higher attachment, which could be an important finding to promote a higher engagement in PA programs in the population with chronic conditions.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The National Research Commission and Ethics Committee at Mexican Social Security Institution, and National Institute of Public Health in Mexico, approved this study and all its procedures. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KG-C wrote the original protocol and manuscript, collected the data, designed statistical models, and performed analyses. CG-P contributed to the original protocol and wrote the first and final draft. NS-D-S wrote the first draft with contributions from KG-C. JS contributed to the original protocol and wrote the first draft with contributions from KG-C. FL contributed to the original protocol, supported in developing the strategy to analyze the data, and wrote the first draft with contributions from KG-C. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### **FUNDING**

This project was supported by a grant from the Secretaría de Educación, Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación de la Ciudad de México CM-SECTEI/200/2020 "Red colaborativa de Investigación Traslacional para el Envejecimiento Saludable de la Ciudad de México (RECITES)" and also by a grant from Mexican Social Security Institute, Health Research Council (CIS). FIS/IMSS/PROT/G10/10/841.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2021. 712135/full#supplementary-material

#### REFERENCES

- Aittasalo, M. (2008). Physical activity counselling in primary health care. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 18, 261–262. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00843.x
- American College of Sports Medicine (2009). "Chapter 2- Preparticipation health screening and risk stratification," in ACSM's Guideline for Exercise testing and prescription. Wolters Kluwer Health (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins).
- Ashenden, R., Silagy, C., and Weller, D. (1997). A systematic review of the effectiveness of promoting lifestyle change in general practice. *Fami. Pract.* 14, 160–176. doi: 10.1093/fampra/14.2.160
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Bandura, A., and National Inst of Mental Health (1986). *Prentice-Hall Series in Social Learning Theory.Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Barnett, A. G., van der Pols, J. C., and Dobson, A. J. (2005). Regression to the mean: what it is and how to deal with it? *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 34, 215–220.
- Buckley, B. J., Thijssen, D. H., Murphy, R. C., Graves, L. E., Cochrane, M., Gillison, F., et al. (2020). Pragmatic evaluation of a coproduced physical activity referral scheme: a UK quasi-experimental study. *BMJ Open* 10:e034580. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-034580
- Chobanian, A. V., Bakris, G. L., Black, H. R., Cushman, W. C., Green, L. A., Izzo, J. L. Jr., et al. (2003). The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 289, 2560–2572. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.19.2560
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., et al. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 1381–1395. doi: 10.1249/01. MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Dugdill, L., Graham, R. C., and McNair, F. (2005). Exercise referral: the public health panacea for physical activity promotion? A critical perspective of exercise referral schemes; their development and evaluation. *Ergonomics* 48, 1390–1410. doi: 10.1080/00140130500101544
- Eakin, E. G., Brown, W. J., Marshall, A. L., Mummery, K., and Larsen, E. (2004). Physical activity promotion in primary care: bridging the gap between research and practice. *Am. J. Prevent. Med.* 27, 297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2004. 07.012
- Eden, K. B., Orleans, C. T., Mulrow, C. D., Pender, N. J., and Teutsch, S. M. (2002). Does counseling by clinicians improve physical activity? A summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Ann. Int. Med.* 137, 208–215. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-3-200208060-00015
- Galaviz, K., Lévesque, L., and Kotecha, J. (2013). Evaluating the effectiveness of a physical activity referral scheme among women. *J. Primary Care Commun. Health* 4, 167–171. doi: 10.1177/2150131912463243
- Gallegos-Carrillo, K., García-Peña, C., Salmerón, J., Salgado-de-Snyder, N., and Lobelo, F. (2017). Brief counseling and exercise referral scheme: a pragmatic trial in Mexico. Am. J. Prevent. Med. 52, 249–259. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016. 10.021
- Gallegos-Carrillo, K., García-Peña, C., Salmerón, J., Salgado-de-Snyder, V. N., Vázquez-Cabrer, G., and Lobelo, F. (2014). Exercise-referral scheme to promote physical activity among hypertensive patients: design of a cluster randomized trial in the primary health care units of Mexico's social security system. *BMC Public Health* 14:706. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-706
- Harrison, R. A., Roberts, C., and Elton, P. J. (2005). Does primary care referral to an exercise programme increase physical activity one year later? A randomized controlled trial. J. Public Health 27, 25–32. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdh197
- Hillsdon, M., Foster, C., Naidoo, B., and Crombie, H. (2004). The Effectiveness of Public Health Interventions for Increasing Physical Activity Among Adults: A Review of Reviews. Evidence Briefing. London: Health Development Agency.
- Hillsdon, M., Foster, C., and Thorogood, M. (2005). Interventions for promoting physical activity. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD003180. doi: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD003180.pub2
- Lamb, S. E., Bartlett, H. P., Ashley, A., and Bird, W. (2002). Can lay-led walking programmes increase physical activity in middle aged adults? A randomised controlled trial. *J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health* 56, 246–252. doi: 10.1136/jech. 56.4.246
- Lawlor, D. A., and Hanratty, B. (2001). The effect of physical activity advice given in routine primary care consultations: a systematic review. J. Public Health Med. 23, 219–226. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/23.3.219

- Lee, I. M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., Katzmarzyk, P. T., et al. (2012). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet* 380, 219–229. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Martín-Borrás, C., Giné-Garriga, M., Puig-Ribera, A., Martín, C., Solà, M., Cuesta-Vargas, A. I., et al. (2018). A new model of exercise referral scheme in primary care: is the effect on adherence to physical activity sustainable in the long term? A 15-month randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* 8:e017211. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017211
- Murphy, S. M., Edwards, R. T., Williams, N., Raisanen, L., Moore, G., Linck, P., et al. (2012). An evaluation of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the National Exercise Referral Scheme in Wales, UK: a randomised controlled trial of a public health policy initiative. J. Epidemiol. Commu. Health 66, 745–753. doi: 10.1136/jech-2011-200689
- Onerup, A., Arvidsson, D., Blomqvist, Å, Daxberg, E. L., Jivegård, L., Jonsdottir, I. H., et al. (2019). Physical activity on prescription in accordance with the Swedish model increases physical activity: a systematic review. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 383–388. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099598
- Pate, R. R., Pratt, M., Blair, S. N., Haskell, W. L., Macera, C. A., Bouchard, C., et al. (1995). Physical activity and public health. A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. JAMA 273, 402–407.
- Pavey, T. G., Taylor, A. H., Fox, K. R., Hillsdon, M., Anokye, N., Campbell, J. L., et al. (2011). Effect of exercise referral schemes in primary care on physical activity and improving health outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 343:d6462. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d6462
- Prochaska, J. O., and DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: toward an integrative model of change. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 51, 390–395. doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.51.3.390
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/ 014662167700100306
- Schulz, K. F., Altman, D. G., Moher, D., and Consort Group (2010). CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. Ann. Int. Med. 152, 726–732. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-11-201006010-00232
- Stead, L. F., Koilpillai, P., Fanshawe, T. R., and Lancaster, T. (2016). Combined pharmacotherapy and behavioural interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 3:CD008286. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008286. pub3
- Tate, J. R., Berg, K., Couderc, R., Dati, F., Kostner, G. M., Marcovina, S. M., et al. (1999). International federation of clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine (IFCC) standardization project for the measurement of Lipoprotein(a). Phase 2: selection and properties of a proposed secondary reference material for lipoprotein(a). *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 37, 949–958. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.19 99.140
- Taylor, A., Doust, J., and Webborn, N. (1998). Randomised controlled trial to examine the effects of a GP exercise referral scheme in Hailsham. East Sussex, on modifiable coronary heart disease risk factors. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 52, 595–601.
- Thomas, S., Reading, J., and Shephard, R. J. (1992). Revision of the physical activity readiness questionnaire (PAR-Q). *Can. J. Sport Sci.* 17, 338–345.
- Thompson, P. D., Arena, R., Riebe, D., Pescatello, L. S., and American College of Sports Medicine (2013). ACSM's new preparticipation health screening recommendations from ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, ninth edition. *Curr. Sports Med. Rep.* 12, 215–217. doi: 10.1249/ JSR.0b013e31829a68cf
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2004). The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Washington, DC: NIH Publication.
- Ware, J. Jr., Kosinski, M., and Keller, S. D. (1996). A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. *Med. Care* 34, 220–233. doi: 10.1097/00005650-199603000-00003
- World Health Organization [WHO] (1995). Physical Status: The Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Committee, Vol. 854, Geneva: WHO, 1–452.

World Health Organization [WHO] (2000). Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Report of WHO Consultation on Obesity. WHO Technical Report Series 894. Geneva: WHO.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Gallegos-Carrillo, Garcia-Peña, Salgado-de-Snyder, Salmerón and Lobelo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





**@** 

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

**Contact us:** frontiersin.org/about/contact

**Frontiers** 

**FOLLOW US** @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your